# RARE BOOKS LIB.





## **Copyright and use of this thesis**

This thesis must be used in accordance with the provisions of the Copyright Act 1968.

Reproduction of material protected by copyright.

may be an infringement of copyright and copyright owners may be entitled to take legal action against persons who infringe their copyright.

Section 51(2) of the Copyright Act permits an authorized officer of a university library or archives to provide a copy (by communication or otherwise) of an unpublished thesis kept in the library or archives, to a person who satisfies the authorized officer that he or she requires the reproduction for the purposes of research or study.

The Copyright Act grants the creator of a work a number of moral rights, specifically the right of attribution, the right against false attribution and the right of integrity.

You may infringe the author's moral rights if you:

- fail to acknowledge the author of this thesis if you quote sections from the work
- attribute this thesis to another author
- subject this thesis to derogatory treatment which may prejudice the author's reputation

For further information contact the University's Director of Copyright Services

Telephone: 02 9351 2991 e-mail: copyright@usyd.edu.au



### **MEDICO-LEGAL MATTERS AND AUSTRALIAN DOCTORS:**

An investigation of doctors' experience of medico-legal matters, their mental health and their practice of medicine.

Louise Nash MBBS (Hons), BA, Dip Obs, FRANZCP

### A thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Faculty of Medicine

University of Sydney

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

List of Tables	v
Definition of medico-legal terms	vi
Thesis Abstract	vii
Additional publications and presentations in the field of study	xvii
Preface	xviii
Declaration of Co-Authors	xix
Acknowledgements	xx
CHAPTER 1: Background to the medico-legal environment	<i>L</i>
1. Background to the thesis	2
2. Aims of the thests	
5. The mealco-legal environment internationally	
4. Conflict between tort law and patient safety	
5. Adverse events studies and their correlation with negligence claims	
6. Doctors over-estimate the likelihood of being sued	
7. Why do people complain or claim for compensation	
8. The frequency of medico-legal matters in Australia	
8.1 Complaints and disciplinary processes	16
8.2 Claims for compensation	
8.3 Inquests	19
9. Lack of Australian empirical evidence	20
CHAPTER 2: Psychiatric morbidity and alcohol use in doctors	
1. Psychiatric morbidity and alcohol misuse in community samples	
2. Psychiatric morbidity in doctors	
2.1 Gender	
2.2 Age and marital status	
2.3 Personality traits	
2.4 Work related stressors	28
3 Alcohol use in doctors	30
4. The relationship between psychiatric morbidity in the doctor and patient care	
CHAPTER 3: Literature review	
1. Literature review method	
2. Factors associated with claims for compensation or complaints	
2.1 Specialty	
2.2 Gender	42
2.3 Hours of work	44

2.4 Overseas trained doctors	
3. The emotional response of doctors to a claim or complaint	
3.1 A claim for compensation	46
3.2 A complaint	51
4. Changes in the practice of medicine due to medico-legal concerns	
4.1 Defensive medicine	55
4.2 Particular changes in practice	59
4.2.1 Assurance behaviours	61
4.2.2 Avoidance behaviour	66
4.2.3 Potentially safer practice changes	70
CHAPTER 4: The New South Wales Health Care Complaints pilot study	73
CHAPTER 5: Psychological morbidity in the GP study	78
CHAPTER 6: Change in practice due to medico-legal concerns in the GP study	88
CHAPTER 7: Personality of doctors and association with medico-legal matters	94
CHAPTER 8: Australian doctors involvement in medico-legal matters	101
CHAPTER 9: Psychiatric morbidity and alcohol use in Australian doctors	
CHAPTER 10: Change of practice due to medico-legal concerns in Australia	114
CHAPTER 10: Change of practice due to medico-legal concerns in Australia	
CHAPTER 10: Change of practice due to medico-legal concerns in Australia CHAPTER 11: Discussion I. Factors associated with having a current medico-legal matter	
CHAPTER 10: Change of practice due to medico-legal concerns in Australia CHAPTER 11: Discussion <i>1. Factors associated with having a current medico-legal matter</i> 1.1 Frequency of medico-legal matters	
CHAPTER 10: Change of practice due to medico-legal concerns in Australia CHAPTER 11: Discussion <i>1. Factors associated with having a current medico-legal matter</i> 1.1 Frequency of medico-legal matters 1.2 Gender	
CHAPTER 10: Change of practice due to medico-legal concerns in Australia CHAPTER 11: Discussion <i>1. Factors associated with having a current medico-legal matter</i> 1.1 Frequency of medico-legal matters 1.2 Gender 1.3 Interventional doctors and radiologists	
<ul> <li>CHAPTER 10: Change of practice due to medico-legal concerns in Australia</li> <li>CHAPTER 11: Discussion</li></ul>	
CHAPTER 10: Change of practice due to medico-legal concerns in Australia CHAPTER 11: Discussion <i>1. Factors associated with having a current medico-legal matter</i> 1.1 Frequency of medico-legal matters 1.2 Gender 1.3 Interventional doctors and radiologists 1.4 Longer hours of work 1.5 Factors not associated.	
CHAPTER 10: Change of practice due to medico-legal concerns in Australia CHAPTER 11: Discussion <i>1. Factors associated with having a current medico-legal matter</i> 1.1 Frequency of medico-legal matters 1.2 Gender 1.3 Interventional doctors and radiologists 1.4 Longer hours of work 1.5 Factors not associated 1.6 Summary	
CHAPTER 10: Change of practice due to medico-legal concerns in Australia CHAPTER 11: Discussion <i>1. Factors associated with having a current medico-legal matter</i> <i>1.1 Frequency of medico-legal matters</i> <i>1.2 Gender</i> <i>1.3 Interventional doctors and radiologists</i> <i>1.4 Longer hours of work</i> <i>1.5 Factors not associated</i> <i>1.6 Summary</i> <i>2. Factors associated with psychiatric morbidity</i>	
CHAPTER 10: Change of practice due to medico-legal concerns in Australia CHAPTER 11: Discussion <i>1. Factors associated with having a current medico-legal matter</i> <i>1.1 Frequency of medico-legal matters</i> <i>1.2 Gender</i> <i>1.3 Interventional doctors and radiologists</i> <i>1.4 Longer hours of work</i> <i>1.5 Factors not associated</i> <i>1.6 Summary</i> <i>2. Factors associated with psychiatric morbidity</i> <i>2.1 Medico-legal matter</i>	
CHAPTER 10: Change of practice due to medico-legal concerns in Australia CHAPTER 11: Discussion <i>1. Factors associated with having a current medico-legal matter</i> <i>1.1 Frequency of medico-legal matters</i> <i>1.2 Gender</i> <i>1.3 Interventional doctors and radiologists</i> <i>1.4 Longer hours of work</i> <i>1.5 Factors not associated</i> <i>1.6 Summary</i> <i>2. Factors associated with psychiatric morbidity</i> <i>2.1 Medico-legal matter</i> <i>2.2 Long hours and no holidays</i>	
CHAPTER 10: Change of practice due to medico-legal concerns in Australia CHAPTER 11: Discussion <i>1. Factors associated with having a current medico-legal matter</i> 1.1 Frequency of medico-legal matters 1.2 Gender 1.3 Interventional doctors and radiologists 1.4 Longer hours of work. 1.5 Factors not associated. 1.6 Summary <i>2. Factors associated with psychiatric morbidity</i> 2.1 Medico-legal matter 2.2 Long hours and no holidays 2.3 Personality.	
CHAPTER 10: Change of practice due to medico-legal concerns in Australia.         CHAPTER 11: Discussion.         1. Factors associated with having a current medico-legal matter         1.1 Frequency of medico-legal matters         1.2 Gender         1.3 Interventional doctors and radiologists         1.4 Longer hours of work         1.5 Factors not associated         1.6 Summary         2. Factors associated with psychiatric morbidity         2.1 Medico-legal matter         2.2 Long hours and no holidays         2.3 Personality         2.4 Factors not associated	
CHAPTER 10: Change of practice due to medico-legal concerns in Australia         CHAPTER 11: Discussion	
CHAPTER 10: Change of practice due to medico-legal concerns in Australia.         CHAPTER 11: Discussion.         1. Factors associated with having a current medico-legal matter         1.1 Frequency of medico-legal matters         1.2 Gender.         1.3 Interventional doctors and radiologists         1.4 Longer hours of work.         1.5 Factors not associated.         1.6 Summary         2. Factors associated with psychiatric morbidity         2.1 Medico-legal matter         2.2 Long hours and no holidays         2.3 Personality.         2.4 Factors not associated.         3. Factors associated with hazardous alcohol use.         3.1 Medico-legal matters.	
CHAPTER 10: Change of practice due to medico-legal concerns in Australia.         CHAPTER 11: Discussion.         1. Factors associated with having a current medico-legal matter.         1.1 Frequency of medico-legal matters         1.2 Gender         1.3 Interventional doctors and radiologists         1.4 Longer hours of work.         1.5 Factors not associated.         1.6 Summary.         2. Factors associated with psychiatric morbidity.         2.1 Medico-legal matter         2.2 Long hours and no holidays         2.3 Personality.         2.4 Factors not associated.         3. I Medico-legal matters         3.1 Medico-legal matters         3.2 Gender	

3.4 Solo practitioners	
3.5 Factors not associated	
4. The perceived impact of medico-legal concerns on how Australian doctors practice medic	cine128
4.1 Assurance Behaviours	
4.2 Avoidance Behaviours	131
4.3 Reducing hours of work or years in practice	132
4.4 Changes in the way doctors relate to patients	
4.5 Communication inadequacies	133
4.6 Potentially safer practice changes	134
5. Legal risk	
6. Strengths of the research method	
7. Limitations of the research method	
8. Summary of Findings	
CHAPTER 12: Conclusions and Recommendations	143
References	148
Appendices	163
Appendix 1: Article on psychological impact published prior to candidature	
Appendix 2: Bozic comment on the above psychological impact article	
Appendix 3: Introductory letter to doctors in the large study	
Appendix 4: The large study questionnaire	

### **List of Tables**

1	Data on Adverse Events in Health Care from Several Countries	7
2	Calculated Claim Rate for the Top 20 Subspecialties in Total Claims made in 2005 in the USA	39
3	Assurance and avoidance behaviours due to medico-legal concerns	59
4	Table 1 (GP study, Chapter 5): Subject characteristics	82
5	Table 2 (GP study, Chapter 5): Mean total instrument scores	84
6	Table 3 (GP study, Chapter 5): Binary logistic regressions: current medico-legal matters as predictors of psychiatric morbidity and potentially hazardous drinking	85
7	Table 4 (GP study, Chapter 5): Prevalence of psychiatric morbidity in Australian doctors	86
8	Table 1 (GP study, Chapter 6): Medicolegal history of the respondents	90
9	Table 2 (GP study, Chapter 6): Beliefs about medicolegal issues	91
10	Table 3 (GP study, Chapter 6): Practice changes due to medicolegal concerns	92
.11	Table 1 (GP study, Chapter 7): Medico-legal history of the respondents	97
12	Table 2 (GP study, Chapter 7): Eysenck Personality Questionnaire subscales by gender and hours of work	98
13	Table 1 (Large study, Chapter 8): Response rate to survey, by medical specialty	103
14	Table 2 (Large study, Chapter 8): Proportion of doctors ever involved in a medicolegal matter, by medical specialty and type of medicolegal matter	103
15	Table 3 (Large study, Chapter 8): Univariate and multivariate analyses of factors associated with being involved in a current medicolegal matter	104
16	Table 1 (Large study, Chapter 9): Univariate and multivariate analysis of factors associated with psychiatric morbidity (GHQ score > 4)	109
17	Table 2 (Large study, Chapter 9): Univariate and multivariate* analysis of factors associated with hazardous alcohol use (AUDIT score >=8)	111
18	Table 1 (Large study, Chapter 10): Perceived change in practice behaviour due to concerns about medicolegal negligence claims and complaints	116
19	Table 2 (Large study, Chapter 10): Beliefs about medicolegal issues	117
20	Table 3 (Large study, Chapter 10): Perceived influence of medicolegal issues on career choices.	118
0.1		

- Table 4 (Large study, Chapter 10): Perceived influence of medicolegal issues on 21 how doctors relate to patients.....
- Recall of the impact on doctor's health of most recent medico-legal matter from the 22 large study of specialists, GPs and trainees.....

118

124

129

V

Assurance and avoidance behaviours due to medico-legal concerns (with GP and 23 large studies for comparison).....

### **Definition of medico-legal terms**

Adverse events	An incident in which harm resulted to a person receiving health care (Runciman 2006).				
	The World Alliance for patient safety of the World Health Organisation (2005) defines adverse event as "An injury related to medical management, in contrast to complications of disease (Hiatt et al 1989). Medical management includes all aspects of care, including diagnosis and treatment, failure to diagnose or treat, and the systems and equipment used to deliver care. Adverse events may be preventable or non-preventable". While all adverse events result from medical management, not all are attributable to errors (Kohn et al 2000).				
Case	A case is a suit filed in the legal system (Taragin et al 1995).				
Complaint	An expression of dissatisfaction with something (Runciman 2006).				
Defensive medicine	Medical practice based on the fear of legal liability rather than on the best interests of the patients (Studdert et al 2005, Kessler et al 2006).				
Disciplinary body	A person or body that has the power to discipline a health practitioner or to suspend or cancel the registration of a health practitioner (New South Wales Government, Health Care Complaints Act 1993).				
Gross negligence	A reckless indifference to an obvious or understood risk of injury to a patient. If a patient dies as a result of gross negligence, criminal law can be applied in a charge of manslaughter (Runciman et al 2007).				
Legal risk	This is defined in this thesis as the doctor's understanding of the law as it relates to mistakes and adverse patient outcomes.				
Medical malpractice	The term in the USA for medical negligence.				
Medico-legal matter	A broad term used in this thesis to include the following specific matters: a claim for compensation, a complaint to a health care complaints body, a medical board inquiry, a disciplinary hearing, a Health Insurance Commission inquiry, a hospital dispute, a hospital investigation, a pharmaceutical services inquiry, a complaint before an anti-discrimination board, a coronial inquiry, a criminal charge, or a patient complaint direct to the doctor.				
Negligence	A failure to exercise reasonable care and skill (Review of the law of negligence (Ipp et al 2002).				

TortA tort is a civil wrong, or injury not covered by a contract. Negligence is a<br/>tort (i.e. a civil wrong) (Runciman et al 2007).

vi

and a second second field the second seco

### **Thesis Abstract**

This thesis investigates factors associated with Australian doctors experiencing a medico-legal matter and the mental health and changes to the practice of those doctors. Psychiatric morbidity, alcohol use, personality style, perception of legal risk<sup>1</sup> and perception of changes of practice due to medico-legal concerns were measured. Doctors who experienced a medico-legal matter were compared with those who had not.

Prior to this thesis there there was no Australian evidence on the response of doctors to complaints, claims for compensation and inquiries. I use the broad term medico-legal matters to cover these categories.

# Thesis Structure

Chapters 1 and 2

These are introductory chapters. Chapter 1 provides the background to the medicolegal environment internationally and in Australia. Chapter 2 provides the background to psychiatric morbidity and alcohol use in doctors.

### Chapter 3

This is a literature review of factors associated with being the subject of a medico-legal matter, the emotional response of doctors to a medico-legal matter, and defensive medicine with the perceived changes in practice due to medico-legal concerns.

The findings from my research are presented in the seven publications that make up Chapters 4-10. These were published during the time of my candidature. The first study was a

small pilot which informed the method for the larger two studies.

The publications and their location in this thesis are set out below.

Legal risk is used here to refer to the doctors' understanding of the law as it relates to mistakes and adverse patient outcomes.

vii

#### Chapter 4: The New South Wales Health Care Complaints pilot study

Nash L, Curtis B, Walton M, Willcock S, Tennant C. The response of doctors to a formal complaint. Australasian Psychiatry. 2006; 14: 246-250.

Aim: To investigate doctors' emotional response to a complaint to the New South Wales Health Care Complaints Commission (HCCC) and doctors' understanding of legal risk.

**Method**: Sixty-nine doctors who were the subject of a complaint to the HCCC were sent a questionnaire two weeks after they were notified of the complaint. The questionnaire included demographic details, number of previous complaints, the General Health Questionnaire-28 (Goldberg 1998) to measure psychiatric morbidity using the case identification method<sup>2</sup>, Sheehans disability scale (Leon et al 1997) to measure disability in work, social and family life, the Eysenck Personality Questionnaire (Eysenck et al 1991) to measure personality traits, and the Attitude to Helping Others scale (Webb et al 2000) as a measure of altruism. A set of questions were also designed to measure the doctors' perceptions of legal risk.

Key results: Sixty-nine surveys were sent and 40 doctors responded (response rate 60 percent). Thirty-eight per cent of respondents met case identification for psychiatric morbidity using the General Health Questionnaire (Goldberg 1998). There was minimal functional impairment of work, social or family life. All doctors scored highly on the attitude to helping others scale. There was a significant correlation between higher number of educational meetings attended and reduced number of complaints (r=0.56; p<0.001).

The questions assessing doctor's perception of legal risk appeared to have acceptable construct validity and showed that many doctors misunderstand legal risk.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Case identification for risk of psychiatric morbidity is based on a combined score of more than 4 for the total questionnaire. The questionnaire has 28 items and uses binary scoring for each item with the two least symptomatic answers scoring 0 and the two most symptomatic answers scoring 1.

Method modification for the later studies: This pilot study informed the method of the subsequent studies. The Health Care Complaints Commission (HCCC) controlled the mailing of the questionnaires for confidentiality reasons, and it is likely that some doctors may not have been sent the questionnaire as the sample was considerably smaller than was anticipated. Receiving the questionnaire two weeks after notification of the complaint may also have been too early to assess the impact of the complaint on the doctor. The distribution method and timing of the survey needed to change. A cross sectional design was used for the later studies rather than relying on each subject requiring their own timeline. Therefore, once the sample was chosen, all doctors in that sample were sent the questionnaire at the same time. The Attitude to Helping Others measure (Webb et al 2000) was not found to be a discerning measure as all respondents scored very highly. It was not used subsequently. The Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT) (Saunders et al 1993), to measure potentially alcohol use, was added to the subsequent studies. The questions in relation to perceptions of legal risk were expanded for the larger studies to include changes in the practice of medicine due to medico-legal concerns. These items were chosen from the international literature investigating defensive medicine.

#### Chapters 5, 6 and 7: The Australian General Practitioner study

Three publications report the findings of this study. The aims and methods are described here, followed by a summary of the individual publications and their key findings.

### Aims of the Australian General Practitioner Study (The GP Study):

• To investigate the difference in psychiatric morbidity and alcohol use between Australian general practitioners (GPs) who had experienced a medico-legal matter with those who had not (Chapter 5).

- To investigate Australian GPs' understanding of legal risk and their perceived practice changes due to medico-legal concerns. GPs who had experienced a medico-legal matter were compared with those who had not (Chapter 6).
- To investigate the personality traits of Australian GPs and their gender, work practice arrangements, and history of medico-legal matters. GPs who had experienced a medico-legal matter were compared with those who had not (Chapter 7).

**Method for the GP study:** A cross sectional postal survey was sent to 1239 GPs who were insured with a major medical insurance company in Australia. There were two sources of data. The main source was from the survey which included:

- Demographic information
- Experience of a medico-legal matter with any medical defence organization<sup>3</sup>
- Psychiatric morbidity measured by the General Health Questionnaire (Goldberg 1998).
- Potentially hazardous alcohol use measure by the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (Saunders et al 1993).
- Personality traits measured by the Eysenck Personality Questionnaire (Eysenck et al 1991).
- The doctor's understanding of legal risk
- Changes to their practice of medicine due to medico-legal concerns

The second set of data was extracted by the collaborating medical insurance company from their database. This included age, sex, proceduralist or not, and number and type of medico-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> This was defined as a claim for compensation for damages, complaint to a healthcare complaints body, medical board inquiry, disciplinary hearing, Health Insurance Commission (HIC) inquiry, hospital dispute, pharmaceutical services inquiry, Medicare fraud inquiry, anti-discrimination board inquiry, coronial inquiry and criminal charge.

legal matters experienced with that company. Respondents were compared with nonrespondents on age, sex, proceduralist or not, and experience of medico-legal matters.

**Response rate**: there were 566 respondents out of 1239 GPs who were mailed the survey (46 percent response rate to survey).

### Chapter 5: Psychological morbidity in the GP study

Nash L, Daly M, Johnson M, Walter G, Walton M, Willcock S, Coulston C, Van Ekert E, Tennant C. Psychological morbidity in Australian doctors who have and have not experienced a medico-legal matter: cross-sectional survey. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry. 2007; 41:917-925.

**Key results**: Fifty-nine per cent of respondents to the survey reported experiencing a medicolegal matter, with 13 percent having a current matter. Those with a current matter reported increased levels of disability (in work, social or family life) and higher levels of psychiatric morbidity (45 percent vs 27 percent GHQ case identification rates ) compared to those with no current matter. Male respondents drank significantly more alcohol than female respondents, and male respondents with current or past medico-legal matters had significantly higher levels of alcohol use than male respondents with no experience of medico-legal matters.

### Chapter 6: Change in practice due to medico-legal concerns in the GP study

Nash L, Walton M, Daly M, Johnson M, Van Ekert E, Walter G, Willcock S, Tennant C. GPs' concerns about medico-legal issues – How it affects their practice. Australian Family Physician. 2009;38:66-70.

**Key Results**: GPs with experience of a medico-legal matter were more likely than their colleagues with no experience to report that the law required them to make perfect decisions and that medico-legal concerns made them consider early retirement from medicine. They

were also less likely to believe that inadequate communication is a factor in most complaints.

GPs' concerns about medico-legal matters caused them to practice defensive medicine for example ordering more tests than they believed clinically required (73 percent) and referring to specialists more than usual (66 percent) due to medico-legal concerns. However some potentially safer changes were also made for example implementing systems to track test results more than usual (70 percent); and communication of risk to patients more than usual (68 percent). Thus medico-legal concerns can cause potentially beneficial and potentially detrimental changes to the practice of medicine.

#### Chapter 7: Personality of doctors and association with medico-legal matters

Nash L, Daly M, Johnson M, Coulston C, Tennant C, van Ekert E, Walter G, Willcock S, Walton M. Personality, gender and medico-legal matters in medical Practice. Australasian Psychiatry. 2009;17:19-25.

**Key Results**: Male respondents had significantly higher psychoticism scores than females using the Eysenck Personality Questionnaire (psychoticism refers to being "tough minded" not psychotic) and females had significantly higher neuroticism scores than males, as in community samples.

Males who reported a medico-legal matter had higher neuroticism scores than males who did not report medico-legal matters. This was not the case for females. However, for males, this pattern was not replicated when considering data from the medical insurance company. Either the higher neuroticism males were over inclusive in reporting their experience, or they had other matters with other medical insurance organisations. Either way, there was no consistent pattern regarding personality traits and experience of medico-legal matters.

Would the findings reported in the GP study relating to changes in practice,

xii

understanding of legal risk and morbidity associated with GPs experiencing a medico-legal matter be representative of a larger and broader sample of Australian doctors? This was investigated in the final study. The larger size of the final study and the representative sample of Australian doctors make the findings convincing particularly as they are similar in most areas, to the findings of the GP study.

### Chapters 8, 9 and 10: The large Australian study of specialists, GPs and trainees

Three publications report the findings of this study. The aims and methods are described here followed by the key findings of the three publications.

Aims of the large study of specialists, GPs and trainees: There were three aims of the large study:

- To investigate the factors associated with Australian doctors' involvement in medicolegal matters (chapter 8).
- To investigate whether having a current medico-legal matter is associated with psychiatric morbidity and hazardous alcohol use in Australian doctors (chapter 9).
- To explore the perceived impact of medico-legal concerns on how Australian doctors practise medicine. Doctors who have experienced a medico-legal matter are compared with those who have not (chapter 10).

Method used in the large study of specialists, GPs and trainees: A cross-sectional postal survey was sent to 8,360 Australian doctors (specialists, general practitioners and trainees) insured with a major medical insurance company. The method of the GP study was used with three additions: a larger and broader sample of doctors were surveyed, respondents were asked for number and type of medico-legal matter they had experienced and the collaborating insurance company was able to measure response rate for each specialty group.

xiii

**Response rate:** There were 2,999 respondents out of 8,360 doctors who were mailed the survey (36 percent response rate to survey).

#### Chapter 8: Factors associated with Australian doctors experiencing a medico-legal matter

Nash L, Kelly P, Daly M, Walter G, van Ekert E, Walton M, Willcock S, Tennant C. Australian doctors' involvement in medico-legal matters: a cross-sectional self-report study. Medical Journal of Australia. 2009;191:436-440.

**Key results**: Sixty-five per cent of respondents had been involved in a medico-legal matter at some time, and 14 percent were involved in a current matter. The two most common types of medico-legal matters were claims for compensation, experienced by 31 percent of respondents, and complaints to a health care complaints body, experienced by 30 percent of respondents. Rates of each type of medico-legal matter per specialty group are reported. A multivariate logistic regression analysis of factors found that doctors were more likely to be involved in medico-legal matters if they were male, worked in high-intervention areas of medicine (surgery and obstetrics/gynaecology), and worked long hours. These Australian findings concur with the international literature.

#### Chapter 9: Psychiatric morbidity and alcohol use in Australian doctors

Nash L, Dały M, Kelly P, van Ekert E, Walter G, Walton M, Willcock S and Tennant C. Factors associated with psychiatric morbidity and hazardous alcohol use in Australian doctors. Medical Journal of Australia. 2010; 193: 161-166.

**Key results**: Factors significantly associated with psychiatric morbidity in doctors were having a current medico-legal matter, not taking a holiday in the previous year, working long hours and having personality traits of neuroticism or introversion.

Factors significantly associated with potentially hazardous alcohol use in doctors were

being male, aged between 40 and 59 years, solo practitioners, having personality traits of neuroticism or extraversion and failing to meet Continuing Medical Education requirements.

### Chapter 10: Change of practice due to medico-legal concerns in Australian doctors

Nash L, Walton M, Daly M, Kelly P, Walter G, Van Ekert E, Willcock S, Tennant C. Perceived practice change in Australian doctors as a result of medico-legal concerns. Medical Journal of Australia. 2010; 193: 579–583.

**Key results**: Respondents reported changes in practice due to medico-legal concerns, with 43 percent of clinicians stating that they refer patients to other health professionals more than usual, 55 percent stating that they order tests more than usual and 11 percent stating that they prescribe medications more than usual due to medico-legal concerns. Respondents also report improved communication of risk to patients (66 percent), increased disclosure of uncertainty (44 percent), better systems for tracking results (48 percent), and better methods for identifying non-attenders (39 percent) and for auditing clinical practice (35 percent) due to medico-legal concerns.

Thirty-three percent of respondents thought about giving up medicine, 32 percent considered reducing hours of work and 40 percent considered retiring early due to medico-legal concerns. These were all significantly greater for doctors who had experienced a medico-legal matter than those who had not.

This Australian study, like international studies, confirms that doctor's concerns about medico-legal issues impacts on the practice of medicine in a variety of ways, potentially beneficial and potentially detrimental. There is a greater perceived impact on those doctors who have experienced a medico-legal matter.

### Chapters 11 and 12

This new Australian research, similar to the international literature, finds that doctors' involvement in medico-legal matters is a time of heightened stress and that Australian doctors perceive they change their practice due to medico-legal concerns. The findings from my three studies are compared with the international literature in chapter 11, and the conclusions and recommendations are made in chapter 12.

The findings from this research will inform doctors, universities, medical colleges and medical insurance companies in Australia about doctors who are the subject of a complaint/claim/inquiry. The doctors' experience of medico-legal matters, as documented in this thesis, may also inform future discussions about systems of health care complaint and compensation in Australia.

### Additional publications and presentations in the field of study

### Publications

Nash L, Tennant C, Walton M. The psychological impact of complaints and negligence suits on doctors. Australasian Psychiatry. 2004;12:278-281.

Nash L, Daly M, van Ekert E, Kelly P. How do medico-legal matters impact on the doctor: Research findings from an Australian study. In Figley C, Huggard P, Rees C, editors. First Do No Self-Harm: Understanding and Promoting Physician Stress Resilience. Oxford University Press, in press

### **Presentations at conferences**

Nash L. How medico-legal matters impact on doctors. Annual Congress of the Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Psychiatrists, May 2010, Auckland.

Nash L. Invited panel member at hypothetical workshop: "Adverse incidents and how they affect psychiatrists working in the public sector." Annual Congress of the Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Psychiatrists, May 2009, Adelaide.

Nash L, Daly M, Walton M, Willcock S, Walter G, Tennant C, Coulston C, Johnson M, Van Ekert E. The psychological impact and practice changes associated with medico-legal matters in Australian doctors. Part of a workshop on "Better outcomes for patients and better health for doctors - a focus on medico-legal matters." International Doctors' Health Conference, Sydney 2007.

Nash L, Daly M, Walton M, Willcock S, Walter G, Tennant C, Coulston C, Johnson M, Van Ekert E. Psychological morbidity in Australian GPs who have experienced a medico-legal matter- a cross sectional survey. NSW Rural Psychiatrists Conference, 2007

Nash L, Tennant C, Willcock S, Walton M, Daly M, Walter G, Johnson M, Van Ekert E. The Psychological impact on doctors of complaints and law suits. Annual Congress of the Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Psychiatrists, May 2007, Gold Coast.

Nash L, Willcock S, Walton M, Curtis B, Tennant C. The Psychological impact on doctors of complaints to the HCCC, and Doctors' perception of legal risk: a pilot study. Annual Congress of the Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Psychiatrists, May 2005, Sydney.



### Preface

I have had the benefit of working with a large research group that has evolved with time over the six years of this research. My collaborators have come from the University of Sydney and the medical insurance companies UNITED Medical Protection, Avant and MDA National. They are listed in the Declaration of co-authors on the following page.

Ethics approval was granted by the Northern Sydney Central Coast Area Health and University of Sydney Medical Research Ethics Committees.

I was responsible for all phases of this research under the supervision of Professor Chris Tennant, Professor Merrilyn Walton and Professor Garry Walter. However, particular assistance was required for the statistical analysis. At various times through the life of the project, this assistance has been provided by Dr Brad Curtis, Michele Daly, Dr Carissa Coulston and Dr Patrick Kelly.

Funding was received from research grants from the University of Sydney, Northern Sydney Health and Avant. In addition, I received a half time research fellowship from the New South Wales Institute of Psychiatry for eight months in 2008.



#### **Declaration of co-authors**

We, the undersigned co-authors declare that the following eight articles, presented in the body of this thesis (articles 2 - 8) and in the appendix (article 1), are from work done primarily by the first author Dr Louise Nash who designed, organised, managed and reported the studies and was the primary author of these articles.

1. Nash L, Tennant C, Walton M. The psychological impact of complaints and negligence suits on doctors. Australasian Psychiatry, 2004;12:278-281

2. Nash L, Curtis B, Walton M, Willcock S, Tennant C. The response of doctors to a complaint to the HCCC. Australasian Psychiatry, 2006; 14: 246-250

3. Nash L, Daly M, Johnson M, Walter G, Walton M, Willcock S, Coulston C, Van Ekert E, Tennant C. Psychological morbidity in Australian doctors who have and have not experienced a medico-legal matter: cross-sectional survey. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry 2007; 41:917-925.

4. Nash L, Walton M, Daly M, Johnson M, Van Ekert E, Walter G, Willcock S, Tennant C. GPs' concerns about medicolegal issues – How it affects their practice. Australian Family Physician 2009; Vol 38, (1/2)66-70

5. Nash L, Daly M, Johnson M, Coulston C, Tennant C, van Ekert E, Walter G, Willcock S, Walton M. Personality, gender and medico-legal matters in medical Practice. Australasian Psychiatry, 2009; 17(1):19-25

6. Nash L, Kelly P, Daly M, Walter G, van Ekert E, Walton M, Willcock S, Tennant C. Australian doctors' involvement in medicolegal matters: a cross-sectional self-report study. MJA 2009;191:436-440

And the Property of the Andrew Street, Street,

7. Nash L, Daly M, Kelly P, van Ekert E, Walter G, Walton M, Willcock S and Tennant C. Factors associated with psychiatric morbidity and hazardous alcohol use in Australian doctors. MJA 2010; 193 (3): 161-166.

8. Nash L, Walton M, Daly M, Kelly P, Walter G, Van Ekert E, Willcock S, Tennant C. Perceived practice change in Australian doctors due to medico-legal concerns in press MJA, 2010

Aumors instea in alphaoetical order, with	relevant arucie num	loer beside their name.
Co-author Name	articles	Signature Date
Dr Carissa Coulston	3, 5	Couston7/12/10
Dr Bradley Curtis	2	Blent 14/11/2010
	-	
Ms Michele Daly	3-8	Michae Dory 7/12/2010.
Professor Maree Johnson	3-5	Maree John 10/12/2010
Dr Patrick Kelly	6-8	12/2010 03/12/2010
Professor Chris Tennant	1 <b>-8</b>	Umi hun to Totio
Ms Elizabeth van Ekert	3-8	Koluth var Cat 4/12/10
Professor Garry Walter	3-8	ghth 7/12/2010
Professor Marrily Walton	10	- 10 holton, 3/12/10
TOTOSOU INCLUINATIN ALLON	1-0	
Professor Simon Willcock	2-8	- Kun 29/11/2010

### Acknowledgements

I acknowledge my supervisors Professor Chris Tennant, Professor Merrilyn Walton and Professor Garry Walter whose diverse expertise I have drawn on. I thank them for being available, supportive and learned. Particular thanks to Professor Walton who has given me extra assistance in the final phase of writing. I also thank Dr Glenn Hunt, PhD co-ordinator who has also been available for advice at all times.

I have been able to draw on and learn from the many skills within my research group and I thank them all: Carissa Coulston, Brad Curtis, Michele Daly, Maree Johnson, Patrick Kelly, Chris Tennant, Elizabeth van Ekert, Simon Willcock, Garry Walter and Merrilyn Walton.

I thank my peer review group Drs Anthony Harris, Cath Hickie, Greg Hugh, Peter Kelly, Chris Ryan, Michaela Skopek and Andrew Singer for lively feedback, encouraging support, humour and for trialling and advising on the initial questionnaire.

I thank His Honour Judge Michael Bozic SC for advice, Dr Cath Hickie for keeping me to the final timeline, and Dr Loyola McLean for sound counsel.

I give thanks for and to my large and boisterous family: my parents Mary and Bill Nash, my sisters Sally, Julie, Helen and their families, for not minding that I have been occupied and for always being happy to share any load. Finally, my ever important four guiding stars: Madelaine, Dominic, Francesca and Ed who have developed previously unknown skills during the final writing phase of this thesis. No day passes without my appreciation of them. Finally,

### special thanks to Ed for too many things to mention.

### I hope that in the long term, this thesis will make the difficulties of being the subject of a

XX

medico-legal matter less traumatic for doctors.

### **CHAPTER 1: Background to the medico-legal environment**

The literature overwhelmingly portrays that medico-legal matters are low frequency high stress events for doctors. "Medico-legal matters" in this thesis includes claims for compensation for negligence, complaints against the doctor, and inquiries for example coronial inquests. Most of the literature is about doctors' experience of claims for compensation for negligence and complaints with little reporting of Australian doctors' experience of medico-legal matters. This thesis is about doctors' emotional responses to medico-legal matters and changes in their practice of medicine in response to medico-legal concerns; it is not about the law.

My research, for the first time, provides the Australian evidence on doctors' responses to medico-legal matters. This can be used to develop appropriate education of the medical

workforce on these important issues.

### 1. Background to the thesis

Adverse patient outcomes occur in health care, regardless of intent and quality of care provided (Wilson et al 1995; Brennan et al 1991; Leape 1994, Vincent et al 2001). Patients may be harmed, or experience inadequate treatment, or be dissatisfied with no adverse outcome, causing them to seek redress through medico-legal processes against a doctor. Since the late 1980s, formal complaint mechanisms for health care have operated in all Australian states and territories in addition to the right of patients to seek compensation as a result of claims of medical negligence. A minority of patients claim compensation when there has been no wrongful treatment (Localio et al 1991, Brennan et al 1996, Runciman et al 2003, Studdert et al 2000), or complain when there has been no cause for complaint (Health Care Complaints Commission 2008-09 annual report). Bad outcomes cause distress for all concerned, not only for the patient and their family, but also for the doctor, and their family (Wu 2000). The medico-legal processes of complaints, claims and inquiries are distressing for doctors

regardless of the cause or the outcome. There is international evidence of this distress, but no Australian evidence.

### 2. Aims of the thesis

This thesis explores the psychological response, change in practice and understanding of medico-legal matters in Australian doctors. Three major areas were investigated:

- The factors associated with Australian doctors' involvement in medico-legal matters.
- The association between a current medico-legal matter and psychiatric morbidity and hazardous alcohol use in doctors.
- The perceived impact of medico-legal concerns on how Australian doctors practise medicine. Doctors who have experienced a medico-legal matter are compared with doctors who have not.

The final aim of this project is to inform Australian doctors, medical insurance companies, Health Care Complaints bodies, medical schools and medical colleges of the study findings, so that Australian doctors can be better informed about medico-legal processes and the potential impact on their health and practice. This has been achieved in part through publications in peer reviewed Australian journals, presentations at national and international conferences, and interviews with and articles in the Australian media<sup>4</sup>.

Chapter 1 covers the background to the medico-legal environment, including the tension between tort law and the patient safety movement, the landmark adverse event studies, the lack of correlation between negligent adverse events and negligence claims, overestimation by doctors of the likelihood of being sued, reasons for claims and complaints and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> For example Australian Doctor 30.4.10; AAP 1.8.10; The Examiner 2.8.10; International Business Times 2.8.10; MJA insight, 2.8.10; The Sydney Morning Herald 15.11.10; ABC radio 15.11.10; Medical Observer 19.11.10; 2SER radio 20.11.10.

the frequency of these in Australia. Chapter 2 provides the background contextual information on psychiatric morbidity and alcohol use in doctors, and whether this impacts on patient care. Chapter 3 examines the literature pertaining to the factors associated with doctors who are more likely to experience a medico-legal matter, the association between a medico-legal matter and psychiatric morbidity and alcohol use in doctors, and changes to the medical practice of doctors due to medico-legal concerns.

### 3. The medico-legal environment internationally

Many patients who are injured by negligent care do not receive nor seek compensation. Conversely, some receiving compensation have not received negligent care (Localio et al 1991; Brennan et al 1996, Runciman et al 2003, Studdert et al 2000). Another issue with the current medico-legal environment is the high financial cost of litigation and the additional cost of defensive medicine<sup>5</sup> that it encourages (Berstein 2008, Helland 2009). Furthermore, tort law promotes a climate of blame and discourages the reporting of errors. Acknowledging errors is a prerequisite to learning from them (Donaldson 2003). Finally, it can turn patients and doctors into adversaries (Rowe 2004).

Australia, other Commonwealth countries and the United States of America (USA) inherited tort law from the United Kingdom (UK), where compensation for medical harm is dealt with by the tort of negligence. A tort is a wrongful act or wrongful omission that causes harm. Negligence<sup>6</sup> is the specific tort involved in medical litigation (Donaldson 2003). The common law of torts awards damages to a patient when his or her doctor is found to have acted negligently (Kessler 2006).

The doctor's medical indemnity insurance is a form of liability insurance that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Defensive medicine is medical practice based on the fear of legal liability rather than on the best interests of the patient (Kessler et al 2006, Studdert et al 2005).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Negligence refers to a failure to exercise reasonable care and skill, as defined in the Commonwealth of Australia Review of the law of negligence (Ipp et al 2002).

indemnifies doctors for financial loss from actions against them as a result of their professional duties.

There are other systems for resolving negligence which share little in common with tort law. For example, in Taiwan medical negligence is part of the criminal law (Lin 2009). In that country between 2000 and 2004 one doctor was found guilty every 3 months of the crimes of delayed or missed diagnoses, or surgical complications. This is the highest criminal rate of doctors in the world (Lin 2009). In Europe, Italy has the highest number of doctors subject to criminal proceedings for medical negligence. Traina, writing from Italy, believes that this has led to an increase in defensive medicine<sup>7</sup> (Traina 2009).

No-fault compensation systems<sup>8</sup> operate in Sweden, Denmark and New Zealand. The Chief Medical Officer of England, and Chair of the World Alliance for Patient Safety Sir Liam Donaldson notes that a no fault system provides more certainty for claimants, provides speedier resolution, lowers administration and legal costs, reduces tension between clinicians and claimants and there is a greater willingness by clinicians to report errors and adverse events (Donaldson 2003). The Nordic systems use an 'avoidability standard', principally defined as injury that would not occur in the hands of the best practitioner (Kachalia et al 2005). In New Zealand, compensation is payable for personal injury caused by medical error, negligence, or mishap, or where the consequence is a rare outcome of treatment (Donaldson 2003).

### 4. Conflict between tort law and patient safety

There is a natural tension between tort law which focuses on compensating individual patients for their bad outcomes usually against an individually named doctor, and safety in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Defensive medicine is discussed more extensively in chapter 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> No fault compensation schemes are an alternative to tort law for providing financial compensation for injuries. Generally negligence does not need to be proven although most schemes retain a test of causation and many also have tests of avoidability (Donaldson 2003).

health care with its primary focus on quality improvement. Tort law requires harm to be directly attributed to the actions of a person. Runciman argues that blaming well intentioned people for errors in health care drives the problem of iatrogenic harm underground (Runciman et al 2003).

Professor Merrilyn Walton, the former Commissioner of the Health Care Complaints Commission of NSW stated that errors will always be made, but if the focus is always on the actions of individuals, the opportunity to improve the system is lost (Walton 1998).

Similarly, Studdert described a "clash" between tort law and the patient safety movement with this clash undermining efforts to improve quality (Studdert et al 2004). May argues that efforts to prevent error must address clinicians' fear of malpractice litigation, as this is an obstacle to reporting and discussing medical mistakes (May et al 2001).

To inform Australian doctors of the reality of medico-legal matters is one of the purposes of this thesis. This may reduce some of the fear and misperception that currently exists.

### 5. Adverse events studies and their correlation with negligence claims

The Quality in Australian Health Care Study (Wilson et al 1995), together with the Harvard Medical Practice study (Brennan et al 1991), were groundbreaking studies that systematically revealed the nature and scale of iatrogenic harm in healthcare. Other countries have done similar studies (table 1). The Australian (Wilson et al 1995) and the US adverse events studies (Brennan et al 1991, Thomas et al 2000) will be further discussed as well as the US (Localio et al 1991, Studdert et al 2000), New Zealand (Bismark et al 2006) and Swedish studies (Pukk-Harenstam et al 2009) that analyse proportions of negligent care that have resulted or not resulted in a claim of negligence against doctors in the US, or compensation payments in New Zealand and Sweden.

# Table 1: Data on Adverse Events in Health Care from Several Countries (World Health Organization Executive Board 109<sup>th</sup> session, provisional agenda item 3.4, 5 December 2001 EB 109/9 in Walton 2004).

Study		Study focus (date of admissions)	Number of hospital admissions	Number of adverse events	Adverse event rate (%)
1	United States (Harvard Medical Practice Study) (Brennan et al 1991)	Acute care hospitals (1984)	30,195	1,133	3.8
2	United States (Utah-Colorado study) (UTCOS) (Thomas et al 2000)	Acute care hospitals (1992)	14,565	475	3.2
3	United States (Utah-Colorado study) (UTCOS) <sup>a</sup>	Acute care hospitals (1992)	14,565	787	5.4
4	Australia (Quality in Australian Health Care Study) (QAHCS) (Wilson et al 1995)	Acute care hospitals (1992)	14,179	2,353	16.6
5	Australia (Quality in Australian Health Care Study) (QAHCS) <sup>b</sup>	Acute care hospitals (1992)	14,179	1,499	10.6
6	United Kingdom (Vincent C et al 2001)	Acute care hospitals (1999-2000)	1,014	119	11.7
7	Denmark (Schiøler T, et al 2001)	Acute care hospitals (1998)	1,097	176	9.0

<sup>a</sup> Utah -Colorado study revised, used the same methodology as the Quality in Australian Health Care Study (harmonising the four methodological discrepancies between the two studies).

<sup>b</sup> Quality in Australian Health Care Study revised, used the same methodology as Utah-Colorado study (harmonising the four methodological discrepancies between the two studies).

Studies 3 & 5 present the most directly comparable data for the Utah-Colorado study and the Quality in Australian Health Care Study

Wilson and colleagues' (1995) Quality in Australian Health Care Study retrospectively audited medical records of 14,179 admissions to 28 hospitals in the states of New South Wales and South Australia in 1992. They aimed to estimate the adverse event rate defined as patient injury resulting in disability or longer stay caused by health care management. Adverse events resulting in disability or longer stay were encountered in 17 percent of admissions. Fifty-one percent of the adverse events were considered preventable. Resolution of the disability within

12 months occurred in 77 percent, permanent disability occurred in 14 percent, and death was

the outcome in five percent of the adverse events (Wilson et al 1995). This study used a

broader definition of adverse events than other adverse events studies, and this may partly

explain their higher rate of adverse events (Vincent 1999). Wilson et al also hypothesised that

7

record keeping may have been different, also adding to their higher rate of adverse events

(Wilson et al 1995).

The earlier landmark Harvard Medical Practice Study (Brennan et al 1991) aimed to estimate the incidence of adverse events and negligence in hospitalised patients. They defined an adverse event as an injury that was caused by medical management that prolonged the hospitalisation and or produced a disability at the time of discharge, or death. Negligence was defined as care that fell below the standard expected of doctors in their community. A retrospective medical record audit of 31,121 randomly selected hospital records was undertaken from hospitals in New York State in 1984. Adverse events occurred in 3.7 percent of hospitalizations. Negligence was the cause of 27.6 percent of adverse events. Seventy- one percent of these adverse events gave rise to disability lasting less than 6 months, 2.6 percent caused permanent disability and 13.6 percent led to death. The percentage of adverse events attributable to negligence increased in the categories of more severe injuries (P<0.0001) (Brennan et al 1991).

A further arm of the Harvard study by Localio and colleagues (1991) matched the medical record sample of the above study with state-wide data on medical malpractice claims. Patients who filed claims were identified and compared with the review of their medical records regarding the injuries to patient caused by adverse events. There were 280 patients who had adverse events caused by medical negligence. Only eight (three percent) of these filed a claim for medical malpractice. Therefore 97 percent of all adverse events due to negligence in this study did not result in malpractice claims. The authors concluded that the civil-justice system only infrequently compensates patients injured by medical negligence and rarely identifies and holds providers accountable for substandard care (Localio et al 1991).

There was poor correlation between the actual occurrence of negligent adverse events and negligence claims. A subsequent study by Brennan and colleagues (1996) explored this further by following 51 malpractice suits for 10 years to assess the ability of malpractice

litigation to make accurate determinations compared with their previous assessment of the case. Forty-six of the 51 malpractice cases after 10 years had been closed. Of these, 24 were originally identified as involving no adverse event yet 10 of these were settled for the plaintiff. Likewise six of 13 cases classified as involving adverse events but no negligence were settled for the plaintiff, yet only five of nine cases in which adverse events were due to negligence in their assessment were settled for the plaintiff. Seven of eight claims involving permanent disability were settled for the plaintiff. In a multivariate analysis, disability was the only significant predictor of payment (P = 0.03). There was no association between the occurrence of an adverse event due to negligence (P = 0.32) or an adverse event of any type and payment (P = 0.79). Thus the severity of the patient's disability, not the occurrence of an adverse event due to negligence, was predictive of payment to the plaintiff (Brennan et al 1996).

The Utah and Colorado study of 1992 used the Harvard Medical Practice study method to measure the incidence of adverse events and negligent adverse events (Thomas et al 2000). Fifteen thousand hospital discharges were reviewed. There was a total of 475 adverse events found which when weighted to the population of each state gave an estimate of adverse events occurring in 2.9 percent of hospitalizations (Thomas et al 2000).

In Utah, 33 percent of these adverse events, and in Colorado 27 percent, were due to negligence. Death occurred in 7 percent of adverse events and 9 percent of negligent adverse events. Forty-six percent of adverse events were attributed to surgeons and 22 percent of these were negligent, and 23 percent of adverse events were attributed to internists with 45 percent of these found to be negligent. Adverse drug events comprised 19 percent of all adverse events. The incidence and types of adverse events in Utah and Colorado in 1992 were similar to those in New York State in 1984 (Thomas et al 2000).

A revisiting of 14,700 of the Colorado and Utah files compared negligent care found in

the file audit with malpractice claims in the states of Utah and Colorado from 1992 to 1996 (Studdert et al 2004). There were 18 claimants who matched the file review study sample. Of these claims, 14 were made in the absence of discernable negligence and 10 were made in the absence of any adverse event. Ninety-seven percent of patients who suffered negligent injury did not sue. Non-claimants were more likely to be Medicare recipients, low income, older than 75 and to have suffered minor disability as a result of their injury. Thus again there was poor correlation between actual medical negligence and malpractice claims in Utah and Colorado, as in the New York study (Harvard Medical Practice Study). Paradoxically, in these studies, when a doctor was sued, there was often non-negligent care according to the file audit data (Studdert 2000). Factors other than substandard care play a role in determining who uses the malpractice system and who receives compensation from it (Studdert 2000).

The question of whether the law of medical negligence meets its key objectives of compensation and deterrence was the focus of a subsequent study by Studdert and colleagues (2006). They reviewed a random sample of 1,452 closed malpractice claims. They found no verifiable medical injuries for 3 percent of the claims with 84 percent of these (31 of 37) resulting in no compensation paid. Thirty- seven percent of the claims did not involve errors, and 72 percent of them (350 of 515), did not result in compensation. However, they found that payment of claims not involving errors occurred less frequently than did the converse- non-payment of claims associated with errors. Overall, claims not involving errors accounted for 13 to 16 percent of the system's total monetary costs. For every dollar spent on compensation, over half (54 cents) went on administrative expenses (including lawyers, experts and courts). They concluded that the overhead costs of malpractice litigation are exorbitant (Studdert et al 2006).

These studies highlight a mismatch between claimants' assertions of negligence and actual negligent care. The no fault New Zealand system was examined by Bismark and

colleagues (2006). They linked the national claims database (Accident Compensation Corporation) with medical records reviewed for adverse events in public hospitals in 1998 in the New Zealand Quality of Healthcare Study to estimate the percentage of eligible patients who claimed no-fault compensation. Only three percent (6/210) of eligible patients claimed. It appears that under-claiming occurs in both no-fault and negligence systems (Bismark 2006).

The Swedish system was reviewed by Pukk-Härenstam and colleagues in 2009 through national malpractice claims and hospital discharge data. Swedish malpractice claims are handled administratively and claimants are compensated if an independent physician review confirms that their injury resulted from medical error. A total of 23,364 inpatient malpractice claims filed between 1997 to 2004 from hospitals reporting 11,514,798 discharges were examined. The overall claims rate was 0.20 percent and 50 percent of these filed claims were eligible for compensation (Pukk-Härenstam et al 2009).

### 6. Doctors over-estimate the likelihood of being sued

Doctors fear the litigious environment as shown in Schnattner and colleagues' 1996 study in which the threat of litigation was perceived as the most severe work related stressor in a survey of 464 Australian GPs with 296 respondents (64 percent response rate) (Schattner et al 1996). There are a number of studies that find doctors overestimate the risk of being sued. Two of these studies will now be discussed.

In New York, Lawthers and colleagues (1989) surveyed 1,823 doctors about their perceptions of being sued with 739 respondents (41 percent response rate). Actual rates of being sued were based on 1986 claims data from the New York State Department of Health and 1986 data on number of doctors. Respondents compared with non respondents tended to be older, male, and were more likely to have had law suits against them. The respondents perceived that 60 percent of negligent adverse events lead to suits, which is 20-30 times higher than the actual risk of being sued for negligent adverse events found in the Harvard Medical

Practice Study (Localio et al 1991). The respondents estimated the risk of being sued in one year as 19.5 out of 100 doctors which was approximately 3 times the actual rate for the state of New York (Lawthers et al 1992).

More recently, Elmore and colleagues (2005) studied mammogram reporting by radiologists in three US states to assess the relationship between perceptions of medical malpractice and actual experience for screening mammography. Surveys were sent to 181 radiologists with 139 respondents (77 percent response rate). Responses were linked to 557,143 screening mammograms between 1996 and 2001. Sixty-four out of 122 (52 percent) reported they had experienced a malpractice claim, and 18 out of 122 (15 percent) reported mammography-related claims. There were no significant differences between the respondents and non-respondents for sex, number of years since graduation and no significant differences in interpreting screening mammograms such as recall rate of patients. Forty-eight percent of respondents estimated a probability of 30 percent or higher of being sued in the next five years if they were interpreting mammograms full time. However, in reality only nine percent of radiologists had a claim filed against them in the five years between 1997 and 2001. Respondents who had a claim filed against them, estimated the probability of being sued in the next five years as 50 percent or higher (Elmore 2005).

These two studies indicate that perception of risk is out of step with reality. One explanation by Carrier and colleagues (2010) is the human tendency to overestimate the risk of rare events and to be fearful of unfamiliar risks that are potentially catastrophic, or difficult to control. Doctors perceive lawsuits to be such events. In addition, doctors tend to view lawsuits as random events, not necessarily related to the quality of care provided (Carrier et al 2010). The correlation studies between negligent care and negligence claims (Brennan et al 1996, Studdert et al 2000, Localio et al 1991, Studdert et al 2006) would support that view.

### 7. Why do people complain or claim for compensation

This section briefly looks at the reasons for complaints and claims from various points of view. Although this is not directly related to the thesis aims, it is of interest to the topic more broadly.

#### From the patient/family's perspective:

Daniel and colleagues surveyed 500 complainants who had complained to the NSW Health Care Complaints Commission with complaints finalized in 1996-7. Response rate was 63 percent with 290 complaints about doctors. The complaints from the complainants perspective were about clinical care (64 percent), rudeness or poor communication (22 percent), and unethical or improper behaviour (14 percent) (Daniel et al 1999).

Vincent and colleagues (1994) surveyed patients and relatives who initiated legal action for medical negligence in the UK (n=227) and found the reasons were not solely monetary. The decision to take legal action was determined not only by the original injury, but also by insensitive handling and poor communication after the original incident. Fifty percent of the cohort said the reasons for making a claim included seeking an admission of fault, to prevent a recurrence or to have an investigation. Forty to 49 percent of the cohort nominated wanting an apology or to make health providers understand what happened. Thirty to 39 percent of the cohort wanted to be told what happened, to show that the other side cared, to hear the other side, to achieve change, to improve quality or to receive compensation (Vincent et al 1994).

Mulcahy's study of 117 UK claimants found similar reasons. The first priority was compensation for more than a third. Other reasons were a wish to prevent the same thing from happening (52 percent), the provision of an apology (44 percent), for the other side to understand their concerns (40 percent), a desire for someone to show that they cared about what happened (35 percent), to hear the other side (28 percent), to talk through the issues (27

percent), to enable arrangements for subsequent treatment (27 percent), and the opportunity to meet the other side (25 percent) (Mulcahy 2003).

As discussed above, Brennan and colleagues (1996) found the most significant predictor of a successful payment to the plaintiff was not negligent care, but the severity of the patient's disability. Thus degree of disability, regardless of negligence, is another reason for pursuing a claim for compensation.

### From the doctor's perspective:

Cunningham and colleagues' New Zealand study of 201 doctors who had received a complaint, asked the doctor for their view of the reason for the complaint, giving them a list from which they could choose any number of reasons. The major reasons were errors in practice of medicine (33 percent), errors in communication (14 percent), actions of a third party (nine percent), fraudulent activity (eight percent), a personality clash (eight percent) and "own behaviour" eg inappropriate language, sexually inappropriate behaviour (seven percent) (Cunningham et al 2003).

#### From the medical expert's perspective:

An analysis of over 500 claims for compensation submitted from solicitors between 1984 and 1994 in the UK for medical expert opinion on potential medico-legal claims in obstetrics and gynaecology found 46 percent of the claims were "misguided allegations", 19 percent were incompetent care, 12 percent errors of judgment, nine percent lack of expertise, seven percent failure of communication, six percent poor supervision and one percent inadequate staffing (B-Lynch et al 1996).

#### From the insurers' perspective:

The Physician Insurers Association of America (PIAA) has been collecting standardized data from the majority of US medical insurance companies since 1985. Conklin and colleagues (2008) examined the PIAA data with regard to gastroenterologists. From 1985-2005, 2384 (1 percent of total claims) were for gastroenterologists. The top four identified reasons for gastroenterologists having a claim for compensation against them were "error in diagnosis" in 28 percent, "improper performance" of a procedure in 25 percent, no designated "medical misadventure" in 19 percent, and "failure to supervise or monitor case" in nine percent. Of the 1764 gastroenterologists claims with identified medical misadventures that were closed, a resolution was reported among 1069 of them and these included settlement in 72 percent, involuntary dismissal in 15 percent, judgment for the defendant in nine percent and judgment for the plaintiff in two percent. The majority of claims within gastroenterology were settled out of court (Conklin et al 2008).

Conklin and colleagues make the point that malpractice litigation is not as widespread or ominous as doctors fear. Small numbers of cases within gastroenterology were actually paid to the plaintiff. However, this does not reflect the psychological impact on the doctor, or the impact on the practice of the doctor (Conklin et al 2008). These two items are discussed in the literature review, and are investigated with regard to Australian doctors in the three studies that make up chapters 4 - 10. The impact on the patient is acknowledged but is not the focus of this thesis.

#### Communication inadequacies:

The literature repeatedly finds poor communication a reason for claims and complaints. If this is the case, then the best strategy is prevention – enhance the communication skills of practitioners (Anderson et al 2001, Bark et al 1997, Clinton and Obama 2006, Hickson et al 2002, Ramirez et al 1996).

Medicine deals with individual people with individual responses to illness, disease and treatment. In addition, doctors can make mistakes, misjudge a decision, or practice systems may not adequately support them. Some incidents may injure a patient, and of these, some
may result in a claim or complaint. But not all claims or complaints arise from an injury: they may arise from dissatisfaction with treatment when expectations have not been met. Advice from the Australian Medical Council includes that doctors can minimise the potential risk to their patients and to themselves by providing competent care, maintaining effective communication with their patients, carers and with health professionals and keeping accurate records(Australian Medical Council, 2009).

### 8. The frequency of medico-legal matters in Australia

### 8.1 Complaints and disciplinary processes

There are multiple similar mechanisms for registering a complaint about a doctor in Australian states and territories. New South Wales (NSW) is the most populous state, and where the majority of respondents to my studies practice. NSW mechanisms include patients, carers and others making a complaint direct to the doctor, the health service (eg hospital, group practice), the Medical Board of Australia (commenced in July 2010), the Medical Council of New South Wales (previously the New South Wales Medical Board), or to the NSW Health Care Complaints Commission (HCCC). The HCCC was the site of my pilot study (Chapter 4), and is an established path for complaints.

### Complaints to the NSW Health Care Complaints Commission (HCCC)

The Health Care Complaints Commission (HCCC) and the Medical Council of New South Wales (the Medical Board of New South Wales prior to July 2010) consult on complaints received by either body. The 2008-9 Annual report of the HCCC to the Medical Board of NSW reports that 1,270 complaints were received about doctors out of 30,694 registered medical practitioners in NSW (four percent). Of these complaints, 47 percent were not considered serious and were discontinued, 21 percent were referred for direct resolution between the parties and 19 percent were referred to the NSW Medical Board for further action for treatment, communication or professional conduct. Eleven percent were referred for

investigation because they raised a significant issue of public health or safety, or appropriate care or treatment, or that they would be likely to justify disciplinary proceedings, or were considered to be gross negligence (Health Care Complaints Commission Annual report to Medical Board, 2009). Fifty-six percent of these "further investigated complaints" were referred to the NSW Medical Board for disciplinary action (Medical Council of NSW, NSW Medical Board Annual Report 2009).

### Disciplinary matters with the New South Wales Medical Board in the year 2008-9

The following Medical Board processes are relevant to this thesis: urgent suspensions in the public interest, Medical Tribunal hearings, and review by a Professional Standards Committee. These are reported in the 2008-09 Annual Report of the New South Wales Medical Board which is around the time of my large study. In NSW the complaint mechanisms for doctors remains substantially the same since the commencement of the Medical Board of Australia in July 2010.

### Urgent suspensions in the public interest

The New South Wales Medical Board had the power to either suspend a practitioner for up to eight weeks, or to impose conditions upon their registration in the public interest under section 66 of the Medical Practice Amendment Act 2008 (NSW).

The Board conducted 40 section 66 proceedings and 15 reviews during the year 2008-2009. Proceedings related to issues of prescribing, drug use, boundary crossing, criminal charges, impairment, capacity to practice, treatment, and breaching of registration conditions. Eleven doctors were suspended, 21 had conditions imposed on their registration and six matters were resolved or no further action required (Medical Council of NSW, NSW Medical Board Annual Report 2009).

### Medical Tribunal hearings

Twelve complaints were determined by the Medical Tribunal in 2008/09 for complaints relating to prescribing, breach of conditions, sexual misconduct, boundary crossing, criminal conviction and impairment. Eight doctors were de-registered, two practitioners were reprimanded and had conditions imposed on their registration, one practitioner had conditions imposed and one practitioner was reprimanded (Medical Council of NSW, NSW Medical Board Annual Report 2009).

### Professional Standards Committee hearings

Nineteen doctors were referred to a Professional Standards Committee during 2008/09 and 14 hearings were held concerning patient management, prescribing, financial inducement, díagnosis and treatment, clinical error, competence, record keeping, impairment, medical certificates and boundary crossing. Twelve doctors had unsatisfactory professional conduct findings, all of whom were either reprimanded or had registration conditions imposed. Two matters were referred to the Medical Tribunal and in three matters the complaint was dismissed or no orders made (Medical Council of NSW, NSW Medical Board Annual Report 2009).

Considering there were over 30,000 registered doctors in the state of New South Wales during the 2008-09 reporting period, these are low numbers of disciplinary matters, but significant due to their level of seriousness for the public and the doctor. Medical Board inquiries and disciplinary hearings were included in the definition of medico-legal matters in my GP study and my large study of 2,999 Australian doctors.

### Hospital complaints in Australia

All states and territories in Australia have hospital complaints mechanisms. Taylor and colleagues (2004) retrospectively analysed all the complaints to 25 metropolitan and 42 rural hospitals (67 hospitals in total) in the state of Victoria between 1997 and 2001. Over

13 million patients presented to the hospitals during this period, and 26,785 complaints were lodged resulting in an overall complaint rate of 1.42 complaints/1000 patients. Twenty-nine percent of complaints related to communication (poor attention, discourtesy, rudeness), 29 percent related to access to healthcare (inadequate service, treatment delays) and 23 percent related to inadequate treatment. Eighty-five percent of complaints were resolved. Apologies to the complainants resolved 28 percent and explanations a further 28 percent (Taylor et al 2004).

### 8.2 Claims for compensation

These figures are not easily available as they are regarded as 'commercial in confidence' by the medical insurance companies. United Medical Protection, which was previously the largest medical insurer in Australia prior to it's merger with Avant reported that two percent of general practitioners faced a medical negligence claim each year (Bird 2000).

Avant, the current largest insurer in Australia, insures over 30,000 doctors from all Australian states and territories (Avant 2008-09 Annual report). Their term claim includes civil claims for damages (ie claim for compensation), and non-civil claims such as professional conduct matters, coronial inquests, criminal proceedings, employment disputes, Medicare investigations and other non-compensable matters. In June 2009 Avant had 4,607 claims under management, and 1,790 claims were finalised during that year. Thus five percent of doctor members had a claim closed that year. Thirty percent of these were claims for compensation in 2007-08 and 27 percent in 2008-09.

In my large study of 2,999 doctors (Chapters 8, 9 and 10), claims for compensation and complaints were the most frequent medico-legal matters, followed by inquests.

### 8.3 Inquests

Inquests are conducted by coroners and investigate the manner and cause of death. Under Section 12B of the NSW Coroner's Act 1980, deaths are reported to the coroner for

deaths in hospitals, deaths within 24 hours of administration of an anaesthetic or as a result of an anaesthetic, death of a patient on leave under the Mental Health Act and any sudden or unnatural death. The Coroner decides if an inquest will occur (New South Wales Government lawlink website, 2010).

In 1997, the National Coroners Information System was established to collect information from all state and territory coroners. The NSW Coroner's office does not keep statistics on the number of inquests that specifically relate to medical care<sup>9</sup> and nor does the National Coroners Information System<sup>10</sup>. I was therefore unable to ascertain the frequency for inquests involving medical care in Australia or NSW.

Thus the frequency of medico-legal matters for Australian doctors is not easy to determine. However, in Chapter 5, I report the frequency of medico-legal matters from my GP study and in Chapter 8 the frequency of each type of matter is reported by specialty from the self report data of the large study of 2,999 doctors.

### 9. Lack of Australian empirical evidence

In 2002 Ipp et al reviewed the Australian Law of Negligence for the Australian Government. They noted that their findings were guided by submissions of anecdotes and personal experience due to a dearth of empirical evidence.

Similarly, Kessler et al (2006) reviewed empirical studies of the effects of tort law on medical care in the USA, UK and Australia. They found systematic evidence of defensive medicine in the USA and UK, but there was a lack of actual evidence in Australia. My studies now provide the Australian empirical evidence regarding doctors' experience of and response to medico-legal concerns that can now be used in such reviews.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Personal communication with the NSW Coroners Court 16 Sep 2010.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Personal communication with the National Coroners Information System, 10 Nov 2010.

# **CHAPTER 2:** Psychiatric morbidity and alcohol use in doctors

Doctors are notoriously neglectful of their health despite their comparatively good income, security of employment, high status and satisfying work (Holmes, 1997). The physical health of doctors is far better than many occupational groups but their mental health is not; they are more prone to anxiety and depression, suicide and alcohol and substance misuse than to comparable occupational groups (Johnson 1991, Holmes 1997, Wall et al 1997, Graham 1997, Tyssen et al 2002, Bruce et al 2003, Firth-Cozens 2007, Schernhammer et al 2004). The aphorism "Physician heal thyself" (King James Version, Luke 4:23, 1975) alludes to the ability of doctors to heal others while sometimes not being able to acknowledge their

own ill health or to seek treatment. Some doctors respond to their own ill health by denial, alcohol, drugs or overwork (Holmes, 1997).

This chapter has four sections. In the first section, the epidemiology of psychiatric morbidity, alcohol misuse and personality traits in community samples are discussed. The second section addresses psychiatric morbidity in doctors. The third section discusses hazardous alcohol use in doctors. The final section addresses how psychiatric morbidity in doctors may impact on patient care.

# 1. Psychiatric morbidity and alcohol misuse in community samples

The 2007 Australian National Survey of Mental Health and Wellbeing surveyed 8,800 Australians aged 16-85 years and found 22 percent of females and 18 percent of males experienced mental disorders in the 12-month period. Females experienced higher rates of

## anxiety than males (18 percent compared with 11 percent) and affective disorders (7 percent

compared with 5 percent). Males had over twice the rate of substance use disorders than

females (7 percent compared with 3 percent) (Australian Bureau of Statistics 2007).

Kessler and colleagues' (1993) national co-morbidity study in the USA likewise found

21

females had higher rates of affective and anxiety disorders compared with males and that

males had higher rates of substance use disorders than females. Specifically, females had a 1.7 times higher rate of depression than males. Epidemiological studies consistently find that females have higher rates of depression than males (Kessler et al 1993).

However, depressogenic stressors appear to be different for males and females as found by Kendler and colleagues (2001) in their study of same and mixed sex twins. Females reported more interpersonal stressful life events whereas males reported more legal and workrelated stressful life events (Kendler et al 2001).

Tennant's review of depression in community samples found that stressors explained as much, if not more of the variance in depression as genetic factors, with personality having an additional moderating effect (Tennant 2002).

Personality profiles of community samples consistently find gender differences. Typically females have higher neuroticism (or sensitivity) scores and males have higher psychoticism (or tough mindedness) scores. Lynn and colleagues (1997) compared 37 nations measuring extraversion, psychoticism and neuroticism using the Eysenck Personality Questionnaire (Eysenck et al 1991). Females had higher neuroticism mean scores than males in all countries, and males had higher psychoticism mean scores in 34 countries and higher extraversion mean scores in 30 countries (Lynn et al 1997).

Like community samples, factors associated with psychiatric morbidity in doctors are stressors (at work and outside of work), personality factors, and family history (Willcock et al 2004; Johnson 1991; Tyssen et al 2002; Newbury-Birch et al 2001).

Multiple measures have been used to measure psychiatric morbidity, personality and alcohol use in doctors. Goldberg's General Health Questionnaire (GHQ) is commonly used to research psychiatric morbidity in doctors. It is a sensitive and well validated screening tool to detect common non-psychotic psychiatric morbidity by considering symptoms over the previous 2 weeks. It has four subscales: somatic symptoms; anxiety and insomnia; social

dysfunction; and depression. Case identification for risk of psychiatric morbidity is based on a combined score of more than 4, using binary scoring for each question (with the two least symptomatic answers scoring 0 and the two most symptomatic answers scoring 1) (Goldberg 1998).

The Eysenck Personality Questionnaire (EPQ) has been used to study the personalities of doctors. It is a valid and reliable self-report questionnaire measuring three major dimensions of personality: extraversion, with a low score representing introversion; neuroticism measuring emotional instability or sensitivity; and "psychoticism" measuring tough mindedness and, at the extreme, lack of empathy (Eysenck et al 1991). Despite the name, psychoticism is not a measure of psychotic symptoms. These two measures (GHQ and EPQ) were used in the three studies of this thesis.

The World Health Organisation's Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT) (Saunders et al 1993) has been used to assess potentially hazardous alcohol use in doctors. The AUDIT was developed from a WHO collaborative project across 6 countries to develop a screening instrument for hazardous and harmful alcohol consumption. It is a reliable and valid 10 item questionnaire of alcohol consuption, drinking behaviour and alcohol related problems. Responses to each question are scored from zero to four with a total of eight or more meeting case identification for potentially hazardous drinking (Saunders et al 1993). The AUDIT was used in the second and third studies of this thesis.

Particular studies of psychiatric morbidity and alcohol use in doctors will now be discussed as a background to chapter 3 where the literature of the emotional response of doctors to a medico-legal matter is reviewed.

### 2. Psychiatric morbidity in doctors

### 2.1 Gender

The findings for gender differences in psychiatric morbidity in doctors are not consistent. In addition, stressors are experienced differently by male and female doctors as is also the case in community samples (Kendler et al 2001).

Firth-Cozens' early work on doctors' health in 1986 surveyed 92 female junior doctors. High levels of depression were reported. Stressors included overwork, conflicts between career and personal life, relationships with consultants, making decisions, sexual harassment at work, lack of female role models, prejudice from patients, and discrimination by senior doctors (Firth-Cozens et al 1990). This may be different now, with shorter hours for junior doctors in Europe under the European Working Time Directive (Firth-Cozens 2007), and with the increase in proportion of female doctors over the last thirty years the lack of female role models, discrimination and sexual harassment may have reduced.

Three prospective studies compared psychiatric morbidity in males and females from medical students to doctors: Firth-Cozen's prospective study from England (1998), Tyssen and colleagues Norwegian study (2001), and Willcock and colleagues Australian study (2004). They all found no significant gender difference in rates of psychiatric morbidity.

Firth-Cozen's (1998) longitudinal prospective study over 10 years of 302 doctors in England with 224 respondents (72 percent response rate), 131 of whom were GPs. These male and female GPs had different predictors for depression from time 1 as medical students, to time 2 as GPs 10 years later. For men at time 1, depression and self criticism were significant predictors of depression at time 2. For time 2, hours of sleep was a significant predictor, but not work hours or alcohol use. For women, the time 1 measure of sibling envy was a significant predictor of depression at time 2, but depression was not, nor self criticism. At time 2, alcohol use was a significant predictor for women, but not hours of work or sleep

(Firth-Cozens 1998).

There are several cross sectional studies that examine gender differences using case identification for psychiatric morbidity using the GHQ. Ramirez and colleagues (1996) survey of 1133 UK hospital consultants with 882 respondents (78 percent response rate) found that females had significantly higher rates of case identification than males (females 37 percent and males 23 percent). Wall and colleagues (1997) study of 25,352 British National Health system workers with 11,637 respondents (estimated response rate for the estimated received questionnaires was 61-65 percent) similarly found that female doctors had significantly higher case identification rates for psychiatric morbidity than male doctors (females 36 percent and males 24 percent ) (Wall 1997). Likewise the study of 109 pre-registration house officers in England again found higher rates of case identification for psychiatric morbidity in females than males using the GHQ (38 percent females and 24 percent males) (Newbury-Birch et al 2001).

The above UK figures from several studies are remarkably similar. In Australia, Bruce and colleagues' (2003) small survey of 94 senior medical staff in a major Australian hospital with 54 respondents (57% response rate) reported that females worked fewer professional hours (33.4 compared to 54.7 hours for males), but they did more hours in domestic work than males. There was little difference in case identification for psychiatric morbidity using GHQ-28 with 44 percent for females and 39 percent for males (Bruce et al 2003).

Rey and colleagues (2004) surveyed a much larger sample of all 2059 Australian psychiatrists with 1039 respondents (50 percent response rate) to examine levels of work satisfaction and stress. GHQ was not used in this survey. Dissatisfied psychiatrists were 11 times more likely to report feeling stressed than satisfied doctors, and females were more likely than males to be dissatisfied (17 percent v 10 percent) (Rey et al 2004).

Suicide rates in female doctors have consistently been found to be higher than female

non-doctors, with findings less clear for males. Schernhammer and colleagues' (2004) metaanalysis show modest increase for male doctors compared to the general population (1.41 OR 95%CI 1.21-1.65) and higher increase for women compared to the general population (2.27 OR 95% CI 1.90-2.73). However, they note that it is possible the female data is elevated by publication bias (Schernhammer et al 2004).

Are there confounding variables beyond these conflicting gender results, such as hours of work, age, marital status, specialty, taking a holiday or having a current medico-legal matter that impact on psychiatric morbidity? This is investigated by a multivariate logistic regression in my large study of 2,999 Australian doctors (Chapter 9).

### 2.2 Age and marital status

Older doctors and those co-habiting appear to be at less risk of psychiatric morbidity in the medical workforce. Several studies from different countries report variations on this theme. Younger doctors, particularly women, often have the double load of busy family and professional life. Guthrie highlights that married male doctors are often supported in the home by their wives, but married female doctors often shoulder the stressors at home and at work (Guthrie 1997). However, partnering for both sexes seems to confer advantages.

Being single was a predictor of mental health problems in the Norwegian junior doctor study (Tyssen et al 2001). Divorce in a Japanese study of 587 female doctors with 367 respondents (63 percent response rate) was associated with higher levels of psychiatric morbidity measured by the GHQ, as was younger age (Hayasaka et al 2007).

Ramirez and colleagues (1996) study of 882 UK specialists found that being 55 years or younger and being single were independent risk factors for burnout. Similarly, a study of 853 vascular and colorectal surgeons in the UK with 501 respondents (59 percent response rate), with 92 percent males, found that partnered surgeons had lower psychiatric morbidity, and younger surgeons were more likely to have higher levels of depersonalization (Sharma et

al 2008).

In Australia, Willcock and colleagues' cohort of interns found that single interns were significantly more emotionally exhausted than partnered interns (Willcock et al 2004).

Peisah and colleagues' Australian study found that doctors over 50 years of age reported lower levels of psychological distress compared with those younger than 50 years using the Kessler-10 psychological distress scale (Peisah et al 2009).

Younger doctors are usually in the early and stressful stages of their careers and, particularly for women, this is often the most demanding stage of family life. Again, multiple factors need to be considered for psychiatric morbidity in doctors.

### 2.3 Personality traits

Gabbard in 1985 described a common compulsive triad in the personality of many doctors, with doubt, guilt feelings, and an exaggerated sense of responsibility. This can lead to difficulty relaxing, reluctance to take vacations from work, problems allocating time to family, difficulty setting limits and guilt feelings that interfere with the healthy pursuit of pleasures (Gabbard 1985).

To assess personality in my three studies, neuroticism, extraversion and pscyhoticism were measured. Studies that investigate those personality traits in doctors with their satisfaction at work and psychiatric morbidity are addressed below.

McManus and colleagues' (2004) 12 year longitudinal study of 1,668 UK medical graduates from five medical schools found higher stress levels were associated with neuroticism, introversion, and low conscientiousness. Extraversion, with being more open to experience, and agreeableness were found to confer advantages to work. Satisfaction with medicine related directly to the personality traits of greater extraversion and lower neuroticism (McManus et al 2004). Low satisfaction with work has been associated with distress (Rey 2004, Coomber et al 2002) and depression (Coomber et al 2002).

Neuroticism and introversion are consistently found to be risk factors for psychiatric morbidity. In Newbury-Birch's study (2001) of pre-registration house officers in the UK, stress, anxiety and depression for both males and females were significantly correlated with neuroticism scores on the Eysenck Personality Questionnaire. Mean neuroticism scores for women were nearly twice that of men. Stress, anxiety and depression scores were also significantly correlated with introversion in women but not men (Newbury-Birch et al 2001a).

The personality trait of neuroticism was a predictor of mental health problems in junior doctors from measures taken four years prior as medical students in Norway (Tyssen et al 2001). Similarly, the personality trait of neuroticism was predictive of high disability using Sheehan's disability scale (Leon et al 1997), in the Australian longitudinal study<sup>11</sup>.

Thus the personality traits of neuroticism and introversion are associated with higher risk of psychiatric morbidity. This was also the case in my study of 2,999 doctors (Chapter 9).

### 2.4 Work related stressors

There are multiple work-related stressors in medical practice. In addition to those mentioned above, recurrent and overlapping themes are: overwork (Ramirez et al 1996, Firthcozens et al 1990, Firth-cozens et al 1998, Bruce et al 2003), overload between work and home (Ramirez et al 1996, Firth-Cozens et al 1990, Firth-Cozens et al 1998, Coomber et al 2002, Bruce et al 2003) feeling poorly resourced eg lack of beds (Ramirez et al 1996, Coomber et al 2002, Rey 2004), long hours of work (Coomber et al 2002; Richardson et al 2003), night duty (Hayasaka et al 2007), time pressure to see patients (Schattner et al 1998), poor team work (Kivimaki 2001), poor relationships with seniors (Firth-Cozens 1998), job responsibility (Firth-Cozens 1998), and mistakes and litigation worries (Firth-Cozens 1998; Richardson et al 1993, Rey et al 2004, Schattner et al 1998). Several of these studies will be discussed further to highlight particular issues for example, contrary findings in Tyssen and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Personal communication (Nov 2010) with Prof Simon Willcock of Willcock et al 2004.

colleagues' Norwegian study (2001), witnessing suffering compared to other work stressors (Ramirez 1996), the correlation between dissatisfaction with career, and distress and depression (Coomber et al 2002), and stressors in two Australian studies (Kalucy 2002, and Schattner et al 1998).

Interestingly, Tyssen and colleagues' (2001) prospective longitudinal study of 360 Norwegian medical students to fourth year junior doctors, did not find that lack of sleep, hours of work or gender were linked to an increase in psychiatric morbidity in junior doctors. However, they did find that 17 percent of the sample of junior doctors reported mental health problems, but only less than half (42 percent) of the junior doctors who reported mental health problems sought professional help (Tyssen et al 2001).

The suffering of patients which doctors witness and try to alleviate, contributed less to the stress of 882 UK hospital consultants than other work related stressors such as overwork, overload between work and home, or lack of resources (Ramirez 1996). Of particular note was that doctors with high levels of psychiatric morbidity were more likely to respond to stress by increasing their alcohol, working longer hours and eating less healthily and were less likely to pursue hobbies/exercise (Ramirez 1996). This is just as Holmes described the response of some doctors to ill health earlier in this chapter (Holmes 1997).

Coomber and colleague's (2002) UK survey of 896 Intensive Care Unit doctors with 627 responses (70 percent response rate) found that dissatisfaction with career correlated highly with distress and depression (P <0.01). This finding is similar to Rey and colleagues' (2004) Australian psychiatrists study. The Coomber study also reported that twenty doctors (3 percent) had suicidal thoughts. Psychiatric morbidity measured by the GHQ-12 found 29 percent of respondents reached case identification, compared with 18 percent of employed British adults (Coomber et al 2002). The authors note that the mean age of respondents was 42 years, leaving around 20 years of professional life to continue. Care to reduce stressors on

doctors is appropriate for their sake and their patients (Coomber et al 2002).

Kalucy (2002) reviewed doctors with drug misuse and or mental health problems referred to the Health Committee of the South Australian Medical Board over an 18 year period (number of cases not given). Common characteristics of these doctors were long hours of work, non-attendance at continuing medical education sessions and few opportunities to talk about medicine with colleagues or friends (Kalucy 2002).

A survey of 464 Australian GPs with 296 respondents (64 percent response rate) investigated work related stress in metropolitan GPs and found that GPs working 6 or more sessions per week were more likely to be moderately or severely stressed than those working fewer sessions. The threat of litigation was perceived as the most severe work related stressor (Schattner et al 1998). The threat of or actually being the subject of medico-legal matter is a work related stressor. The literature on the emotional impact of this is reviewed in chapter 3.

### 3. Alcohol use in doctors

Vaillant et al in 1972 reported 36 percent of doctors compared with 22 percent of matched non-doctor controls were high drug users (defined as heavy drinking, frequent use of sleeping pills, amphetamines or tranquillisers) (Vaillant et al 1972).

More specifically, Hughes and colleagues (1992) surveyed a random sample of 9,600 doctors, stratified by specialty and career stage, from the American Medical Association rate to estimate the prevalence of use of 13 substances among US doctors (59 percent response rate). Results were compared with the USA National Household Survey on Drug Abuse. Doctors were less likely to have used cigarettes and illicit substances, such as marijuana, cocaine, and heroin, in the past year than their age and gender counterparts, but they were more likely to have used alcohol, minor opiates and benzodiazepines (Hughes et al 1992). Similarly, Fowlie in 1999 considered the UK report by the Working group on the misuse of alcohol and other drugs by doctors (1998) and noted that doctors had a higher than predicted

mortality rate for cirrhosis of the liver, cancer of the liver, alcohol-related diseases, suicide and that the misuse of drugs and alcohol was often a major feature of concerns regarding conduct, performance, or health of a medical practitioner (Fowlie 1999).

Factors associated with hazardous alcohol use in doctors include having high psychiatric morbidity (Newbury-Birch 2001(b), Taylor 2007), being a surgeon (Rosta 2008, Rosta 2005) and like the rest of the community, being male (Rosta 2008, Rosta et al 2005, Taylor 2007) and having a family history of alcohol problems (Flaherty et al 1993).

Newbury-Birch's longitudinal study of medical students in year 2, year 5 and first postgraduate year reported the proportion of respondents drinking above recommended safe limits of alcohol (<21 units per week for males, and <14 units per week for females). Mean alcohol consumption increased over time with a significantly higher proportion of men than women drinking above respective safe limits. The main reason for drinking was recorded as pleasure in 92 percent at all three time points and anxiety /stress in 21 percent at time 1, 15 percent at time 2 and 28 percent at time 3. There was a significant association between higher alcohol consumption and higher stress scores. The authors proposed that alcohol and illicit drug education should be part of medical education curriculum, and intervention in the workplace for students and doctors with alcohol and/or drug problems (Newbury-Birch 2001). Similar recommendations were made earlier by Hughes et al (1992) and the UK report (Fowlie 1999).

Several studies have used the AUDIT to investigate the rates of potentially hazardous alcohol use in doctors. These are discussed considering gender, specialty, and psychiatric morbidity. The AUDIT was used in both my GP study, and large study.

A study of 3139 Finnish primary care doctors with 1909 respondents (60 percent response rate) reported 15% of the total cohort reached AUDIT case identification for hazardous alcohol use (a score of 8 or more) with seven percent for female and 27 percent for

male doctors (Aalto 2006).

A study of 1,120 Norwegian doctors described the alcohol use of female surgeons compared to female non-surgical doctors, and to male surgeons using the AUDIT. Unusually, they used a cut off of nine or more rather than eight or more, to indicate hazardous drinking. Female surgeons had a significantly higher rate of hazardous drinking compared with female non-surgeons (18 percent v eight percent). Being a surgeon (for males and for females), being male and being aged 45 years or more were significant predictors of hazardous drinking (Rosta et al 2005).

Rosta's later study of German hospital doctors used a cut down 3 item version of the AUDIT (score of 5 or more taken as hazardous alcohol drinking). Twenty percent were hazardous drinkers. Being male or in a surgical specialty were significantly correlated with hazardous drinking (Rosta 2008).

A study of 1794 hospital consultants in England in 2002 with 1308 respondents (73 percent response rate) reported 32 percent reached case identification for psychiatric morbidity using the GHQ. These doctors were twice as likely to also reach case identification for hazardous alcohol use by AUDIT scores. Male consultants were again more likely to reach case identification for hazardous alcohol use (Taylor et al 2007).

In summary the evidence shows a higher level of psychiatric morbidity in doctors than in community samples. At times of increased stress, some doctors increase their alcohol intake (Newbury-Birch 2001(b), Taylor et al 2007). Factors associated with hazardous alcohol use in my large sample of 2,999 Australian doctors are examined in Chapter 9. Mental health of doctors is of concern not only for themselves but for their patients (Tyssen et al 2002, Fowlie 1999). Doctors with high levels of psychiatric morbidity or alcohol problems may provide a lesser standard of care than doctors without these problems (Firth-Cozens et al 2003).

### 4. The relationship between psychiatric morbidity in the doctor and patient care

This is a difficult area to investigate as most studies use the doctor's subjective opinion of patient care. Three recent prospective studies from the US and two retrospective studies are discussed. Fahrenkopf's study is the only one to use an objective error measure.

Fahrenkopf and colleagues (2008) prospectively studied 123 paediatric residents (from total of 246, response rate 50%) over a six week period to investigate if a relationship existed between depression measured by the Harvard national depression screening day scale (Baer et al, 2000), burnout measured by the Maslach burnout inventory (Maslach 1996) and medication errors measured by an objective chart review. Twenty percent of these junior doctors met criterion for depression and 74 percent for burnout. Participants wrote a total of 6078 medication orders, with 45 errors (error rate 0.7%). Depressed doctors accounted for 6.2 times as many medication errors per resident month as non-depressed residents (p<0.001). There were no significant differences for burnout (Fahrenkopf et al 2008). This study is small, and short in duration, but the findings are striking. However, as McLay et al (2008) state, medication errors may well be linked to depression, but Fahrenkopf's study is too small to draw this conclusion (McLay et al 2008). A larger, longer prospective study is required. The following two studies are larger and longer, but use a subjective error measure.

West and colleagues' (2006) prospective longitudinal cohort study of 219 internal medicine resident doctors at the Mayo Clinic, USA, with 184 respondents (84% response rate), used quarterly surveys for up to three years to assess the relationship between the doctors' mental health and self reported perceived errors in patient care. Surveys included self-assessment of medical errors, quality of life, depression measured by the PRIME-MD (Spitzer et al 1994) and burnout measured by the Maslach Burnout Inventory (Maslach et al 1996). Making a medical error in the previous 3 months was reported by a mean of 15 percent of participants at each quarter. Self-perceived medical errors were associated with a

subsequent decrease in quality of life and worsened measures in burnout. Self-perceived errors were associated with an odds ratio of screening positive for depression at the subsequent time point of 3.29 (95% confidence interval, 1.90-5.64). In addition, increased burnout was associated with increased odds of self-perceived error in the following three months. The authors conclude that self-perceived medical errors are common among residents and are associated with subsequent personal distress which is then associated with increased odds of future self-perceived errors, suggesting that perceived errors and distress may be related in a reciprocal cycle (West et al 2006).

Further work by West and colleagues (2009) over a longer period with 430 eligible internal medicine residents and 380 respondents (88 percent response rate) also measured fatigue (self report scale) and sleepiness using the Epworth Sleepiness Scale (Johns 1991) to assess the relationship with perceived medical error. Thirty-nine percent reported making at least one major medical error during the study period. When factors were modelled together, higher levels of distress and fatigue (but not sleepiness) were independently associated with self-perceived medical errors (West et al 2009).

Firth-Cozen's (1997) UK study of 225 hospital doctors and general practitioners, found that 82 percent reported recent incidents where they considered stress had negatively affected their patient care. Half of these concerned lowered standards of care; 40 percent were the expression of irritability or anger; seven percent were serious mistakes not causing death; and two resulted in patient death. The attributions given were tiredness (57 percent), the pressure of overwork (28 percent), depression or anxiety (eight percent), and the effects of alcohol (five percent) (Firth-Cozens, 1997).

The relationship between burnout, depression and perceived major medical errors was evaluated with all 24,922 members of the American College of Surgeons with 7905 respondents (32 percent response rate). Concern that they had made a major medical error in

the previous three months was reported by nine percent. Over 70 percent of these surgeons attributed the error to individual rather than system factors. Burnout and depression were independent predictors of reporting a recent major medical error on multivariate analysis. The frequency of overnight call, practice setting, method of compensation, and number of hours worked were not associated with errors on multivariate analysis (Shanafelt et al 2010).

Thus we have empirical evidence from prospective and retrospective studies with similar findings from two different parts of the world that doctors with higher levels of psychiatric morbidity are more likely to report that they have made an error at work (Shanafelt et al 2010, Firth-Cozens 1997, West et al 2009, West et al 2006) or are more likely to make an error at work (Fahrenkopf et al 2008).

This thesis is not directly about adverse events or errors, but medico-legal matters. The literature on the impact of complaints and claims for compensation against the doctor confirm the profoundly negative effect on the psychological well being of doctors. It appears from the literature on psychiatric morbidity in doctors that distress in doctors is a concern not just for the doctor, but for their patients. In addition, some doctors respond to stress by an increase in alcohol use. Alcohol is often a major feature of concerns regarding conduct, performance or health of a medical practitioner (Fowlie 1999). If medico-legal matters are a cause of distress for doctors, then doctors need to be better informed about how best to deal with this stress. The next chapter reviews the literature on the factors in the doctor associated with having a claim for compensation or complaint made against them; the association of psychiatric morbidity and hazardous alcohol use with doctors experiencing a medico-legal matter, and the concept of "Defensive medicine" and changes, or perceived changes, in the practice of medicine due to doctors' medico-legal concerns.

# **CHAPTER 3: Literature review**

# **Outline of the chapter**

This chapter begins with a description of the literature review method followed by a review of the literature related to the study aims listed in chapter 1: factors associated with doctors having a claim or complaint made against them; the emotional response of doctors to a claim or complaint and finally the concept of defensive medicine and perceived changes in the practice due to medico-legal concerns.

Although other types of medico-legal matters are considered in my studies, the literature focuses on the two main areas of claims for compensation and complaints. The

literature is dominated by studies from the USA, with a smaller number of British studies,

then some New Zealand, Scandinavian, European, Canadian, Japanese, Iranian and Australian studies.

# 1. Literature review method

Searches of the literature were conducted in English using Medline, Embase, PsycINFO and Web of Knowledge. The following key words and phrases were used as search terms, as were synonyms of those words, and combinations of those words:- medical negligence, doctors, physicians, malpractice, negligence, complaints, medico-legal, Eysenck Personality Questionnaire, EPQ, personality, psychiatric symptoms, depression, alcohol, Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test, AUDIT, General Health Questionnaire, GHQ, practice of medicine, and defensive medicine. Reference and citation lists were checked and

additional sources came from these. In addition, librarians of the University of Sydney, Royal North Shore Hospital and the New South Wales Institute of Psychiatry assisted in refining search terms and or finding sources. Further articles, reports, and books were forwarded to the author from experts in the field. Annual reports of the New South Wales Health Care

Complaints Commission (1999, 2001, 2003, 2009), and annual reports of the Australian medical indemnity companies Avant (2008, 2009) and MDA (2009) were sourced.

There were no Australian empirical studies on the emotional impact of complaints and claims against doctors prior to my studies and there was one small Australian GP study (Salem et al 2009) on changes in the practice of medicine due to medico-legal concerns undertaken after my studies. However, there were studies and commentaries from other countries. These studies used two sampling methods: an assessment of doctors in general which included a sub-set of doctors who had experienced a claim or complaint; or only doctors who had experienced a claim or complaint. Both retrospective and cross sectional methods have been used with the literature in the main constituting Levels III and IV<sup>12</sup> with evidence comprising cohort studies, retrospective control studies, cross-sectional studies, and opinions of respected authorities.

This literature review focuses on claims for compensation for medical negligence, and complaints about doctors in the following three domains:

- 1. Factors associated with doctors having a claim for compensation or complaint made against them.
- 2. Psychological response of doctors to a claim for compensation or complaint.
- The concept of "Defensive medicine" and changes in the practice of medicine due to medico-legal concerns.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> The NHMRC Evidence Hierarchy lists Level I as a systematic review of level II studies, Level II is a randomized controlled trial for an intervention, or a prospective cohort study for prognosis or aetiology; Level III-1 is a pseudo-randomised controlled trial eg alternate allocations, Level III-2 is a comparative study with concurrent controls, eg non-randomised experimental trial, cohort study or case-control study, or interrupted time series with a control group, or retrospective cohort study for aetiology; Level III-3 is a comparative study without concurrent controls eg historical control study, single arm studies or interrupted time series without a parallel control group; or a retrospective cohort study for prognosis, or a case control study for aetiology; Level IV is a case series, or cohort study or cross sectional study (NHMRC, 2009).

### 2. Factors associated with claims for compensation or complaints

The literature overwhelmingly reports that interventional specialties and male doctors are associated with higher rates of medico-legal matters with some evidence of an association with longer hours of work. There is conflicting evidence regarding overseas trained doctors. The literature on these four items will now be reviewed.

### 2.1 Specialty

### Claims for compensation and specialty

Doctors practicing in high intervention areas are more likely to experience claims for compensation, complaints and have adverse events (Thomas et al 2000, Taragin et al 1994, Bark et al 1997, Hickson et al 2002, Hickson t al 2007, Chervenak et al 2007, Conklin et al 2008, Traina 2009, Klagholz et al 2010). Risks in radiology have also increased, with mammography claims increasing over the past two decades (Conklin et al 2008, Fileni 2010, Elmore et al 2005, Berlin 2005). The majority of the literature is from the USA, with some studies from the UK, Italy and New Zealand.

The Physician Insurance Association of America commenced in 1985 and holds data from the majority of insurers in the USA. The frequency of claims per specialty derives from the data, with comparative risk per doctor per specialty estimated from the number of doctors per specialty from the American Medical Association Physician master file. The surgical intervention specialties had the highest claim rate with radiology and radiation therapy the highest in the non-surgical groups (Conklin et al 2008) (Table 2).

Self report surveys are less reliable than insurance database studies due to the potential for responder bias and subjectivity of responses. Despite these limitations, the findings of self report studies are consistent with the large database studies.

# Table 2: Calculated Claim Rate for the Top 20 Subspecialties in Total Claims made in 2005 in the USA (Conklin et al 2008).

Specialty	Number of drs per specialty	Total claims per specialty	Adjusted claim rate per specialty
Anaesthesiology	40,494	480	1.00
Cardiovascular and thoracic surgery	4,897	434	7.51
Cardiovascular, nonsurgical	22,349	368	1.40
Dermatology	10,593	125	1.00
Emergency medicine	29,144	348	1.01
Gastroenterology	12,017	233	1.64
General/family practice	92,750	1,338	1.22
General surgery	37,857	1,136	2.54
Internal medicine	154,002	1,530	0.84
Neurology	14,331	207	1.22
Neurosurgery	5,440	304	4.74
Obstetrics/gynaecology	42,600	1,750	3.48
Ophthalmology	18,870	341	1.53
Orthopaedic surgery	24,140	1,039	3.65
Otorhinolaryngology	9,917	238	2.03
Paediatrics	72,288	346	0.41
Plastic surgery	7,021	329	3.97
Radiation therapy	4,378	168	3.25
Radiology	33,024	816	2.09
Urologic surgery	10,676	261	2.07

Fellows of the American College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists, known to be a high risk group for claims for compensation, were sent a Professional Liability Survey in 2009. Response rate was only 18 percent with 5644 respondents out of 31,665 (Klagholz et al 2010). Ninety-one percent of respondents reported experiencing one or more professional liability claims during their career, with an average 2.7 claims per doctor (Klagholz et al 2010). These results are almost identical to the same survey in 2006 to Fellows with 89 percent reporting they had been sued during their careers with an average of 2.6 claims per doctor (Chervenak 2007).

Radiology is described in the literature as an area with increased frequency of claims

over the last 20 years. Extracting from the Physician Insurers Association of America data,

Berlin et al (2005) found that failure to diagnose breast cancer had become the most prevalent

39

cause of malpractice in the USA. Elmore and colleagues' 2005 survey aimed to assess the

relationship between radiologists' perception of and experience with medical malpractice in Washington, Colorado, and New Hampshire. Radiologists who routinely interpret mammograms were surveyed with questions for demographic data, practice environment and medical malpractice. The authors linked survey responses to screening mammography examinations performed between 1996 and 2001. The sample population of 181community based radiologists with139 respondents (77 percent response rate) had interpreted a total of 557,143 screening mammograms. Sixty-four out of 122 (52 percent) reported they had experienced a malpractice claim, and 18 out of 122 (15 percent) a mammography-related claim (Elmore et al 2005).

Fileni (2010) used insurance data in Italy to examine 1,424 claims against radiologists from 1993 to 2006. Likewise, an increase in claims was found. Fileni estimated that 44 percent of Italian radiologists would be the subject of a work related claim over a 10 year period. Similar to the US findings, the wrong reading of a mammogram had the highest increase in number of claims in Italy during the time period examined (Fileni 2010).

In the UK, an earlier study by Bark et al (1997) also found specialty differences. They investigated the experience of litigation in 1011 consultants and senior registrars working in acute hospitals in North Thames in England with 747 respondents (76% response rate). Two hundred and eighty-eight of the 747 doctors (37 percent) had been involved in litigation at some point during their career, with 213 of 440 (49 percent) clinicians in the surgical specialties having experienced litigation compared with 76 of 331 (23 percent) of doctors in the medical specialties (P<0.001). Orthopaedics had the highest rate of litigation of all the specialty groups with 50 out of 63 (79 percent) having been sued, and obstetrics closely followed with 48 out of 63 (76 percent) (Bark et al 1997).

### Complaints and specialty

Hickson and colleagues' (2002) retrospective longitudinal cohort study of 645 general and specialist doctors in a large US medical group between 1992 and 1998 analysed complaints to the practice. Similar to the above negligence claims studies, they found that patient complaints were higher for surgeons than non-surgeons. Interestingly, they correlated complaints with law suits, and found that surgeons named in a single lawsuit generated significantly more complaints to the practice than surgeons with no lawsuits (P<0.001) and a similar pattern existed for non-surgeons (p<0.004).

In New Zealand the rate of formal complaint against doctors increased considerably from 1980 to 2000, with the annual rate of complaint in 2000 being 5.7 percent (Cunningham et al 2003)<sup>13</sup>. Cunningham and colleagues' survey to 1200 New Zealand doctors selected using a stratified, systematic sampling technique of vocationally registered general practitioners, vocationally registered hospital-based specialists, and general registrants had 598 respondents (50 percent) with 196 (34 percent) having been the subject of a complaint. In contrast to other such studies, they did not find that procedural doctors experienced more complaints than non-procedural doctors (Cunningham et al 2003).

Thus from the vast majority of these studies from different countries using different methods, the interventional areas of medicine have the highest rate of claim for compensation and complaint, with the exception being the New Zealand complaints study which found no difference between interventional and non-interventional areas of medicine.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> The rate of complaint to the New South Wales Health care Complaints unit in Australia in 2008-09 was four percent. It was five percent around the time of the New Zealand study (New South Wales Health Care Complaints Commission Annual Reports 1999, 2001, 2003, 2009).

### 2.2 Gender

### Claims for compensation and gender

Overwhelmingly the literature shows that male doctors are more likely to be the subject of a claim for compensation, a complaint or be referred to an agency for "performance concerns" (Taragin et al 1992, Hickson et al 2002, Cunningham et al 2003, Firth-Cozens 2008, Yates 2010). Studies from the USA, New Zealand and the UK are reviewed. Despite their varying methods over the last two decades, their conclusions are the same.

Taragin and colleagues (1992) explored malpractice claims from 1977-1987 in a large insurance database of 9250 New Jersey doctors considering specialty, age, gender, title, site of training, and board certification. Logistic regression found male doctors were three times as likely to be in the high-claims group as female doctors (relative risk, 3.1; 99% confidence interval, 2.2 to 4.4) (Taragin et al 1992). These are reliable findings as all variables were recorded on all members, and the logistic regression was able to take into account all the variables.

### Complaints and gender

Hickson and colleagues' (2002) retrospective longitudinal cohort study of 645 general and specialist doctors from a large US medical group between 1992 and 1998 also found that complaints were higher for males compared with females (8.8 mean complaints for males compared with 5.0 mean complaints for females (p=0.01)). This study also did not depend on self-report but on trained staff responsible for recording the complaints data.

Likewise complaints in New Zealand investigated by Cunningham and colleagues by cross sectional survey of 1200 doctors with 598 respondents (50 percent response rate) found that male doctors were significantly more likely to receive a complaint than females (Cunningham et al 2003).

### Performance concerns and gender

Concerns about a doctor's performance may not be a medico-legal matter, but it may be related. In 2001 the UK National Clinical Assessment Service was established by the National Health Service to assess doctors and dentists with performance concerns. Data from 1772 cases entered in the first four years (2001 to 2005) were analysed and compared to the profile of the NHS medical workforce. Women were less likely to be referred to the National Clinical Assessment Service than men, and age and specialty differences between men and women doctors did not explain the lower referral rate for women. In 2004 women accounted for 42 percent of the general practitioner medical workforce but only 13 percent of GP referrals to the National Clinical Assessment Service, and women accounted for 37 percent of the medical hospital and community workforce but only 20 percent of hospital and community workforce referrals. Women were under-represented proportionally in all specialties (NCAS 2006).

Firth-Cozens (2008) reviewed the National Clinical Assessment Service report and compared the data to published reports of disciplinary, difficulty or medical negligence claims over five countries (Norway, UK, USA, Spain, Australia). Women doctors were consistently less likely to be disciplined or referred for difficulties (such as alcohol and other drug problems, or sexual misconduct) or have claims for compensation made against them, than male doctors (Firth-Cozens 2008).

A more recent report investigated 59 UK doctors who came before the General Medical Council for serious professional misconduct. The multivariable analysis showed that male sex (odds ratio 9.80, 95% confidence interval 2.43 to 39.44, P=0.001), and having had academic difficulties during their medical school course especially in early years (odds ratio 5.47, 95% confidence interval 2.17 to 13.79 P<0.001) were independently associated with coming before the General Medical Council for serious professional misconduct (Yates

2010).

Thus data from an insurance company in the USA, complaints units in the USA and New Zealand, and performance or conduct issues in the UK all find that males are overrepresented compared with females. The reasons for this is not explored in this thesis, but Firth-Cozens' article on "Doctors with difficulties: why so few women?" discusses the possible reasons including whether referring agencies treat males and females differently, or whether females as a group have higher communication skills than males as a group (Firth-Cozens 2008).

### 2.3 Hours of work

Long hours of work, poor sleep and overload between work life and home life have been linked with an increase in psychiatric morbidity in doctors, and there is some evidence that this is linked to errors in medical care (see chapter 2). However, there is little evidence about hours of work and medico-legal frequency.

Hickson and colleagues' (2002) retrospective longitudinal cohort study of 645 general and specialist doctors in a large US medical group between 1992 and 1998 measuring all patient complaints found that complaint number was positively correlated with volume of clinical activity. In South Australia, health impaired doctors with drug misuse or mental health problems were found to often work long hours (Kalucy 2002).

### 2.4 Overseas trained doctors

There is conflicting data about the relationship of place of training to medico-legal matters and to performance concerns. Taragin and colleagues' (1992) analysis of 9,250 New Jersey doctors demographic characteristics and medical malpractice claims from the medical insurance company database, found no association between claims rate and doctor's site of training (Taragin et al 1992). Similarly, Hickson's USA complaint study also found no association between country of medical school training and increased rate of complaint

(Hickson et al 2002). Cunningham and colleagues'(2003) New Zealand cross-sectional self report survey of 1200 doctors (598 respondents, 50% response rate) likewise found no difference in risk of complaint for those doctors who trained overseas compared to those doctors who trained in New Zealand (Cunningham et al 2003).

Contrary to this, the UK National Clinical Assessment service found that overseas trained doctors did have a proportionally higher rate of referral for concerns about their performance but the report is cautious about conclusions due to incomplete data on this issue (NCAS 2006).

Kalucy (2002) reviewed doctors referred to the health committee of the South Australian Medical Board for a potential health problem (eg drug and alcohol misuse, mental illness, general medical problems) over an 18 year period. Like with the National Clinical Assessment Service report, health referrals are not medico-legal matters but they may be related. Kalucy reported that over half the doctors referred for drug misuse to the South Australian Medical Board did not train in Australia (Kalucy 2002).

Notwithstanding the different methods used in international studies, nearly all report high intervention specialties have higher rates of medico-legal matters and male doctors have higher rates than female doctors. There is less evidence regarding hours of work and association with medico legal claims, and conflicting results regarding the where abouts of training.

With regard to the factors associated with a medico-legal matter in Australia, the results of my large study are reported in Chapter 8. The independent variables of gender, specialty, age, hours of work, holiday in the past year, and site of training are included in the multivariable logistic regression to ascertain the association of these factors with doctors experiencing a current medico legal matter. Similar to other studies, doctors were more likely to be involved in a current medico-legal matter if they were male, worked in high-intervention

areas of medicine (surgery and obstetrics/gynaecology), and worked longer hours. There was no association between experiencing a medico-legal matter and being Australian trained or not Australian trained.

### 3. The emotional response of doctors to a claim or complaint

Lavery in 1988 drew an analogy between a doctor's reaction to a claim of medical negligence and the stages of grief described by Kubler-Ross: denial, anger, bargaining, depression and acceptance (Kubler-Ross, 1969). This analogy continues today.

There are retrospective and current accounts of the emotional response of doctors to a claim for compensation or complaint. The studies include surveys and in depth interviews. Emotional response is measured differently in each study. Responder bias is a potential feature of these studies as the response rates are often moderate to low. Yet despite the different methods, the results are surprisingly similar across different continents. The literature on doctors' emotional responses to claims for compensation for negligence and for complaints is considered here. Studies from the USA, UK, Canada, New Zealand and Iran are reviewed.

#### 3.1 A claim for compensation

Research led by Sara Charles and colleagues in the USA in the 1980's was a cornerstone for ongoing research in this field. First they surveyed a sample of doctors who had been sued for malpractice between 1977 and 1981 to understand the impact of litigation on doctors (Charles et al 1984). The second study involved a survey of a sample of doctors (both sued and not sued) to ascertain if the concerns generated in the first study were due to actually being sued (Charles et al 1985). The third study concerned doctors who were sued in 1985 and went to trial to investigate the emotional response of doctors to the trial in comparison to other phases of the legal process (Charles et al 1998a). Finally, for greater

depth of information, they interviewed a subset of doctors who had been sued (Charles et al 1988).

Their first study (Charles et al 1984) was a random sample of 450 doctors from 5135 Chicago doctors named in a malpractice law suit in the period 1978–1981 in The Cook County Jury Verdict Reporter. There were 154 respondents (34 percent response rate) and some respondents had more than one suit in the 5 year period. There were approximately 17,000 doctors who practiced in Chicago at the time. The questionnaire focussed on the perception of the impact of litigation on their professional practice and personal lives. It sought demographic and professional data, agreement or disagreement with 20 statements reporting common psychological reactions of doctors being sued, 33 physical and psychological symptoms from the current Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-III) and legal process and outcome questions. Respondents reported the current stage of litigation as: period of discovery in 88; suit dropped in 39; settled in 30; trial verdict in favour of the doctor in 6; and there were no cases where there was a trial verdict in favour of the plaintiff. 'Major depression' type symptoms were reported by 39 percent (56 of 143) and 'adjustment disorder' type symptoms were reported by 20 percent (29 of 143). Nineteen (15 percent) reported a general loss of confidence as a doctor. Fifty-seven percent (77 of 135) believed that they and their families had suffered as a result of litigation. Eight percent (11 of 135) reported a new physical illness during the legal process including 2 percent (three of 135) having a myocardial infarct during the time of litigation and seven percent (10 of 136) had an exacerbation of a previously diagnosed illness. The authors conclude that a malpractice suit was a serious and often devastating event in the personal and professional life of the respondent doctors causing psychological distress, undermining confidence and career satisfaction and the quality of the traditional doctor-patient relationship (Charles et al 1984).

Their second survey of 1000 randomly selected Chicago doctors sought to compare the responses of both sued and not sued doctors. There were 346 respondents (37 percent response rate to survey) and 194 doctors had been sued (56 percent). Both the concern about and actual litigation were found to cause emotional distress. However, sued doctors reported significantly more symptoms of depressed mood, inner tension, anger and frustration than non-sued doctors (Charles et al 1985).

Charles and colleagues then surveyed doctors who had been sued for medical malpractice in 1985 who went to trial (Charles et al 1988a). They were able to contact 107 of the 122 doctors who went to trial that year with 64 respondents (60 percent response rate). Favourable verdicts were received by 72 percent. Ninety-seven percent reported emotional and or physical reactions to the legal process. Sixteen percent found the trial the single most stressful stage of litigation whereas 52 percent indicated the entire period or a combination of stages was most stressful. Inner tension was reported by 86 percent, depressed mood by 80 percent, frustration by 78 percent and anger by 70 percent. In addition, guilt feelings were common in those who lost the case. Almost two- thirds reported decreased satisfaction with their careers (Charles et al 1988a).

Charles and colleagues further delved into the doctors' responses by interviewing a subset of 51 sued doctors about their emotional reaction to being sued. Twenty-three percent identified litigation as their most stressful life experience and of these, 45 percent reported symptoms suggestive of major depression (Charles 1988b). The majority of suits filed against the doctors resulted in no payment to the plaintiff thus an adverse outcome itself was not the most significant issue (Charles et al 1988b).

This series of studies paved the way for other researches to consider the impact of the medico-legal process on the doctor in the USA and other countries. Their methods of in-depth interview or self- report surveys are the methods used in subsequent studies.

Martin and colleagues (1991) surveyed 620 doctors (sued and not sued) insured with a major malpractice insurer in the USA, with 273 respondents (44 percent response rate). Like Charles' series of studies, they aimed to investigate psychological sequelae of malpractice litigation but in addition they wanted to know whether there was variation in symptoms over time, differences in specialty responses, differences in solo or group practitioners' responses, and differences in gender responses. A higher proportion of respondents than non-respondents had been sued (59 percent of respondents, 34 percent of insurces) and high risk groups were also over-represented (eg obstetrics 14 percent of respondents v 9 percent of all insurces).

Similar to the Charles studies, they found that malpractice litigation was a major life trauma. They also found that stress symptoms were highest during the first two years after the lawsuit, and even after two years their stress symptoms remained greater than non-sued doctors. Stress increased in those with cases pending or multiple suits. There were no statistically significant differences in distress according to specialty or solo v group practice. Females were less affected than males and used more active coping strategies. It was hypothesized that females may be better able to mobilize active coping or may validate themselves by other aspects of their lives while sense of self in males is more powerfully tied to occupation. Those who saw litigation as a job hazard and not an attack on their ability as doctors were better able to use adaptive coping mechanisms such as improved office practices. This group also minimized negative coping, such as self-blame, and were more active participants in their defence. The authors conclude that malpractice is a major life trauma that should be dealt with as any other trauma by using coping strategies such as knowledge of the psychological consequences, cognitive reframing and collegial and personal supports (Martin et al 1991).

Similarly, Wenokur and colleagues (1991) investigated the emotional impact of malpractice suits in 2,210 randomly selected Michigan State Medical Society members with

746 respondents (34 percent response rate). This study probed further into coping styles. Sixty-five percent of respondents had experienced at least one lawsuit. Eleven percent of doctors who had been sued admitted to increased alcohol use or self medication with narcotics, anxiolytics, or antidepressants. Thirty-one percent felt a sense of relief talking about their malpractice experience, and seven percent saw a mental health professional as a result of malpractice-related emotional trauma. The author concluded that the emotional impact of litigation must be acknowledged by doctors as part of self care to be able to provide optimal care to their patients (Wenokur et al 1991).

The themes of distress and negative coping are similar to the English study by Bark and colleagues (1997). A postal survey of 1011 consultants and registrars in acute hospitals in the North Thames explored the impact of litigation on these doctors. Of the 747 respondents (76 percent response rate) 288 (37 percent) had experienced litigation. Anger, distress, and feeling personally attacked were common responses as well as feeling isolated from colleagues and unsupported by management (Bark et al 1997).

The perception of damage to reputation was a focus in Cook and colleagues' (1992) postal survey in Canada exploring the experience and attitude to malpractice litigation in 287 Canadian doctors. There were 171 respondents (60 percent response rate). This was made up of 99 out of 139 specialists (71% response rate) and 72 out of 148 primary care doctors (49 percent response rate). Damage to reputation by a finding of negligence was thought to have a major long term effect by 69 percent of primary physicians and 72 percent of specialists. Even if there was no liability found, 45 percent of primary care doctors and 46 percent of specialists rated the damage as substantial in the short term and 41 percent of primary care doctors and 38 percent of specialists rated the damage as substantial in the long-term (Cook et al 1992).

A recent study in Iran (Saberi et al 2009) used the method and questionnaire of my NSW Health Care Complaints Commission study (Chapter 4) to investigate the psychiatric morbidity of Iranian doctors with a current law suit. The study population was 497 doctors who had a claim of negligence that commenced between March and August 2007. There were 385 respondents to the questionnaire (response rate 78 percent). Seventy-six per cent of participants (293 out of 385) reached case identification for psychiatric morbidity using the GHQ-28. This rate is much higher than the Iranian general population (19 percent case identification) and Iranian non-sued general practitioners (36 percent case identification) (Saberi et al 2009). This result is also considerably higher than all other GHQ results reported in this thesis. They report their method of calculating to be the usual method for case identification.

### 3.2 A complaint

The emotional response of doctors to complaints and to claims for compensation is comparable. Two English complaints studies from the 1990's, one a qualitative interview study, and the other a postal questionnaire had similar findings. Jain's (1999) interview study of the emotional response of 30 British general practitioners to complaints found three stages of response: 'initial impact', 'conflict' and 'resolution'. The impact stage was a sense of 'being out of control', a feeling of shock, panic and indignation towards patients generally. The conflict stage included conflicts around professional identity, conflicts with family and colleagues, and conflicts arising from the management of the complaint. This was accompanied by feelings of anger, depression and suicidal ideation. The resolution stage involved defensive practice or, for some, plans to leave general practice. There was no resolution for a minority. Complaints were rarely perceived as learning experiences (Jain 1999).

Mulcahy's postal survey of 848 English consultants in Oxford with 443 respondents (52 percent response rate), 246 of whom received at least one complaint, reported responses to complaints as irritation in 52 percent, worry in 42 percent, concern in 38 percent, surprise
in 38 percent, annoyance in 37 percent, anger in 33 percent, distress in 32 percent, disappointment in 31 percent, and anxiety in 28 percent and vulnerability in 28 percent of respondents. The emotional response was particularly striking when the complaint was considered to be unjustified. Respondents sometimes saw the complainants as psychologically ill or having problem personalities. Some doctors considered the complaint an unwelcome intrusion into their life that caused them extra work that stopped them seeing other patients (Mulcahy et al 1995, Mulcahy 2003).

In New Zealand, Cunningham and colleagues have studied many aspects of doctors' experience of complaints. Cunningham's first study in 2000 was a qualitative thematic analysis of telephone interviews with 10 doctors who had experienced a complaint. There were immediate negative effects on the psychological state of the doctor, their practice of medicine and the doctor patient relationship. These included an intense negative emotional response, reduced ability to consult with speed and confidence and to tolerate uncertainty; hostility towards the complainant and loss of trust in patients.

In the long-term, some respondents continued to feel depressed or angry, and some felt a loss of goodwill towards patients. Receiving a medical complaint had a negative impact on doctors, and on important components of the doctor-patient relationship. The concerning implication of this small study was that complaints might reduce rather than improve the delivery of patient care (Cunningham et al 2000). Cunningham (2004) further investigated the doctor's emotional state, their attitude towards their work and patients, and their ability to cope with the stresses of practice. He used the themes from the telephone interview study to develop a questionnaire to explore further the impact of receiving a medical complaint. One thousand two hundred New Zealand doctors were surveyed with 598 completed surveys (50% response rate) and of these 201 (34%) had experienced a complaint. These doctors were asked to recall the short and long term impact of the complaint on themselves and their practice of

medicine by agreement or disagreement with a series of statements. Respondents from different vocational groups were compared as were doctors who had and had not experienced a complaint.

Immediate responses (up to six weeks) included anger in 143 out of 197 respondents (73 percent), depression in 129 out of 198 respondents (65 percent), shame in 72 out of 198 respondents (36 percent), and guilt in 65 out of 200 respondents (33 percent). Reduction in trust of patients was reported by 76 out of 199 respondents (38 percent) and reduced goodwill to patients was reported by 57 out of 199 respondents (29 percent). Eighty-three out of 196 respondents (42 percent) reported a reduced ability to tolerate uncertainty in their practice, and 59 out of 198 respondents (30 percent) reported reduced confidence in their clinical judgment. Only 112 out of 198 respondents (57 percent) felt that they were able to consult well, although most respondents felt that they continued to perform technical tasks well and continued to provide the same range of services.

As expected, the impact of a complaint softened in the long-term for most of the items. Anger was still felt by 72 out of 197 (37 percent) of respondents, but feelings of depression, guilt and shame fell to around 10 percent. All emotion items showed a significant difference between the immediate and long-term responses. However, more doctors who had experienced a complaint reported feeling depressed compared with those who had never had a complaint (p=0.009). No differences were found between doctors practicing in different vocational groups.

The authors concluded that receiving a medical complaint has a significant negative impact on the doctor particularly in the short term, and on important components of the doctor-patient relationship lasting into the long-term (Cunningham 2004).

This study compared doctors who had experienced a complaint with those who had not. However, asking respondents to retrospectively recall their emotional and practice

changes in response to a complaint is not as accurate as investigating at the time of the complaint, nor as accurate as using a reliable and valid measure such as the General Health Questionnaire as used in my studies. However, the ideal study is a longitudinal study, which I had planned to do, but was unable to due to changes within the collaborating medical insurance company.

The 1980's and 1990's was a period of change for complaints processes and the understanding of adverse events (Mulcahy 2003, Walton 2009). During the 1990s, many countries published studies exposing the extent of harm in healthcare (Brennan et al 1991, Thomas et al 2000, Wilson et al 1995, Vincent et al 2001, Schioler et al 2001). A shift was required from individual blame to safer health systems (Walton 2009), and an appreciation that complaints, offer an opportunity for improvement for the patient, the doctor and the health care system in general.

All the studies regarding the doctor's emotional response to claim for compensation or complaint have similar themes irrespective of the location -the USA, UK, Canada, New Zealand and Iran. The emotional responses include feelings of tension, frustration, anger, guilt, distress, shame, depression, thoughts of suicide, vulnerability, feeling out of control and that this was a major life trauma.

As a profession, doctors are required to know the relevant laws pertaining to their practice; they also need to understand the potential medico-legal processes and the possible psychological consequences of a medico-legal matter. One of the goals of this thesis was to provide the data on doctors in Australia who have experienced a medico-legal matter. The association between psychiatric morbidity and hazardous alcohol use with a current medico-legal matter in Australia doctors is reported in Chapters 4, 5 and 9.

#### 4. Changes in the practice of medicine due to medico-legal concerns

In this section the concept of defensive medicine is discussed followed by a review of the international literature on perceived changes to doctors' practice of medicine due to medico-legal concerns. There was little evidence on perceived changes in the practice of Australian doctors due to medico-legal concerns prior to this thesis.

#### 4.1 Defensive medicine

Defensive medicine is commonly defined as the ordering of treatments, tests and procedures primarily to protect the doctor from liability rather than to substantially further the patient's diagnosis or treatment (Hermer 2010, Bishop 2010). The terms positive defensive medicine and negative defensive medicine have also been used in definitions, but the terms are used in different contexts in the literature. Summerton in 1995 published an important study using the terms "positive" to refer to potentially good changes, and "negative" to refer to potentially bad changes in practice (Summerton 1995). A less clear definition was provided by Klingman and colleagues in 1996:- "When physician perform tests or procedures primarily to reduce exposure to liability, they are practicing positive defensive medicine. When they avoid certain patients or procedures, they are practicing negative defensive medicine" (Klingman et al 1996 pp188-9). The terminology used in the Klingman definition is confusing. A further definition using the same concepts, but a different name for them, is that defensive medicine takes place when unnecessary treatments or investigations or referrals are made and this is referred to as assurance behaviours (equivalent to Klingman's positive defensive medicine), and avoidance of high-risk procedures or patients referred to as avoidance behaviours (equivalent to Klingman's negative defensive medicine), with the principle aim of reducing the doctors exposure to damages claims (Studdert et al 2005, Catino 2009).

Due to the potential for confusion, I avoid using the terms positive and negative, and

instead use the term assurance for additional behaviours, and avoidance for behaviours that are avoided. There may be good outcomes for some patients from defensive practices such as:-referral of difficult cases to more specialised doctors, or to better equipped hospitals which may be quality-enhancing (Studdert et al 2005). Additional testing may allow earlier detection of illness in some patients. However, this will then increase the likelihood that a missed diagnosis will be ruled negligent. Defensive use of technology is self-reinforcing (Studdert et al 2005).

In addition there are behaviours that are "potentially safer" practice changes. These are driven by both medico-legal concerns and the intention to improve practice, for example better record keeping (Mulcahy et al 1995, Summerton 1995), development of audit procedures and providing better explanations to patients (Summerton 1995, Cunningham 2006).

In summary, defensive medicine is medical practice based on the fear of legal liability rather than on the best interests of the patient (Studdert et al 2005, Kessler 2006), even though in some instances it may prove to be in the patient's interest (Studdert et al 2005). The literature on assurance behaviours, avoidance behaviours and finally potentially safer practice changes are reviewed in this chapter after a discussion on the cost and impact of law reform on defensive medicine.

#### The impact of law reform on defensive medicine and on health care costs

No attempt to measure the costs of defensive medicine is made in this thesis. However, I mention it because of the conjecture about the extent and the cost of defensive medicine. Measuring defensive medicine itself is difficult as it is usually the subjective belief of the doctor that is measured (Hermer et al 2010, Studdert et al 2010), and therefore measuring the cost of defensive medicine is also difficult (Studdert et al 2010).

The following two major economic studies from the USA have attempted to measure

the impact of tort law reform and health care costs on medical practice. The 1996 landmark Kessler study measured treatment costs for one group of patients, and compared costs across the states considering the different state laws for medical liability. The second study by Hellenger et al (2006) compared costs in states with differing malpractice laws, but did not focus on a particular patient group as in the Kessler study. Two further studies are discussed that investigate whether changes in law impact on perceived changes in practice (Carrier et al 2010, Salem et al 2009).

In order to obtain direct empirical evidence Kessler and colleagues analyzed the effects of malpractice liability reforms on all elderly Medicare beneficiaries in the USA treated for serious heart disease in 1984, 1987, and 1990, and measured the malpractice liability laws in the states. There was a five to nine percent reduction in medical expenditure in states with law reforms that provided lower liability pressure (for example cap on non-economic damage payments), with no substantial effects on mortality or medical complications. They concluded that liability reforms can reduce defensive medical practices and costs (Kessler et al 1996).

Hellinger and colleagues (2006) investigated the impact of state tort law reform on health care costs a decade later. They measured health care expenditure per capita in 15 states before and after the enactment of tort reform that capped noneconomic damage payments in malpractice cases. Their findings were similar to Kessler et al (1996) in that laws capping non-economic damage payment reduced health care costs in the order of three to four percent (Hellenger et al 2006).

More recently, Carrier and colleagues (2010) explored whether differing malpractice laws of the states of the USA impacted on the practice of medicine, but they did not measure costs. They surveyed a representative sample of doctors drawn from the American Medical Association Physician Master file with 4,720 respondents (62 percent response rate) using a

subjective measure of defensive medicine drawn from a malpractice concern scale developed and validated by Williams (Fiscella et al 2000). It asked participants if they agreed or disagreed (using a five point likert scale) with the following statements set out in Box 1:

#### Box 1: Statements to assess malpractice concern (Carrier et al 2010)

- I am concerned that I will be involved in a malpractice case sometime in the next ten years;
- I order some tests or consultations simply to avoid the appearance of malpractice;
- I feel pressured in my day-to-day practice by the threat of malpractice litigation;
- sometimes I ask for consultant opinions primarily to reduce my risk of getting sued;
- relying on clinical judgment rather than on technology to make a diagnosis is becoming risky because of the threat of malpractice suits.

Concern about malpractice liability was pervasive among doctors with 60–78 percent either agreeing or strongly agreeing with each of the five statements. Malpractice law reforms were not associated with a significant difference in physicians' malpractice concerns comparing results across the states with and without law reform. In particular, the most strongly advocated reform, capping noneconomic damages, was not associated with a significant difference in malpractice concerns (Carrier et al 2010). However, these are concerns, not reality. There was no objective measure of actual practice as there was in Kessler's study.

A small and recent study from New South Wales, Australia (Salem et al 2009) attempted to measure the impact on defensive medicine in GPs in the eastern suburbs of Sydney after the introduction of the Civil Liability Act 2002 (NSW). Although the enactment of the Act reduced litigation in NSW, the GPs in the main were ignorant of the legal reforms and consequent reduction in their legal liability. Their perception of assurance defensive medicine in their own practice was high. This study was limited by small numbers and low response rate (515 surveyed and 90 respondents, 17 percent response rate) (Salem et al 2009).

These research findings span over 20 years which may account for the variation.

Medico-legal concerns are probably now more entrenched particularly in the USA thus reducing the impact of law reform, or doctors may not be aware of the changes in the law, or it may be that doctors' subjective measures of defensive medicine measure their concern not their practice.

This thesis provides Australian evidence on perceived practice changes caused by medico-legal concerns. Like the Carrier study and the majority of studies reviewed below, surveys generally measure the doctor's perceptions of practice. Whether or not this perception matches actual practice is measured in Elmore and colleagues' (2005) study, but not the others.

## 4.2 Particular changes in practice

Studies from around the world have found that doctors' medico-legal concerns have prompted them to alter their practice with both assurance and avoidance behaviours. Table 3 summarises the relevant studies and practice behaviours. Studies about practice changes come from many countries with the majority of studies being undertaken in the USA. I begin with Summerton's English study as it was a key study in the field, and then relevant studies from the USA, Italy, Japan, Puerto-Rico, Canada, New Zealand and Australia.

## Table 3: Assurance and avoidance behaviours due to medico-legal concerns\*

Country; sample type; study type, author and year	Respondent sample size and Response rate of study	Percent who refer patients to specialists more than usual	Percent who order tests or procedures more than usual	Percent who prescribe medication more than usual	Percent who are more selective regarding patients seen	Percent who avoid or stop certain procedures
USA; sued doctors; self report survey,	n=154 rr 34%		62		42	28

Charles et al 1984	11 5470	
USA; doctors who practice obstetrics; 1982-88 insurance file review, Rosenblatt 1990	n=690 100% file review	25% stopped obstetrics in 6 year period
Canada; GPs and Specialists; self report survey, Cook 1994	n=171 rr49% GPs rr71% spec.	50% GPs 45% Specialist

Country; sample type; study type, author and year	Respondent sample size and Response rate of study	Percent who refer patients to specialists more than usual	Percent who order tests or procedures more than usual	Percent who prescribe medication more than usual	Percent who are more selective regarding patients seen	Percent who avoid or stop certain procedures
England; GPs; self report survey, Summerton 1995	n=300 rr 60%	64	60	29	25	42
Australia; obstetric rural GPs; self report survey, Watts 1997	n=167 rr 82%				14% stopped obstetrics previous 12 months	14% stopped obstetrics previous 12 months
England; Consultants and registrars in acute hospitals; self report survey, Bark 1997	n=769 rr 76%					30% of Surgical doctors 20% of Non- surgical
US; on-line survey of doctors; self report, Common Good 2002	N=300 rr not given	74	79	41		
US; on-line witnessed in others doctors, Common Good 2002	N=300 rr not given	85	91	73		
US; radiologists; self report survey, Elmore, 2005	n=139 rr 77%		72% more mammography or ultrasound, 59%more breast biopsy			35% consider stopping mammography
US; high risk of litigation doctors; self report survey, Studdert 2005	n=824; rr 65%	52	59	33	39	32
Japan; gastro- enterologists; self report survey, Hiyama 2006	n=131 rr 77%	68	36	16	75	75
Italy; GPs; self report survey, Catino 2009	n=300 rr 30%	forme admin	78% in past mont	h	26% in	past month
US; primary care and specialists; self report survey, Bishop 2010	n=1231; rr 51%		91			i of deciment
US; doctors; self report survey, Carrier 2010	n=4720 rr 62%	60	64		a do these	
Puerto Rico; all doctors in San Juan district; self report survey, Cruz 2010	n=951 rr 30%				50% do not accept high risk patients	48% do not accept emergency cases

\*Studies are listed in chronological order. Studies with a response rate of less than 30% are not included.

#### 4.2.1 Assurance behaviours

Summerton's 1995 mail survey to 500 GPs from a medical defence organisation with 300 respondents (60 percent response rate) investigated defensive medical practice in GPs in England. It is a landmark study often quoted in the literature. A high 98 percent of Summerton's respondents claimed to have made some practice changes as a result of the possibility of a patient complaining. Increased rate of referrals was reported by 64 percent (190 out of 298), increased diagnostic testing by 60 percent (177 out of 297) and unnecessary prescription of drugs by 29 percent (87 out of 297) (Summerton 1995).

Sara Charles' early study in the USA in 1984 was a small study of 450 doctors with 154 respondents (34 percent response rate). The main focus was the emotional response of doctors to being sued (discussed above) but they also investigated some perceived practice changes. Ordering diagnostic tests when thought clinically unnecessary due to medico-legal concerns was reported by 62 percent (Charles et al 1984).

Moving forward nearly 20 years, the Common Good "fear of litigation" study in the USA investigated a much larger set of behaviours and beliefs about medical negligence. The Common Good study surveyed 300 doctors online to explore how the fear of litigation affects the practice of medicine and the delivery of medical care. No response rate was given. In addition 100 hospital nurses and 100 hospital administrators were interviewed by telephone. The survey not only asked the doctor about their own behaviour, but also what they had observed in their colleagues.

Ordering more tests due to the fear of litigation was reported by 79 percent of doctors for their own behaviour, and 91 percent of doctors report other doctors do this.

Referring to specialists for fear of litigation was reported by 74 percent of doctors for their own behaviour, and 85 percent of doctors report other doctors do this.

Prescribing more medications for fear of litigation was reported by 41 percent of

doctors for their own behaviour, and 73 percent of doctors report other doctors do this.

Thirty-eight percent of doctors reported the fear of malpractice made their relationship with patients less personal.

The fear of liability was cited by doctors and hospital administrators as the leading factor that discouraged doctors from openly discussing and thinking of ways to reduce medical errors. In addition there was near unanimous agreement between doctors, nurses and administrators that the fear of litigation increased health care costs (Common Good 2002).

However, these are all subjective opinions and lack objective data. Beliefs about behaviour may represent concern, but do not necessarily represent the actual behaviour. In the Common Good study, doctors reported on every measure that their colleagues had a higher rate than they did when reporting on their own behaviour. The following study compared the subjective opinion of doctors about their practice, with an objective measure of actual practice.

Elmore and colleagues (2005) measured perceived impact of medico-legal concerns on the practice of radiologists, their experience of medical malpractice, and their actual patient-recall rates for breast biopsy. One hundred and eighty-one eligible radiologists from Washington, Colorado, and New Hampshire in the USA who routinely interpreted mammograms were surveyed with 139 respondents (77 percent response rate), with 124 responses eligible for analysis. Survey questions included demographic data, practice environment, and experience of medical malpractice. Survey responses were linked to 557,143 screening mammograms performed between 1996 and 2001. Sixty- four out of 122 radiologists (52 percent) reported a prior malpractice claim and18 out of 122 (15 percent) reported mammography-related claims. Seventy-two out of 123 (59 percent) believed their concern about malpractice claims moderately or greatly increased their recommendations for breast biopsies. However, there was no significant association between recall rates for breast biopsy and radiologist's experience or their perception of the impact of medical malpractice. The authors pose two opposite hypotheses for this: the fear of malpractice does not actually influence practice and that physicians have overestimated the effect malpractice concerns have on their own clinical practice, or that the concerns about malpractice may have affected the practice patterns of all physicians regardless of their level of malpractice claim exposure. Even the radiologists who had not experienced a claim or who responded that they were not practicing defensively might unconsciously be practicing defensively. The authors thought the latter hypothesis more likely due to the recall rate for mammography increasing over time in the United States (Elmore et al 2005). Interestingly, radiologists believed that their peers' recommendations were more influenced by malpractice concern than their own (Elmore et al 2005). This was the same as the Common Good study result of colleague assessment (Common Good 2002).

Studdert and colleagues surveyed 1,333 doctors in Pennsylvania from six high risk of litigation specialties (emergency medicine, general surgery, orthopedic surgery, neurosurgery, obstetrics/gynecology, and radiology) drawn from the American Medical Association Physician Master file. There were 824 respondents (65 percent response rate). Behaviours such as referring patients for consultation, ordering tests or performing diagnostic procedures more than they thought clinically appropriate due to concern over malpractice liability was reported by 93 percent of respondents. Radiologists were removed from some of the analysis due to some aspects not being applicable. Increased test ordering was performed by 405 out of 669 (59 percent weighted result), increased referrals due to medico-legal concerns was reported by 349 out of 669 (52 percent weighted result), and increased medication prescribing due to medico-legal concerns was reported by 223 out of 669 (33 percent weighted result). In particular, 43 percent of respondents said they used imaging technology in clinically unnecessary circumstances due to malpractice concerns (Studdert et al 2005).

Is there a difference between the specialties and their perception of the influence of medico-legal concerns on their practice? Bishop and colleagues (2010) surveyed 3000 doctors from the American Medical Association Physician Master file from four groups: primary care, nonsurgical (medical) specialists, surgical specialists, and other specialists, from all locations. There were 1231 respondents (response rate reported as 51 percent of 2416 who were eligible and thought to have received the survey). Respondents and non respondents only differed statistically by age (52.0 vs. 50.2 years; P < .001). Ninety-one percent of respondents believed that doctors in general order more tests and procedures than needed to protect themselves from malpractice suits. These views were consistent across specialty groups with doctors in typically lower liability-risk specialties, such as primary care, expressing as much concern about malpractice as physicians in high-risk surgical specialties. No significant differences were seen by geographic location or type of practice (Bishop et al 2010).

Carrier's large study with 4720 respondents (response rate 62 percent), found similar results. There were high levels of malpractice concern among both general and specialist doctors even in states with law reform changes to reduce the doctor's liability (specific findings reported in table 3) (Carrier et al 2010).

Thus there is widespread medico-legal concern that covers specialties of high and low risk and locations in the USA even when there are differing laws across the states. How this relates to practice is not certain as revealed by Elmore and colleagues (2005).

One might hypothesize that the high level of medico-legal concerns in the USA is because of that particular legal system. However, the literature in other countries shows that medico-legal concerns are global and not particularly related to the laws in any one place. In Italy, Catino and colleagues (2009) surveyed perceived defensive medical practice in a sample of 1000 general practitioners with 300 respondents (30 percent response rate). Seventy-eight percent of respondents reported that they practiced at least one form of assurance defensive

medicine (eg ordering tests or treatments that they regarded as clinically unnecessary) during the previous working month. The authors hypothesized that this was caused by the increase in medical litigation, the punitive approach to error in hospitals and the culture of blaming which acts as an obstacle to detection and reporting of error (Catino et al 2009). These ideas were discussed in Chapter 1 of this thesis whereby there is a clash between the focus on the individual in tort law and the focus on system improvement in the patient safety movement.

In Cunningham and colleagues' (2006) New Zealand series, 1200 doctors were surveyed with 714 respondents (60 percent response rate) in addition to 12 in-depth doctor interviews to investigate defensive practice changes. Narrative text from the surveys and the interviews were analysed. Increased investigation and referral rates were common themes as well as potentially safer changes. Cunningham makes the point, often overlooked in similar studies, that the complaints process has the potential to improve healthcare delivery and appropriate education needs to be allied to the complaints process, so that defensive medicine is constrained, and potential improvements in healthcare delivery enhanced (Cunningham et al 2006).

Salem and Forster's small recent study of 515 Australian metropolitan GPs surveyed in 2008-9 was limited by its low response rate with only 90 respondents (response rate 17 percent). Notwithstanding the low response rate, this study is reviewed as there is little Australian literature, and this study was conducted not long after my GP and large studies. They found a very high perception of assurance behaviours – considerably higher than in my GP and large studies. They report that 83 percent of their sample perceived that they sometimes or often referred patients to specialists unnecessarily due to a potential threat of malpractice litigation, 83 percent sometimes or often ordered more tests than medically indicated due to a potential threat of malpractice litigation, 49 percent sometimes or often suggested procedures unnecessarily due to a potential threat of malpractice litigation and 70

percent sometimes or often prescribed more medications than medically indicated due to a potential threat of malpractice litigation. Comparing the Salem GP study to my GP study, they surveyed 515 GPs from one area of Sydney whereas I surveyed 1239 GPs from all over Australia. They had 90 respondents with a 17 percent response rate whereas I had 566 respondents with a 46 percent response rate. Responder bias is likely to be the cause of the differences, with the subsample of doctors with heightened medico-legal concerns responding to the survey. Indeed this is likely in all these surveys, but the smaller the response rate, the less representative the sample.

The above studies, from many countries, overwhelmingly demonstrate that doctors perceive they perform additional tests, referrals and prescribe additional medication due to medico-legal concerns. Whether this perception equals reality is not tested.

#### 4.2.2 Avoidance behaviour

This section describes avoidance behaviours – when doctors avoid certain patients or procedures due to medico-legal concerns. Some doctors also stop practicing medicine due to medico-legal concerns, and many consider this.

Not all avoidance behaviours put patients at risk- some are potentially beneficial to patients, for example it is wise for a doctor to refer elsewhere and avoid a particular procedure in certain circumstances. However, other avoidance behaviours such as reduction in emergency or obstetric services in rural areas may be detrimental to patient care. Relevant studies are reviewed here starting again with the Summerton study in the UK, then studies form the USA, Japan, Switzerland, New Zealand and Australia. Additional studies are reported in table 3.

Summerton's (1995) cohort of 300 GPs reported that 42 percent (124 out of 298) avoided treating certain conditions and 25 percent (74 out of 298) removed patients from their list due to medico-legal concerns (Summerton 1995). Bark et al's 1997 study of the concerns

about litigation of 1011 UK acute hospital consultants and registrars with 769 respondents (76 percent response rate) reported that thirty percent of surgical specialty staff avoided certain procedures as did 20 percent of non-surgical specialties, and 56 of the 288 who had been involved in litigation (19 percent) considered giving up medicine altogether.

This was not unique. Charles and colleagues USA study of 154 doctors out of 450 (response rate 34 percent) sued between 1987-81 reported that 42 percent stopped seeing certain types of patients due to medico-legal concerns, 28 percent stopped performing high risk procedures, and thoughts of retiring early were entertained by 34 percent (45 of 143)(Charles 1984).

A US study of 220 obstetricians and 470 family doctors with obstetric practice (total 690 doctors practicing obstetrics), using medical insurance company records from the most popular medical insurance company in Washington State between 1982 and 1988, explored why doctors stopped practicing obstetrics (Rosenblatt et al 1990). The study compared doctors who discontinued obstetrics with those who continued. The two variables of interest, withdrawal from obstetric practice, and involvement in malpractice claim for obstetrics, were always recorded. Twenty-five percent discontinued obstetrics during the study period (149 out of 470 (32 percent) of family doctors and 22 out of 220 (10 percent) of obstetricians). Being named in an obstetric malpractice suit may have played a role in discontinuing obstetric practice, but the strongest predictor was older age (Rosenblatt 1990). The authors noted that 25 percent was a high rate of attrition over the 6 years of the study, and was higher than the rate new doctors entered obstetric practice (Rosenblatt et al 1990). The strength of this study was that it was from reliable records of all doctors insured for obstetric practice in that insurance company, but it is now over 20 years old.

In Australia ,Watts (1997) surveyed 210 South Australian rural GP obstetricians with 167 respondents (82 percent response rate) and found that 26 percent stopped obstetrics in the

previous 12 months and 57 percent reported indemnity insurance as the main reason for stopping. This is different to the findings of the US insurance data from the 1980s which found that age was the variable most related to stopping obstetric practice at that time (Rosenblatt et al 1990). Interestingly, family/lifestyle was the most important reason for ceasing obstetric practice in Australian rural GPs in previous surveys. It was also the second most popular reason in Watts' study (1997). There appears to have been has been an increase in concern about medico-legal matters over the last two decades.

A more current study for obstetricians was the on-line survey in 2009 of Fellows of the American College of Obstetrician and Gynaecologists which explored the impact of liability insurance on the practice of the doctor in the previous three years. Response rate was poor with 31,665 fellows surveyed and only 5,644 surveys completed (18 percent response rate). The respondent fellows perceived that due to medical insurance concerns in the past three years, 20 percent increased their number of caesarean deliveries and 20 percent reported that they stopped offering vaginal births after caesareans. Additionally, 21 percent decreased the number of high-risk obstetric patients they saw, 10 percent decreased the number of total deliveries, and seven percent stopped practicing obstetrics altogether (Klagholz et al 2009).

Further evidence of doctors stopping obstetric practice came from longitudinal workforce data of practicing obstetricians from 1998 to 2004 in Pennsylvania, Florida, and New York. Rising malpractice premiums were associated with an increased exit and reduced rate of entry into the obstetric workforce by five percent (Polsky 2010).

Studdert and colleagues (2005) Pennsylvanian study of 824 doctors from six high risk litigation specialties similarly found that 216 out of 669 (32 percent) believed they had restricted their practice by eliminating procedures prone to complications, such as trauma surgery, and 268 out of 669 (39 percent) avoided patients who had complex medical problems or were perceived as litigious (Studdert 2005).

Elmore and colleagues (2005) study of 181 radiologists with 139 respondents (77 percent response rate) report that 43 of 112 respondents (35 percent) considered withdrawing from mammogram interpretation because of malpractice concerns.

Thus studies also show that doctors may stop a part of their practice, eg obstetric practice (Watt 1997, Kłagholz et al 2009, Chervenak et al 2007, Polsky 2010) or consider stopping medicine (Charles et al 1984, Bark et al 1997, Cunningham et al 2004) due to medico-legal concerns. Do doctors also reduce their hours of work due to medico-legal concerns? Helland et al's (2009) USA economics study found that they do. There was a stronger association for doctors over 55 years, and solo practitioners (Helland 2009). These issues for Australian doctors are examined in my large study of 2,999 doctors reported in Chapter 10.

Hiyama and colleagues (2006) Japanese study of 171 randomly selected gastroenterologists with 131 respondents (77 percent response rate) found that avoidance of high risk patients due to medico-legal concerns was perceived to occur sometimes or often by 99 out of 131 (75 percent) of gastroenterologists, and avoidance of certain procedures due to medico-legal concerns was perceived to occur sometimes or often also in 99 out of 131 (75 percent). Interestingly, gastroenterologists in practice for more than 20 years believed they adopted avoidance behaviours significantly less often than those in practice for less than 10 years (Hiyama 2006).

In Switzerland, physician and general practitioner use of prostate-specific antigen (PSA) screening was surveyed examining the extent to which liability fears influence recommendations for testing. Five hundred and fifty-two doctors were surveyed with 255 respondents (45 percent response rate) made up of 168 GPs (68 percent) and 73 internal medicine specialists (32 percent). Seventy-five per cent of both groups (physicians and GPs) recommended regular PSA screening to men older than 50 years of age. Yet only 56 percent

of the general practitioners and 53 percent of the physicians believe that PSA is an effective screening method, and 41 percent of general practitioners and 43 percent of physicians reported that they sometimes or often recommend this test for legal reasons (Steurer, 2009).

Cunningham and colleagues' New Zealand survey (2004) of 1200 doctors with 598 respondents (50% response rate) of whom 201 doctors had received a medical complaint (34 percent), investigated the short (less than six weeks) and long term impact of the complaint on their practice of medicine and the way they related to patients. Respondents who had received a complaint reported a reduction in trust of patients for 76 out of 199 (38 percent) respondents in the short term, and 63 out of 199 (32 percent) respondents in the long term. They also reported a reduction in sense of goodwill to patients in 57 out of 199 (29 percent) in the short term, and 36 out of 199 (18 percent) in the long term. The long term impact of a complaint for nine percent was that they did not wish to keep on practicing medicine. No differences were found between doctors practicing in different vocational groups. The study concluded that receiving a medical complaint has a significant negative impact on the doctor-patient relationship (Cunningham et al 2004). Similarly 38 percent of doctors from the US Commongood study reported that the fear of malpractice has made their relationship with patients less personal. These are self report findings, and difficult to measure.

Likewise, my large Australian study of 2999 specialists, GPs and trainees found that medico-legal concerns impacted on the doctor-patient relationship, but in a variety of ways. This is reported in Chapter 10.

#### 4.2.3 Potentially safer practice changes

One of the purposes of a complaints system is to maintain or improve standards of professional practice. To do this, complaints systems should effect change in the behaviour of individual doctors and the profession in a way that is of benefit to society. Put simply, complaints should lead to improved medical practice (Cunningham 2004).

There is less emphasis on potentially safer practice changes in these studies. This reflects bias in the construction of the studies. Of note is that this barely features in the studies from the USA.

Summerton reported potentially safer practice changes due to medico-legal concerns in his GP study (n=300). More detailed note taking was perceived as likely or very likely to occur for 269 out of 298 (90 percent), more detailed patient explanations were likely or very likely to be given for 258 out of 298 (87 percent), and development of audit systems within practice were likely or very likely to occur for 120 out of 298 respondents (34 percent) (Summerton 1995).

Also in England around the same time, Mulcahy surveyed 848 consultant doctors in Oxford with 443 replies (52 response rate). Two hundred and forty-six respondents (56 percent) had received at least one complaint and of these 17 percent kept better records, 15 percent provided fuller consultations, and 13 percent increased clinical vigilance in response to the compliant (Mulcahy et al 1995).

Bark and colleagues (1997) study of 1011 UK acute hospital consultants and registrars with 769 respondents (76 percent response rate) of 37% overall had been involved in litigation.

The majority of respondents (both with and without litigation experience) considered that litigation, or the threat of litigation, led to attempts to improve communication with patients and staff and to keep better records. These were reported more frequently than avoidance of procedures or over-investigation (Bark et al 1997).

Likewise, in the USA Charles and colleagues first study in 1984 of 154 sued doctors (34 percent response rate), reported that as a result of being sued, 69 percent of respondents (n=94) kept more meticulous records. However, for 25 percent of respondents (n=33), they reported that they recorded less pertinent information.

In Canada, more information was given to patients by 80 percent of the 171 specialist and primary care doctors due to concerns about medico-legal issues (Cook 1992).

Again the situation in Australia regarding these practice changes was not known prior to my research. Practice change in response to a medico-legal matter is reported in Chapter 7 (GP study) and Chapter 10 (large study of 2,999 specialists, GPs and trainees). The findings of my studies can now inform education in Australia about medico-legal processes, considering the frequency, the emotional responses, and the potentially safer and potentially problematic practice changes that can occur. This education can occur in medical schools, hospitals, medical Colleges, insurance organisations and complaints bodies.

The next seven chapters present the publications of my research.

# **CHAPTER 4: The New South Wales Health Care Complaints pilot study**

Nash L, Curtis B, Walton M, Willcock S, Tennant C. The response of doctors to a formal complaint. Australasian Psychiatry, 2006; 14: 246-250



## **DOCTORS' HEALTH**

# The response of doctors to a formal complaint

Louise Nash, Bradley Curtis, Merrilyn Walton, Simon Willcock and Christopher Tennant

**Objectives:** This pilot study investigates the psychological impact on doctors of a complaint to the New South Wales Health Care Complaints Commission and the doctor's perception of legal risk.

Method: Doctors who received a complaint were sent a set of questionnaires embracing psychological variables and their perceptions of legal risk.

**Results:** The response rate was 60%. Thirty-eight per cent of respondents met screening criteria for psychiatric disorder. There was, however, minimal functional impairment of work, social or family life. Respondents scored highly on altruism, but at the same time were 'tough minded'. The questionnaire to assess the doctor's perception of legal risk appeared to have acceptable construct validity but showed that doctors still misunderstand medico-legal risk.

**Conclusions:** Psychiatric morbidity rates of our sample were comparable with other Australian medical samples. This small sample appeared to cope with the stress of a complaint better than those reported in other studies.

Key words: complaints, doctors, NSW Health Care Complaints Commission, perception of legal risk, psychological impact.

In the state of New South Wales (NSW) in Australia, 5% of doctors are the subject of a written complaint to the NSW Health Care Complaints Commission (HCCC) each year. The HCCC is part of the professional regulatory system for holding medical practitioners accountable. Less than 10% of these complaints result in some form of 'disciplinary' action of counselling, limiting conditions of practice, supervision of practice or deregistration.<sup>1-3</sup>

The aim of this paper is to explore the psychological impact of the HCCC complaints process on doctors and their perception of legal risk. The latter refers to the understanding of the law as it relates to mistakes and adverse patient outcomes. The law does not require doctors to practice perfectly; rather, it requires doctors to have the knowledge and skill comparable to other clinicians and to act reasonably in accordance with the established standards. The stress on patients (as plaintiffs or complainants) is recognized and has been explored elsewhere.<sup>4</sup>

Not surprisingly, a review of the literature<sup>5</sup> indicates that the threat or actual occurrence of a complaint or lawsuit causes emotional and physical stress.<sup>6-12</sup> In addition, there are potentially positive changes to medical practice such as increased screening, development of audit or consumer satisfaction activities, more detailed record keeping and more extensive explanations to patients, as well as potentially negative changes such as prescription of unnecessary drugs, unnecessary increase in frequency of follow up, referral rates and diagnostic testing, as well as avoidance of certain treatments and even not seeing certain types of patients.<sup>6,7,9,13,14</sup> Other factors influencing the doctors' response are the availability or lack of professional or personal support systems (and the doctors' willingness to use them) and the medical culture of 'infallibility',

### Louise Nash

Psychiatrist, Lecturer, Department of Psychological Medicine, University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia.

## **Bradley Curtis**

Associate Lecturer, Epidemiology and Biostatistics, School of Public Health, University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia.

## Merrilyn Walton

Associate Professor of Ethical Practice, Office of Teaching and Learning in Medicine, University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia

## Simon Willcock

Associate Dean (Curriculum) and Associate Professor,

Australasian Psychiatry

46 A

Discipline of General Practice, University of Sydney Medical Program, University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia.

## **Chris Tennant**

Professor of Psychiatry, University of Sydney, Sydney NSW, Australia.

Correspondence: Dr Louise Nash, Department of Psychological Medicine, University of Sydney, Royal North Shore Hospital, St Leonards, NSW 2065, Australia. Email: Inash@med.usyd.edu.au

doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1665.2006.02295.x

© 2006 Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Psychiatrists

whereby errors in patient care were viewed as a manifestation of character flaws.<sup>12,13,15-17</sup> In Australia, the 'threat of litigation' was perceived as the most severe work-related stressor in a survey of 464 randomly selected metropolitan general practitioners.<sup>18</sup>

#### **METHOD**

Doctors who were the subject of a written complaint to the HCCC in the period February to May 2004 were invited to participate in the study. Two weeks after the doctor received written notification of the complaint, the HCCC sent the questionnaire package with reply paid envelope to the study team. Four weeks later, in order to improve the response rate, a repeat set of questionnaires was sent to all doctors in the original mail-out. Confidentiality and anonymity was maintained as the study team had no access to the HCCC files and the HCCC had no access to the returned questionnaires.

#### Demographic data

Demographic data sought included year of birth, year of graduation, country of graduation, gender, marital status, postcode of practice, type of clinical practice (GP, Specialist, other) and practice arrangement (solo, group, hospital, medical centre, community health).

#### Current and past complaints

Respondents provided a written narrative outlining the current complaint and the proposed action by the HCCC as described in the initial HCCC correspondence to them, and any previous complaints. Respondents rated the seriousness of the current complaint. They were also asked if they had discussed the complaint with others and how helpful this had been.

#### Perception of legal risk

A questionnaire was developed by one of the authors (MW) on doctors' general perception of legal risk.

#### **Psychiatric morbidity**

This was assessed by The General Health Questionnaire-28 (GHQ-28),<sup>19</sup> a sensitive and well-validated screening tool to detect common non-psychotic psychiatric morbidity, considering symptoms over the last 2 weeks.<sup>20</sup> It has four subscales: somatic symptoms, anxiety and insomnia, social dysfunction and depression. The recommended cut-off score to identify cases is above four using binary scoring. This has been shown to have high sensitivity for identification of potential cases of psychiatric morbidity.<sup>21,22</sup> Comparison data were derived form the National Survey of Health and Wellbeing,<sup>23</sup> Australian interns,<sup>21</sup> and consultants in a Sydney teaching hospital.<sup>24</sup>

© 2006 Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Psychiatrists

#### Attitude to Helping Others (altruism)

Internalized values are generally accepted as the source of altruistic intent, while market research indicates 'donation behaviour' as positively associated with altruism.<sup>25,26</sup> The Attitude to Helping Others Scale has four items which reflect the respondent's behaviour in helping others. It was designed to assist charitable organizations and has been validated in that context.<sup>27</sup>

#### Sheehan Disability Scale

The Sheehan Disability Scale is considered a sensitive tool for self-report of functional impairment in the three domains of work, social life/leisure activities and family life.<sup>28</sup>

#### The Eysenck Personality Questionnaire

This self-report questionnaire attempts to measure three major dimensions of personality – extraversion (E), neuroticism or emotionality (N) and psychoticism (P). The latter assess a lack of 'tender-minded' attitudes and is equivalent to 'tough mindedness'. The Eysenck Personality Questionnaire-Revised Short Scale questionnaire was used.<sup>29</sup>

#### Statistical analysis

All statistical analysis was undertaken using SPSS Version 12.0 (SPSS, Chicago, IL, USA). Any significance value below  $\alpha$ = 0.05 was considered to be statistically significant. Validity was established by testing construct validity in the subjective instruments. Construct validity of the Perception of Legal Risk questionnaire was assessed by the direction and strength to which factors with expectation of both good and poor correlation fulfilled our prediction. Cohen gives the following effect size guidelines for the Spearman (used with skewed data) correlation coefficient: Small = 0.10; Medium = 0.30; Large = 0.50.<sup>30</sup>

#### RESULTS

The initial mail-out (n = 69) achieved a modest 31% response rate, but this rose to 60% after the second set of questionnaires was sent. Four doctors wrote supporting comments and one phoned thanking the study team for conducting the research. One wrote an angry response.

#### Demographic data

The mean year of birth was 1951, with a range of 1930–1973. Mean year of graduation was 1977 with a range 1954–2000. The country of primary medical degree was Australia (88%), with one each (3%), from India, Sri Lanka, Pakistan and UK. Eighty-one per

 $\mathbf{NP}_{23}$ 

cent of the respondents were male. Eighty-four per cent were married/defacto, 8% separated/divorced, and 8% single.

Thirty-two per cent of respondents were in General Practice or Primary Care; 62% other specialists; 3% non-specialist in hospital; and 3% specialist in training. Forty-six per cent worked in solo practice, 26% group practice, 20% mainly hospital work and 8% other.

## Attendance at peer review and educational meetings

The mean number of peer review sessions per year attended by the respondents was 6.6. However, there was a skewed distribution with a minimum of 0 (range 0-25) and as such caution is required when interpreting these results for a small sample. The mean number of education meetings per year was 16.7 with a median of 10.

does not imply an admission of liability. Sixty-three per cent believed that patients were not more likely to sue if told of mistakes. Thirty-nine per cent believed that the law requires them to make perfect decisions. Ten per cent of respondents believed that only unprofessional and incompetent doctors are sued for professional negligence.

A number of correlations (Spearman) were of interest in this study. There was a significant relationship between number of educational meetings and reduced number of complaints (r = 0.56; p < 0.001). There was a significant correlation between how the HCCC intended to handle the complaint and the doctors perceived seriousness of the complaint (r = 0.36; p < 0.05) and doctors who felt 'more responsible' were more likely to view the complaint as more serious (r = 0.50; p < 0.01). Respondents believed that an apology was unlikely to increase the risk of legal action (r = 0.43; p < 0.01), and inadequate communication was seen as a major factor in most 'mistakes' (r = 0.44; p < 0.01). Doctors who believed medical mistakes are rare were more likely to indicate that they felt professional standards should be set solely by the medical profession (r = 0.60; p < 0.001).

## **Previous complaints**

Five per cent of respondents had five or more previous complaints to the HCCC, 9% had four previous complaints, 9% had two previous complaints, 32% had one previous complaint and 45% of respondents had no previous complaints.

## The current complaint

The HCCC was reported by the doctor as taking the following action: HCCC investigating further in 32%, referral to the Medical Board in 3%, referral to another authority (e.g. Area Health Service) in 10%, assisted resolution in 11%, direct resolution with complainant in 3%, referral for conciliation in 9% and, no further action in 32%. The doctor's perceived seriousness of the current complaint was: serious or quite serious in 18%, minor or very minor in 36% and trivial in 46%.

## Discussing the complaint with another

Eighty-seven per cent of the sample did discuss the complaint. The vast majority found this to be helpful. Sixty-seven per cent discussed the complaint with their spouse, 58% with a medical colleague, 31% with a non-medical colleague, 28% with a friend outside work, and 20% with another family member.

## **General Health Questionnaire**

Thirty-eight per cent of the sample met criteria for psychiatric morbidity (GHQ-28 > 4). Using a higher cut-off to increase specificity (GHQ-28 > 7), 33% of doctors met the criteria for psychiatric morbidity. There was a non-significant trend that those who perceived the complaint as serious were more likely to meet criteria for caseness with the GHQ (p = 0.09).

## Attitude to Helping Others

Altruistic responses to this scale ranged from 89 to 97%.

## Sheehan Disability Scale

The results indicate little in the way of functional impairment of work, social life/leisure or family life.

## The Eysenck Personality Scale (Eysenck Personality Questionnaire-Revised Short Scale)

Respondents scored significantly higher than the general population on the psychoticism or tough mindedness scale (p < 0.001).

## The doctor's perception of legal risk

Ninety-four per cent of respondents believed that all doctors make mistakes. Seventy-eight per cent believed that inadequate communication was a factor in most complaints and the same percentage stated they were comfortable discussing mistakes with their colleagues. Sixty-six per cent believed that an apology

# DISCUSSION

## **Response** rate

The response rate of 60% is at the top end of the range in similar studies.6,7,12,13 The study was conducted through a period of unprecedented upheaval

© 2006 Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Psychiatrists

in the HCCC and the proposed timing of the mailout was not always adhered to.

#### Potential personal risk factors for a complaint

Our demographic results are similar to the New Zealand survey of doctors who had complaints against them, of whom 68% were in the 40-60 year age group and male doctors were more likely to receive a complaint than female doctors. The New Zealand cohort had a higher rate of postgraduate qualifications than their peers. The authors of this New Zealand study postulate that more senior doctors carry the burden of responsibility for patient care and are therefore more likely to receive complaints.<sup>31</sup> Our high proportion of male doctors may be due to this, or it may be that as a group women work less hours, or are better communicators, or work in less complex environments. Equally, why was the rate of complaint lower for overseas-trained doctors when taking into account their proportion of the population? Non-responder bias is a concern here. Issues such as these will be investigated in a larger cohort study to which this pilot is a prelude.

The role of education appears to be important in that those doctors who attended more educational sessions in our study were less likely to have more than one complaint. Education sessions are not only important from a 'learning' point of view, but also offer a time of collegial support. The possible link may also be due to the professionally engaged practitioner being more likely to attend education sessions.

## Doctors' perception of legal risk, this complaint and the HCCC handling of the complaint

There is a tension in the responses concerning communication, with 78% of respondents believing that inadequate communication was a factor in most complaints yet 37% believing that patients were more likely to sue if told of mistakes.

Another tension was that many of the complaints were deemed by the doctor to be trivial or minor. However, of the 32% of complaints in this study that were considered serious enough to warrant further investigation by the HCCC, in only 27% did the doctor believe the matter was serious. This may be based on the facts as perceived by the doctor and indeed may not be serious, or this may be due to the doctor's early response to the complaint.

#### Morbidity

Psychological morbidity is high at 38% which compares poorly with the Australian general population in the National Mental Health survey, which identified 12% for adult cases.<sup>23</sup> However, it is similar to other Australian medical samples with 37% of interns

© 2006 Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Psychiatrists

meeting case definition<sup>21</sup> and 41% of senior medical staff from a metropolitan teaching hospital doing similarly.<sup>24</sup> There was a trend in our study that those who regard the complaint as more serious were more likely to have an increased level of psychiatric morbidity. There was minimal social, work or family dysfunction noted in the respondents as a group.

#### Personality

This sample of doctors rate as 'tough minded', yet are altruistic in responses to the Attitude to Helping Others Scale.

#### Limitations of the study

Although the response rate was relatively good, there may have been non-responder bias.

The research team had no control over the mail-out. Some respondents received the questionnaire outside the specified time frames, and there may have been more complaints lodged with the HCCC than were included in the study. Additionally, the mail-out (occurring 2 weeks after notification of the complaint) was too short a time span to capture longerterm morbidity associated with the complaints process. A follow up reassessment would give a better picture, particularly for the more lengthy complaint process.

#### CONCLUSION

As a pilot study, the questionnaires appear to have acceptable face and construct validity, and the method is able to achieve a reasonable response rate. Psychological morbidity and disability measurements indicate that the respondents were no more distressed than interns or metropolitan teaching hospital specialists, although there was a trend that those who regard the complaint as more serious had greater psychiatric morbidity. There remains some tension in responses about the medico-legal environment. Finally, these results suggest that those who attend education sessions may have a reduced risk of multiple complaints.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The research team thanks the staff of the New South Wales Health Care Complaints Commission, the Douglas Piper Library of Royal North Shore Hospital and Effective Healthcare Australia for a Seed Funding Grant.

#### REFERENCES

- 1. NSW Health Care Complaints Commission. Annual Report 1998–1999.
- 2. NSW Health Care Complaints Commission. Annual Report 2000-2001.
- 3. NSW Health Care Complaints Commission. Annual Report 2002-2003.
- Daniel A, Burn R, Horarik S. Patient's complaints about medical practice. *Medical Journal of Australia* 1999, 170: 598–602.

- 5. Nash L, Tennant C, Walton M. The psychological impact of complaints and negligence suits on doctors. Australasian Psychiatry 2004; 12: 278-281.
- 6. Jain A, Ogden J. General practitioners' experience of patients' complaints: a gualitative study. British Medical Journal 1999; 318: 1596-1599.
- 7. Charles SC, Wilbert JR, Kennedy EC. Physician's self-reports to reactions to malpractice litigation. American Journal of Psychiatry 1984; 141: 563-565.
- 8. Charles SC, Wilbert JR, Franke KJ. Sued and non-sued physicians' self-reported reactions to malpractice litigation. American Journal of Psychiatry 1985; 142: 437-440.
- 9. Charles SC, Warnecke RB, Nelson A, Pyskoty CE. Appraisal of the event as a factor in coping with malpractice litigation. Behavioural Medicine 1988; 14: 148-155.
- 10. Martin C, Wilson J. Physicians' psychological reactions to malpractice litigation. Southern Medical Journal 1991; 84: 1300-1304.
- 11. Christensen JF, Levinson W, Dunn PM. The heart of darkness: the impact of perceived mistakes on physicians. Journal of International Medicine 1992; 7: 424-431.
- 12. Newman MC. Emotional impact of mistakes on family physicians. Archives of Family Medicine 1996; 5: 71-75.
- 13. Cook R, Neff C. Attitudes of physicians in northern Ontario to medical malpractice litigation. Canadian Family Physician 1994; 40: 689-698.
- 14. Summerton N. Positive and negative factors in defensive medicine: a questionnaire study of general practitioners. British Medical Journal 1995; 310: 27-29.

- 20. Tennant C. Valid index of psychological impairment in Australian populations. Medical Journal of Australia 1977; 2: 392-394.
- 21. Willcock SM, Daly M, Tennant C, Allard B. 'Burnout and psychiatric morbidity in new medical graduates. Medical Journal of Australia 2004; 181: 357-360
- 22. Winefield HR, Goldney RD, Winefield AH, Tiggemann M. The general health questionnaire: reliability for australian youth. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry 1989; 23: 53-58.
- 23. Andrews G, Hall W, Teeson M, Henderson S. The Mental Health of Australians: National Survey of Mental Health and Wellbeing. Canberra: Mental Health Branch, Commonwealth Department of Health and Aged Care, 1999; 2: 29-30.
- 24. Bruce CT, Sanger MM, Thomas PS, Pektus JR, Yates DH. Factors affecting female or male consultant stress in and Australian teaching Hospital. Medical Journal of Australia 2003; 179: 174-175.
- 25. Burnkrant R, Page T Jr. An examination of the convergent, discriminant, and predictive validity of Fishbein's behavioral intention model. Journal of Marketing Research 1982; 19: 550-561.
- 26. LaTour SA, Manrai AK. Interactive impact of informational and normative influence on donations. Journal of Marketing Research 1989; August 327-335.
- 27. Webb D, Green CL, Brashear T. Development and validation of scales to measure attitudes influencing monetary donations to charitable organizations. Academy of Marketing Science Journal 2000; 28: 299-310.
- 15. Mulcahy L. From fear to fraternity: doctors' construction of accounts of complaints. Journal of Society Welfare Family Law 1996; 18: 397-412.
- 16. Kapp MB. Legal anxieties and medical mistakes. Journal of General International Medicine 1995; 12: 787-788.
- 17. Gabbard G. The role of compulsiveness in the normal physician. Journal of the American Medical Association 1985; 254: 2926-2929.
- 18. Schattner PL, Coman GJ. The stress of metropolitan general practice. Medical Journal of Australia 1998; 169: 133-137.
- 19. Goldberg DP. Manual of the General Health Questionnaire London. Windsor: NFER, 1998.
- 28. Leon AC, Olfsen M, Portera L, Farber L, Sheehan DV. Assessing psychiatric impairment in primary care with the Sheehan Disability Scale. International Journal of Psychiatry in Medicine 1997; 27: 93-105.
- 29. Eysenck HJ, Eysenck SBG. Manual of the Eysenck Personality Scales (EPS Adult). London: Hodder and Stoughton, 1996.
- 30. Cohen J. A power primer. Psychological Bulletin 1992; 112: 155-159.
- 31. Cunningham W, Crump R, Tomlin A. The characteristics of doctors receiving medical complaints: a cross-sectional survey of doctors in New Zealand. The New Zealand Medical Journal 2003; 116: U625.



# **CHAPTER 5:** Psychological morbidity in the GP study

Nash L, Daly M, Johnson M, Walter G, Walton M, Willcock S, Coulston C, Van Ekert E, Tennant C. **Psychological morbidity in Australian doctors who have and have not experienced a medico-legal matter: cross-sectional survey.** Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry 2007;4:917-925.



## Psychological morbidity in Australian doctors who have and have not experienced a medico-legal matter: cross-sectional survey

Louise Nash, Michele Daly, Maree Johnson, Garry Walter, Merrilyn Walton, Simon Willcock, Carissa Coulston, Elizabeth van Ekert, Chris Tennant

**Objective:** To describe the differences in psychological morbidity between Australian general practitioners (GPs) who have experienced a medico-legal matter and those who have not.

**Methods:** A total of 1499 GPs were initially invited to participate in the study. Two hundred and sixty requested not to participate, with 1239 subsequently being sent a survey. There were 566 respondents (45.7% response rate to survey). There were two sources of data. First, a cross-sectional survey sought demographic information, personality traits via the Eysenck Personality Questionnaire (EPQ), history of a medico-legal matter with any medical defence organization, and measures of psychological morbidity, including the General Health Questionnaire (GHQ), Sheehan Disability Scale (SDS), and Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test. Second, information was extracted from the United Medical Protection database on medico-legal matters.

**Results:** Fifty-nine per cent of respondents to the survey reported ever having a medicolegal matter, with 13% having a current medico-legal matter. Those with a current matter reported increased levels of disability (in work, social or family life) and higher prevalence of psychiatric morbidity (45% vs 27% GHQ 'case identification' rates), compared to those with no current matter. Those respondents with a history of past medico-legal matters reported increased levels of disability (SDS) and depression subscores (GHQ). Male respondents drank significantly more alcohol than female respondents, and male respondents with current or past medico-legal matters had significantly higher levels of alcohol use than male respondents with no experience of medico-legal matters.

Louise Nash, Psychiatrist and Lecturer (Correspondence)

Department of Psychological Mediciue, Royal North Shore Hospital, St Leonards, NSW 2065, Australia, Email: Inash@med.usyd.edu.au

Michele Daly, Research Officer; Simon Willcock, Associate Professor, General Practice

University of Sydney, Academic General Practice Unit, Hornsby Ku-ring-gai Hospital, Hornsby, NSW, Australia

Maree Johnson, Research Professor

College of Social and Health Sciences, University of Western Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia

Garry Walter

Professor of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, University of Sydney, and Area Clinical Director, Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services, Northern Sydney Central Coast Health, NSW, Australia

Merrilyn Walton, Associate Professor of Medical Education

Centre for Innovation in Professional Health Education CIPHER, University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia

Carissa Coulston, Clinical Psychologist and Research Officer

Academic Discipline of Psychological Medicine, Northern Clinical School, University of Sydney, and CADE Clinic, Department of Academic Psychiatry, Royal North Shore Hospital, St Leonards, Sydney, NSW, Australia

Elizabeth van Ekert, National Manager

Risk Advisory Services, Avant (formerly UNITED Medical Protection), Sydney, NSW, Australia

Chris Tennant, Professor of Psychiatry

University of Sydney, Royal North Shore Hospital, St Leonards, NSW, Australia

Received 8 June 2007; accepted 31 July 2007.

<sup>© 2007</sup> The Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Psychiatrists

**Conclusions:** Doctors who have current and past medico-legal matters have a higher level of psychological morbidity. The study design was unable to distinguish cause or effect. A longitudinal study is planned to investigate this. The findings have significant implications for medical training, doctor support systems and medical insurance groups. **Key words:** complaints, general practitioners, hazardous alcohol use, lawsuits, medico-legal matters, psychiatric morbidity.

#### Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry 2007; 41:917–925

In a study of Australian general practitioners (GPs), threat of litigation was perceived as the most severe work-related stress [1]. As a group, doctors overestimate the likelihood of being sued [2,3], while the majority of patients entitled to make a formal complaint or claim compensation do not [4,5].

A complaint or lawsuit against a doctor causes emotional and physical stress [6,7]. This has been observed  $\geq 2$  years after being sued, regardless of outcome [8]. Issues influencing the doctor's response include personality, professional or personal supports, and the medical culture of infallibility [9–15]. More generally, the fear of litigation impacts on the practice of medicine in both a negative and a positive way. Although it may increase awareness of risk, it may also discourage open discussion and introduction of measures to reduce error, and even increase health-care costs, such as through unnecessary tests or referrals.

The frequency of medico-legal matters varies by gender, age, specialty, hours worked and country of practice, such that men aged 40–60 years working in high-intervention specialties are more likely to be the subject of a medico-legal matter [16–19]. In Australia, during the year 2005–2006, 4% of members of the largest Australian medical defence organization, United Medical Protection (United), incurred a claim for compensation [20]. In the state of New South Wales (NSW), 5% of doctors have a complaint made about them to the NSW Health Care Complaints Commission (HCCC) per year [21–23]. In the USA, 86% of high-risk specialist doctors had been named in a malpractice suit at least once [17].

Predictors of psychiatric illness in doctors include family history of mental illness, personality type (particularly neuroticism), and contextual factors such as perceived work conditions and stress outside of work [24-26].

The relevance of this research to psychiatrists is threefold: first, in the treatment of a colleague who is involved in a medico-legal matter, second, as doctors who have (or may have) a complaint or suit against them, and third, as teachers of students and trainees about this aspect of professional life.

The aim of the present study was to explore the differences in psychological morbidity between GPs who have and have not had experience of medicolegal matters using several psychological health measures, with consideration to demographic and personality variables. Stress experienced by patients has been addressed elsewhere [27].

#### Methods

A descriptive comparative design was used. In May 2006 a crosssectional self-report survey was administered to GPs.

#### Sample

A total of 1499 GPs was selected from a listing of all GPs who were currently insured with United. The sample included all 530 GPs classified by United as proceduralists (those who perform procedures of a more invasive or high-risk nature, such as obstetrics, general or regional anaesthesia, i.v. sedation, minor orthopaedic surgery, tonsillectomy), and a random selection of 970 non-procedural GPs from a total of 6479. One subject survey pack was sent back with the code removed, and 10 were returned unopened due to change of address.

Because we were seeking to use existing data within United's database (to reduce data burden) and to collect additional information via survey, a two-stage approach was used to ensure protection of United members' confidential data. All selected GPs were informed about the study, including the use of historical data relating to medico-legal matters held by United, and were asked to complete a form noting if they wished not to participate in the study. Two hundred and sixty GPs (17%) requested not to participate and were therefore not included. The remaining 1239 GPs were sent the survey, with ultimately 566 respondents (45.7% survey response rate).

#### Data and procedure

Psychological morbidity was the outcome of interest (measured by psychiatric symptoms, disability and potentially hazardous alcohol use).

Data for analysis was obtained from two sources. First, survey data (the major data source) included demographic information (birth, gender, year and country of graduation, type of general practice, marital status, hours worked per week, weeks worked per year, attendance at peer review and hours at formal education), current and past medico-legal matters, personality assessment, and psychological morbidity measures.

Second, data were extracted from the United Oracle database on medico-legal matters for those GPs who agreed to participate. This included all medico-legal matters, or matters arising from members' medical practice that had given rise to legal action such as a claim for compensation, a complaint before a medical registration board or complaints body, coronial inquiry, or allegation of Medicare fraud and other billing irregularities (Table 1). A unique study code was used to combine the extracted United data with the survey data received. A listing of the study codes was obtained from the survey data returned and only United data relating to members representing these study codes were issued to the team.

The self-administered survey was posted to GPs and included a reply paid envelope. Four weeks later, a reminder letter was issued, again requesting participation and return of the survey.

#### Measures of psychological morbidity

Psychiatric morbidity was assessed using the General Health Questionnaire-28 (GHQ) [28], a sensitive and well-validated screening tool to detect common non-psychotic psychiatric morbidity that considers symptoms over the past 2 weeks. It has four subscales: somatic symptoms; anxiety and insomnia; social dysfunction; and depression. There are two scoring systems used: a summation of scores (scores from 0 to 3 per item, with higher number for increasing symptom severity) giving a total score, and a 'case identification' for psychiatric morbidity using binary scoring (0011) per item, with a score >4 meeting case definition.

Impairment in work, social and family life was measured using the Sheehan Disability Scale (SDS) [29], a self-report questionnaire that assesses functional impairment in work, social/leisure activities and family life. It is a sensitive tool for identifying (primary care) patients with mental health-related impairment. In the present study it was used to identify individuals with impaired role functioning in the three domains using a modified 4-point Likert scale for each domain (1 = not impaired to 4 =severely impaired), with summation of scores for a global SDS score.

Alcohol use was assessed using the World Health Organization Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT) [30], which is sensitive to detecting hazardous and harmful drinking. The AUDIT questions are scored from 0 to 4, with subjects who score a total of  $\geq 8$  classified as potentially hazardous drinkers (AUDIT case identification).

#### Personality measure

The Eysenck Personality Questionnaire (EPQ)– Revised Short Scale version [31] was used. The EPQ is a valid and reliable selfreport questionnaire that measures three major dimensions of personality: extraversion (E), neuroticism (N) and psychoticism (P), representing personality traits not diagnoses. Neuroticism is sometimes referred to as 'emotionality' and measures emotional stability or sensitivity; psychoticism measures 'tough-mindedness' and at the extreme a lack of empathy. The extroversion (E) scale determines if the subject is outgoing and talkative, and a low score represents introversion.

#### Definition of medico-legal matter

Respondents were asked, 'Have you ever received assistance from any medical defence organization in a medico-legal matter?'. These matters included a claim for compensation for damages, complaint to an HCC body, medical board inquiry, disciplinary hearing, health insurance commission inquiry, hospital dispute, pharmaceutical services inquiry. Medicare fraud inquiry, antidiscrimination board inquiry, coronial inquiry and criminal charge. These matters were identified as either 'current' or 'past' (the latter referring to medico-legal matters that were closed or finalized). Respondents were also asked the type of their most recent medicolegal matter.

#### Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was undertaken using SPSS Version 12.0 (SPSS Version 15, Chicago, IL, USA). Differences between groups were assessed using independent samples t-tests for continuous variables, and  $\chi^2$  tests for categorical variables. Bivariate relationships between continuous variables were performed using Pearson product-moment or Spearman's rank order correlation coefficients. Binary logistic regression analyses were performed to determine if medico-legal matters were associated with psychiatric morbidity and potentially hazardous drinking after controlling for relevant confounding variables.

#### Ethical considerations

Approval for the study was granted through Northern Sydney Central Coast Area Health Service and the University of Sydney Ethics Committees, and United Board. Anonymity and confidentiality of survey responses, and United membership and data, were protected at all times. The survey contained a covering letter indicating that de-identified data relating to medico-legal matters held by United would be issued to the study team if the survey data were returned. The study was funded by a research grant from Northern Sydney Health.

Tabla 1

#### Results

#### Characteristics of respondents

Demographic and medico-legal history of the sample is reported in Table 1.

#### Characteristics of those who had experienced a medicolegal matter (self-report data)

Respondents who had ever experienced medico-legal matters were significantly older (mean = 53.96 years, SD = 9.25) than those who had never experienced a medico-legal matter (mean = 51.26 years, SD = 9.84;  $t_{(549)} = 3.28$ , p < 0.001).

Respondents who had ever experienced medico-legal matters worked significantly longer hours per week (mean = 43.08 hours, SD = 14.91) than those who had never experienced a medico-legal matter (mean = 37.64 hours, SD = 14.29;  $t_{(535)} = 4.16 \text{ p} < 0.001$ ), and respondents who had a current medico-legal matter worked significantly longer hours per week (mean = 46.03 hours, SD = 14.84) than those without a current matter (mean = 39.96 hours, SD = 14.99;  $t_{(529)} = 3.14$ , p < 0.01).

A significantly higher proportion of proceduralists had ever experienced a medico-legal matter (69.3%) than non-proceduralists (53.9%;  $\chi^2 = 11.78$ , df = 1, p < 0.001), and a significantly higher proportion of male (65.7%) than female respondents (46.5%) reported experiencing a medico-legal matter ( $\chi^2 = 19.44$ , df = 1, p < 0.001). However, there was no difference in the proportion of male and female respondents who worked more than 48 h per week in terms of number of medico-legal matters (p > 0.05).

Hours of work was significantly and positively correlated with number of medico-legal matters according to self-report data for both female (r = 0.25, p < 001) and male respondents (r = 0.15, p < 0.01), and according to data provided by United for both female (r = 0.25, p < 0.001) and male respondents (r = 0.16, p < 0.01).

Australian doctors versus those trained in other countries did not differ in number of medico-legal matters, nor did doctors who attended peer review or formal education differ from those who did not attend (p > 0.05).

#### Type of medico-legal matter

Considering respondents' most recent medico-legal matter, according to self-report data 44.5% were claims for compensation, 22.9% were a complaint to an HCC body, 6.1% was general advice, 6.1% was classified as 'other', 4.6% were coronial inquiries, 4.3% medical board inquiries and 4.3% were complaints to the doctor.

#### Differences between study respondents and nonrespondents (United Data)

United staff examined differences in demographic factors and medico-legal matters between survey respondents (n = 566) and non-respondents (n = 673). Respondents were older (mean =

Characteristic	n (%)	Mean (SD)
Age (years)	558	53.0 (9.7)
Gender		
Male	365/564 (65)	
Marital status	. ,	
Married	466/562 (83)	
Medical degree obtained		
In Australia	454/565 (80)	
In UK/Ireland	40/565 (7)	
In India/Sri Lanka	28/565 (5)	
Other	45/565 (8)	
Hours worked week <sup>-1</sup>		40.9 (15.1)
Weeks worked year <sup>-1</sup>		46.4 (6.0)
No. doctors in solo	110/560 (20)	
practice		
Proceduralist	178/565 (32)	
Attendance at peer review	239/559 (42)	8.0 (9.6)
(mean sessions per		
year)		
Attendance at formal	531/559 (95)	38.0 (32.3)
education (mean hours		
per year)		
Medico-legal experiences of	the doctor	
Medico-legal assistance	329/559 (59)	
received <sup>*</sup> (self-report		
data)		
Respondents with a	71/559 (13)	
current medico-legal		
matter (self-report data)		
Respondents with a past	295/559 (53)	
medico-legal matter		
(self-report data)		
GPs who have	250/565 (44)	
experienced a major		
medico-legal matter:		
(United data)		
GPs who have		
experienced one or		
more major medico-		
legal matter (United		
data)		
Civil claims	145/565 (25.7)	F
Unlitigated claims	36/565 (6.4)	
Complaints	87/565 (15.4)	
Medical Board inquiry	32/565 (5.7)	
HIC claims	16/565 (2.8)	

Subject characteristics

HIC, health insurance commission.; <sup>4</sup>A total of 59% of respondents had sought medico-legal assistance, which included specific matters defined here, general advice and matters with other insurance groups.

<sup>†</sup>A medico-legal matter defined by United as any of the following: civil claim, unlitigated claim, complaint, medical board inquiry, HIC inquiry, disciplinary hearing, hospital dispute, pharmaceutical services inquiry, Medicare fraud inquiry, antidiscrimination inquiry, coroners inquiry, criminal charge.

52.80 years, SD = 9.46) than non-respondents (mean = 51.68 years, SD = 9.87;  $t_{(1191)} = 1.99$ , p < 0.05).

The proportion of females to males who responded (35.8%) was higher than the proportion of females to males who did not respond (28.3%;  $\chi^2 = 7.85$ , df = 1, p < 0.01).

Of the doctors who were sent the survey, there was a smaller proportion of proceduralist respondents (31.5%) compared to non-proceduralist non-respondents (38.6%;  $\chi^2 = 7.72$ , df = 1, p < 0.01).

There were no significant differences in the proportion of survey respondents experiencing the key medico-legal events (claims, complaints or inquiries) compared to non-respondents (p > 0.05).

## Level of agreement between self-report data and United data on medico-legal matters

Ninety per cent of GPs who had a current or past medico-legal matter recorded by United recorded a current or past matter in self-report data. Pearson's product-moment correlations showed that there was a significant relationship between total number of current and past medico-legal matters recorded by United, and total number of current and past matters reported by the GPs (r = 0.36, p < 0.001). However, 34% of GPs who did not have a medico-legal matter recorded by United, did record a matter in self-report data. This was likely due to the fact that respondents were asked to include all matters, either with United or other organizations, and possible over-inclusion referring to a process as a medico-legal matter that United did not regard as such.

#### **Psychological measures**

#### Psychiatric morbidity (General Health Questionnaire)

Those doctors who had ever experienced a medico-legal matter had significantly higher psychiatric morbidity case identification rates than doctors who had never experienced medico-legal matters ( $\chi^2 = 5.90$ , df = 1, p < 0.005). Further GHQ results are given in Table 2.

Compared to doctors who had never experienced a medico-legal matter, those who had ever experienced a medico-legal matter reported higher anxiety ( $t_{(542)} = 3.24$ , p <0.005), greater social dysfunction ( $t_{(551)} = 3.17$ , p <0.005), and a higher level of depression ( $t_{(549)} = 3.21$ , p <0.001), and doctors with finalized past matters maintained a higher level of depression than those who had never experienced a medico-legal matter ( $t_{(472)} = 2.86$ , p <0.005). Table 2 shows further comparisons for past matter only and current matters versus the group who had never sought assistance for a medico-legal matter.

#### Impairment (Sheehan Disability Scale)

Those doctors who had ever experienced a medico-legal matter had significantly higher disability scores than those who had never experienced a medico-legal matter ( $t_{(542)} = 3.24$ , p <0.005). As seen in Table 2, male respondents had significantly higher disability scores than female respondents ( $t_{(475)} = 2.91$ , p <0.005). Those who worked >48 h week<sup>-1</sup> had significantly higher disability scores than those who worked <36 h week<sup>-1</sup> ( $t_{(345)} = 2.48$ , p <0.05) and those who worked 36–48 h week<sup>-1</sup> ( $t_{(326)} = 3.86$ , p <0.001).

#### Alcohol use (AUDIT)

As shown in Table 2, of those who met AUDIT criteria for being a potentially hazardous drinker (AUDIT >8), a significantly higher proportion were male ( $\chi^2 = 18.94$ , df =1, p <0.001), a higher proportion had ever experienced a medico-legal matter ( $\chi^2 = 4.43$ , df =1, p <0.05), and a higher proportion worked longer hours (>48 h week<sup>-1</sup>;  $\chi^2 = 8.67$ , df =2, p <0.05). Furthermore, of those who worked longer hours (>48 h week<sup>-1</sup>), a higher proportion of men (19.9%) were drinking at a potentially hazardous level ( $\chi^2 = 3.54$ , df =1, p <0.05).

Age differences were also examined but not found to be significant (p > 0.05).

There was a significant positive correlation between total AUDIT scores and SDS scores (r = 0.19, p < 0.001).

## Difference between peer review attendance and proceduralists on morbidity measures

There was no difference in psychiatric morbidity (GHQ) or disability (SDS) or AUDIT scores between those who did or did not attend peer review, and between proceduralists and non-proceduralists (p > 0.05).

## Personality (EPQ) and measures of psychological morbidity (GHQ, SDS, AUDIT)

Total GHQ scores were significantly correlated with EPQ neuroticism subscale scores (r = 0.47, p < 0.001), and EPQ introversion subscale scores (r = 0.21 p < 0.001).

Total SDS scores were significantly correlated with EPQ neuroticism subscale scores (r = 0.45, p < 0.001), and EPQ introversion subscale scores (r = 0.24, p < 0.001).

Potentially hazardous drinking scores were significantly correlated with EPQ psychoticism subscale scores (r = 0.12, p < 0.01), and EPQ neuroticism subscale scores (r = 0.10, p < 0.05)

#### Predictors of psychiatric morbidity and potentially hazardous drinking

#### Psychiatric morbidity (General Health Questionnaire)

Age, years of practice as a GP, and EPQ neuroticism and extraversion/introversion subscale scores were significant confounds and were therefore treated as covariates. These were significant predictors of psychiatric morbidity ( $\chi^2 = 80.68$ , df = 4, p < 0.001, Nagelkerke R<sup>2</sup> = 0.22). Correct classification rates were 28.8% for GPs with psychiatric morbidity and 93.4% for GPs without psychiatric morbidity (the overall correct classification rate was 76.3%).

As shown in Table 3, a higher proportion of GPs with a current medico-legal matter had psychiatric morbidity than GPs without a current medico-legal matter. Current medico-legal matter significantly predicted psychiatric morbidity. There was improvement in classification of GPs with psychiatric morbidity when

	] At: 05:56 15 October 2007									
	of Sydney			Table 2. N	1ean total instr	rument scores				
	GP 2	G	ender		Medico-legal Ma	tter (self-report da	ta)	,	Workload (h wee	:k <sup>−1</sup> )
	Tota	Female	Male	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	<36	36 <i>-48</i>	>48
	nloaded By	n = 199	n =365	n =230	Ever (past and/or current matter) n = 329	Past matter n =295	Current matter n = 71	n = 186	n = 179	n = 178
	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)
Total GHQ score	3.40(5.18)	3.26(4.84)	3.48(5.36)	2.69(4.25)	3.88(5.72)**	3.36(5.47)	5.60(6.23)****	3.51(5.24)	2.91(4.85)	3.71(5.36)
SDS Score	4.33(1.97)	4.02(1.68)	4.50(2.09)**	4.02(1.68)	4.54(2.13)***	4.46(2.09)***	4.86(2.27)***	4.22(1.91)	3.96(1.67)	4.77(2.21)****
AUDIT total score	4.40(3.80)	3.19(2.82)	5.07(4.10)***	* 3.73(3.15)	4.83(4.13)***	4.74(4.08)*	5.16(4.36)*	4.09(3.73)	4.14(3.67)	5.02(3.93)*7
GHQ case psychiatric morbidity GHQ >4	27%	23%	28%	21%	30%*	26%	45%***	27%	22%	31%
AUDIT case alcohol usage risk ≥8	12%	3%	16%***	8%	14%*	11%	23%***	9%	8%	18%****
							and to make			

AUDIT, Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test; GHQ, General Health Questionnaire; SDS, Sheehan Disability Scale.; <sup>†</sup>Current matter significantly higher compared to past matter (p < 0.05); <sup>†</sup> > 48 h score was significantly higher compared to both other workload groups.; <sup>\*</sup>p < 0.05, <sup>\*\*</sup>p < 0.001 (compared to no medico-legal matter).

:				Current Me	dico-legal mat	ter			
Yes No %	χ²	đ	٩	Nagelkerke R <sup>2</sup>	Corre classificati	ct on rate	Overall classification rate (%)	Exp (B) ( medico	(current o-legal
					for case ide	entifica-		mat	ter)
					Yes	No		Yes	No
GHQ case identification 44.8 23.6 15	15.32	2	0.0005	0.26	32.6	91.8	76.1	2.09	0.63
AUDIT case identification 22.9 9.2 12	12.73	2	0.002	0.20	8.8	99.3	88.9	5.49	1.80

adding current medico-legal matter as a predictor of psychiatric morbidity. Furthermore, the exponential beta (odds ratios) statistics in Table 3 indicate that GPs who had a current medico-legal matter were more likely to have psychiatric morbidity than those without a current medico-legal matter.

#### Potentially hazardous drinking (AUDIT)

Gender, years of practice as a GP, hours worked per week, and EPQ psychoticism and neuroticism subscale scores were significant confounds and were therefore treated as covariates. These were significant predictors of potentially hazardous drinking ( $\chi^2 = 41.17$ , df = 5, p <0.001, Nagelkerke R<sup>2</sup> =0.16). Correct classification rates were 1.8% for GPs with potentially hazardous drinking and 99.8% for GPs without potentially hazardous drinking (the overall classification rate was 88.5%).

As shown in Table 3, a higher proportion of GPs with a current medico-legal matter demonstrated potentially hazardous drinking than GPs without a current medico-legal matter. Current medicolegal matter significantly predicted potentially hazardous drinking. There was improvement in classification of GPs with potentially hazardous drinking when adding current medico-legal matter as a predictor of potentially hazardous drinking. Furthermore, the exponential beta (odds ratios) statistics shown in Table 3 indicate that GPs who had a current medico-legal matter were more likely to have potentially hazardous drinking than those without a current medico-legal matter.

#### Discussion

We have explored differences in psychological morbidity in Australian GPs, comparing those who have and have not experienced medico-legal matters, and found that there is an increase in psychiatric morbidity (GHQ), impairment in function (SDS) and alcohol use in men (AUDIT), for doctors who currently have a medico-legal matter. As in other studies [10-14], procedural doctors and those who work more hours per week are more likely to have had a medico-legal matter.

Female general practitioners in the present study had lower levels of psychological morbidity even after considering hours of work. This is contrary to previous Australian studies, which have found female doctors to have higher GHQ case identification rates (Table 4) [24,32]. However, the present sample of GPs in general had lower psychiatric morbidity as compared to interns and hospital consultants.

In view of the high prevalence (45%) of GPs experiencing psychiatric morbidity with a current medico-legal matter, there is an urgent need to investigate avenues to assist doctors. This may have benefits for the practitioner, the patient, the health system and the insurer. Interventions to consider

		Psychiatric morbidity	prevalence (GHQ >4)	
	%	Male%	Female%	Туре
Study respondent	27	28	23	GP
Study respondent current matter	45	49	31	GP
Bruce et al. (2003) [33]	41	39	44	Hospital consultant
Willcock et al. (2004) [24]	37	33	41	Intern

include the provision of appropriate services and education of the workforce regarding the different medico-legal processes, psychological reactions, negative coping strategies such as overuse of alcohol, and the availability of supports and positive coping strategies.

It was hypothesized that peer review and formal education [14] would identify doctors who are better engaged with their peers and less prone to adverse outcomes. However, comparisons of doctors who attended peer review or formal education with those who did not, found no difference in the occurrence of medico-legal matters or in the presence of psychiatric morbidity, disability or potentially hazardous alcohol drinking.

#### Limitations

The study is not without limitations. First, the 566 respondents represent only 1% of Australian GPs (2003 workforce data) [33] and they differ in demographic and work practice measures from the 2003 workforce in which mean age of GPs was 45.7 years (present sample, mean age = 53 years), 32.6% were female in 2003 (present sample, 35%) and GPs worked an average 44.2 h week<sup>-1</sup> (present respondent sample, 40.9 h).

Second, the response rate of 45.7% to the survey is comparable to many doctor studies, but does leave room for responder bias. We considered this in our comparison of responders and non-responders from the United data, and although there were some statistical demographic differences, these were not deemed major, and importantly there were no differences in the major groups of medico-legal matters between responders and non-responders.

Third, two data sets for medico-legal matters were utilized, and each had their strengths and weaknesses. Self-report data may have been more inclusive than United data, in that it would include matters with other insurers, but relying on responders to classify the type of medico-legal matter was difficult. At times, matters were included in self-report data that would not have been considered a medico-legal matter by United definition, and thus the self-report data was over-inclusive.

Fourth, seriousness of matters was not classified in the present paper because the number of each type of matter was small when broken down. The seriousness of a complaint from the point of view of regulators (HCC body and Medical Board) is from the patient's perspective rather than the outcome for the doctor. The present study considered the impact on the doctor, which varies depending on many factors in the doctor, for example personality, supports, the doctor's perception of the seriousness of the matter, and the actual legal process (e.g. the disciplinary process can be prolonged and uncertain, whereas the resolution process can be relatively brief and unencumbered by complex legal intervention). The mere fact of a complaint, however, can be sufficient to generate anxiety.

Fifth, as a cross-sectional study we are unable to comment on the direction of causality. A longitudinal study is planned to resolve the chicken-and-egg aspect and longitudinal effects, and address the causality of psychological morbidity.

#### Conclusions

The present study shows that Australian GPs who have a current medico-legal matter, have increased psychiatric morbidity, disability, and in male GPs increased potentially hazardous alcohol use.

Education of medical students as well as prevocational and vocational training about the nature and impact of medico-legal matters is important in improving doctors' health and thereby patient care. Enhancing individual coping strategies and the
encouragement of systemic change are hypothesized as measures to further improve the outcome for the doctor and patient.

#### References

- Schattner PL, Coman GJ. The stress of metropolitan general practice. *Med J Aust* 1998; 169:133–137.
- Lawthers AG, Localio AR, Laird NM, Lipsitz S, Hebert L, Brennan T. Physicians' perceptions of the risk of being sucd. J Health Polic Policy Law 1992; 17:463–481.
- Lawton R, Connolly T, DeGraaff R. Impact of physicians' perceptions of malpractice and adaptive changes on intention to cease obstetrical practice. *J Rural Health* 1999; 15:134– 146.
- Localio A, Lawthers A, Brennan T et al. Relation between malpractice claims and adverse events due to negligence. Results of the Harvard Medical Practice Study III. N Engl J Med 1991; 325:245-251.
- Bismark M, Brennan T, Davis P, Studdert D. Claiming behaviour in a no-fault system of medical injury: a descriptive analysis of claimants and non-claimants. *Med J Aust* 2006; 185:203-207.
- Nash L, Curtis B, Walton M, Willcock S, Tennant C. The response of doctors to a formal complaint. *Australas Psychiatry* 2006; 14:246–250.
- Nash L, Tennant C, Walton M. The psychological impact of complaints and negligence suits on doctors. *Australas Psychiatry* 2004; 12:278–281.
- Martin C, Wilson J, Fiebelman N, Gurley D, Miller T. Physicians' psychological reactions to malpractice litigation. South Med J 1991; 84:1300-1304.
- Newman MC. Emotional impact of mistakes on family physicians. Arch Fam Med 1996; 5:71-75.
- Cook R, Neff C. Attitudes of physicians in northern Ontario to medical malpractice litigation. *Can Fam Physician* 1994; 40:689–698.
- Summerton N. Positive and negative factors in defensive medicine: a questionnaire study of general practitioners. *BMJ* 1995; 310:27-29.
- Mulcahy L. From fear to fraternity: doctors' construction of accounts of complaints. J Society Welfare Fam Law 1996; 18:397-412.
- Kapp MB. Legal anxieties and medical mistakes. J Gen Intern Med 1995; 12:787-788.
- 14. Gabbard G. The role of compulsiveness in the normal physician. *JAMA* 1985; 254:2926–2929.
- Common Good and Harris Interactive. Common good: fear of litigation study. The impact on medicine. New York: Harris Interactive, 2002. [Accessed 24 November 2004.] Available from URL: www.cgood.org

- Cunningham W, Crump R, Tomlin A. The characteristics of doctors receiving medical complaints: a cross-sectional survey of doctors. N Z Med J 2003; 116(1183):U625.
- Mello M, Studdert D, Cesroches C et al. Caring for patients in a malpractice crisis: physician satisfaction and quality of care. *Health Aff* 2004; 23:42–53.
- Aasland A, Forde R. Impact of feeling responsible for adverse events on doctors' personal and professional lives: the importance of being open to criticism from colleagues. *Qual* Saf Health Care 2005; 124:13–17.
- Hickson G, Federspiel C, Pichert J, Miller C, Gauld-Jaeger J, Preston B. Patient complaints and malpractice risk. JAMA 2002; 287:2951-2956.
- United Medical Protection. Annual report 2005/06. Sydney: United Medical Protection, 2006
- NSW Health Care Complaints Commission. Annual Report 1998–99. Sydney: Health Care Complaints Commission, 1999.
- NSW Health Care Complaints Commission. Annual report 2000–01. Sydney: Health Care Complaints Commission, 2001.
- NSW Health Care Complaints Commission. Annual report 2002-03. Sydney: Health Care Complaints Commission, 2003.
- Willcock SM, Daly MG, Tennant C, Allard BJ. Burnout and psychiatric morbidity in new medical graduates. *Med J Aust* 2004; 181:357-360.
- Johnson W. Predisposition to emotional distress and psychiatric illness amongst doctors: the role of unconscious and experiential factors. *Br J Med Psychology* 1991; 64: 317-329.
- Tyssen R, Vaglum P. Mental health problems among young doctors: an updated review of prospective studies. *Harvard Rev Psychiatry* 2002; 10:154–165.
- Daniel A, Burn R, Horarik S. Patient's complaints about medical practice. *Med J Aust* 1999; 170:598-602.
- Goldberg DP. Manual of the General Health Questionnaire London. UK: NFER, 1998.
  Leon AC, Olfsen M, Portera L, Farber L, Sheehan DV.
- Leon AC, Olfsen M, Portera L, Farber L, Sheehan DV. Assessing psychiatric impairment in primary care with the Sheehan Disability Scale. Int J Psychiatry Med 1997; 27: 93-105.
- Saunders J, Aasland OG, Baker TF et al. Development of the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT): WHO collaborative project on early detection of persons with harmfut alcoholic consumption, II. Addiction 1993; 88:791– 804.
- 31. Eysenck HJ, Eysenck SBG. Manual of the Eysenck Personality Scales (EPS Adult). UK: Hodder and Stoughton, 1996.
- Bruce CT, Sanger MM, Thomas PS, Pektus JR, Yates DH. Factors affecting female or male consultant stress in an Australian teaching hospital. *Med J Aust* 2003; 179:174–175.
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Medical labour force 2003. AIHW cat. No. HWL 32, National Health Labour Force Series No. 32. Canberra: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2005.

# CHAPTER 6: Change in practice due to medico-legal concerns in the GP study

Nash L, Walton M, Daly M, Johnson M, Van Ekert E, Walter G, Willcock S, Tennant

C. GPs' concerns about medicolegal issues - how it affects their practice.

Australian Family Physician 2009;38:66-70





#### Louise Nash

MBBS(Hons), BA, DipObs, FRANZCP, is a psychiatrist, New South Wales Institute of Psychiatry, Brain and Mind Research Institute, University of Sydney, and Greater Western Area Health Service, Dubbo, New South Wales. Inash@med.usyd.edu.au

#### Merrilyn Walton

BA, BSW, MSW, PhD, is Associate Professor, Centre for Innovation in Professional Health Education and Research, University of Sydney, New South Wales.

#### Michele Daly

BSc(Hons), MSc, is a research officer, University of Sydney, Academic General Practice Unit, Hornsby Ku-ringgai Hospital, New South Wales.

#### Maree Johnson

BAppSci, MAppSci, PhD, is Research Professor, College of Health and Science, University of Western Sydney, New South Wales.

# **GPs' concerns about medicolegal issues** How it affects their practice

#### Background

General practitioners' concerns about medicolegal issues have been shown to influence the practice of medicine. This research looks at GPs' beliefs about medicolegal issues and how medicolegal concerns affect their practice.

#### Methods

A descriptive comparative design was used. A cross sectional self report survey was sent to 1239 GPs, 566 responded (46% response rate). Responses were considered as a group, and then comparisons were made between those who had experienced a medicolegal matter and those who had not. This data was sourced from surveys and medicolegal insurer records.

#### Results

General practitioners with previous medicolegal experiences were more likely than their colleagues to report believing the law required them to make perfect decisions and that medicolegal factors made them consider early retirement from medicine. They were also less likely to believe that inadequate communication is a factor in most complaints. More than half the GPs reported having made practice changes due to medicolegal concerns in the following areas: test ordering (73%); specialist referrals (66%); systems to track test results (70%); and communication of risk to patients (68%). Other changes were reported less frequently.

#### Discussion

This study found that GPs' concerns about medicolegal matters impact on their practise of medicine. While greater awareness of medicolegal issues may lead to positive impacts, the negative impact of their concerns is that some changes arise from anxiety about medicolegal matters rather than from the exercise of good clinical judgment. General practitioners' concerns about a potential complaint, inquiry or lawsuit influences their practise of medicine in potentially positive ways such as developing audit procedures and better patient explanations; but also negatively such as increased prescribing of drugs, referrals and diagnostic testing.<sup>1-9</sup> These impact on the quality and cost of health care.

Defensive medicine occurs when practice is governed by the fear of medicolegal actions rather than sound medical judgment. A review of the effects of the medical liability system in Australia, the United Kingdom and the USA, found evidence of defensive medicine in the UK and the USA, but a lack of Australian data.<sup>10</sup> In a UK study of 500 randomly selected GPs with 300 respondents (60% response rate), 98% of respondents reported making some change in reaction to the possibility of a complaint,<sup>5</sup> including increased referral (64%), increased follow up (64%), increased diagnostic testing (60%), prescribing of unnecessary drugs (29%) and avoiding treatment of certain conditions (42%). Studdert's<sup>7</sup> 2003 survey to 1333 emergency doctors, radiologists and surgeons in Pennsylvania with 824 respondents (65% response rate), found that 92% of respondents modified diagnostic procedures and/or referring because of the threat of malpractice liability, and 43% reported using imaging when clinically unnecessary.

A Canadian survey of 148 primary physicians with 72 respondents (response rate 49%) found that 50% of respondents avoided certain procedures,<sup>4</sup> as did 28% of sued Chicago doctors in the 1980s.<sup>9</sup> However, more information was provided to patients by 80% of the Canadian respondents<sup>4</sup> and by 50% of UK GPs.<sup>5</sup>

The USA Common Good Fear of Litigation study interviewed 300 doctors, 200 nurses and 100 administrators. Doctors reported an increase in test ordering (79%), referrals (74%), and medication prescribing (41%); with near unanimous agreement that this increased health care costs.<sup>8</sup>

66 Reprinted from AUSTRALIAN FAMILY PHYSICIAN Vol. 38, No. 1/2, January/February 2009



#### Garry Walter

MBBS, BMedSc, PhD, FRANZCP, is Professor of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, Discipline of Psychological Medicine, University of Sydney, and Area Clinical Director, Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services, Northern Sydney Central Coast Health, New South Wales.

#### Elizabeth van Ekert

BA, DipEd, is National Manager, Risk Advisory Services, Avant, Sydney, New South Wales.

#### Simon Willcock

MBBS(Hons), FRACGP, PhD, is Associate Professor of General Practice, University of Sydney, Academic General Practice Unit, Hornsby Ku-ring-gai Hospital, New South Wales.

#### **Chris Tennant**

MBBS, MPH, DPH, MRCPsych, MD, is Emeritus Professor of Psychiatry, University of Sydney, Royal North Shore Hospital, New South Wales.

#### Table 1. Medicolegal history of the respondents

Characteristic	No. (%)
Self reported medicolegal experiences of GPs (n=559)*	
Medicolegal assistance ever received	329 (59)
Respondents with a current medicolegal matter	71 (13)
Respondents with a past medicolegal matter	295 (53)
GPs who have experienced one or more of the following medico-legal matters (UNITED data, n=565)	250 (44)
Civil claims	145 (26)
Unlitigated claims**	36 (6)
Complaints	87 (15)
Medical Board inquiry	32 (6)
HIC claims	16 (3)
Coroners inquiry	15 (3)

Note: A medicolegal matter included the following: civil claim, unlitigated claim, complaint, Medical Board inquiry, HIC inquiry, disciplinary hearing, hospital dispute, pharmaceutical services inquiry, Medicare fraud inquiry, antidiscrimination inquiry, coroners inquiry, criminal charge

59% of respondents had sought medicolegal assistance for one of the above medicolegal matters, and this also included matters with other insurance groups; some respondents may have included matters that may not have been considered by UNITED as a matter

\*\* Unlitigated claim refers to a claim in which civil proceedings have not been commenced. The claim is made by the patient, or by a solicitor or another person instructed by the patient

## Methods

A descriptive comparative design was used. A cross sectional self report survey was administered to GPs in May 2006. Responses were considered as a group, and comparisons made between those who had experienced a medicolegal matter and those who had not.

### Sample

A total of 1499 GPs were selected from a list of all GPs insured with UNITED Medical Protection (UNITED), then the largest Australian medical insurance company (now Avant). The final sample included all 530 GPs classified by UNITED as proceduralists, and a random selection of 970 nonprocedural GPs from a total data base of 6479. Power analysis considering change in the psychological morbidity measures<sup>11</sup> determined the sample size required. UNITED insured 30% of Australian GPs.<sup>13</sup>

#### **Data and procedure**

Data came from two sources. The survey data included demographic information, work practice details, current and past medicolegal matters with any medical defence organisation, and attitudes and change of practice in response to medicolegal concerns. The posted survey included a reply paid envelope, with a reminder letter 4 weeks later. The second data source was the UNITED database information on medicolegal matters for GPs who agreed to participate.

#### Measuring medicolegal matters

Medicolegal matters classification used UNITED criteria, with the survey asking about: compensation claim for damages, health care complaints body complaint, Medical Board inquiry, disciplinary hearing, Health Insurance Commission (HIC) inquiry, hospital dispute, pharmaceutical services inquiry, Medicare fraud inquiry, Antidiscrimination Board inquiry, Coronial inquiry, criminal charge and 'other'.

A two stage approach was used to ensure protection of confidential data. All selected GPs were informed of the study, including the use of historical data relating to medicolegal matters held by UNITED, and asked to complete a form indicating whether or not they wished to participate; 266 GPs (17%) chose not to participate.

Respondents were asked whether they had ever received assistance from any medical defence organisation in any of these

Reprinted from AUSTRALIAN FAMILY PHYSICIAN Vol. 38, No. 1/2, January/February 2009 67



medicolegal matters and whether the matters were 'current' or 'past' (closed).

### Beliefs and changes to practice due to concerns about medicolegal issues

A previously piloted questionnaire was used regarding GPs' beliefs and understanding of the law as it relates to medicolegal issues.<sup>6</sup> Questions about changes in practice were drawn from key items in the literature. Respondents were asked: 'Do concerns about medical negligence/complaint cause you to ... ' and a series of items were listed relating to medical practice (Table 1).

#### **Ethical considerations**

Approval for the study was granted through Northern Sydney Central Coast Area Health Service and the University of Sydney Ethics Committees, and the UNITED Board. The survey covering letter indicated that de-identified data relating to medicolegal matters held by UNITED would be issued to the study team if the survey

#### Results

### Respondent demographic characteristics and experience of medicolegal matters

Of the 1239 GPs surveyed, 566 responded (46% survey response rate, and 566/1499, 38% overall response rate); mean age was 53 years (SD=9.7); and 65% were male. Proceduralist GPs accounted for 32% of respondents. Mean hours worked per week was 40.9 hours (SD=15.1) and mean weeks worked per year was 46.4 weeks (SD=6.0). The medicolegal history of respondents is shown in Table 1.

#### Differences between study respondents and nonrespondents from **UNITED** data

Respondents were marginally older (M=52.80 years, SD=9.46) than nonrespondents (M=51.68 years, SD=9.87) (t(1191)=1.99, p<0.05) and there was a higher proportion of females to males for respondents (35.8%) compared to nonrespondents (28.3%) ( $\chi^2$ =7.85, df=1, p<0.01).

There were no significant differences in the proportion of survey

was returned.

respondents experiencing the key medicolegal events (claims,

#### Table 2. Beliefs about medicolegal issues (n=554)

Statement	% Agree* Total cohort (n=554)	% Agree MLM (n=326)	% Agree No MLM (n=228)	Significance**#
All doctors make mistakes	97	97	97	ns
Inadequate communication is a factor in most complaints	93	90	97	$\chi^2(1,n=550) = 8.52,$ p=0.004
My awareness of risks of medical negligence has increased in recent years	92	93	91	ns
I feel comfortable discussing my mistakes with my colleagues	76	77	74	ns
Professional standards should be set solely by the medical profession	70	69	71	ns
Doctors are encouraged to report their medical errors	70	71	70	ns
The law requires me to make perfect medical decisions#	64	68	59	<b>χ</b> <sup>2</sup> (1,n=548) =4.32, <i>p</i> =0.038
Medicolegal factors make you consider retiring early from medicine	48	52	43	$\chi^2$ (1,n=542) = 4.30, p=0.038
Medical mistakes are rare	21	19	24	ns
An apology to a patient implies an admission of liability	16	17	14	ns
Patients are likely to sue a doctor who tells them about a mistake	14	15	11	ns
Only unprofessional or incompetent doctors get sued	2	2	3	ns

Note: MLM = medicolegal matter which included the following: civil claim; unlitigated claim, complaint, Medical Board inquiry, HIC inquiry, disciplinary hearing, hospital dispute, pharmaceutical services inquiry, Medicare fraud inquiry, antidiscrimination inquiry, coroners inquiry, criminal charge

- Recoding of data into binary scoring 1,2=disagree and 3,4=agree
- \*\* Chi-square procedures were used to compare respondents with a medicologal matter who agreed with the statement to those without a medicologal matter who agreed with the statement
- For all these statements, comparisons were also done between solo and nonsolo GPs. There were no statistically significant differences, however the following approached significance: 72% of solo GPs agreed that the law required them to make perfect medical decisions compared with 62% of nonsolo GPs  $(\chi^2/(1,n=548) = 3.63, p=0.057)$

#### 68 Reprinted from AUSTRALIAN FAMILY PHYSICIAN Vol. 38, No. 1/2, January/February 2009

GPs' concerns about medicolegal issues - how it affects their practice RESEARCH



Table 3. Practice changes due to medicolegal concerns (n=549)

Practice change	% who change			
	Total cohort (n=549*)	With MLM (n=325)	With no MLM (n=224)	Significance**#
Order tests	73	74	73	ns
Refer to specialists	66	66	66	ns
Avoid a particular type of invasive procedure	49	47	53	ns
Avoid particular obstetric procedure (60% stated not applicable)	49	49	49	ns
Prescribe medication	19	23	15	<b>χ</b> <sup>2</sup> (1,n=540) =5.62, <i>p</i> =0.018
Put systems in place to track test results	70	69	71	ns
Provide communication of risk to patients	68	67	70	ns
Put systems in place to audit practice	47	50	43	ns
Put systems in place to identify nonattenders	36	36	36	ΠS

Note: MLM = medicolegal matter which included the following: civil claim, unlitigated claim, complaint, Medical Board inquiry, HIC inquiry, disciplinary hearing, hospital dispute, pharmaceutical services inquiry, Medicare fraud inquiry, antidiscrimination inquiry, coroners inquiry, criminal charge

Recoding of data into binary scoring of less than usual, usual = 1, more than usual = 2

\*\* Chi-square procedures were used to compare respondents with a medicolegal matter who agreed with the statement to those without a medicolegal matter who agreed with the statement

For all these practice changes, comparisons were also done between solo and nonsolo GPs. There was one significant finding: 61% of solo compared with 72% of nonsolo GPs reported that medicolegal matter concerns had caused them to put systems in place to track test results, more than usual (χ²/(1,n=544) = 4.39, p=0.036)

complaints or inquiries) compared to nonrespondents according to UNITED data.<sup>11</sup>

#### Respondent beliefs about medicolegal issues

Table 2 sets out statements about medicolegal issues and the percentage of respondents who agreed with the statements. Table 3 reports about changes in practice behaviour due to concerns about medical negligence and complaints, comparing those with and without a history of medicolegal matters, and solo and nonsolo practitioners.

## Discussion

This sample of GPs, like other surveyed doctors, had a high level of concern about medicolegal issues, regardless of whether or not they had experienced a medicolegal matter themselves. There was near universal agreement (97%) that doctors make mistakes, yet almost two-thirds (64%) believed that the law required them to make perfect decisions. General practitioners who had experienced a medicolegal matter were significantly more likely to believe that the law required them to make perfect decisions than those who had not. However, the High Court of Australia decision in Rogers v Whitaker said: 'The law imposes on a medical practitioner a duty to exercise reasonable care and skill in the provision of professional advice and treatment'.14 The law therefore does not require perfection, just what is reasonable. Twenty-one percent of respondents believed that medical mistakes are rare. This is inconsistent with findings that 16.6% of admissions to Australian hospitals were associated with an 'adverse event' resulting in disability or longer stay.<sup>15</sup>

Some respondents believed that an apology to a patient implied an admission of liability (16%), and that patients are more likely to sue a doctor who tells them about a mistake (14%). A 1997 study of legal anxieties associated with mistakes concluded that reluctance to disclose a mistake to a patient may in part be due to the 'culture of infallibility' in which patient care errors may be viewed as character flaws.<sup>16</sup>

Ninety-three percent of respondents agreed that inadequate communication was a factor in most complaints. Interestingly, among those who had experienced a medicolegal matter, agreement with this statement was significantly lower compared with those who had not. Could the importance attributed to communication by 97% of those who had not experienced a medicolegal matter be somewhat protective for them, or do some of those who have experienced a matter feel that communication was not a relevant issue in their particular case?

Nearly half (48%) of the respondents considered retiring early because of medicolegal factors, again higher for those who had experienced a medicolegal matter. This accelerated retirement may contribute to workforce problems at a time when most medical disciplines have national shortages.

This study found a range of practice changes due to concerns

about medical negligence and complaints. However, there was little evidence of differences in these changes between GPs who had and had not experienced a medicolegal matter. The costly issue of increased test ordering by 73% of respondents was similar to the USA (79%),<sup>8</sup> the UK (50%),<sup>5</sup> and Chicago (62%).<sup>9</sup> Likewise, increased specialist referrals in 66% of our respondents is similar to the USA

Reprinted from AUSTRALIAN FAMILY PHYSICIAN Vol. 38, No. 1/2, January/February 2008 69

GPs' concerns about medicolegal issues - how it affects their practice RESEARCH

(74%)<sup>8</sup> and the UK (50%).<sup>5</sup> Our sample had a similar rate of avoiding a particular type of invasive procedure (49%) as in Canada (50%).4 Avoidance of obstetric procedures (in those where this was applicable) occurred in 49% of respondents, which has workforce implications, particularly in rural and remote areas. Unnecessary prescribing is both expensive and potentially dangerous. This occurred in 19% of our respondents, but was statistically higher for respondents who had experienced a medicolegal matter. However, this was less than in the USA, in which 41% prescribed more medication for fear of litigation.<sup>8</sup>

These practice changes, although driven by concerns about medicolegal issues, would provide better outcomes for some patients. For example, ordering of tests may prove to be appropriate medically, or specialist referral may enable better treatment in that particular context. We also found GPs made positive systemic changes due to medicolegal concerns. An increase in the communication of risk to patients in 68% was reported, compared with the Canadian study (80%)<sup>4</sup> and the UK (50%).<sup>5</sup> Systems to track test results, identify nonattenders and practice audit were all increased, and can be seen

about medicolegal matters rather than from the exercise of good clinical judgment. The consequence is that health care delivery will incur more unnecessary cost, and the increase in prescription of drugs and procedures may add additional risk to patients (although for some this may improve outcome). Empirical studies such as this highlight the need for targeted training in medicolegal aspects of medical practice so that doctors may better understand how such issues impact on their judgment and decision making.

Conflict of interest: none declared.

#### Acknowledgments

The study was funded by a research grant from Northern Sydney Health and the McGeorge Bequest (administered through University of Sydney), support from Avant (formerly UNITED), and a part time Research Fellowship from the New South Wales Institute of Psychiatry awarded to the first author.

#### References

- Nash L, Tennant C, Walton M. The psychological impact of complaints and negligence suits on doctors. Australas Psychiatry 2004;12:278-81.

as positive changes which may improve patient safety.

#### Limitations of this study

Our respondent sample represents 3% of Australian GPs (2005) workforce data)<sup>13</sup> but was similar to the 2005 workforce data in gender distribution and hours of work. Women made up 35.8% of the respondents (36.5% in the 2005 workforce data). Our respondent sample mean hours of work per week was 40.9 hours (39.9 hours per week of the 2005 workforce data).

The response rate, although similar to other studies, leaves the possibility that those who responded are in some way biased. However, this was addressed by comparing the profile of the nonresponders to the responders and there were no major differences.

Two data sets for medicolegal matters were analysed, and each had their strengths and weaknesses. Self report data was more inclusive than UNITED data, in that respondents would have included matters with other medical insurers (or no medical insurer). However, respondents may have been overinclusive in the self report data, including instances that may not have been considered to be medicolegal matters according to the UNITED criteria.

A longitudinal study is proposed to compare these baseline measures with changes over time for GPs who have a medicolegal matter. This will answer the 'chicken and egg' question of whether medicolegal matters are the cause of some of these attitudes, or are the effect of these issues.

- 2. Jain A, Ogden J. General practitioners' experience of patients' complaints: a qualitative study. BMJ 1999;318:1596-9.
- Mello M, Studdert D, Desroches C, et al. Caring for Patients in a malpractice crisis: Physician satisfaction and quality of care. Health Aff 2004;23:42-53.
- Cook R, Neff C. Attitudes of physicians in northern Ontario to medical malpractice 4. litigation. Can Fam Physician 1994;40:689-98.
- Summerton N. Positive and negative factors in defensive medicine: A question-5. naire study of general practitioners. BMJ 1995;310:27-9.
- Nash L, Curtis B, Walton M, Willcock S, Tennant C. The response of doctors to a 6. formal complaint. Australas Psychiatry 2006;14:246-50.
- Studdert D, Mello M, Sage W, et al. Defensive medicine among high-risk special-7. ist physicians in a volatile malpractice environment. JAMA 2005;293:2609-17.
- Harris Interactive. Common good: Fear of litigation study. The impact on Medicine. 8. 2002. Available at http://commongood.org/assets/attachments/57.pdf [Accessed 29 August 2008]
- Charles SC, Wilbert JR, Kennedy EC. Physician's self-reports to reactions to mal-9 practice litigation. Am J Psychiatry 1984;141:563-5.
- 10. Kessler DP, Summerton DM, Graham JR. Effects of the medical liability system in Australia, the United Kingdom and the USA. Lancet 2006;368:240-6.
- 11. Nash L, Daly M, Johnson M, et al. Psychological morbidity in Australian doctors who have and have not experienced a medico-legal matter: cross-sectional survey. Aust N Z J Psychiatry 2007;41:917-25.
- 12. Nash L, Daly M, Johnson M, et al. Personality, gender and medico-legal matters in medical practitioners. Australas Psychiatry 2008; epub doi:10.1080/10398560802085359.
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Medical abour force 2005. National 13. health labour force series no. 40. Cat. no. HWL 41. Canberra: AIHW, 2008.
- 14. Rogers v Whitaker /(1992) 175 CLR 479 at 483.
- 15. Wilson R, Runciman W, Gibberd R, Harrison B, Newby L, Hamilton J. The Quality in Australian Health Care Study. Med J Aust 1995;163:458-71.
- Kapp MB. Legal anxieties and medical mistakes. J Gen Intern Med 16. 1997;12:787-8.



## Conclusion

This study found that GPs' concerns about medicolegal matters impact on their practise of medicine. While greater awareness of medicolegal aspects of practice may lead practitioners to exercise greater care and attention in treating their patients, the negative impact of their concerns is that some changes arise from anxiety



70 Reprinted from AUSTRALIAN FAMILY PHYSICIAN Vol. 38, No. 1/2, January/February 2009

# CHAPTER 7: Personality of doctors and association with medico-legal matters

Nash L, Daly M, Johnson M, Coulston C, Tennant C, van Ekert E, Walter G, Willcock

S, Walton M. Personality, gender and medico-legal matters in medical practice.

Australasian Psychiatry. 2009;17:19-25.

many second in the star president president second contractions and the second s

Sector Street, etc.

the second s



## Personality, gender and medico-legal matters in medical practice

Louise Nash, Michele Daly, Maree Johnson, Carissa Coulston, Chris Tennant, Elizabeth van Ekert, Garry Walter, Simon Willcock and Merrilyn Walton

**Objectives:** The aim of this paper was to explore the relationship between the personality traits of Australian General Practitioners (GPs) and their gender, work practice arrangements, and history of medico-legal matters.

**Methods:** A cross-sectional self report survey was mailed to 1239 GPs. There were 566 respondents (45.7% response rate to survey). The survey assessed personality traits (using the Eysenck Personality Questionnaire), demographic and practice information, and history of medico-legal matters with any medical defence organization. The number and type of medico-legal matters was also extracted from the UNITED Medical Protection database.

#### Louise Nash

Psychiatrist, Brain Mind Research Institute, University of Sydney, Camperdown, and Greater Western Area Health Service, Dubbo, NSW, Australia.

#### **Michele Daly**

Research officer, University of Sydney, Academic General Practice Unit, Hornsby Ku-ring-gai Hospital, Hornsby, NSW, Australia.

#### Maree Johnson

Research Professor, College of Health and Science, University of Western Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia.

#### **Carissa Coulston**

Senior Research and Clinical Psychologist, Discipline of Psychological Medicine, University of Sydney, and CADE Clinic, Department of Academic Psychiatry, Royal North Shore Hospital, Sydney, NSW, Australia.

#### **Chris Tennant**

Professor of Psychiatry, University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia

#### Elizabeth van Ekert

National Manager, Risk Advisory Services, Avant, (formerly UNITED Medical Protection), Sydney, NSW, Australia.

#### **Garry Walter**

Professor of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, Discipline of Psychological Medicine, University of Sydney, and Area Clinical Director, Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services, Northern Sydney Central Coast Health, NSW, Australia.

#### Simon Willcock

Associate Professor, General Practice, University of Sydney, Academic General Practice Unit, Hornsby Ku-ring-gai Hospital, Hornsby, NSW, Australia. **Results:** Male respondents had significantly higher psychoticism scores than females (p < 0.001), and females had significantly higher neuroticism scores than males (p < 0.01), as in community samples. However, for GPs who worked more than 48 hours per week, there were no gender differences in personality trait scores. Solo practitioners and non-solo practitioners did not differ on personality scores. Proceduralists and non-proceduralists did not differ on personality scores. However, a higher proportion of proceduralists experienced a medico-legal matter than non-proceduralists (p < 0.001). There was a positive correlation between extraversion scores and doctors who attended peer review (p < 0.001). There was no difference in the numbers of medico-legal matters for doctors who attended peer review. Males who self reported a medicolegal matter had higher neuroticism scores than the males who did not report medico-legal matters. This was not the case for females. For males, this pattern was not replicated when considering data from UNITED.

**Conclusions:** The known demographic and practice factors that differ for doctors having a medico-legal matter are replicated here – being male, a proceduralist and working longer hours. There is not a consistent pattern regarding personality traits and medico-legal matters.

Key words: doctors, general practitioners, medico-legal matters, personality.

Does the personality of a doctor increase the likelihood of doctors having a complaint, law-suit or inquiry? We know that certain demographic factors and medical specialties correlate with a higher incidence of medico-legal matters, <sup>1-4</sup> with middle-aged male doctors who undertake interventional practice and work long hours having higher rates of medico-legal matters. However, the influence of personality on the incidence of medico-legal matters has not been previously explored.

February 2005

#### Merrilyn Walton

Associate Professor of Medical Education, Centre for Innovation in Professional Health Education CIPHER, University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia.

Correspondence: Dr Louise Nash, Brain Mind Research Institute, 88 Mallett St, Camperdown, NSW 2050, Australia. Email: Inash@med.usyd.edu.au There is a correlation between trait neuroticism and mental health problems in doctors,<sup>5–7</sup> including high rates of depression, suicide, and alcohol and drug abuse.<sup>5</sup> People who are stressed, depressed, alcohol dependent, dissatisfied or exhausted are less likely to provide the same

doi: 10.1080/10398560802085359 © 2009 The Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Psychiatrists



standards of care as those who are not.<sup>8</sup> Negative patient outcomes have been reported if doctors are fatigued, overworked, depressed, anxious, or using excess alcohol.<sup>9</sup> Do doctors with a high neuroticism score have increased likelihood of poor performance and associated medico-legal matters?

Results from pre-registration house officers in England<sup>10</sup> found that females scored significantly lower on the extraversion and psychoticism subscales than men, and significantly higher on the neuroticism subscale of the Eysenck Personality Questionnaire (EPQ). High neuroticism scores were linked with increased psychological morbidity.

An Australian study, also using the EPQ, followed final year postgraduate medical students through their intern year.<sup>11</sup> The only gender difference was that females had higher neuroticism scores. High neuroticism scores were linked with higher psychological morbidity. However, EPQ scores did not predict objective performance measures (Willcock S, Daly M, Tennant C, unpubl. data, 2002).

#### Sample

A total of 1499 GPs were selected from a list of all GPs who were insured in 2006 with the Australian medical defence organization, UNITED Medical Protection ('UNITED'), the largest medical insurer in Australia at that time (it merged with another company and was renamed Avant in 2007). The final sample included all GPs classified as proceduralists (n = 530), and a random selection of 970 non-procedural GPs (as defined by UNITED) from a total of 6479. All selected GPs were informed of the study by mail, and were asked to complete and return a form noting their willingness to participate in the study. Two hundred and sixty GPs (17%) declined, leaving 1239 GPs who were sent the survey, with ultimately 566 respondents (566/1499; 38% overall response rate and 45.7% survey response rate).

#### Data collection and procedures

The data came from two sources: (i) a cross sectional

A small study of doctors who had a complaint before the New South Wales Health Care Complaints Commission found that respondents scored significantly higher than the general population on the psychoticism subscale of the EPQ (p < 0.001).<sup>12</sup> Do doctors who have high psychoticism scores (representing more 'tough minded' doctors who, at the extreme, lack empathy) have more medico-legal matters than doctors who do not rate highly on this subscale?

This study aims to investigate the personality profile of Australian General Practitioners (GPs) considering gender, work practice variables (e.g. hours of work, proceduralist or not) and whether or not the respondents had experienced medico-legal matters. We hypothesized that male doctors, proceduralists and those who worked long hours would have experienced more medico-legal matters. With consideration to these variables, we then hypothesized that doctors who score significantly higher on the neuroticism or psychoticism subscales of the EPQ were more likely to have had medico-legal matters. Other aspects of this study relating to psychological morbidity of doctors who have and have not experienced a medico-legal matter have been described elsewhere.<sup>13</sup> It was anticipated that some of the findings may also be relevant for doctors working in various specialties, including psychiatry.

survey that assessed personality traits (using the EPQ), demographic and work practice information, and history of a medico-legal matter with any medical defence organization; (ii) information extracted from the UNITED Medical Protection database in which medico-legal matters were documented. Confidentiality and anonymity were maintained.

The survey was posted to GPs and included a replypaid envelope. Four weeks later, a reminder letter was issued, again requesting participation and return of the survey.

#### Measuring personality using the Eysenck Personality Questionnaire

The EPQ is a self-report questionnaire and measures three major dimensions of personality: neuroticism, psychoticism and extraversion, which represent personality traits, not psychiatric diagnoses. Neuroticism is sometimes referred to as 'emotionality' and measures emotional stability or sensitivity. Psychoticism measures 'tough-mindedness' and, at the extreme, a lack of empathy. The extraversion subscale determines if the person is outgoing and talkative. Scores of the cohort are compared with community sample scores. The EPQ-Revised Short Scale questionnaire was used.<sup>14</sup>

## Measuring medico-legal matters (self-report and UNITED data)

The following medico-legal matters were listed in the questionnaire: a claim for compensation for damages,

## METHOD

A descriptive comparative design was used. A crosssectional self report survey was administered to GPs in May 2006. complaint to a healthcare complaints body, medical board inquiry, disciplinary hearing, Health Insurance Commission (HIC) inquiry, hospital dispute, pharmaceutical services inquiry, Medicare fraud inquiry, anti-discrimination board inquiry, coronial inquiry, criminal charge and 'other'. Respondents were asked whether they had ever received assistance from any medical defence organization in any of the above medico-legal matters, and if these were 'current' or 'past' (closed). The same classification of matter was used by UNITED.

#### Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was undertaken using SPSS (SPSS Inc, Chicago, IL, USA). Pearson product-moment correlations were performed to assess bivariate associations, and differences between categorical variables were measured using  $\chi^2$  tests. Differences between two or more groups on a single variable were assessed using independent samples t-tests and one-way analysis of variance, respectively. Multivariate analysis of covariance was performed (controlling age as a covariate) to examine the main effects and interactions between hours worked per week and number of current/past medico-legal matters (according to both self-reported data and data provided by UNITED) on the three personality factors (psychoticism, extraversion, and neuroticism). The multivariate analysis of co-variances were undertaken separately for males and females. Tukey honestly significant differences (HSD) post-hoc comparisons were performed where statistical differences were found. The critical alpha ( $\alpha$ ) level was set at 0.05 for statistical significance.

#### Type of medico-legal matter

Table 1 describes the type of medico-legal matter according to UNITED data.

There were no significant differences in the proportion of respondents and non-respondents experiencing the key medico-legal events of claims, complaints or inquiries (p > 0.05).

## Personality differences considering gender and practice variables

#### Gender

Males had significantly higher psychoticism scores (mean = 2.42, SD = 1.48) than females (mean = 1.81, SD = 1.30) ( $t_{(546)}$  = 4.84, p < 0.001), and females had significantly higher neuroticism scores (mean = 4.40, SD = 3.11) than males (mean = 3.64, SD = 3.20) ( $t_{(546)}$  = 2.68 p < 0.01).

#### Hours of work

Doctors' responses were considered as a group, and then comparisons were made between genders, hours of work groups, peer review attendance or not, solo and non-solo, and those who had experienced a medico-legal matter and those who had not.

#### **Ethical considerations**

Approval was granted through the Northern Sydney Central Coast Area Health Service and the University of Sydney Ethics Committees, and the UNITED Board. Anonymity and confidentiality of UNITED membership and data were protected at all times, as were survey responses. The survey contained a covering letter detailing that de-identified data relating to medico-legal matters held by UNITED would be issued to the study team if the survey data was returned. The study was funded from a Northern Sydney Health research grant and the McGeorge Bequest through University of Sydney.

#### RESULTS

Respondent demographic and practice characteristics and experience of medico-legal Due to the gender differences in hours worked, this personality comparison was done for males and females (Table 2). Hours of work was divided into three groups: part-time work of less than 36 hours, fulltime work of between 36 and 48 hours, and an 'overtime' group of more than 48 hours per week. (These

Table 1: Medico-legal history of the r	respondents
Self-reported medico-legal experiences of GPs (n = 559)	No. (%)
Medico-legal assistance received	329 (59%)
Respondents with a current medico-legal matter	71 (13%)
Respondents with a past medico-legal matter	295 (53%)
GPs who experienced one or more of the following medico-legal matters with	250 (44%)
UNITED (UNITED data, $n = 565$ )	
Civil claims	145 (25.7%)
Unlitigated claims	36 (6.4%)
Complaints	87 (15.4%)
Medical Board inquiry	32 (5.7%)
HIC claims	16 (2.8%)
Coroners inquiry	15 (2.7%)

Note: A medico-legal matter included the following: civil claim, unlitigated claim, complaint, medical board inquiry, HIC inquiry,

February 2009

#### matters

There were 566 respondents. The mean age was 53 years (SD = 9.7), and 65% were male. Proceduralist GPs accounted for 32% of respondents. Peer review was attended by 42%, with a mean of eight sessions per year (SD = 9.6). Mean hours per week worked was 40.9 hours (SD = 15.1).

disciplinary hearing, hospital dispute, pharmaceutical services inquiry, Medicare fraud inquiry, antidiscrimination inquiry, coroners inquiry, and criminal charge. Fifty-nine percent of respondents had sought medicolegal assistance for one of the above medico-legal matters, and this also included matters with other insurance groups; some respondents may have included matters that may not have been considered by UNITED as a matter.





			Male			Female	
Hours worked	EPQ Subscales	n Mean		SD	п	Mean	SD
Part-time (<36 hours /week)	Psychotism	61	2.41	1.66	119	1.78**	1.17
	Extraversion	59	4.25	3.00	115	6.03***	3.36
	Neuroticism	61	3.89	3.60	118	4.47	3.00
Full-time (36–48 hours/week)	Psychotism	128	2.51	1.45	45	1.76***	1.32
	Extraversion	126	6.17	3.62	46	7.04	3.51
	Neuroticism	129	3.57	3.36	44	4.00	3.00
Over-time (>48 hours/week)	Psychotism	154	2.38	1.46	22	2.36	1.84
	Extraversion	152	5.79	3.45	22	6.05	3.42
	Neuroticism	154	3.62	2.90	21	4.24	3.75

hours of work were chosen for two reasons: they are logical from an hours of work point of view, and they also divided roughly into thirds for comparisons.) The data were analysed further according to self-report data and data provided by UNITED.

#### Peer review

There was no difference in numbers of medico-legal matters for doctors who attended peer review (p > 0.05). However, there was a positive correlation between extraversion scores and doctors who attended peer review (r = 0.17, p < 0.001).

#### **Procedural practice**

A higher proportion of proceduralists experienced a medico-legal matter (69.3%) than non-proceduralists (53.9%) ( $\chi^2 = 11.78$ , df = 1, p < 0.001). However, proceduralists and non-proceduralists did not differ on personality scores (p > 0.05).

#### Solo practice

Solo practitioners and non-solo practitioners did not differ on personality scores (p > 0.05).

#### Male and female GPs' experience of medico-legal matters and Eysenck Personality Questionnaire considering age and hours worked per week

A significantly higher proportion of males (65.7%) than females (46.5%) reported experiencing a medicolegal matter ( $\chi^2 = 19.44$ , df = 1, p < 0.001). Due to other A 3 (hours worked per week: >48 hours/week, 36–48 hours/week, <36 hours/week)  $\times$  3 (medico-legal matters: zero, one, two or more) between-subjects multivariate analysis of covariance was performed on the psychoticism, extraversion and neuroticism factors.

Age was entered as a covariate because there was a significant difference between the three groups of hours worked per week ( $F_{2,544} = 5.72$ , p = 0.003). Also, respondents who had experienced a medico-legal matter were significantly older (mean = 53.96 years, SD = 9.25) than those who had never experienced a medico-legal matter (mean = 51.26 years, SD = 9.84) ( $t_{(549)} = 3.28$ , p < 0.001).

#### Males: Self-report data

Of the male respondents, 107 reported no history of a medico-legal matter, 105 reported one matter, and 106 reported two or more matters.

After analysis with Wilks' criterion, there was a significant main effect for hours worked per week on the combined personality factors (Wilks'  $\lambda = 0.95$ ;  $F_{6,612} = 2.73$ , p = 0.013), but not the number of medico-legal matters (p > 0.05). There was also a significant interaction between hours worked per week and number of current/past medico-legal matters on the combined personality factors (Wilks'  $\lambda = 0.92$ ;  $F_{12,810} = 2.06$ , p = 0.017).

gender differences previously reported in this paper with respect to hours worked per week and personality scores, the data for males and females were analysed separately.

GP experience of medico-legal matters was categorically divided into three groups: GPs with no medicolegal matters, one matter, and two or more matters. On inspection of individual personality factors, there was a main effect for hours worked per week on the extraversion factor ( $F_{2,308} = 8.30$ , p = 0.0003). Tukey's HSD post-hoc comparisons showed that those who worked less than 36 hours per week had significantly lower scores (mean = 4.07, SD = 2.99) than those who worked 36–48 hours per week (mean = 6.11, SD = 3.64)

(p = 0.001), and those who worked more than 48 hours per week (mean = 5.79, SD = 3.41) (p = 0.004).

There was also a main effect for number of medicolegal matters on the neuroticism factor ( $F_{2,308} = 5.31$ , p = 0.005). Tukey HSD post-hoc comparisons showed that those who had no medico-legal matters had lower neuroticism scores (mean = 2.95, SD = 2.96) than those who had one medico-legal matter (mean = 4.17, SD = 3.30) (p = 0.014) and those who had two or more medico-legal matters (mean = 3.98, SD = 3.33) (p = 0.038).

#### Males: UNITED data

According to UNITED data, the breakdown of medicolegal matters produced different sample sizes in which 157 respondents had no recorded medico-legal matter, 80 had one matter, and 91 had two or more matters.

The only significant finding was a main effect for hours worked per week on the extraversion factor  $(F_{2,318} = 5.89, p = 0.003)$ . Tukey HSD post-hoc comparisons showed that those who worked less than 36 hours per week had significantly lower scores (mean = 4.14, SD = 2.98) than those who worked 36–48 hours per week (mean = 6.15, SD = 3.63) (p = 0.001) and those who worked more than 48 hours per week (mean = 5.78, SD = 3.47) (p = 0.006). On inspection of each single personality factor, there was a main effect for hours worked per week on the psychoticism factor ( $F_{2,161} = 3.39$ , p = 0.036). Females who worked less than 36 hours per week had lower psychoticism scores (mean = 1.77, SD = 1.17) than those who worked 36–48 hours per week (mean = 1.78, SD = 1.35) and those who worked more than 48 hours per week (mean = 2.47, SD = 1.84).

## DISCUSSION

Female and male respondents demonstrate a different personality profile which resembles community norms where there are higher neuroticism scores in females and higher psychoticism scores in males.

Male respondents also exhibit different personality traits according to hours of work, in which those working part-time are more introverted than males working full-time or greater. Perhaps the introverted males, who are less outgoing and talkative, are more comfortable with fewer hours of face-to-face interaction, while females who work part-time may be doing so for more pragmatic reasons (e.g. parenting). On the other hand, females who work more than 48 hours per week demonstrate no differences in personality traits compared to males working the same amount of hours.

#### Females: Self report data

Of the female respondents, 90 reported no history of medico-legal matters, 53 reported one matter and 27 reported two or more matters.

Using Wilks' criterion, there was a significant main effect for hours worked per week on the combined personality factors (Wilks'  $\lambda = 0.92$ ;  $F_{6,316} = 2.15$ , p < 0.05), but not the number of medico-legal matters (p > 0.05).

On inspection of each single personality factor, there was a main effect for hours worked per week on the extraversion factor ( $F_{2,160} = 3.19$ , p = 0.044). Females who worked less than 36 hours per week had lower scores (mean = 6.05, SD = 3.39) than those who worked 36–48 hours per week (mean = 7.27, SD = 3.24), and those who worked more than 48 hours per week (mean = 6.14, SD = 3.47).

#### Females: UNITED data

According to UNITED data, the breakdown of medicolegal matters produced different sample sizes, in which 121 respondents had no recorded medico-legal matter, 34 had one matter and 16 had two or more matters. Gender personality differences and variance in hours worked per week make it difficult to postulate how personality factors are related to doctors who have and have not experienced medico-legal matters. However, the results of our study showed that male doctors who self-reported a medico-legal matter had higher neuroticism scores on the EPQ. Is this a chicken-and-egg phenomenon in which those with higher neuroticism traits could have a greater chance of incurring medicolegal matters, due to the links between high neuroticism traits and depression, anxiety, alcohol use and subsequent deterioration in work performance? Our findings from the psychological morbidity component of this study showed that those who had a current medico-legal matter had an increase in psychiatric morbidity and, in males, potentially hazardous alcohol use.13

However, this finding of males with medico-legal matters having higher neuroticism scores was not replicated when we analysed the data provided by UNITED. This discrepancy could be explained by overreporting of medico-legal matters by doctors who have higher neurotic tendencies, or could be accounted for by other matters experienced prior to membership with UNITED.

February 2009

Using Wilks' criterion, there was a significant main effect for the number of medicolegal matters (Wilks'  $\lambda = 0.91$ ; F<sub>6,318</sub> = 2.45, p = 0.025), but not hours worked per week (p > 0.05).

We had also hypothesized that doctors with high psychoticism scores (representing tough mindedness, and at the extreme a lack of empathy), would have had more medico-legal matters, but our results did not support this hypothesis. Perhaps a degree of 'tough mindedness' is not a negative trait in the practice of medicine.





#### Limitations

Our sample of 566 respondents represents three percent of Australian GPs (2003 workforce data).<sup>15</sup> When the sample was further divided by gender, medicolegal matters and hours of work, the small numbers of females may have limited our interpretation of the findings.

In addition, although the response rate in our study (45.7% to the survey) is comparable to other studies in this area, there is the possibility that those who chose to respond are in some way biased.

Finally, two data sets for medico-legal matters were analysed, and each had their strengths and weaknesses. Self-report data may have been more inclusive than UNITED data, in that respondents would have included matters with other medical insurers (or indeed no other medical insurers). However, relying on respondents to classify the type of medico-legal matter was difficult. At times, matters were included in self-report data which may not have been considered to be a medico-legal matter according to the UNITED criteria, and thus the self-report data may have been over inclusive. Further exploration of this found that those respondents who reported a medico-legal matter (with any medical defence organization), but did not have a matter recorded with UNITED, had significantly higher neuroticism scores. The next phase of this study will explore the legal processes in more detail.

interesting finding of this study. Among other implications of this study for psychiatrists, psychiatrists need to remain mindful of their own health and the needs of their colleagues who they may work with, or see as patients, considering that those with high neuroticism traits appear to be more vulnerable to stressors of practice and daily life. When treating, advising or teaching our doctor/student colleagues, reducing hours of work in times of stress is important to keep in mind.

#### REFERENCES

- Cunningham W, Crump R, Tomlin A. The characteristics of doctors receiving medical complaints: a cross-sectional survey of doctors. *New Zealand Medical Journal* 2003; 116 (1183): U625.
- Mello M, Studdert D, Cesroches C et al. Caring for patients in a malpractice crisis: Physician satisfaction and quality of care. Health Aff 2004; 23: 42–53.
- Aasland A, Forde R. Impact of feeling responsible for adverse events on doctors' personal and professional lives: the importance of being open to criticism from colleagues. *Qual Saf Health Care* 2005; 124: 13–17.

#### Conclusions

The known demographic and practice variables that increase the likelihood of having a medico-legal matter were replicated here i.e. being older, working longer hours (more years and hours of practice), being male and a proceduralist. Our hypothesis of increased number of medico-legal matters for doctors with high psychoticism scores was not supported. In relation to neuroticism, there was an inconsistent pattern regarding an increase in medico-legal matters in that there was a higher self-reported number of matters in male doctors, but not so on UNITED data and not so in females. Neuroticism is the personality trait that is known to make a person more vulnerable to psychological morbidity, and this is supported in the literature regarding doctors' health. Our hypothesis of increased medico-legal matters in doctors with high neuroticism scores was inconclusive but reduced work hours by male GPs with high neuroticism scores is an

- Hickson G, Federspiel C, Pichert J, Miller C, Gauld-Jaeger J, Preston B. Patient complaints and malpractice risk. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 2002; 287: 2951–2956.
- Johnson W. Predisposition to emotional distress and psychiatric illness amongst doctors: The role of unconscious and experiential factors. British Journal of Medical Psychology 1991; 64: 317–329.
- Tyssen R, Vaglum P. Mental health problems among young doctors: an updated review of prospective studies. *Harvard Rev Psychiatry* 2002; 10: 154–165.
- Clark DC, Salazar-Gruesco E, Grabler P, Fawcett J. Predictors of depression during the first 6 months of internship. *American Journal of Psychiatry* 1984; 141: 1095–1098.
- Firth-Cozens J, Cording H, Ginsburg R. Can we select health professionals who provide safer care. Quality and Safety in Health Care 2003; 12: i16.
- Firth-Cozens J, Greenhalgh J. Doctors' perceptions of the links between stress and lowered clinical care. Soc Ci Med 1997; 44: 1017–1022.
- Newbury-Birch D, Kamli F. Psychological stress, anxiety, depression, job satisfaction, and personality characteristics in preregistration house officers. *Postgraduate Medical Journal* 2001; 77: 109–111.
- Willcock S, Daly M, Tennant C, Allard B. Burnout and pyschiatric morbidity in new medical graduates. *Medical Journal of Australia* 2004; 181: 357–360.
- Nash L, Curtis B, Walton M, Willcock S, Tennant C. The response of doctors to a formal complaint. *Australas Psychiatry* 2006; 14: 246–250.
- Nash L, Daly M, Johnson M et al. Psychological morbidity in Australian doctors who have and have not experienced a medico-legal matter: a cross sectional survey. Australian New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry 2007; 41: 917–925.
- Eysenck HJ, Eysenck SBG. Manual of the Eysenck Personality Scales (EPS Adult). London: Hodder and Stoughton, 1996.
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Medical Labour Force 2003. AlHW cat. No. HWL 32. Canberra: AlHW (National Health Labour Force Series No. 32), 2005.



## **CHAPTER 8: Australian doctors involvement in medico-legal matters**

Nash L, Kelly P, Daly M, Walter G, van Ekert E, Walton M, Willcock S, Tennant C. Australian doctors' involvement in medico-legal matters: a cross-sectional selfreport study. Medical Journal of Australia.2009;191:436-440.



#### Australian doctors' involvement in medicolegal matters: a cross-sectional self-report study

Louise M Nash, Patrick J Kelly, Michele G Daly, Garry Walter, Elizabeth H van Ekert, Merrilyn Walton, Simon M Willcock and Christopher C Tennant

The frequency of doctors' involvement with medicolegal matters has been shown to vary with sex, age, specialty, hours worked and country of practice.<sup>1-6</sup> Doctors who are male,<sup>1-3,5,6</sup> work in highintervention specialties<sup>1,4-6</sup> and work long hours<sup>1,6</sup> are more likely to be the subject of a medicolegal matter. Some studies,<sup>1,3</sup> but not all,<sup>6</sup> have found that older doctors are more likely to have been involved in a medicolegal matter. The finding that 86% of interventional specialist doctors in the United States have been named in a malpractice suit at least once illustrates the extreme in medicolegal action.<sup>4</sup>

Medicolegal matters can place a great deal of stress on doctors. An Australian study of general practitioners found that psychiatric morbidity and hazardous alcohol consumption were higher in doctors who were currently involved in a medicolegal matter than in those who were not.<sup>1</sup> Another study of Australian GPs revealed that the threat of litigation was perceived as the most severe work-related stress.<sup>7</sup> However, as a group, doctors overestimate the likelihood of being sued,<sup>8,9</sup> and the majority of patients entitled to make a formal complaint or claim for compensation do not.<sup>10,11</sup>

We present some of the key findings of a large cross-sectional study to investigate the frequency of, and factors associated with, Australian doctors' involvement in medicolegal matters.

#### METHODS

#### Data collection

In September 2007, a cross-sectional selfreport survey was administered to a sample of doctors who had been insured with UNITED Medical Protection before it merged with another company in July 2007 to become Avant, Australia's largest medical insurance company. This was part of a collaborative research project between the University of Sydney and Avant.

All obstetricians, gynaecologists, physicians, surgeons, anaesthetists, psychiatrists, pathologists, radiologists, paediatricians, accident and emergency specialists, general practice registrars, other registrars and specialists-in-training insured with UNITED

#### ABSTRACT

**Objective:** To investigate the frequency of, and factors associated with, Australian doctors' involvement in medicolegal matters.

**Design, setting and participants:** Cross-sectional survey of Australian doctors (specialists, trainees and general practitioners) insured with the medical insurance company Avant. A self-report questionnaire was mailed to Avant members in September 2007 to gather data on their involvement in medicolegal matters. Information on psychiatric morbidity and alcohol consumption was also collected using the General Health Questionnaire and the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test.

Main outcome measures: Occurrence and type of past and current medicolegal matters with which doctors have been involved.

**Results:** Of 8500 doctors invited to participate, 2999 returned completed surveys (36% response rate). Sixty-five per cent of respondents had been involved in a medicolegal matter at some time, and 14% were involved in a current matter. The two most common types of medicolegal matter were claims for compensation and complaints to a health care complaints body. Doctors were more likely to be involved in medicolegal matters if they were male, worked in high-intervention areas of medicine (surgery and obstretics/ gynaecology), and worked longer hours.

**Conclusion:** Our study concurs with other studies in finding an association between medicolegal matters and being male, working long hours and working in high-intervention areas of medicine. Unlike other studies, we found no association between age and involvement in a current medicolegal matter. Our findings also pose the question of whether psychiatric morbidity in doctors is a cause or effect of the medicolegal process.

#### MJA 2009; 191: 436-440

Medical Protection were invited to participate in the study, as was a sample of GP nonproceduralists. GP proceduralists were not included, as they had taken part in a GP pilot study the previous year, the findings of which have been reported elsewhere.<sup>1,12,13</sup>

Avant posted out the surveys together with reply-paid return envelopes. Four weeks after the mail-out, a reminder letter and repeat questionnaire were sent to nonrespondents. The questionnaire data were merged with Avant data on doctor specialty and de-identified. Avant was able to compare respondents and non-respondents with respect to age, sex, specialty and type of medicolegal matter.

#### Questionnaire items

"Medicolegal matter" was defined as a claim for compensation for damages, a complaint to a health care complaints body, a medical board inquiry, a disciplinary hearing, a Health Insurance Commission inquiry, a hospital dispute, a hospital investigation, a pharmaceutical services inquiry, a complaint before an anti-discrimination board, a coronial inquiry, a criminal charge, or a patient complaint made directly to the doctor. Respondents were asked whether they had ever been involved in a medicolegal matter, and if so, how many, what type and whether these were current or past matters.

Demographic details were collected, including age, sex, country in which medical degree was obtained, marital status, type of practice, hours worked per week, weeks worked per year, time since taking a holiday, attendance at peer review meetings (defined as "formal meetings with peers to discuss patient care whereby collegial support and exploration of difficult issues would be anticipated"), attendance at formal education events (eg, conferences), and fulfilment of continuing medical education (CME) requirements.

Information on psychiatric morbidity and alcohol consumption was also collected. Psychiatric morbidity was assessed using the 28-item General Health Questionnaire

			Number	Number (%)
Medical specialty	UNITED* population	Sample size	of surveys sent	of surveys completed <sup>†</sup>
GP — non-proceduralist	8216 (7275) <sup>‡</sup>	1865	1833	596 (33%)
Obstetrician/gynaecologist	269	269	266	182 (68%)
Surgeon	1027	1027	1000	363 (36%)
Anaesthetist	813	813	802	354 (44%)
Psychiatrist	586	586	575	232 (40%)
Pathologist	292	292	290	89 (31%)
Radiologist	478	478	466	107 (23%)
Physician	1414	1414	1389	487 (35%)
Accident and emergency specialist	150	150	149	63 (42%)
Paediatrician	295	295	293	144 (49%)
Hospital registrar	524	524	520	146 (28%)

(GHQ),<sup>14</sup> a validated and sensitive screening tool used to detect common non-psychotic psychiatric morbidity over the 2 weeks preceding assessment. The 28-item version of the GHQ has four subscales: somatic symptoms, anxiety and insomnia, social dysfunction and depression. When this version of the GHQ is used as a screening instrument, the recommended case identification (cutoff) score for risk of psychiatric morbidity is a combined score >4 using the binary scoring system (with the two least symptomatic answers scoring 0 and the two most symptomatic answers scoring 1) for each of the 28 questions (eg, "Have you lost much sleep over worry?": not at all [0], no more than usual [0], rather more than usual [1], or much more than usual [1]).

Alcohol use was assessed using the World Health Organization's Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT)<sup>15</sup> for detecting hazardous and harmful drinking. Each of the 10 AUDIT questions is scored from 0 to 4, with subjects who score a total of 8 or more being classified as potentially hazardous drinkers.

Total		8500	8360	2997 <sup>§</sup> (36%)	
Other	407	407	402	126 (31%)	
Specialist-in-training	148	148	146	50 (34%)	
General practice registrar	232	232	229	58 (25%)	

GP = general practitioner. \* UNITED Medical Protection (became Avant after merging with another company in July 2007). † Response rate: number of surveys completed divided by number of surveys sent, expressed as a percentage. ‡A random sample of non-proceduralist GPs was drawn from 7275. Of 8216 GPs insured with UNITED Medical Protection, 941 had been surveyed in the previous GP study<sup>1,12,13</sup> and thus were not included in our study. § Although the total number of respondents was 2999, two had deleted their identification number from the survey, and thus their specialties were unknown.

#### Statistical analysis

Data were analysed using SAS software, version 9.1 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC, USA). Pearson's  $\chi^2$  test was used to test for associ-

2 Proportion of doctors ever involved in a	medicolegal r	natter	, by n	nedic	al spec	cialty and ty	pe of	mec	licole	gal ma	tter*
	an/ gist	st	Ŧ	+		pu	an	gistrar	actice	ć	

Type of medicolegal matter	General practitione	Obstetricia gynaecolog	Surgeon	Anaestheti	Psychiatrist	Pathologist	Radiologist	Physician	Accident ar emergency specialist	Paediatricia	Hospital re	General pri registrar	Specialist-in training	Other	Overall
N (denominator)	582	181	360	347	227	86	105	472	62	140	146	58	49	127	2942
Any medicolegal matter (n = 1902)	58	91	86	66	64	52	61	65	68	58	40	26	45	58	65
Claim for compensation ( $n = 924$ )	21	75	61	34	8	25	34	28	21	20	10	2	14	21	31
Complaint to health care complaints body ( $n = 895$ )	28	52	51	22	36	10	22	33	17	21	10	2	10	28	30
Patient complaint direct to doctor ( $n = 538$ )	18	23	22	19	16	13	14	17	30	19	9	14	20	18	18
Coronial inquiry (n = 280)	5	9	7	12	19	8	7	9	14	15	9	7	10	5	10
Hospital investigation ( $n = 195$ )	3	10	7	6	9	2	9	5	14	6	11	7	16	3	7
Medical board inquiry ( $n = 169$ )	8	8	8	5	7	4	3	3	5	8	3	3	4	8	6
Hospital dispute (n = 146)	1	7	7	4	4	6	5	7	13	8	3	0	6	1	5
Health Insurance Commission inquiry ( $n = 113$ )	7	2	4	1	7	1	12	3	0	1	1	0	0	7	4
Disciplinary hearing $(n = 51)$	3	2	1	1	5	2	1	1	0	0	1	0	4	3	2
Complaint to anti-discrimination board ( $n = 21$ )	0	1	1	0	1	4	0	1	6	0	0	0	0	0	1
Pharmaceutical services inquiry ( $n = 18$ )	1	0	1	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	1	1
Criminal charge $(n = 7)$	0	1	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	< 1
* All figures except those in the N (denominator) row are p	percent	ages.	- 1												•

MJA • Volume 191 Number 8 • 19 October 2009

437

ation between involvement in a current medicolegal matter and individual categorical variables. Multivariate logistic regression analysis was also conducted on the outcome of being involved in a current medicolegal matter. Variables included were age, sex, specialty, and any other variable with a *P* value <0.25 in the univariate analysis. The fit of the model was checked using the Hosmer–Lemeshow goodness-of-fit test.<sup>16</sup>

#### **Ethical considerations**

Our study was approved by the human research ethics committees of Northern Sydney Central Coast Health and the University of Sydney, and the board of UNITED Medical Protection. Processes were established to ensure informed consent and to maintain anonymity and confidentiality at all times.

#### RESULTS

Of 8500 doctors invited to participate, 140 declined. Of the 8360 doctors to whom surveys were sent, 40 returned them unopened, 18 asked not to be included, seven indicated that they had retired, and four had died. The number of doctors in each specialty group and the response rate for each group are shown in Box 1. Completed surveys were returned by 2999 doctors (36% response rate).

Seventy-one per cent of respondents were male, and 85% were married or in a de facto relationship. Eighty-four per cent had obtained their medical degree in Australia, 6% in the United Kingdom or Ireland, and 3% in India or Sri Lanka. The respondents came from all states and territories of Australia, with the majority being from New South Wales (58%) and Queensland (27%). The mean number of hours worked per week was 44.8 (SD, 15.1), with male doctors working longer hours on average than female doctors (males, 48.0 hours [SD, 14.2 hours]; females, 37.1 hours [SD, 14.3 hours]; mean difference, 10.9 hours [95% Cl, 9.7-12.0 hours]; P<0.001). The mean number of weeks worked per year was 46.0 (SD, 6.0). Thirteen per cent of the cohort had not taken a holiday in the previous year. The mean number of hours of attendance at formal education programs (such as conferences) in the previous year for the total cohort was 53.3 (SD, 40.0). Peer review was attended by 70% of respondents (range, 36% [GPs] to 97% [psychiatrists]), with a mean of 12.3 sessions per year (SD, 13.9). Ninety-six per cent of the cohort were meeting their CME requirements.

#### 3 Univariate and multivariate\* analyses of factors associated with being involved in a current medicolegal matter

	Involved i medicoleg	n current jal matter			
Variable <sup>†</sup>	No (%)	Yes (%)	Р‡	AOR (95% CI)§	P <sup>§</sup>
Medical specialty			< 0.001		< 0.001
General practitioner (n = 582)	536 (92)	46 (9)		1.00	
Obstetrician/gynaecologist ( $n = 181$ )	120 (66)	61 (34)		6.66 (3.98–11.15)	
Surgeon (n = 360)	274 (76)	86 (24)		3.11 (1.95–4.97)	
Anaesthetist (n = 347)	315 (91)	32 (9)		1.06 (0.64–1.76)	
Psychiatrist (n = 227)	198 (87)	29 (13)		1.71 (0.99–2.96)	
Pathologist (n = 86)	72 (84)	14 (16)		1.94 (0.95–3.98)	
Radiologist (n = 105)	93 (89)	12 (11)		1.22 (0.59–2.52)	
Physician (n = 472)	406 (86)	66 (14)		1.52 (0.97–2.39)	
Accident and emergency specialist (n = 62)	57 (92)	5 (8)		0.66 (0.21–1.89)	
Paediatrician (n = 140)	119 (85)	21 (15)		1.92 (1.06–3.47)	
Hospital registrar (n = 146)	128 (88)	18 (12)		1.34 (0.69–2.60)	
General practice registrar ( $n = 58$ )	52 (90)	6 (10)		1.39 (0.54–3.58)	
Specialist-in-training ( <i>n</i> = 49)	41 (84)	8 (16)		1.77 (0.70-4.47)	
Other (n = 127)	105 (82)	22 (17)		2.25 (1.24–4.10)	
Sex			< 0.001		0.005
Female (n = 855)	771 (90)	84 (10)		1.00	
Male (n = 2087)	1745 (84)	342 (16)		1.56 (1.14–2.14)	
Age group (years)			0.44		0.72
< 40 (n = 481)	419 (87)	62 (13)		1.00	
40–49 ( <i>n</i> = 868)	747 (86)	121 (14)		0.84 (0.57–1.24)	
50-59 (n = 911)	766 (84)	145 (16)		0.97 (0.66–1.44)	
≥ 60 ( <i>n</i> = 682)	584 (86)	98 (14)		0.90 (0.58–1.38)	
Marital status			0.004		0.005
Single (n = 230)	210 (91)	20 (9)		1.00	
Partnered ( $n = 2506$ )	2136 (85)	370 (15)		1.83 (1.103.05)	
Divorced/separated ( $n = 150$ )	119 (80)	31 (20)		3.15 (1.62–6.11)	
Widowed ( $n = 38$ )	36 (95)	2 (5)		0.75 (0.60–3.53)	
			Ta	able continues nex	t page

AOR = adjusted odds ratio.\* Hosmer-Lemeshow goodness-of-fit test, P = 0.77. † Data were missing in some categories. ‡ Univariate analysis. § Multivariate analysis.

#### Respondents versus non-respondents

There were minor differences between respondents and non-respondents in age (51.7 v 50.3 years) and sex (71% v 74% male) (P < 0.05). Based on data from the Avant database, respondents were slightly more likely than non-respondents to have been involved in claims for compensation (28.0% v 23.0%), complaints to a health care complaints body (20.6% v 17.1%) and coronial inquiries (4.7% v 3.3%) (P < 0.05 for all three comparisons). There was no difference between respondents and non-respondents with respect to involvement in

the other nine categories of medicolegal matter (P > 0.05).

#### Medicolegal matters

Sixty-five per cent of respondents had been involved in medicolegal matters and 14% were involved in a current matter. The frequency of occurrence of the different types of medicolegal matters are summarised in Box 2. The most common were claims for compensation and complaints to a health care complaints body, and the least common were criminal charges, pharmaceutical services inquiries, anti-discrimination board

3 (continued from previous p	bage)				
	Involved i medicoleg	n current jal matter			
Variable <sup>†</sup>	No (%)	Yes (%)	P <sup>‡</sup>	AOR (95% CI)§	P§
Country in which medical degree	obtained		0.027		0.08
Australia (n = 2463)	2090 (85)	373 (15)		1.00	
Overseas ( $n = 472$ )	419 (89)	53 (11)		0.74 (0.53–1.03)	
Solo practice			0.026		0.07
No (n = 2034)	1758 (86)	276 (14)		1.00	
Yes (n = 898)	748 (83)	150 (17)		0.78 (0.59–1.02)	
Hours worked per week			< 0.001		0.04
< 40 (n = 811)	742 (91)	69 (9)		1.00	
40–49 ( <i>n</i> = 753)	646 (86)	107 (14)		1.45 (1.01–2.06)	
50-59 (n = 746)	608 (82)	138 (19)		1.69 (1.18-2.42)	
≥ 60 (n = 597)	490 (82)	107 (18)		1.37 (0.93-2.01)	
Peer review in past 12 months			< 0.001		0.86
No (n = 874)	777 (89)	97 (11)		1.00	
Yes (n = 2045)	1720 (84)	325 (16)		0.98 (0.73-1.30)	
CME requirements <sup>1</sup>			0.89		
Not met (n = 113)	96 (85)	17 (15)			
Met (n = 2620)	2238 (85)	382 (15)			
Teaching role			< 0.001		0.07
No (n = 1001)	901 (89)	100 (11)		1.00	
Yes (n = 1925)	1609 (84)	316 (16)		1.29 (0.98-1.69)	
AUDIT score ≥ 8			< 0.001		0.05
No (n = 2491)	2156 (87)	335 (13)		1.00	
Yes $(n = 430)$	344 (80)	86 (20)		1.33 (1.00-1.77)	
GHQ score > 4			< 0.001		< 0.001
No (n = 2098)	1840 (88)	258 (12)		1.00	
Yes (n = 801)	638 (80)	163 (20)		1.98 (1.56-2.50)	
Total (n = 2942)	2516 (86)	426 (14)			

#### DISCUSSION

Our investigation is the largest study of its kind to examine factors associated with doctors' involvement in medicolegal matters.<sup>1,3,4,6</sup> Our findings were similar to those of the GP pilot study,<sup>1,12,13</sup> and concur with other studies showing that doctors who are male, work in high-intervention areas of medicine, and work longer hours are more likely to be involved in a medicolegal matter.<sup>1-4,6</sup>

Our large sample size and questionnaire design enabled us to investigate factors associated with both current and past medicolegal matters. Like other studies that have investigated factors associated with ever being involved in a medicolegal matter, we found that age is a factor (analyses not shown here). Clearly, the longer someone practises medicine, the more likely it is that he or she will eventually be involved in a medicolegal matter. However, unlike other studies, our survey showed that there was no association between a doctor's age and being involved in a current medicolegal matter. Additionally, we were able to further explore the difference between the sexes. Are males inherently more likely to be involved in a medicolegal matter, or is it simply that males tend to work in high-risk specialties and work longer hours (along with other possible confounding factors)? Our logistic regression analysis showed that there does appear to be a difference between male and female doctors, even after adjusting for other factors, with males being 1.56 (95% C1, 1.14–2.14) times more likely to be involved in a current medicolegal matter. Strengths of our study were the size and representativeness of the sample. Respondents reflected a broad cross-section of the Australian medical workforce - in particular, medical specialist groups. Comparing our figures with data reported in the 2005 Australian medical workforce survey,17 we estimate that our sample of 2999 doctors represents 5% of the Australian medical workforce and about 10% of specialty groups (range, 9% [physicians] to 12% [anaesthetists]). The mean number of hours worked per week by doctors in our sample (44.8 overall; 48.0 for males and 37.1 for females) was similar to the mean number reported in the 2005 workforce survey (43.7 overall; 46.7 for males and 37.6 for females). However, the mean age of doctors in our sample (51.7 years overall; 53.6 years for males and 46.9 years for females) was higher than the mean age in the 2005 survey (45.1 years overall; 47.3 years for males and 40.6

AOR = adjusted odds ratio. AUDIT = Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test. CME = continuing medical education. GHQ = General Health Questionnaire. \* Hosmer–Lemeshow goodness-of-fit test, P=0.77. † Data were missing in some categories. ‡ Univariate analysis. § Multivariate analysis. ¶ This variable was not included in the multivariate logistic regression analysis.

complaints and disciplinary hearings. The proportions of respondents who had been involved in one or more matters were as follows: one matter (22%), two matters (16%), three matters (9%), four matters (6%), five matters (4%), and six or more risk of involvement in medicolegal matters were being male, being partnered or divorced/separated (rather than single), working longer hours, and having a GHQ score >4. Factors that were significant in the univariate analysis but not in the multivariate model were the country in which the doctor's medical degree was obtained, attendance at peer review meetings, having a teaching role, type of practice (solo or nonsolo) and AUDIT score. Age group and meeting CME requirements were not associated with involvement in a current medicolegal matter.

#### matters (7%).

Results of univariate and multivariate analyses of factors associated with involvement in a current medicolegal matter are shown in Box 3. Obstetricians/gynaecologists and surgeons had the highest risk of being involved in a current medicolegal matter. Other factors associated with higher

#### MJA • Volume 191 Number 8 • 19 October 2009

439

years for females), owing to the exclusion of most junior doctors from our sample.

A limitation of our study was the low response rate. However, survey research challenges the idea that a high response rate (>60%) is necessary.<sup>18,19</sup> We were able to compare respondents and non-respondents with respect to age, sex and type of medicolegal matter. Although there were statistically significant differences in age and sex. the differences were very small. Respondents were more likely than non-respondents to have been the subject of claims for compensation, health care complaints and coronial inquiries, but again, these differences were small. Our results may have slightly overestimated the occurrence of medicolegal matters.

To further examine the non-response issue, we conducted a sensitivity analysis by weighting the results according to the response rate of each specialty.<sup>20</sup> This changed the estimated proportion of doctors who had ever been involved in a medicolegal matter from 65% to 63%. Similarly, all other weighted percentages differed by less than 2% from the unweighted percentages. When weighting was applied to the logistic regression analysis, the estimated odd ratios differed by less than 10% from those for the unweighted analysis. The most notable changes were that having a teaching role and having an AUDIT score ≥ 8 became significantly associated with involvement in a current medicolegal matter (P values, 0.03 and 0.02, respectively).

To our knowledge, no other studies (apart from the GP pilot study<sup>1,12,13</sup>) have tested for an association between GHQ and AUDIT scores and doctors' involvement in medicolegal matters. Our results using these instruments raise questions about causation: do doctors involved in a current medicolegal matter have higher scores due to the stress of the medicolegal process, or do their higher levels of psychiatric morbidity make them more likely to be the subject of a complaint or inquiry? This issue will be explored in a later article.

#### CONCLUSION

About two-thirds of doctors in our study had been involved in medicolegal matters, and about 14% were involved in a current matter. The two most common types of medicolegal matter were claims for compensation and complaints to a health care complaints body, both of which had been experienced by about 30% of doctors. Our study concurs with international findings that male doctors and those working long hours and in highintervention areas of medicine are more likely to be the subject of medicolegal matters. However, unlike other studies, we found no association between age and being involved in a current matter. In addition, our findings pose the question of whether the higher psychiatric morbidity in doctors experiencing a medicolegal matter is a cause or effect of the medicolegal process.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Our study was funded by a Northern Sydney Health research grant, the McGeorge Bequest (through the University of Sydney) and Avant. The New South Wales Institute of Psychiatry provided a part-time research fellowship to Louise Nash.

#### **COMPETING INTERESTS**

Avant provided inhouse assistance with the sample selection, as well as funding for printing and mailing of the questionnaire, independent data analysis, and payment of a research officer (Michele Daly). Simon Willcock is an elected board member of Avant. Elizabeth van Ekert was employed by UNITED Medical Protection and then Avant until October 2008.

#### **AUTHOR DETAILS**

Louise M Nash, BA, MB BS(Hons), FRANZCP, Psychiatrist<sup>1,2,3</sup>

Patrick J Kelly, BMath(Hons), PhD, Senior Lecturer of Biostatistics<sup>4</sup>

Michele G Daly, BSc(Hons), MSc, Senior Research Officer<sup>5</sup>

Garry Walter, BMedSc, FRANZCP, PhD, Professor of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry,<sup>2</sup> Area Clinical Director,<sup>6</sup> and Adjunct Professor<sup>7</sup> Elizabeth H van Ekert, BA, DipEd, MMedHum, Risk Manager<sup>8</sup>

Merrilyn Walton, BSW, MSW, PhD, Associate Professor of Medical Education<sup>9</sup> Simon M Willcock, MB BS, FRACGP, PhD, Associate Professor of General Practice<sup>5</sup> Christopher C Tennant, MD, MPH, FRANZCP, Emeritus Professor of Psychiatry<sup>2</sup>

1 New South Wales Institute of Psychiatry, Sydney, NSW.

- 2 Discipline of Psychological Medicine, University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW.
- 3 Greater Western Area Health Service, NSW.
- 4 School of Public Health, University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW.
- 5 Academic General Practice Unit, Hornsby Ku-ring-gai Hospital, University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW.
- 6 Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services, Northern Sydney Central Coast Health, Sydney, NSW.
- 7 Department of Psychiatry, Dalhousie University, Halifax, NS, Canada.
- 8 MDA National, Sydney, NSW.
- 9 Office of Postgraduate Medical Education, University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW. *Correspondence:*
- Louise.Nash@nswiop.nsw.edu.au

- REFERENCES
  - Nash L, Daly M, Johnson M, et al. Psychological morbidity in Australian doctors who have and have not experienced a medicolegal matter: a cross sectional survey. Aust N Z J Psychiatry 2007; 41: 917-925.
  - 2 Firth-Cozens J. Doctors with difficulties: why so few women? Postgrad Med J 2008; 84: 318-320.
  - 3 Cunningham W, Crump R, Tomlin A. The characteristics of doctors receiving medical complaints: a cross-sectional survey of doctors in New Zealand. N Z Med J 2003; 116: U625.
  - 4 Mello M, Studdert D, DesRoches C, et al. Caring for patients in a malpractice crisis: physician satisfaction and quality of care. *Health Aff (Millwood)* 2004; 23: 42-53.
  - 5 Aasland OG, Førde R. Impact of feeling responsible for adverse events on doctors' personal and professional lives: the importance of being open to criticism from colleagues. *Qual Saf Health Care* 2005; 14: 13-17.
  - 6 Hickson G, Federspiel C, Pichert J, et al. Patient complaints and malpractice risk. JAMA 2002; 287: 2951-2956.
  - 7 Schattner PL, Coman GJ. The stress of metropolitan general practice. *Med J Aust* 1998; 169: 133-137.
  - 8 Lawthers AG, Localio AR, Laird NM, et al. Physicians' perceptions of the risk of being sued. J Health Polit Policy Law 1992; 17: 463-481.
  - 9 Lawton R, Connolly T, DeGraaff R. Impact of physicians' perceptions of malpractice and adaptive changes on intention to cease obstetrical practice. J Rural Health 1999; 15: 134-146.
- 10 Localio A, Lawthers A, Brennan T, et al. Relation between malpractice claims and adverse events due to negligence. Results of the Harvard Medical Practice Study III. N Engl J Med 1991; 325: 245-251.
- 11 Bismark MM, Brennan TA, Davis PB, Studdert DM. Claiming behaviour in a no-fault system of medical injury: a descriptive analysis of claimants and non-claimants. *Med J Aust* 2006; 185: 203-207.
- 12 Nash L, Daly M, Johnson M, et al. Personality, gender and medicolegal matters in medical practice. Australas Psychiatry 2009; 17: 19-24.
- 13 Nash L, Walton M, Daly M, et al. GPs' concerns about medicolegal issues — how it affects their practice. Aust Fam Physician 2009; 38: 66-70.
- 14 Goldberg DP. Manual of the General Health Questionnaire. London: National Foundation for Educational Research, 1998.
- 15 Saunders JB, Aasland OG, Baker TF, et al. Development of the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT): WHO Collaborative Project on Early Detection of Persons with Harmful Alcoholic Consumption — II. Addiction 1993; 88: 791-804.
- 16 Hosmer DW, Lemeshow S. Applied logistic regression. New York: Wiley, 1989.
- 17 Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Medical labour force 2005. Canberra: AIHW, 2008. (AIHW Cat. No. HWL 41; National Health Labour Force Series No. 40.)
- 18 Krosnick JA. Survey research. Annu Rev Psychol 1999; 50: 537-567.
- 19 Henry DA, Kerridge IH, Hill SR, et al. Medical specialists and pharmaceutical industry-sponsored research: a survey of the Australian experience. Med J Aust 2005; 182: 557-560.
- 20 Levy PS, Lemeshow S. Sampling populations: methods and applications. 4th ed. New York: Wiley, 2008.

ч

(Received 15 Oct 2008, accepted 26 May 2009)

## **CHAPTER 9:** Psychiatric morbidity and alcohol use in Australian doctors

Nash L, Daly M, Kelly P, van Ekert E, Walter G, Walton M, Willcock S and Tennant C. Factors associated with psychiatric morbidity and hazardous alcohol use in Australian doctors. Medical Journal of Australia.2010; 193: 161-166.

and share the second second second



## Factors associated with psychiatric morbidity and hazardous alcohol use in Australian doctors

Louise M Nash, Michele G Daly, Patrick J Kelly, Elizabeth H van Ekert, Garry Walter, Merrilyn Walton, Simon M Willcock and Chris C Tennant

octors with high levels of psychiatric morbidity or hazardous alcohol use may provide a lesser standard of care than doctors without these problems.1 Factors associated with psychiatric illness in doctors include stressors within and outside of work, personality type (particularly neuroticism) and family history of mental illness.2-5 Specific factors reported in the literature include working long hours,6,7 being young, working night duty, being divorced,<sup>8</sup> having high stressful life-event scores,9 and having experienced medicolegal matters.7,10-19 Factors that have been associated with hazardous levels of alcohol consumption in doctors include having high stress and anxiety levels,<sup>20</sup> being male, being a surgeon,<sup>21,22</sup> and having experienced a medicolegal matter.19 In 2007, a questionnaire was administered to all major groups of specialist doctors insured with UNITED Medical Protection (before it merged with another company to become Avant Mutual Group Limited). The questionnaire examined work-related factors, including medicolegal matters, demographic factors and personality factors. We have previously analysed the responses from the questionnaire to examine the factors associated with Australian doctors experiencing a medicolegal matter.<sup>23</sup> This study investigates whether factors reported in the literature and other factors - including not taking a holiday in the previous year, being Australian-trained, attending a peer review, meeting continuing medical education (CME) requirements, and having a current medicolegal matter - are associated with psychiatric morbidity and hazardous alcohol use for this broad range of Australian doctors. Results from a similar questionnaire administered only to GPs have been published previously.19

#### ABSTRACT

**Objective:** To identify factors associated with psychiatric morbidity and hazardous alcohol use in Australian doctors.

**Design, setting and participants:** Cross-sectional postal survey of 2999 doctors (including all major specialty groups, trainees and general practitioners) insured with an Australian medical insurance company. The potential for psychiatric morbidity was measured by the General Health Questionnaire (GHQ), and the potential for hazardous alcohol use by the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT). The survey was conducted in 2007.

Main outcome measures: Demographic, work-related and personality factors associated with a GHQ score > 4 and an AUDIT score  $\geq 8$ .

Results: Factors significantly associated with psychiatric morbidity in doctors were:

having a current medicolegal matter, not taking a holiday in the previous year, working long hours, type of specialty, and having personality traits of neuroticism and introversion. Factors significantly associated with potentially hazardous alcohol use were being male, being Australian-trained, being between 40 and 49 years of age, having personality traits of neuroticism and extroversion, failing to meet Continuing Medical Education requirements, and being a solo practitioner.

**Conclusions:** The mental health of medical practitioners is crucial to the quality of care their patients receive. Doctors should reflect on their hours of work and need for holidays. Involvement with medicolegal processes, such as lawsuits, complaints and inquiries, is a stressful part of medical practice today. Doctors need to be educated about these processes and understand how the experience may affect their health, work and loved ones.

#### MJA 2010; 193: 161-166

pathologists, radiologists, paediatricians, and accident and emergency specialists), registrars and specialists in training, and a sample of GP non-proceduralists who had been insured with UNITED. GP proceduralists were not included as they had participated the previous year in a similar GP study.<sup>19</sup> Surveys were returned by replypaid mail. Four weeks later, a reminder letter and repeat questionnaire were sent to non-respondents.

The questionnaire elicited demographic and practice details — age, sex, specialty, hours worked per week, country of medical degree, teaching role, attendance at peer review, fulfilment of CME requirements, holiday in previous 12 months — and measures of personality, psychiatric morbidity and alcohol use. The questionnaire also asked if the doctor had ever experienced any of the following medicolegal matters: a claim for compensation for damages, complaint to a health care complaints body, medical registration board inquiry, disciplinary hearing, Medicare Australia/Health Insurance Commission (HIC) inquiry, hospital dispute, hospital investigation, pharmaceutical services inquiry, complaint before an anti-discrimination board, coronial inquiry, criminal charge, or patient complaint direct to the doctor.

Personality was measured using the Eysenck Personality Questionnaire (EPQ) — Revised Short Scale version.<sup>24</sup> The EPQ is a valid and reliable self-report questionnaire that measures three major dimensions of personality: extroversion (a low score representing introversion); neuroticism (measuring emotional stability or sensitivity); and "psychoticism" (measuring tough mindedness and, at the extreme, lack of empathy, but not actual psychotic features). Psychiatric morbidity was assessed using the General Health Questionnaire-28 (GHQ),<sup>25</sup> a sensitive and well validated screening tool to detect common non-psy-

161

This is a collaborative research project between the University of Sydney and Avant.

## METHODS

A questionnaire was mailed to all specialists (obstetricians, gynaecologists, physicians, surgeons, anaesthetists, psychiatrists,

chotic psychiatric morbidity by considering symptoms over the previous 2 weeks. It has four subscales: somatic symptoms; anxiety and insomnia; social dysfunction; and depression. Case identification for risk of psychiatric morbidity was based on a combined score > 4, using binary scoring for each question (with the two least symptomatic answers scoring 0 and the two most symptomatic answers scoring 1).

Alcohol use was assessed using the World Health Organization's Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT),<sup>26</sup> a sensitive 10item questionnaire to detect hazardous and harmful drinking. Subjects scoring a total of 8 or more were classified as potentially hazardous drinkers (AUDIT case identification).

Our study compared respondents with non-respondents by age, sex, specialty and experience of medicolegal matters.

#### 1 Univariate and multivariate\* analysis of factors associated with psychiatric morbidity (GHQ score > 4)

Variable	No.	GHQ score > 4 (%)	$P^{\dagger}$	AOR (95% CI) <sup>‡</sup>	P <sup>‡</sup>
Medical specialty			800.0		0.03
General practitioner	589	177 (30)		1.00	
Obstetrician/gynaecologist	177	43 (24)		0.72 (0.44-1.17)	
Surgeon	359	89 (25)		0.74 (0.49-1.10)	
Anaesthetist	350	83 (24)		0.71 (0.49-1.02)	
Psychiatrist	230	64 (28)		1.09 (0.71–1.67)	
Pathologist	86	18 (21)		0.41 (0.21-0.81)	
Radiologist	106	32 (30)		1.06 (0.62-1.81)	
Physician	478	138 (29)		0.96 (0.68-1.36)	
Accident and emergency specialist	60	15 (25)		0.81 (0.40–1.66)	
Paediatrician	140	40 (29)		0.91 (0.56-1.48)	
In training <sup>§</sup>	252	91 (36)		1.05 (0.69–1.59)	
Other	126	22 (17)		0.43 (0.25-0.76)	
Sex			0.006		0.99
Female	868	269 (31)		1.00	
Male	2085	543 (26)		1.00 (0.78–1.28)	
Age group (years)			< 0.001		0.001
< 40	482	148 (31)		1.00	
40-49	872	271 (31)		1.10 (0.81–1.50)	
50-59	917	281 (31)		0.89 (0.65-1.23)	
≥60	682	112 (16)		0.58 (0.39-0.84)	
Country in which medical de	gree ob	tained <sup>1</sup>	0.82		
Australia	2470	682 (28)			
Overseas	476	129 (27)			
Solo practice			0.006		0.04
No	2044	592 (29)		1.00	
Yes	899	216 (24)		0.78 (0.61-0.99)	
Marital status			0.05		0.29
Single	231	70 (30)		1.00	
Partnered	2511	668 (27)		1.17 (0.83–1.65)	
Divorced/separated	154	56 (36)		1.31 (0.78–2.19)	
Widowed	38	11 (29)		2.34 (0.95-5.77)	
				Table continues nex	t page

## Ethics approval

Our study was approved by the human research ethics committees of Northern Sydney Central Coast Area Health and the University of Sydney, and the board of Avant. Anonymity and confidentiality were protected at all times.

### Statistical analysis

Data were analysed using SAS software, version 9.1 (SAS Institute Inc, Cary, NC, USA). Univariate analyses were conducted using Pearson's  $\chi^2$  tests. Multivariate logistic regression models were fitted to outcome measures of both GHQ case identification for psychiatric morbidity and AUDIT case identification for potentially hazardous drinking. Variables were included if their univariate *P* value was less than 0.3. The fit of the model was checked using the Hosmer–Lemeshow goodness-of-fit test.<sup>27</sup>

## RESULTS

162

#### Characteristics of respondents

Of 8500 doctors invited to participate in the study, 140 declined, and surveys were sent to the remaining 8360. Of these, 2999 (36%) responded. GHQ = General Health Questionnaire-28. AOR = adjusted odds ratio. \* Hosmer-Lemeshow goodness-of-fit test, P=0.37. † Univariate analysis. ‡ Multivariate analysis. § Specialist in training, hospital registrar, GP registrar. ¶ This variable was not included in the multivariate analysis (P value > 0.3 in the univariate analysis). •

of respondents (1902/2942 [65%]) had experienced medicolegal matters, with 426

## Potential for psychiatric morbidity

GHQ case identification for psychiatric morbidity for the total cohort was 28% (31% for women, 26% for men). The results of the univariate and multivariate logistic regression analyses for psychiatric morbidity found by GHQ case identification are shown in Box 1. All variables were included in the multivariate analysis except teaching role (for which the *P* value was >0.3 in the univariate analysis).

The mean number of hours worked per week was 44.8 (SD, 15.1), with male doctors averaging 48.0 hours (SD, 14.2) and female doctors averaging 37.1 hours (SD, 14.3). The mean number of weeks worked per year was 46.0 (SD, 6.0). Thirteen per cent of the cohort had not taken a holiday in the previous 12 months. About two-thirds

## (14%) having a current matter.

We have previously reported the demographic and practice details, and the type, frequency and factors associated with medicolegal matters for this study,<sup>23</sup> including a detailed comparison of respondents with non-respondents. There were only minor differences between the two groups.

123		0110			
Variable	No.	GHQ score > 4 (%)	P <sup>†</sup>	AOR (95% CI) <sup>‡</sup>	P <sup>‡</sup>
Hours worked per week			0.007		0.02
< 40	823	194 (24)		1.00	
40-49	753	209 (28)		1.23 (0.93–1.62)	
50-59	747	210 (28)		1.41 (1.05–1.89)	
≥ 60	596	190 (32)		1.65 (1.20-2.26)	
Peer review in previous 12	2 months		0.1		0.65
No	875	257 (29)		1.00	
Yes	2056	543 (26)		0.95 (0.75-1.19)	
CME requirements			0.27		0.32
Not met	112	36 (32)		1.29 (0.78-2.11)	
Met or not applicable	2785	764 (27)		1.00	
Teaching role <sup>¶</sup>			0.35		
No	1008	267 (26)			
Yes	1907	536 (28)			
Holiday in previous 12 mo	nths		< 0.001		< 0.001
No ·	388	161 (41)		1.92 (1.47-2.50)	
Yes	2526	643 (25)		1.00	
Current medicolegal matte	er		< 0.001		< 0.001
No	2478	638 (26)		1.00	
Yes	421	163 (39)		1.96 (1.52–2.54)	
Psychoticism			0.08		0.80
≤ Median	1776	508 (29)		1.00	
> Median	1090	279 (26)		0.97 (0.80-1.19)	
Extroversion			< 0.001		0.04
≤ Median	1594	500 (31)		1.00	
> Median	1238	280 (23)		0.81 (0.67-0.99)	
Neuroticism			< 0.001		< 0.001
≤Median	1714	252 (15)		1.00	
> Median	1154	542 (47)		4.65 (3.82-5.65)	

#### Potential for hazardous alcohol use

AUDIT case identification for potential for hazardous alcohol use for the total cohort was 15% (8% for women, 17% for men). The results of the univariate and multivariate logistic regression analyses for potentially hazardous alcohol use are shown in Box 2.

Demographic and work-related variables in the multivariate analyses associated with increased risk of potentially hazardous drinking were: being male (OR, 2.55 [95%] Cl, 1.83-3.55]); being aged 40-49 years compared with under 40 years (OR, 1.86 [95% CI, 1.22-2.83]); not having met CME requirements (OR, 1.72 [95% CI, 1.04-2.87]); and being a solo practitioner rather than a non-solo practitioner (OR, 1.33 [95% CI, 1.01-1.75]). Neuroticism (OR, 2.20 [95% CI, 1.74-2.78]), extroversion (OR, 1.62 [95% C1, 1.28-2.04]) and psychoticism (OR, 1.27 [95% CI, 1.01-1.60]) were all associated with potential for hazardous alcohol use. Doctors were at less risk of hazardous alcohol use if they: trained overseas rather than in Australia (OR, 0.56 95% Cl, 0.39-0.81); worked more than 60 hours a week compared with less than 40 hours a week (OR, 0.67 [95% C1, 0.45-0.99]); and had not taken a holiday in more than a year (OR, 0.63 [95% Cl, 0.43-0.93]).

GHQ = General Health Questionnaire-28. AOR = adjusted odds ratio. CME = Continuing Medical Education. \* Hosmer-Lemeshow goodness-of-fit test, P = 0.37. † Univariate analysis. ‡ Multivariate analysis. ¶ This variable was not included in the multivariate analysis (P value > 0.3 in the univariate analysis.)

In the multivariate analysis, significant demographic and work-related variables associated with increased potential for psychiatric morbidity were: having a current medicolegal matter (odds ratio [OR], 1.96 [95% CI, 1.52–2.54]); not having had a holiday in the previous year (OR, 1.92 [95% CI, 1.47–2.50]); and working long hours per week (OR, 1.65 [95% CI, 1.20–2.26] for  $\geq$  60 hours compared with < 40 hours). Specialty was also statistically significant (*P* = 0.03) (Box 1). Doctors 60 years of age or older had a lower likelihood of psychiatric morbidity than doctors under 40 years of age (OR, 0.58 [95% C1, 0.39–0.84]). Solo practitioners had a **low**er risk of psychiatric morbidity than non-solo practitioners (OR, 0.78 [95% CI, 0.61–0.99]). The personality trait of neuroticism (defined as having a neuroticism score greater than the median) was the highest risk factor for psychiatric morbidity (OR, 4.65 [95% CI, 3.82–5.65]). Introversion was also a statistically significant risk factor for psychiatric morbidity (P = 0.04).

#### DISCUSSION

Our investigation found that the personality trait of neuroticism carried the highest risk for psychiatric morbidity. Of work-related factors, having a current medicolegal matter was the factor most associated with psychiatric morbidity, followed by not taking a holiday in the previous year and working long hours.

For potentially hazardous alcohol use, demographic and personality factors were more significant than work-related factors. The greatest risk factors for hazardous alcohol use were being male, having an Australian medical degree, and having personality traits of neuroticism and extroversion. Two work-related factors were also associated: being a solo practitioner, and not meeting CME requirements. There was no significant

association between having a current medicolegal matter and potentially hazardous alcohol use (P = 0.09).

Interestingly, doctors who worked long hours and had not taken a holiday in the previous year were more likely to have psychiatric morbidity but less likely to drink alcohol hazardously, perhaps because they

had less opportunity to do so due to their work demands.

Our findings that long working hours and the work-related stressor of a medicolegal matter were associated with psychiatric morbidity in doctors are consistent with the findings of other studies.6,8-12,16-18 Our finding that older doctors had a lower risk of psychiatric morbidity is consistent with a recent Australian study.28

The proportion of clinicians with a GHQ case identification (28%) was close to that observed in the GP study (27%).<sup>19</sup> The level of psychiatric morbidity was higher among study participants than in a South Australian general population study, where case identification was 19.5%.29

The reported prevalence of potentially hazardous alcohol use in our study (15%) was higher than that in the GP study (12%)19 and similar to that found in a general Canadian population (14%).30 The female case identification of 8% in our study was the same as that of the Australian national survey of alcohol use in Australian women.31 Our study showed that potentially hazardous alcohol use occurs more in male than female doctors, as reported in other studies.<sup>20,21</sup> However, no specific speciality group was identified as being significantly more associated with hazardous alcohol use. This contrasts with a German study that found surgeons to be more likely to drink hazardously.21 Considering personality variables, the results of our study are consistent with the GP study<sup>19</sup> and an English study<sup>5</sup> in finding that neuroticism and introversion are associated with psychiatric morbidity. The association of neuroticism, extroversion and psychoticism with potentially hazardous alcohol use is similar to the findings of the GP study.19 A medicolegal matter should be regarded as a predictable work-related stressor for which doctors need to be prepared, considering that two-thirds of our sample had experienced a matter at some time and 14% had a current matter. Just as they would advise their own patients, doctors should actively manage stressful life events using positive coping strategies. These strategies include stress reduction techniques, regular exercise, good sleep and diet, as well as working fewer hours a week, being well informed about the legal process, seeking advice from one's own doctor to ameliorate distress and anxiety, and avoiding negative coping strategies like excessive alcohol consumption and self-medication.

#### 2 Univariate and multivariate\* analysis of factors associated with hazardous alcohol use (AUDIT score ≥ 8)

Variable	No.	AUDIT score $\geq$ 8 (%)	$P^{\dagger}$	AOR (95% CI) <sup>‡</sup>	P <sup>‡</sup>
Medical specialty			0.25		0.54
General practitioner	590	73 (12)		1.00	
Obstetrician/ gynaecologist	179	27 (15)		0.96 (0.54–1.70)	
Surgeon	357	67 (19)		0.92 (0.58-1.46)	
Anaesthetist	351	63 (18)		1.10 (0.72-1.69)	
Psychiatrist	231	35 (15)		0.89 (0.53-1.49)	
Pathologist	89	11 (12)		0.95 (0.46-1.99)	
Radiologist	107	16 (15)		0.74 (0.37-1.48)	
Physician	480	65 (14)		0.81 (0.53-1.24)	
Accident and emergency specialist	63	10 (16)		0.93 (0.41–2.13)	
Paediatrician	142	16 (11)		0.85 (0.45-1.59)	
In training <sup>§</sup>	254	33 (13)		1.73 (1.00-2.99)	
Other	128	22 (17)		1.28 (0.72-2.27)	
Sex			< 0.001		< 0.001
Female	873	72 (8)		1.00	
Male	2098	366 (17)		2.55 (1.83-3.55)	
Age group (years)			< 0.001		0.01
< 40	485	46 (9)		1.00	
40-49	874	145 (17)		1.86 (1.22-2.83)	
50-59	924	157 (17)		1.78 (1.15-2.76)	
≥ 60	688	90 (13)		1.35 (0.84-2.19)	
Country in which medical	degree	obtained	< 0.001		< 0.001
Australia	2484	394 (16)		1.00	
Overseas	480	44 (9)		0.56 (0.39-0.81)	
Solo practice			0.004		0.04
No	2058	278 (14)		1.00	
Yes	903	159 (18)		1.33 (1.01-1.75)	
Marital status			0.011		0.08
Single	231	21 (9)		1.00	
Partnered	2529	386 (15)		1.60 (0.96-2.67)	
Divorced/separated	154	29 (19)		2.12 (1.08-4.17)	
Widowed	38	2 (5)		0.57 (0.12-2.71)	
				Table continues ne	ext page

AUDIT = Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test. AOR = adjusted odds ratio. \* Hosmer-Lemeshow goodness-of-fit test, P=0.32. †Univariate analysis. ‡Multivariate analysis. § Specialist in training, hospital registrar, GP registrar.

The mental health of medical practition-The strength of our study was its large ers is crucial to good patient care. Unlike sample size, representing 5% of the entire Australian medical workforce and around personality traits, the work-related and life-10% of the non-GP specialist groups (ranging style factors associated with psychiatric from 9% for physicians to 14% for obstetrimorbidity and hazardous alcohol use are cians and gynaecologists.32 Although the more easily addressed. Doctors should reflect on their hours of work and need for response rate to our survey (36%) was relatively low, the idea that a high response rate is holidays. Involvement with medicolegal necessary has been challenged (as discussed processes, such as lawsuits, complaints and in our previous study).23 inquiries, are a stressful part of medical

2 (continued from prev	ious pag	e)			
Variable	No.	AUDIT ≥ 8 (%)	P <sup>†</sup>	AOR (95% CI) <sup>‡</sup>	P <sup>‡</sup>
Hours worked per week			< 0.001		0.01
< 40	819	94 (11)		1.00	
40-49	762	120 (16)		1.13 (0.81–1.58)	
50–59	756	142 (19)		1.15 (0.82-1.62)	
≥ 60	599	74 (12)		0.67 (0.45-0.99)	
Peer review in previous 12	months		0.17		0.91
No	882	118 (13)		1.00	
Yes	2066	317 (15)		1.02 (0.77-1.35)	
CME requirements			0.001		0.04
Not met	113	29 (26)		1.72 (1.04-2.87)	
Met or not applicable	2806	401 (14)		1.00	
Teaching role <sup>1</sup>			0.35		
No	1014	141 (14)			
Yes	1922	292 (15)			
Holiday in previous 12 mon	ths		0.01		0.02
No	388	41 (11)		0.63 (0.43-0.93)	
Yes	2545	389 (15)		1.00	
Current medicolegal matte	r		< 0.001		0.09
No	2500	344 (14)		1.00	
Yes	421	86 (20)		1.30 (0.96-1.75)	
Psychoticism			0.004		0.04
≤ Median	1781	238 (13)		1.00	
> Median	1089	188 (17)		1.27 (1.01-1.60)	
Extroversion			0.007		< 0.001
≤ Median	1592	212 (13)		1.00	
> Median	1245	211 (17)		1.62 (1.28-2.04)	
Neuroticism			< 0.001		< 0.001
≤ Median	1719	205 (12)		1.00	
> Median	1155	226 (20)		2.20 (1.74-2.78)	

Simon M Willcock, MB BS, PhD, FRACGP, Professor of General Practice<sup>3</sup> Chris C Tennant, MD, MPH, FRANZCP, Emeritus Professor of Psychiatry' 1 New South Wales Institute of Psychiatry, Sydney, NSW. 2 Discipline of Psychological Medicine, University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW. 3 Academic General Practice Unit, Hornsby Kuring-gai Hospital, University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW. 4 School of Public Health, University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW. 5 MDA National, Sydney, NSW. 6 Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services, Northern Sydney Central Coast Health, Sydney, NSW. 7 University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW. Correspondence: louise.nash@nswiop.nsw.edu.au

## REFERENCES

AUDIT = Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test. AOR = adjusted odds ratio. CME = Continuing Medical Education. \* Hosmer–Lemeshow goodness-of-fit test, P = 0.32. † Univariate analysis. ‡ Multivariate analysis. ¶ This variable was not included in the multivariate analysis (P value > 0.3 in the univariate analysis.)

practice today. Doctors need to be educated about medicolegal processes and understand how the experience may affect their health, their work and their loved ones.

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Our study was funded by a Northern Sydney Health research grant, the McGeorge Bequest (through the University of Sydney) and Avant Mutual Group Limited. The New South Wales Institute of Psychiatry provided a part-time research fellowship to Louise Nash from January to August 2008. tion and comparison. Simon Willcock is an elected board member of Avant. Elizabeth van Ekert is a former employee of Avant.

### AUTHOR DETAILS

Louise M Nash, MB BS(Hons), BA, FRANZCP, Psychiatrist<sup>1,2</sup>

Michele G Daly, BSc(Hons), MSc, Research Fellow<sup>3</sup>

- 1 Firth-Cozens J, Cording H, Ginsburg R. Can we select health professionals who provide safer care? Qual Saf Health Care 2003; 12 (1 Suppl): i16-i20.
- 2 Willcock SM, Daly MG, Tennant C, Allard BJ. Burnout and psychiatric morbidity in new medical graduates. Med J Aust 2004; 181: 357-360.
- 3 Johnson W. Predisposition to emotional distress and psychiatric illness amongst doctors: the role of unconscious and experiential factors. Br J Med Psychol 1991; 64: 317-329.
- 4 Tyssen R, Vaglum P. Mental health problems among young doctors: an updated review of prospective studies. *Harv Rev Psychiatry* 2002; 10: 154-165.
- 5 Newbury-Birch D, Kamli F. Psychological stress, anxiety, depression, job satisfaction, and personality characteristics in preregistration house officers. Postgrad Med J 2001; 77: 109-111.
- 6 Bruce CT, Sanger MM, Thomas PS, et al. Factors affecting female or male consultant stress in an Australian teaching hospital [letter]. Med J Aust 2003; 179: 174-175.
- 7 Schattner PL, Coman GJ. The stress of metropolitan general practice. *Med J Aust* 1998; 169: 133-137.
- 8 Hayasaka Y, Nakamura K, Yamamoto M, Sasaki S. Work environment and mental health status assessed by the general health questionnaire in female Japanese doctors. *Ind Health* 2007; 45: 781-786.
- 9 Clarke D, Singh R. Life events, stress appraisals, and hospital doctors' mental health. N Z Med J 2004; 117: U1121.
- 10 Martin C, Wilson J, Fiebelman N, et al. Physicians' psychological reactions to malpractice litigation. South Med J 1991; 84: 1300-1304.
- 11 Cook R, Neff C. Attitudes of physicians in

### **COMPETING INTERESTS**

Avant provided funding for a part-time research officer (Michele Daly) and mail-out of the questionnaire, as well as inhouse support for sample selecPatrick J Kelly, BMath(Hons), PhD, Senior Lecturer in Biostatistics<sup>4</sup>

Elizabeth H van Ekert, BADipEd, MMedHum, Risk Manager<sup>5</sup>

Garry Walter, MBBS, PhD, FRANZCP, Professor of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry,<sup>2</sup> and Area Clinical Director<sup>6</sup>

Merrilyn Walton, BA, MSW, PhD, Professor of Medical Education<sup>7</sup> northern Ontario to medical malpractice litigation. Can Fam Physician 1994; 40: 689-698.

- 12 Mello MM, Studdert DM, Desroches CM, et al. Caring for patients in a malpractice crisis: physician satisfaction and quality of care. *Health Aff* (*Millwood*) 2004; 23: 42-53.
- 13 Goldberg R, Kuhn G, Andrew L, Thomas H. Coping with medical mistakes and errors in judgment. Ann Emerg Med 2002; 39: 287-292.
- 14 Waterman AD, Garbutt J, Hazel E, et al. The emotional impact of medical errors on prac-

ticing physicians in the United States and Canada. Jt Comm J Qual Patient Saf 2007; 33: 467-476.

- 15 Zuger A. Dissatisfaction with medical practice. N Engl J Med 2004: 350; 69-75.
- 16 Charles S, Pyskoty M, Nelson A. Physicians on trial — self reported reactions to malpractice trials. West J Med 1988; 148: 358-360.
- 17 Newman MC. Emotional impact of mistakes on family physicians. Arch Fam Med 1996; 5: 71-75.
- 18 Cunningham W. The immediate and long-term impact on New Zealand doctors who receive patient complaints. N Z Med J 2004; 117: 972.
- 19 Nash L, Daly M, Johnson M, et al. Psychological morbidity in Australian doctors who have and have not experienced a medico-legal matter: a cross sectional survey. Aust N Z J Psychiatry 2007; 41: 917-925.
- 20 Newbury-Birch DR, Walshaw D, Farhad K. Drink and drugs: from medical students to doctors. Drug Alcohol Depend 2001; 64: 265-270.
- 21 Rosta J. Hazardous alcohol use among hospital doctors in Germany. Alcohol Alcohol 2008; 43: 198-203.

166

- 22 Rosta J, Aasland O. Female surgeons' alcohol use: a study of a national study of Norwegian doctors. Alcohol Alcohol 2005; 40: 436-440.
- 23 Nash L, Kelly P, Daly M, et al. Australian doctors' involvement in medicolegal matters: a cross-sectional self-report study. Med J Aust 2009; 191: 436-440.
- 24 Eysenck HJ, Eysenck SBG. Manual of the Eysenck Personality Scales (EPS Adult). London: Hodder and Stoughton, 1991.
- 25 Goldberg DP. Manual of the General Health Questionnaire. Windsor: National Foundation for Educational Research, 1978.
- 26 Saunders J, Aasland OG, Babor TF, et al. Development of the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT): WHO collaborative project on early detection of persons with harmful alcoholic consumption — II. Addiction 1993; 88: 791-804.
- 27 Hosmer DW, Lemeshow S. Applied logistic regression. New York: Wiley, 1989.
- 28 Peisah C, Latif E, Wilhelm K, Williams B. Secrets to psychological success: why older doctors have lower psychological distress and burnout

than younger doctors. Aging Ment Health 2009; 13: 300-307.

- 29 Taylor A, Dal Grande E, Parsons J. Mental health status of South Australians: October 1997. Adelaide: Government of South Australia, 1997. http://www.health.sa.gov.au/pros/ portals/0/Mental-Health-Status-Oct-97-Report-6.pdf (accessed Feb 2010).
- 30 Ivis FJ, Adlaf EM, Rehm J. Incorporating the AUDIT into a general population telephone survey: a methodological experiment. Drug Alcohol Depend 2000; 60: 97-104.
- 31 Fleming J. The epidemiology of alcohol use in Australian women: findings from a national survey of women's drinking. Addiction 1996; 91: 1325-1334.
- 32 Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Medical labour force 2005. Canberra: AIHW, 2008. (AIHW Cat. No. HWL 41; National Health Labour Force Series No. 40.) http:// www.aihw.gov.au/publications/hwl/mlf05/ mlf05.pdf (accessed Jun 2010).



## CHAPTER 10: Change of practice due to medico-legal concerns in Australia

Nash L, Walton M, Daly M, Kelly P, Walter G, Van Ekert E, Willcock S, Tennant C. Perceived practice change in Australian doctors due to medico-legal concerns.

Medical Journal of Australia. 2010; 193: 579-583.



## Perceived practice change in Australian doctors as a result of medicolegal concerns

Louise M Nash, Merrilyn M Walton, Michele G Daly, Patrick J Kelly, Garry Walter, Elizabeth H van Ekert, Simon M Willcock and Christopher C Tennant

edicolegal concerns can prompt changes to the practice of medicine that can be both potentially beneficial and not beneficial to patient care.1-16 There is international evidence from the United Kingdom, the United States, Japan, Canada and New Zealand of concerns about medicolegal issues leading to excessive referrals,5,8,13 excessive ordering of tests5,8 and use of imaging technology,7 excessive prescribing of medication,5.8 and avoidance of certain patients or procedures.4,5,13 Potentially beneficial changes include that medicolegal concerns can lead to more information being given to patients<sup>4,5</sup> and to more reflective practice, greater sensitivity to societal and professional expectations, and willingness to make system improvements,15 such as developing audit procedures and better record keeping.<sup>5</sup>

#### ABSTRACT

**Objectives:** To explore the perceived impact of medicolegal concerns on how Australian doctors practise medicine and to compare doctors who have experienced a medicolegal matter with those who have not.

**Design and setting:** Cross-sectional survey (posted in September 2007, with reminder 4 weeks later) of Australian doctors from all major specialty groups, trainees and a sample of general practitioners who were insured with a medical insurance company.

Participants: 2999 respondents of 8360 who were sent the survey.

Main outcome measures: Perceived practice changes due to concerns about medicolegal issues, beliefs about medicolegal issues, and the influence of medicolegal issues on both career choices and how doctors relate to their patients.

Results: Respondents reported changes in practice behaviour due to medicolegal

What is the Australian situation regarding beliefs and perceived changes in practice due to medicolegal concerns? In an earlier Australian general practitioner study, we also found evidence of practice change.<sup>16</sup>

In this article, we report new Australian evidence from a large, broad sample of Australian doctors comprising specialists, GPs and trainees. We also examine whether perceived behaviour and beliefs differ between doctors who have experienced a medicolegal matter and those who have not.

#### METHODS

In September 2007, a questionnaire was mailed to all specialists (obstetricians, gynaecologists, physicians, surgeons, anaesthetists, psychiatrists, pathologists, radiologists, paediatricians, accident and emergency specialists), all registrars and specialists in training, and a sample of GP non-proceduralists insured with the medical insurance company UNITED (that company subsequently merged with another company). GP proceduralists were not included, as they had participated in our previous study. The random sample of 1865 nonprocedural GPs was selected out of a possible 7275 non-procedural GPs who had not been invited to participate in the previous GP study. A summary of response rate per specialty has been published previously.17

concerns, with 43% of doctors stating that they referred patients more than usual, 55% stating that they ordered tests more than usual, and 11% stating that they prescribed medications more than usual. Respondents also reported improved communication of risk (66%), increased disclosure of uncertainty (44%), developed better systems for tracking results (48%) and better methods for identifying non-attenders (39%) and for auditing clinical practice (35%). Concerns about medicolegal issues led to 33% considering giving up medicine, 32% considering reducing their working hours and 40% considering retiring early. These proportions were all significantly greater for doctors who had previously experienced a medicolegal matter compared with those who had not.

**Conclusions:** This Australian study, like international studies, confirms that doctors' concerns about medicolegal issues impact on their practice in a variety of ways. There is a greater perceived impact on those doctors who have previously experienced a medicolegal matter.

MJA 2010; 193: 579-583

Surveys were sent out with reply-paid envelopes for their return. Four weeks after the mail-out, a reminder letter and repeat questionnaire were sent to non-respondents.

The questionnaire covered demographic and practice details, and experience of medicolegal matters. It also canvassed doctors' beliefs about medicolegal issues and their perceived changes in practice as a result of medicolegal concerns. The questionnaire was developed from key items in the literature, 3-8,11-16 and was first used in a small study with the New South Wales Health Care Complaints Commission,6 and further developed for a GP study.<sup>16</sup> The items about perceived changes in practice behaviour due to medicolegal concerns are listed in Box 1. There were four response categories: less than usual, no change from usual, more than usual, and not applicable. A series of statements about beliefs and understanding of the law as it relates to medicolegal issues are listed in Box 2. Response categories for these items were: "strongly disagree", "disagree", "agree" and "strongly agree". Items on the perceived influence of medicolegal issues on career choice and on how doctors relate to patients are shown in Box 3 and Box 4, respectively. Response categories for these items were "yes" or "no".

The questionnaire asked if doctors had ever been the subject of one of the following medicolegal matters: a claim for compensation for damages; a complaint to a health care complaints body; a medical registration board inquiry; a disciplinary hearing; a Medicare Australia/Health Insurance Commission (HIC) inquiry; a hospital dispute; a hospital investigation; a pharmaceutical services inquiry; a complaint before an antidiscrimination board; a coronial inquiry; a criminal charge; and a patient complaint direct to the doctor. Self-report data were

#### MJA • Volume 193 Number 10 • 15 November 2010

579

#### 1 Perceived change in practice behaviour due to concerns about medicolegal negligence claims and complaints\*

	All re	experienced MLM		Respond not expe	ents who had rienced MLM	Difference§			
ltem	Not applicable	N <sup>†</sup>	Agree <sup>‡</sup>	N <sup>†</sup>	Agree <sup>‡</sup>	N <sup>†</sup>	Agree <sup>‡</sup>	(95% CI)	Р
Provide communication of risk to patients	70	2844	1874 (66%)	1859	1278 (69%)	985	596 (61%)	8 (5 to 12)	< 0.001
Order tests	116	2810	1546 (55%)	1844	1047 (57%)	966	499 (52%)	5 (1 to 9)	0.01
Put systems in place to track test results	340	2564	1226 (48%)	1690	835 (49%)	874	391 (45%)	5 (1 to 9)	0.03
Disclose uncertainty	65	2859	1262 (44%)	1868	884 (47%)	991	378 (38%)	9 (5 to 13)	< 0.001
Refer patients to specialists	368	2548	1096 (43%)	1647	712 (43%)	901	384 (43%)	–1 (–5 to 3)	0.8
Avoid a particular type of invasive procedure	598	2334	931 (40%)	1575	660 (42%)	759	271 (36%)	6 (2 to 10)	0.01
Put systems in place to identify non-attenders	580	2333	909 (39%)	1557	645 (41%)	776	264 (34%)	7 (3 to 12)	0.001
Consider every patient a potential litigant	79	2843	1039 (37%)	1860	771 (41%)	983	268 (27%)	14 (11 to 18)	< 0.001
Put systems in place to audit practice	320	2596	906 (35%)	1722	618 (36%)	874	288 (33%)	3 (–1 to 7)	0.15
Avoid particular obstetric procedure	2109	813	277 (34%)	537	207 (39%)	276	70 (25%)	13 (6 to 20)	< 0.001
Relate empathically to patients	77	2841	730 (26%)	1861	523 (28%)	980	207 (21%)	7 (4 to 10)	< 0.001
Prescribe medication	277	2649	285 (11%)	1738	194 (11%)	911	91 (10%)	1 (-1 to 4)	0.39
Advise patients of complaints policy	294	2626	255 (10%)	1725	171 (10%)	901	84 (9%)	1 (-2 to 3)	0.68

MLM = medicolegal matter.

\* Results relate to participants who agreed that they performed the behaviour listed in the item column more than usual when asked: "Do concerns about medical negligence/complaint cause you to *[item]* less than usual, no change from usual, more than usual or not applicable?". † The number who responded to the item (excluding "not applicable" responses). ‡ The number (%) who agreed that they had changed their practice behaviour in accordance with the statement. § Percentage of respondents with experience of MLM who changed their behaviour more than usual minus the percentage of respondents with no experience of MLM who changed their behaviour more than usual minus the percentage of respondents with no experience of MLM who changed their behaviour more than usual minus the percentage of respondents with no experience of MLM who changed their behaviour more than usual minus the percentage of respondents with no experience of MLM who changed their behaviour more than usual minus the percentage of respondents with no experience of MLM who changed their behaviour more than usual minus the percentage of respondents with no experience of MLM who changed their behaviour more than usual.

thought to be more inclusive, as some doctors may have changed insurers, not had an insurer previously, or chosen not to discuss matters with their insurer. The proportion of doctors who self-reported ever being involved in a medicolegal matter by medical specialty and type of matter was reported in the Journal in 2009.<sup>17</sup>

#### Statistical analysis

Response categories were dichotomised according to whether or not doctors had experienced medicolegal matters, and differences between respondents who had and had not experienced medicolegal matters were assessed using Pearson's  $\chi^2$  tests. Given the large size of our sample, very small differences between those who had and had not experienced medicolegal matters could be detected, and consequently, differences were considered statistically significant at  $P \leq 0.01$ . The estimated differences between proportions and corresponding 95% confidence intervals are also presented.

Statistical analysis was undertaken using SPSS, version 15 (SPSS Inc, Chicago, Ill, USA).

#### Ethics approval

Approval for the study was granted through ethics committees of the Northern Sydney Central Coast Area Health Service and the University of Sydney, and the Board of UNITED (now Avant). Anonymity and confidentiality of survey responses and Avant membership and data were protected at all senting a 36% response rate (2999/8360). Experience of medicolegal matters was selfreported by 1902 of 2942 respondents (65%), with 426 (14%) having a current matter. The two most common medicolegal matters were claims for compensation (31%) and complaints to a health care complaints body (30%), and the least common were criminal charges (<1%), pharmaceutical services inquiries (1%), antidiscrimination board complaints (1%) and disciplinary hearings (2%).

A comparison of respondents with nonrespondents according to age, sex, specialty and history of medicolegal matters derived from Avant data found minor differences only. Respondents were slightly older (mean age, 51.7 years v 50.3 years), proportionally fewer men responded (71% v 74%), and respondents were slightly more likely than non-respondents to have been involved in claims for compensation (28.0% v 23.0%), complaints to a health care complaints body

times.

## RESULTS

Eight thousand five hundred doctors were invited to participate in the study. One hundred and forty declined, leaving 8360 who received the survey. Two thousand nine hundred and ninety-nine responded, repre-

580

#### MJA • Volume 193 Number 10 • 15 November 2010

#### 2 Beliefs about medicolegal issues\*

	All respondents		Respondents who had experienced MLM		Responde not exper	nts who had ienced MLM	Difference§	
ltem	N <sup>†</sup>	Agree <sup>‡</sup>	N <sup>†</sup>	Agree <sup>‡</sup>	N <sup>†</sup>	Agree <sup>‡</sup>	(95% CI)	Р
All doctors make mistakes	2933	2865 (98%)	1896	1855 (98%)	1037	1010 (97%)	1 (-1 to 2)	0.53
Inadequate communication is a factor in most mistakes	2929	2739 (94%)	1892	1744 (92%)	1037	995 (96%)	-4 (-6 to -2)	< 0.001
My awareness of risks of medical negligence has increased in recent years	2928	2678 (91%)	1895	1741 (92%)	1033	937 (91%)	1 (– 1 to 3)	0.31
I feel comfortable discussing my mistakes with my colleagues	2930	2319 (79%)	1894	1494 (79%)	1036	825 (80%)	-1 (-4 to 2)	0.67
Doctors are encouraged to report their medical errors	2924	1775 (61%)	1892	1138 (60%)	1032	637 (62%)	-2 (-5 to 2)	0.43
Professional standards should be set solely by the medical profession	2919	1694 (58%)	1889	1114 (59%)	1030	580 (56%)	3 (-6 to 11)	0.18
The law requires me to make perfect decisions	2922	1577 (54%)	1889	1062 (56%)	1033	515 (50%)	6 (3 to 10)	< 0.001
Medical mistakes are rare	2931	549 (19%)	1894	372 (20%)	1037	177 (17%)	3 (0 to 5)	0.01
An apology to a patient implies an admission of liability	2920	460 (16%)	1886	319 (17%)	1034	141 (14%)	3 (1 to 6)	0.02
Patients are likely to sue a doctor who tells them about a mistake	2920	341 (12%)	1887	250 (13%)	1033	91 (9%)	4 (2 to 7)	< 0.001
Only unprofessional or incompetent doctors get sued	2929	78 (3%)	1896	47 (2%)	1033	31 (3%)	-1 (-2 to 1)	0.47

MLM = medicolegal matter.

\* Perceptions of mistakes, complaints and legal risk were assessed by asking respondents whether they strongly disagreed, disagreed, agreed or strongly agreed with the statements in the item column. † The number who responded to the item. ‡ The number (%) who agreed or strongly agreed with the statement. § Percentage of respondents with experience of MLM who agreed or strongly agreed with the statement minus the percentage of respondents with no experience of MLM who agreed or strongly agreed with the statement. • or strongly agreed with the statement.

(20.6% v 17.1%), and coronial inquiries (4.7% v 3.3%). The differences for all three comparisons of medicolegal matters were significant at P < 0.01. There was no difference between respondents and nonrespondents with respect to the other nine categories of medicolegal matter. Further discussion about the comparison of respondents with non-respondents, and a comparison of our sample with the Australian medical workforce in general was previously reported in 2009.<sup>17</sup>

## Perceived change in practice behaviour due to concerns about medical

Box 1 lists the items in descending order of the frequency with which they were reported to influence practice by all respondents, and compares doctors who had and had not experienced a medicolegal matter.

For 8 of the 13 items, participants who had experienced a medicolegal matter were significantly more likely than those who had not to perceive that they had changed practice in response to medicolegal concerns.

### Beliefs about medicolegal issues

Box 2 shows agreement among respondents with statements about medicolegal issues. The proportion agreeing includes those who strongly agreed and agreed. Respondents who had experienced a medicolegal matter were more likely to agree that "the law requires me to make perfect decisions" and "patients are likely to sue a doctor who tells them about a mistake", but less likely to agree that "inadequate communication is a factor in most mistakes".

## Perceived influence of medicolegal issues on career choices

Respondents who had experienced a medicolegal matter were more likely to agree with all four statements on career choices listed in Box 3, compared with those with no experience of a medicolegal matter (P < 0.001).

### Perceived influence of medicolegal issues on how doctors relate to patients

Respondents with experience of a medicolegal matter were more likely to agree with all four statements listed in Box 4 about relating to patients, compared with those with no experience of a medicolegal matter (P < 0.001).

#### negligence claims and complaints

The proportion of doctors who reported altering their practice behaviour relating to a particular item "more than usual" due to concerns about medical negligence and complaints is reported in Box 1. A varying number of respondents reported that items were not applicable, as shown. The table in

#### DISCUSSION

We found that Australian doctors report that concerns about medicolegal action changes the way they would normally practise medi-

#### MJA • Volume 193 Number 10 • 15 November 2010

581

#### 3 Perceived influence of medicolegal issues on career choices\*

ltem –	All respondents		Respondents who had experienced MLM		Respondents who had not experienced MLM		Difference§	
	N <sup>†</sup>	Agree <sup>‡</sup>	N <sup>†</sup>	Agree <sup>‡</sup>	N <sup>†</sup>	Agree <sup>‡</sup>	(95% CI)	Р
Retiring early?	2919	1169 (40%)	1895	877 (46%)	1024	292 (29%)	18 (14-21)	< 0.001
Giving up medicine?	2909	957 (33%)	1886	728 (39%)	1023	229 (22%)	16 (13-20)	< 0.001
Reducing your hours of work?	2903	929 (32%)	1885	720 (38%)	1018	209 (21%)	18 (14-21)	< 0.001
Changing your speciality?	2882	320 (11%)	1867	238 (13%)	1015	82 (8%)	5 (2-7)	< 0.001

MLM = medicolegal matter.

\* Participants were asked to respond "yes" or "no" to the question: "Have concerns about medicolegal issues caused you to consider" the option in the item column. + The number who responded to the item. ‡ The number (%) who agreed with the statement. § Percentage of respondents with experience of MLM who answered "yes" to the item minus the percentage of respondents with no experience of MLM who answered "yes" to the item.

cine. Our findings concur with most of those in international studies, and provide new information by also comparing doctors who have experienced a medicolegal matter with those who have not.

Australia may have had a positive effect on prescribing practices.18

A significant number of doctors with experience of a medicolegal matter had more negative attitudes towards their work and in their relationships with their patients. Concerns about medicolegal issues caused 33% of the total cohort to consider giving up medicine, 32% to consider reducing hours of work, 40% to consider retiring early, and 18% to feel more emotionally distant from patients. All these were significantly more common in doctors with experience of a medicolegal matter compared with those with no such experience. Similarly, changes in relating to patients were reported in a study of New Zealand doctors who had experienced complaints, with a reduction in both trust of patients (38% in the short term and 32% in the long term) and sense of goodwill towards patients (29% in the short term and 18% in the long term).14 The US Common Good study reported that 38% of respondents thought the fear of malpractice made their relationship with patients less personal.8

Doctors reported some improvements of care due to medicolegal concerns, such as improved communication of risk to patients, which was reported by 66%. The need to disclose uncertainty surrounding diagnosis or treatment was increased in 44% of respondents, with a 9% greater difference in those who had experienced a medicolegal matter compared with those who had not. There were perceived improvements to quality and safety measures due to medicolegal concerns, with better systems for tracking test results reported by 48%, better methods to identify non-attenders reported by 39% and routine auditing of clinical practice reported by 35%. There was near universal agreement (98%) that doctors make mistakes, yet 54% believed that the law required them to make perfect decisions. This proportion was significantly higher among doctors with, than among those without experience of a medicolegal matter. Yet the law does not require perfection. The majority decision of the High Court of Australia in Rogers v Whitaker established that "The law imposes

The increase in referral rates reported by 43% of our respondents is lower than the rate in the US Common Good study (74%)8 and the UK GP study (64%),<sup>5</sup> although this reflects the difference between the samples - the UK study included only GPs while ours included mainly specialists. The costly increase in test ordering reported by 55% of our sample was similar to the rate in the UK study (60%),<sup>5</sup> but lower than that in the US Common Good study (79%).8 Unnecessary prescribing is both expensive and potentially dangerous. However, only 11% of our sample reported this practice. This compares favourably with the UK GP study, in which 29% perceived that they prescribed unnecessary drugs, and the US Common Good study, in which 41% believed they prescribed more medication for fear of litigation.<sup>8</sup> It is possible that the campaigns for safe prescribing over the past decade in

Item	Medicoleg	al issues on h spondents	Respondents who had experienced MLM		Respondents*	ents who had rienced MLM	Difference§	
	N <sup>†</sup>	Agree <sup>‡</sup>	N <sup>†</sup>	Agree <sup>‡</sup>	N <sup>†</sup>	Agree <sup>‡</sup>	(95% CI)	Р
Provide more information to patients?	2918	2373 (81%)	1894	1578 (83%)	1024	795 (78%)	6 (3–9)	< 0.001
Are more attentive with	2908	1594 (55%)	1887	1091 (58%)	1021	503 (49%)	9 (5–12)	< 0.001

ρ	d	U	e	n	ιs	11	

Are more selective regarding patients seen?	2913	795 (27%)	1891	623 (33%)	1022	172 (17%)	16 (13–19)	< 0.001
Are more distant from patients emotionally?	2907	516 (18%)	1886	393 (21%)	1021	123 (12%)	9 (6–12)	< 0.001

MLM = medicolegal matter.

\* Participants were asked to respond "yes" or "no" to the question: "Do concerns about medicolegal issues affect how you relate to patients in that you:" (statement in the item column). † The number who responded to the item. ‡ The number (%) who agreed with the statement. § Percentage of respondents with experience of MLM who answered "yes" to the item minus the percentage of respondents with no experience of MLM who answered "yes" to the item.

582

### MJA • Volume 193 Number 10 • 15 November 2010

on a medical practitioner a duty to exercise reasonable care and skill in the provision of professional advice and treatment."<sup>19</sup>

Nineteen per cent of respondents believed that medical mistakes are rare. This is at odds with the patient safety literature which highlights the extent of adverse events and negligence in many developed countries.<sup>20-23</sup>

Our study has some limitations. The response rate of 36% was relatively low, but this rate is in keeping with some other studies of medical practitioners.24 This study is the largest of its kind in Australia, and one of the largest in the world. The respondent sample represents 5% of the Australian medical labour workforce, 3% of all GPs and about 10% of each specialty group (ranging from 9% for physicians to 14% for obstetricians/gynaecologists).25 A weighted analysis was conducted to adjust the estimated percentages, according to the proportions of GPs and specialty respondents based on Australian workforce data.25 Almost all weighted percentages were very similar to the unweighted percentages they differed by less than 3%. There were three exceptions, all with respect to the perceived change in behaviour due to concerns about medical negligence and complaints (Box 1). Ordering tests was estimated to be 60% (compared with 55%); tracking test results was estimated to be 53% (compared with 48%); and referring patients to specialists was estimated to be 51% (compared with 43%). These changes mainly reflect the higher weighting that was given to GP responses. This Australian study, similar to studies in the US, Canada, UK, Japan and New Zealand, indicates that doctors perceive that their concerns about medicolegal issues impact on their practice of medicine. Also similar to international studies, many Australian doctors perceive they make increased referrals and order tests due to concerns about medical negligence and complaints. However, there is considerably less impact on the prescribing of medications in Australia. Doctors' experience of a medicolegal matter may lead them to consider reducing their hours of work and the years they intend to practise. For some doctors, there is a greater reserve in dealing with patients. A significantly higher number of doctors with experience of a medicolegal matter state their intention to give up medicine, reduce their working hours or retire early. Whether they actually do was not investigated by this study.

ronment and an understanding of how medicolegal concerns may weaken sound clinical judgement, cause unnecessary costs, burden health care resources, and constrain improvements in health care delivery.<sup>15</sup> Targeted training in patient safety and medicolegal aspects of medical practice will help doctors to be better informed and to better understand how such issues influence their judgement and decisionmaking.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Funding for this study was received from Northern Sydney Health, the University of Sydney and Avant.

### **COMPETING INTERESTS**

None identified.

## **AUTHOR DETAILS**

Louise M Nash, MBBS(Hons), BA, FRANZCP, Coordinator, Postgraduate Course in Psychiatry/ Master of Psychiatry,<sup>1</sup> and Psychiatrist<sup>2</sup> Merrilyn M Walton, BA, MSW, PhD, Professor of Medical Education and Director of Patient Safety<sup>3</sup> Michele G Daly, BSc(Hons), MSc, Senior Research Officer<sup>4</sup> Patrick J Kelly, BMath(Hons), PhD, Senior Lecturer in Biostatistics<sup>3</sup> Garry Walter, BMedSc, PhD, FRANZCP, Professor of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry,<sup>2</sup> and Area Clinical Director, Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services<sup>5</sup>

- 5 Summerton N. Positive and negative factors in defensive medicine: a questionnaire study of general practitioners. BMJ 1995; 310: 27-29.
- 6 Nash L, Curtis B, Walton M, et al. The response of doctors to a formal complaint. *Australas Psychiatry* 2006; 14: 246-250.
- 7 Studdert DM, Mello MM, Sage W, et al. Defensive medicine among high-risk specialist physicians in a volatile malpractice environment. JAMA 2005; 293: 2609-2617.
- 8 Common good fear of litigation study. The impact on medicine. Final report, 2002. http://commongood.org/ assets/attachments/57.pdf (accessed Oct 2010).
- 9 Charles SC, Wilbert JR, Kennedy EC. Physician's selfreports to reactions to malpractice litigation. Am J Psychiatry 1984; 141: 563-565.
- 10 Weisman C, Morlock L, Teitelbaum M, et al. Practice changes in response to the malpractice litigation climate. Results of a Maryland physician survey. *Med Care* 1989; 27: 16-24.
- 11 Elmore J, Taplin S, Barlow W, et al. Does litigation influence medical practice? The influence of community radiologists' medical malpractice perceptions and experience on screening mammography. *Radiology* 2005; 236: 37-46.
- 12 Birbeck G, Gifford D, Song J, et al. Do malpractice concerns, payment mechanisms, and attitudes influence test-ordering decisions? Neurology 2004; 62: 119-121. 13 Hiyama T, Yoshihara M, Tanaka S, et al. Defensive medicine practices among gastroenterologists in Japan. World J Gastroenterol 2006; 12: 7671-7675. 14 Cunningham W. The immediate and long-term impact on New Zealand doctors who receive patient complaints. N Z Med J 2004; 117: 972. 15 Cunningham W, Dovey S. Defensive changes in medical practice and the complaints process: a qualitative study of New Zealand doctors. N Z Med J 2006; 119: 1244. 16 Nash L, Walton M, Daly M, et al. GPsi concerns about medicolegal issues o how it affects their practice. Aust Fam Physician 2009; 38: 66-70. 17 Nash LM, Kelly PJ, Daly MG, et al. Australian doctors' involvement in medicolegal matters: a cross-sectional self-report study. Med J Aust 2009; 191: 436-440. 18 NSW Therapeutic Advisory Group Inc. Guidelines. http://www.ciap.health.nsw.gov.au/nswtag/guidelines.html (accessed Oct 2010).

Elizabeth H van Ekert, BA, DipEd, MMedHum, Professional Services Adviser<sup>6</sup>

Simon M Willcock, MBBS, PhD, Professor of General Practice<sup>7</sup>

Christopher C Tennant, MD, MPH, FRANZCP, Emeritus Professor of Psychiatry<sup>7</sup>

- 1 New South Wales Institute of Psychiatry, Sydney, NSW.
- 2 Discipline of Psychological Medicine, University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW.
- 3 Sydney School of Public Health, University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW.
- 4 Academic GP Unit, Hornsby Ku-ring-gai Hospital, University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW.
- 5 Northern Sydney Central Coast Health Service, Sydney, NSW.
- 6 MDA National, Sydney, NSW.
- 7 University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW. Correspondence:

louise.nash@nswiop.nsw.edu.au

### REFERENCES

1 Nash L, Tennant C, Walton M. The psychological

- 19 Rogers v Whitaker (1992) 175 CLR 479.
- 20 Wilson RMcL, Runciman WB, Gibberd RW, et al. The Quality in Australian Health Care Study. *Med J Aust* 1995; 163: 458-471.
- 21 Brennan TA, Leape LL, Laird N, et al. Incidence of adverse events and negligence in hospitalized patients. Results of the Harvard Medical Practice study I. N Engl J Med 1991; 324: 370-376.
- 22 Baker GR, Norton PG, Flintoft V, et al. The Canadian Adverse Events Study: the incidence of adverse events among hospital patients in Canada. CMAJ 2004; 170: 1678-1686.
- 23 Runciman WB, Merry A, Walton M. Safety and ethics in health care: a guide to getting it right. 1st ed. London: Ashgate Publishers, 2007.

Appropriate education for doctors would include knowledge of the medicolegal envi-

impact of complaints and negligence suits on doctors. Australas Psychiatry 2004; 12: 278-281.

- 2 Jain A, Ogden J. General practitioners' experience of patients' complaints: a qualitative study. BMJ 1999; 318: 1596-1599.
- 3 Mello MM, Studdert DM, Desroches CM, et al. Caring for patients in a malpractice crisis: physician satisfaction and quality of care. *Health Aff* 2004; 23: 42-53.
- 4 Cook R, Neff C. Attitudes of physicians in northern Ontario to medical malpractice litigation. *Can Fam Physician* 1994; 40: 689-698.
- 24 Henry DA, Kerridge IH, Hill SR, et al. Medical specialists and pharmaceutical industry-sponsored research: a survey of the Australian experience. *Med J Aust* 2005; 182: 557-560.
- 25 Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Medical labour force 2005. National health labour force series no. 40. Canberra: AIHW, 2008. (AIHW cat. no. HWL 41.) http://www.aihw.gov.au/publications/index.cfm/title/ 10548 (accessed Oct 2010).

(Received 5 Jan 2010, accepted 12 Aug 2010)

583

#### MJA • Volume 193 Number 10 • 15 November 2010

## **CHAPTER 11: Discussion**

This chapter compares and contrasts my findings with the international literature within the original aims of this thesis: (1) to investigate the factors associated with Australian doctors' involvement in medico-legal matters; (2) to investigate the association between psychiatric morbidity, hazardous alcohol use and medico-legal matters in Australian doctors; (3) to investigate the perceived impact of medico-legal concerns on how Australian doctors practice medicine. The chapter concludes with a discussion of the strengths and limitations of my studies which are referred to as the HCCC study (n=40, doctors with a compliant before the Health Care Complaints Commission), the GP study (n=566, both interventional and non-

interventional GPs) and the large study (n=2999, predominantly specialists, with a minority of GPs and trainees).

## 1. Factors associated with having a current medico-legal matter

## 1.1 Frequency of medico-legal matters

In the large study, 65 percent of respondents reported that they had been involved in a medico-legal matter at some time, with 14 percent involved in a current matter (Chapter 8). In the GP study, 59 percent reported their involvement in a medico-legal matter at some time and 13 percent had a current matter (Chapter 5). The two most common types of medico legal matters in both these studies were claims for compensation and complaints to a health care complaints body. These same two types of matters were the matters that were researched in the international literature.

## Summary of findings

The large study and the GP study similarly found that being male and working in the

interventional areas of medicine (surgery and obstretics/gynaecology in the large study and interventional GPs in the GP study) were associated with a current medico-legal matter

120

(Chapters 7 and 8). An additional finding from the large study was that working longer hours was associated with increased risk of experiencing a current medico-legal matter. There were no significant differences in having a current medico-legal matter and age groups, being Australian or non-Australian trained, being a solo- or non-solo practitioner, or those who attended or failed to attend continuing medical education and or peer review (Chapter 8).

#### 1.2 Gender

Both the GP study and the large study are consistent with the international literature on gender differences with male doctors more likely to be the subject of a claim for compensation or complaint than female doctors (Taragin et al 1992, Hickson et al 2002, Cunningham et al 2003, Firth-Cozens 2008). The multivariate logistic regression in the large study was able to account for other variables. This finding is not therefore a function of male doctors working more hours than females, or being more represented in interventional areas of medicine as these variables were taken into account in the analysis.

#### 1.3 Interventional doctors and radiologists

Both the GP study (which compared interventional GPs with non-interventional GPs) and the large study, like the international literature, found doctors who practiced interventional medicine were more likely to be the subject of a medico-legal matter (Taragin et al 1994, Bark et al 1997, Hickson et al 2002, Hickson t al 2007, Chervenak et al 2007, Conklin et al 2008, Traina 2009, Klagholz et al 2010). International studies about radiology consistently report an increase in claims for compensation (Conklin et al 2008, Fileni 2010, Elmore et al 2005, Berlin 2005). Similarly radiologists in my large study had the third highest rate of claim for compensation of the specialty groups behind obstetrican/gynaecologists and surgeons.

121

#### 1.4 Longer hours of work

The findings of my large study support the little evidence that there is of an association between longer hours of work and an increase in likelihood of experiencing a medico-legal matter (Hickson et al 2002, Kalucy 2002) with doctors in the large study who worked more than 40 hours per week having a higher number of medico-legal matters compared with those who worked less than 40 hours per week (multivariate analysis). Doctors working 50-59 hours per week were in the highest risk bracket for a current medico-legal matter in the large study (Chapter 8).

#### 1.5 Factors not associated

My large study found that doctors who trained overseas did not have a higher rate of medico-legal matters, consistent with USA (Taragin et al 1992, Hickson et al 2002) and New Zealand studies (Cunningham et al 2003). Again there was little evidence on this issue prior to my study although there is some evidence from the UK (NCAS 2006) and Australia (Kalucy 2002) that overseas trained doctors have a higher rate of performance concerns.

My large study found that doctors who did attend Peer review and or Continuing medical education did not differ from doctors who did not, with regard to whether or not they experienced a medico-legal matter. This was in contrast to my pilot study of doctors with a complaint to the HCCC, which did find a correlation between higher numbers of educational meetings attended and lower number of complaints (r=0.56; p<0.001). However, the numbers in the large study, combined with the statistical analysis considering all variables make the findings of the large study more robust.

#### 1.6 Summary

Thus my findings are consistent with international studies in that males and interventional doctors have a higher risk of experiencing a medico-legal matter. The large study also provides further evidence in three notable areas: there was a significant association
between having a current medico-legal matter and longer hours of work; there was no association between the doctor experiencing a current medico-legal matter and medical degree being obtained outside the host country and no association between the doctor experiencing a current medico-legal matter and attending peer review or continuing medical education.

#### 2. Factors associated with psychiatric morbidity

#### 2.1 Medico-legal matter

Both my large study and GP study found that having a current medico-legal matter was associated with increased psychiatric morbidity (Chapters 5 and 9). The small HCCC pilot study of doctors with a complaint before the New South Wales Health Care Complaints Commission found that 38 percent of those doctors reached case identification<sup>14</sup> for psychiatric morbidity, but did not have a comparison group (Chapter 4). The HCCC result for case identification for psychiatric morbidity is similar to the 39 percent of doctors with a current medico-legal matter who reached case identification for psychiatric morbidity in the large study compared with 26 percent who reached case identification who did not have a current medico-legal matter in the large study (p<0.001) (Chapter 9).

The majority of international studies rely on respondents' memory of their emotional response to complaints and claims for compensation. Studies from the USA (Charles et al 1984, Charles et al 1985, Charles et al 1988a, Charles et al 1988b, Martin 1991) UK (Bark 1997, Jain 1991, Mulcahy 1995), Canada (Cook 1992), New Zealand (Cunningham et al 2000, Cunningham et al 2003, Cunningham et al 2004) and Iran (Saberi et al 2009) all report an increase in psychiatric morbidity with the presence of symptoms such as tension, frustration, anger, guilt, distress, shame, depression and thoughts of suicide; for many doctors this is a major life trauma. Only the Iran study (Saberi et al 2009) used a formal psychiatric

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Case identification for risk of psychiatric morbidity is based on a combined score of more than 4 for the total questionnaire. The questionnaire has 28 items and uses binary scoring for each item with the two least symptomatic answers scoring 0 and the two most symptomatic answers scoring 1.

morbidity measure (GHQ) and in fact they used the method and questionnaire from my HCCC study.

In the large study, respondents were asked their retrospective recall of the impact of the most recent matter (which could have been at any time past or present) on their health (Table 22). The results are similar to those found in international studies - increase in anxiety, depression, alcohol use and other medical problems. While these retrospective results have not been presented in the articles that make up this thesis, they have been presented at conferences and in a book Chapter (Nash et al in press).

Table 22: Recall of the impact on doctor's health of most recent medico-legal matter from the large study of specialists, GPs and trainees.

· Did you:	% who replied more than usual N=1902	% who sought professional help for this problem N=1902		
Become anxious	73	9		
Become depressed	44	8		
Require anti-depressant medication	5	5		
Drink alcohol	14	3		
Use benzodiazepines	5	3		
Have other medical problems	13	7		

#### 2.2 Long hours and no holidays

Other work related factors associated with increased psychiatric morbidity from my large study were not taking a holiday in the previous year and working long hours, with doctors working more than 50 hours per week having higher levels of psychiatric morbidity, and more so for those working over 60 hours per week (Chapter 9). This is in keeping with the themes of long hours and overwork of the international literature where overwork (Ramirez et al 1996, Firth-cozens et al 1990, Firth-cozens et al 1998, Bruce et al 2003), overload between work and home (Ramirez et al 1996, Firth-Cozens et al 1990, Firth-cozens et al 1998, Coomber et al 2002, Bruce et al 2003) and working long hours (Coomber et al 2002; Richardson et al 2003) were associated with psychiatric morbidity.

#### 2.3 Personality

The personality traits of neuroticism and introversion were associated with increased psychiatric morbidity in doctors in my large study (Chapter 9) consistent with international studies. Higher neuroticism scores (McManus et al 2004, Newbury-Birch et al 2001, Tyssen et al 2001), were predictive of mental health problems and also in the Australian predictive longitudinal study<sup>15</sup>. Introversion in medical graduates (McManus et al 2004) and introversion in female doctors but not male doctors (Newbury-Birch et al 2001) was also a risk factor for psychiatric morbidity.

#### 2.4 Factors not associated

Doctors aged 60 years and over in my large study were less at risk of psychiatric morbidity than younger doctors (Chapter 9) in keeping with Peisah and colleagues' study (2009) of older Australian doctors. However, it could be that doctors over 60 years who are either less satisfied or more stressed with their work simply retire, leaving only those with lower risk of psychiatric morbidity remaining in practice.

Interestingly, there was no significant difference between males and females in case identification for psychiatric morbidity in either the large study (Chapter 9) or the GP study (Chapter 5). This is an interesting finding considering the reliability of the GHQ, the size of the samples and the conflicting data internationally on gender and psychiatric morbidity. My findings are in keeping with the results of the three prospective studies of medical students to doctors in England (Firth-Cozens 1998), Norway (Tyssen et al 2001) and Australia (Willcock et al 2004) where no gender differences in rates of psychiatric morbidity were found. However, this is in contrast to cross sectional studies in which females had consistently higher rates of psychiatric morbidity than males (Ramirez 1996, Wall et al 1997, Newbury-Birch 2001).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Personal communication with Simon Willcock- author of Willcock et al 2004

There was no association between marital status and psychiatric morbidity in my large study in the multivariable analysis (Chapter 9). This result is at odds with the international literature in which being partnered is associated with lower psychiatric morbidity (Ramirez 1996, Tyssen et al 2001, Hayasaka 2007, Sharma et al 2008).

#### 3. Factors associated with hazardous alcohol use

#### 3.1 Medico-legal matters

The GP study found that potentially hazardous alcohol use was significantly associated with having a current medico-legal matter (univariate analysis and binary logistic regression) (Chapter 5). However, the large study of specialists, GPs and trainees found an association between potentially hazardous alcohol use and a current medico-legal matter in the univariate analysis (p<0.001), but not in the multivariate logistic regression that considers all the other variables, although the association approached significance (p=0.09) (Chapter 9). The retrospective component of the study reported above (table 22) found that 14 percent of doctors recalled drinking alcohol more than usual during their most recent matter.

Other studies also confirm an increase in alcohol use for a proportion of doctors during the stress of a medico-legal matter; Wenokur and colleagues (1991) found that alcohol use increased during a law suit in 11 percent of respondents, similar to the findings of my retrospective question on alcohol use where 14 percent of respondents recall using alcohol more than usual. Likewise, in other studies, at times of increased stress, some doctors increase their alcohol intake (Ramirez et al 1996, Newbury-Birch 2001(b), Taylor et al 2007).

Factors significantly associated with potentially hazardous alcohol use from the large study were being male, being Australian-trained compared with non-Australian trained, aged between 40 and 59 years, the personality traits of neuroticism and extraversion, failing to meet Continuing Medical Education requirements, and being a solo practitioner (Chapter 9).

#### 3.2 Gender

The GP study (Chapter 5) and the large study (Chapter 9) found that males were more at risk of hazardous alcohol use than females. This is consistent with community samples (Australian Bureau of Statistics 2007, Kessler et al 1993) and doctor samples (Rosta 2008, Rosta et al 2005, Taylor 2007).

#### 3.3 Not meeting continuing medical education requirements

My GP study found no difference in potentially hazardous alcohol use for GPs who attended peer review or formal education (eg conferences) and those who did not. However, my large study found that doctors who had not met their continuing medical education requirement had increased risk of hazardous alcohol use. This is similar to Kalucy's (2002) review of doctors referred to the Health Committee of the South Australian Medical Board for health problems such as drug misuse or mental illness. Not attending continuing medical education was reported as a "common" feature of those doctors. It may be that education sessions are important from a 'learning' point of view, as well as a time for collegial support.

#### 3.4 Solo practitioners

Being a solo practitioner in the large study was also associated with potentially hazardous alcohol use. This finding echoes Kalucy's study (2002) of doctors with drug misuse and mental illness being "over represented" in solo practice. My studies were cross sectional, and therefore cause and effect cannot be determined, however, one can hypothesise that doctors with alcohol problems may gravitate towards solo practice, or is it that solo practice may be more isolative and stressful and that alcohol is a negative coping strategy for some.

#### 3.5 Factors not associated

Doctors who worked long hours or had not taken a holiday in 12 months were less associated with hazardous alcohol use than doctors who worked fewer hours and had taken a holiday in the past year. This is the opposite of the psychiatric morbidity findings where doctors working long hours with no holiday in the previous year were more likely to have psychiatric morbidity. Perhaps the hours of work and on call commitments reduce the occasions to have an alcoholic drink, but the heavy hours and lack of holidays increase the psychiatric morbidity. Another possibility is that doctors who are drinking more hazardously may be working less hours.

My large study did not find an association between any particular specialty (or GP or trainee) and potentially hazardous alcohol use (Chapter 9) in contrast to increased incidence of hazardous alcohol use in surgeons as found by Rosta (2008) and Rosta et al (2005).

### 4. The perceived impact of medico-legal concerns on how Australian doctors practice medicine

My GP study and my large study of specialists, GPs and trainees, found a high level of concern about medico-legal issues, irrespective of whether they had experienced a medico-legal matter themselves. However, for many of the items (listed in Chapters 6 and 10), doctors with experience of a medico-legal matter had a more extreme response.

Comparisons of the GP study and the large study findings with international studies are itemized in table 23. This is from Table 2, Chapter 3, with the addition of my GP and large studies at the bottom of the table for ease of comparison.

#### 4.1 Assurance Behaviours

<u>4.1.1 Referrals to specialists</u> more than usual due to medico-legal concerns was reported by 66 percent of the GP study and 43 percent of the large study (who were mainly specialists, therefore likely to refer less). There was no difference in either study between doctors who had experienced a medico-legal matter and those who had not. A weighted analysis (reported in Chapter 10) was undertaken to adjust the large study results according to the proportions of GPs and specialty respondents based on the Australian workforce. The increased GP weighting in the large study resulted in an increase in referrals to 51 percent. Comparisons with international studies for this item range from 52 percent (Studdert et al 2005) to 80 percent (Catino 2009) (see table 23).

### Table 23: Assurance and avoidance behaviours due to medico-legal concerns\*

Country; sample	Respondent	Percent	Percent who	Percent	Percent	Percent who
type; study type,	sample size	who refer	order tests or	who	who are	avoid or stop
author and year	and	patients	procedures	prescribe	more	certain
	Response rate	to specialists	more than usual	medication more than	selective regarding	procedures

		more than usual		usual	patients seen	
USA; sued doctors; self report survey, Charles et al 1984	n=154 rr 34%		62		42	28
USA; All drs who practice obstetrics; 1982- 88 insurance file review, Rosenblatt 1990	n=690 100% file review					25% stopped obstetrics in 6 year period
Canada; GPs and Specialists; self report survey, Cook 1994	n=171 rr49% GPs rr71% specialists.					50% GPs 45% Specialist
England; GPs; self report survey, Summerton 1995	n=300 rr 60%	64	60	29	25	42
Australia; obstetric rural GPs; self report survey, Watts 1997	n=167 rr 82%				14%stopped obstetrics previous 12 months	14% stopped obstetrics in previous 12 months

England; Consultants and registrars in acute hospitals; self report survey, Bark 1997	n=769 rr 76%				30% Surgical doctors and 20%of Non- surgical:
US; on-line self report; Common Good 2002	N=300 rr not given	74	79	41	

Country; sample type; study type, author and year	Respondent sample size and Response rate	Percent who refer patients to specialists more than usual	Percent who order tests or procedures more than usual	Percent who prescribe medication more than usual	Percent who are more selective regarding patients seen	Percent who avoid or stop certain procedures
US; on-line witnessed in colleagues; Common Good 2002	N=300 rr not given	85	91	73		
US; radiologists; self report survey, Elmore 2005	n=139 rr 77%		72% more mammography or ultrasound, 59%more breast biopsy			35% consider stopping mammography
US; high risk of litigation doctors; self report survey, Studdert 2005	n=824; rr 65%	52	59	33	39	32
Japan; gastro- enterologists; self report survey, Hiyama 2006	n=131 rr 77%	68	36	16	75	75
Italy; GPs; self report survey, Catino 2009	n=300 rr 30%	78% in past month		26% in past month		
US, primary care and specialists; self report survey, Bishop 2010	n=1231; rr 51%		91			
US, self report survey; Carrier 2010	n=4720 rr 62%	60	64			
Puerto Rico; all doctors in San Juan district; self report survey, Cruz 2010	n=951 rr 30%				50% do not accept high risk patients	48% do not accept emergency cases
Australia; GPs; self report survey, Nash 2009	n=566 rr 46%	66	73	19		49% avoid an obstetric procedure 49% avoid an invasive procedure
Australia						34% avoid an



\* Studies in chronological order apart from the GP study (Nash et al 2009) and large study (Nash et al 2010) added at end.

<u>4.1.2 An increase in test ordering</u> due to medico-legal concerns is associated with increased costs and may be potentially dangerous. Increased test ordering was perceived to occur with 73 percent of the GP sample with no difference for GPs who had and had not experienced a medico-legal matter. Similarly, 55% of the large study believed they ordered more tests due to medico-legal concerns, with significantly more doctors who had experienced a medico-legal matter reporting an increase compared to those who had not (57 percent v 52 percent, p=0.01). Comparisons with international studies range between 60 percent in Summerton's study (1995) and 91 percent in the US Bishop et al study (2010) (see table 23).

4.1.3 Similarly, prescribing medication more than usual due to medico-legal concern is costly as well as exposing patients to risks of side effects and complications. However, only 11 percent of the large study reported prescribing medications more than usual, with no difference for doctors who had and had not experienced a medico-legal matter. In the GP study, 19 percent of respondents reported that they prescribed medication more than usual due to medico-legal concerns and this was significantly more for those doctors who had experienced a medico-legal matter compared to those who had not (23 percent v 15 percent, p=0.018). Comparisons with international studies range between 16 percent in Hiyama's Japanese study (2006) to 41 percent in the US Common Good study (2002) (see table 23). Australia has invested in campaigns for safe prescribing over the past decade and this may have had a positive effect on prescribing (NSW Therapeutic Advisory Group Inc. Guidelines, accessed 2010).

#### 4.2 Avoidance Behaviours

<u>4.2.1 Selectivity of patients</u> was also an outcome of medico legal concern and experience with 27 percent of the large study perceiving they were more selective regarding patients seen due to medico-legal concerns. This was significantly more for those doctors who had experienced a medico-legal matter compared to those who had not (33 percent v 17 percent, p<0.001).

This item can be interpreted in many ways and there was great variation in the literature on this item (see table 23). Summerton's GP study (1995) reported 25 percent were more selective regarding patients seen, compared with 75 percent of Japanese gastroenterololgists (Hiyama 2006).

<u>4.2.2 Avoidance of certain procedures</u> was reported by thirty-four percent of the 813 who replied to the item on avoiding certain obstetric procedures in the large study (2109 answered not applicable). This was significantly more for those doctors who had experienced a medico-legal matter compared to those who had not (39 percent v 25 percent, p<0.001). The large study also found that 40 percent of respondents perceived they avoided a particular type of invasive procedure due to medico-legal concerns, and significantly more for those doctors who had not (42 percent v 36 percent, p=0.01). The GP study found that 49 percent avoided particular obstetric procedures (60 percent answered not applicable to this item) and 49 percent perceived they avoided a particular type of invasive procedure due to medico-legal concerns. Comparisons with other studies range from 14 percent of Australian rural GPs stopping obstetric practice in the 12 months prior (Watts, 1997), and 50 percent of GPs avoided or stopped certain procedures in the Canadian study (Cook 1994) (see table 23).

This avoidance of certain patients and procedures has workforce implications particularly in rural and remote Australia. This is also a feature of practice in other countries where medico-legal concerns are high.

#### 4.3 Reducing hours of work or years in practice

In addition to stopping certain procedures, many doctors consider reducing their hours of work or years in practice. In my large study 33 percent considered giving up medicine, 32 percent said they considered reducing hours of work and 40 percent thought of retiring early due to medico-legal concerns. These were all significantly more for doctors who had

experienced a medico-legal matter than those who had not (Chapter 10). Similarly, in my GP study, 48 percent of respondents perceived that medico-legal factors made them consider retiring early from medicine, and again this was significantly more for doctors who had experienced a medico-legal matter than those who had not (52 percent v 43 percent, p=0.038). Accelerated retirement is a particular issue with Australia's workforce shortage. Cunningham et al (2004), in their New Zealand study of doctors who had a complaint against them, reported that one of the long term impacts of being the subject of a complaint was that nine percent of those doctors did not wish to keep on practicing medicine.

#### 4.4 Changes in the way doctors relate to patients

Changes in the way doctors relate to patients due to medico legal concern and or experience was variable. Fifty-five percent of respondents believed they were more attentive with patients, 26 percent reported being more empathic with patients, but 18 percent reported that they had become more distant from patients due to medico-legal concerns. In all these items, doctors who had experienced a medico-legal matter were significantly more likely to agree with the statements than those who had not experienced a medico-legal matter. In Cunningham and colleagues' (2004) New Zealand study of doctors who had been the subject of a complaint, 38 percent of doctors in the short term and 32 percent in the long-term reported a reduction in trust of patients and 29 percent in the short term and 18 percent in the long term reporting a reduction in goodwill to patients. Similarly 38 percent of doctors from the US Commongood study reported that the fear of malpractice made their relationship with patients less personal.

#### 4.5 Communication inadequacies

Communication inadequacies were perceived to be a factor in most mistakes by 94 percent of respondents in the large study, 93 percent in the GP study and 78 percent in the HCCC study. Interestingly in both the GP and large studies, significantly fewer doctors with experience of a medico-legal matter said communication was a factor compared to those who had not experienced a medico-legal matter. Perhaps a minority of those who had been the subject of complaint or negligence claim did not believe their communication to be inadequate. Studies and commentaries in Australia (Anderson et al 2001, Taylor et al 2004) and overseas (Bark et al 1997, Cunningham 2006, Hickson et al 2002, Ramirez et al 1996, Clinton et al 2006) all report that communication is an issue in the majority of medico-legal matters, and recommend training to improve communication skills in doctors.

#### 4.6 Potentially safer practice changes

In addition to assurance and avoidance behaviours, doctors also perceive they make efforts to improve the quality and safety of patient care. These changes are potentially beneficial for patients, doctors and health care in general. Providing more information to patients was reported by the majority of respondents in the large study (81 percent) with significantly more for doctors who had experienced a medico-legal matter than those who had not (83 percent v 78 percent, p<0.001). This is similar to international studies where doctors provide more information to patients in eighty percent of the Canadian study due to medicolegal concerns (Cook et al 1994) and 87 percent of Summerton's English GP sample (1995).

Better tracking of test results due to medico-legal concerns was reported by 48 percent of the large study and 70 percent of the GP study with no difference in either study for those who had and had not experienced a medico-legal matter. Better methods to identify nonattenders due to medico-legal concerns was reported by 39 percent in the large study, with a significant difference in those who had experienced a medico-legal matter compared with those who had not (41 percent v 34 percent, p=0.001), and 36 percent in the GP study (no difference between those who had and had not experienced a medico-legal matter). Routine auditing of clinical practice due to medico-legal concerns was believed to have occurred more than usual by 35 percent of the large study and 47 percent in the GP study with no difference

in either study for those who had and had not experienced a medico-legal matter.

Summerton's study (1995) found that development of audit systems within the practice was reported by 34 percent of his GP sample due to medico-legal concerns (Summerton 1995). However, other than this, there is very little in the literature for comparison with tracking of tests, identifying non-attenders and auditing clinical practice.

#### 5. Legal risk

My three studies explored the doctor's understanding of the law as it relates to mistakes and adverse outcomes. There was near universal agreement that doctors make mistakes, with 98 percent in the large study, 97 percent in the GP study and 94 percent in the HCCC study agreeing with the proposition. However, 54 percent of the large study, 64 percent of the GP study, and 39 percent of the HCCC study believed that the law requires them to make perfect decisions. In both the large and the GP study this was significantly greater for those who had experienced a medico-legal matter compared with those who had not (large study 56 percent v 50 percent, p<0.001, GP study 68 percent v 59 percent, p=0.038). Yet the law does not require perfection. The majority decision of the High Court of Australia in Rogers v Whitaker (1992) established that "*The law imposes on a medical practitioner a duty to exercise reasonable care and skill in the provision of professional advice and treatment*".

Despite the belief by nearly all respondents that all doctors make mistakes, 19 percent of respondents in the large study and 21 percent in the GP study believed that medical mistakes are rare. This is at odds with the patient safety literature which highlights the extent of adverse events and negligence in many developed countries (Brennan et al 1991, Thomas et al 2000, Wilson et al 1995, Vincent et al 2001).

#### 6. Strengths of the research method

The strengths of my research method were the reliable and valid measures used (GHQ AUDIT, EPQ), the large sample size in both the GP and the large study, the statistical methods, the comparison between doctors who had and had not experienced a medico-legal matter, and the ability to compare respondents with non-respondents on key demographic items, type of practice, and history of medico-legal matters through the insurance company data.

#### **6.1** Measures

The use of the GHQ, AUDIT and EPQ, has not been done in other studies of doctors involved in medico-legal matters prior to this research. In fact my method has already been used elsewhere (Saberi et al 2009).

The legal risk questions were developed for the HCCC pilot study, and were found to have face and construct validity. These were expanded using questions from the international literature to explore changes of practice due to medico-legal concerns. There was no previous standardised questionnaire for this part of the study.

#### 6.2 Size of samples and representation of Australian doctors

The GP study represented three percent of the Australian GP workforce (2005 data), and was similar in gender distribution and hours of work. Women made up 35.8 percent of the respondents compared with 36.5 percent in the 2005 workforce data, and respondent mean hours of work per week was 40.9 hours compared with 39.9 hours for GPs per week of the 2005 workforce data (Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2008).

The large study of 2,999 Australian doctors is the largest of its kind in Australia, and one of the largest in the world. It represents five percent of the Australian medical workforce and around 10 percent of the non-GP specialist groups (ranging from nine percent for physicians to 14 percent for obstetricians and gynaecologists) (Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2008). The mean number of hours worked per week by doctors in my large study was 44.8 overall; with 48.0 for males and 37.1 for females. This was similar to the 2005 workforce data for doctors with mean hours worked per week of 43.7; with 46.7 for males and 37.6 for females. However, the mean age of doctors in my large study differed from the workforce data. My sample mean age was 51.7 years; with 53.6 years for males and 46.9 years for females. This was higher than the mean age in the 2005 survey of 45.1 years overall; 47.3 years for males and 40.6 years for females. This is due to the exclusion of most junior doctors from my large study.

#### 6.3 Statistical methods

The large study with 2,999 subjects could detect differences which otherwise might have been missed in a small sample. Comparisons between those with and those without medico-legal experience in the change of practice and understanding of legal risk parts of the study (reported in Chapter 10) were reported as statistically significant at  $P \leq 0.01$  due to the large sample. Doctors who had experienced a medico-legal matter responded in a significantly different way to many of the items, but often all doctors perceived they changed their behaviour. The multivariate analysis in the large study for factors associated with medicolegal matters and psychiatric morbidity and alcohol use in Australian doctors meant that the results were adjusted for the other variables in the model.

#### 7. Limitations of the research method

There are four limitations of the research: the response rate of the large study, the lack of an objective measure of change in practice, the potentially over-inclusive self report compared with insurance company data on medico-legal matters and the lack of longitudinal data. These are discussed below.

#### 7.1 Response rate

Response rates in studies of doctors are frequently low, as evident in the literature discussed in Chapters 2 and 3. The HCCC response rate and the GP study response rate were moderate (60 percent in HCCC, and 46 percent in GP study). However, the large study was relatively low at 36 percent and therefore there is the potential for responder bias. However, through the insurance company database, comparisons were done by the insurance company between respondents and non-respondents with respect to age, sex and type of medico-legal matter as described in Chapter 8, 9 and 10. Although there were statistically significant differences in age and sex, the differences were very small. Our results may have slightly overestimated the occurrence of medico-legal matters as respondents were more likely than non-respondents to have been the subject of claims for compensation, health care complaints and coronial inquiries, but again, these differences were small, and there was no difference in the other nine types of medico-legal matters according to the insurance company data.

To further examine the non-response issue for the factors associated with medico-legal matters, a sensitivity analysis was conducted by weighting the results according to the response rate of each specialty in Chapter 8. This made little difference. Similarly, a weighted analysis was conducted to adjust the estimated percentages weighted according to the proportions of GPs and specialty respondents based on workforce data for the change of practice component of the study reported in Chapter 10. Only three weighted percentages differed by more than three percent form the un-weighted percentages: ordering tests was estimated to be 60 percent (compared with 55 percent); tracking test results was estimated to be 53 percent (compared with 48 percent) and refer patients to specialists 51% (compared with 43 percent). These changes mainly reflect the higher weighting that was given to GP responses due to the smaller proportion of GPs in the sample compared with workforce data.

#### 7.2 Lack of objective measure of change in practice

As found in Elmore and colleagues' study (2005), the objective measure of the radiologists' actual recall rates for breast biopsy after mammography was not associated with their perceptions of whether they increased their recall rates due to malpractice concerns, or their experience of malpractice. Additionally, in that study and the Common Good study (2002), doctors thought that their colleagues, rather than themselves, were more likely to change practice as a result of medico legal concerns. While perception may not represent actual change, it is a measure of concern. Further research using objective measures, as in Elmore et al's study (2005), is required. My findings of perceived changes in behaviour and beliefs about the practice of medicine indicate a high level of concern regarding medico-legal issues.

#### 7.3 Potentially over-inclusive self report data

The GP study compared level of agreement between self-report data and the medical insurance company data on frequency of medico-legal matters. Ninety per cent of GPs who had a current or past medico-legal matter recorded by the insurance company recorded a current or past matter in self report data. However, thirty-four percent of GPs who did not have a medico-legal matter recorded by the insurance company did record a matter in self-report data. This was likely due to the fact that respondents were asked to include all matters, either with the collaborating insurance company or other insurer, and possible over-inclusion with self-report data referring to a medico-legal matter that the insurance company may not regard as such (Chapter 5). Both the GP and large studies defined medico-legal matter to include a very broad range of matters in the questionnaires. In retrospect, it may have been better to narrow this to claims for compensation and complaints to a complaints body. This would have made comparison with international literature more direct. Claims for compensation and complaints to a complaints body were the most common types of medico-

legal matters in both my GP and large studies. The HCCC study was obviously limited to doctors with a current complaint before the HCCC.

#### 7.4 Lack of longitudinal data

A longitudinal study is needed to compare the baseline measures of GHQ and AUDIT with changes over the time of the medico-legal process for those doctors. This would answer the 'chicken and egg' question of whether doctors who are involved in a medico-legal matter have increased psychiatric morbidity due to the medico-legal process, or do their higher levels of psychiatric morbidity make them more likely to be the subject of a claim, complaint or inquiry? This question can not be answered from my cross sectional studies. However, the retrospective component of my large study found that many doctors recall the medico-legal matter impacted on their health causing the doctor to become more anxious in 73 percent, more depressed in 44 percent, and to increase their alcohol use in 14 percent. This is consistent with the international literature. However, it may be that both directions (chicken and egg) are involved in a reciprocal fashion as in the literature on psychiatric morbidity and increased error, and error and increased psychiatric morbidity (Firth Cozens 1997, West et al 2006, West et al 2009, Shanafelt et al 2010, Fahrenkopf et al 2008).

A suggested longitudinal qualitative study could use a small sample of doctors with in depth interviews every 6 months for two years commencing as the medico-legal matter started. The AUDIT and GHQ could also be used as self report measures for quantitative analysis. Additional measures for depression and burnout would also be appropriate. For cohesion in the study, and ease of comparison with international literature, the medico-legal matters could be limited to claims for compensation and or complaints to a Complaints body such as the New South Wales Health Care Complaints Commission.

#### 8. Summary of Findings

Over half Australian doctors will experience some kind of medico-legal matter during their career. Approximately 14 percent will have a current matter at any time, the most common of which are claims for compensation and a complaint to a complaints body.

Factors associated with experiencing a medico-legal matter are being male, working in the interventional areas of medicine and working long hours.

Experiencing a medico-legal matter is reported in the international literature as being a major trauma for many doctors, with an increase in psychiatric morbidity reported by international studies and for some an increase in alcohol use. Factors associated with psychiatric morbidity in Australian doctors include having a current medico-legal matter, not taking a holiday in the previous year, working long hours, and having the personality traits of neuroticism or introversion. Factors associated with potentially hazardous alcohol use in Australian doctors are being male, being Australian-trained, being between 40 and 59 years of age, having the personality traits of neuroticism or extraversion, failing to meet Continuing Medical Education requirements and being a solo practitioner. There was weaker evidence that having a current medico-legal matter is associated with hazardous alcohol use. Whether this is cause or effect, or indeed both, can not be discerned from my research.

Australian doctors have a high level of concern about medico-legal issues. They perceive that this impacts on their practice in both potentially beneficial and potentially detrimental ways. There are changes to practice that are both costly and have the potential to harm patients as a result of additional tests or medications and there are changes that are potentially beneficial with efforts to improve communication and the safety and quality of health care.

There continues to be some confusion with the doctors understanding of the law as it relates to mistakes and adverse outcomes with around half of the respondent doctors believing

the law requires them to make perfect decisions. However, the law does not require perfection but "*a duty to exercise reasonable care*" (Rogers v Whitaker 1992). Further education is recommended on this and other issues relating to this research in the following and final chapter.

## **CHAPTER 12: Conclusions and Recommendations**

I make the following three recommendations as a result of this research.

## 1. Medico-legal matters and Australian doctors

I have presented both the factors associated with Australian doctors being the subject of a medico-legal matter and the factors associated with psychiatric morbidity and or hazardous alcohol use in Australian doctors. A medico-legal matter was one of those factors. I have also investigated perceived changes to medical practice by Australian doctors because of medico-legal concerns. There was a mixture of assurance behaviours with additional referrals, tests or medications which may or may not assist the patient, but cost the health service, and

avoidance behaviours where some patients or treatments are avoided which may deprive some communities of services. In addition, my findings highlight potential system improvements as a result of many doctors instituting better systems of tracking results, and better methods of identifying non-attenders and auditing clinical practice due to medico-legal concerns. The research outcomes also strongly suggest medico legal concerns have an impact on workforce availability with around a third of Australian doctors considering reducing their hours per week and years in practice. This is more so for doctors who have experienced a medico-legal matter compared with those who have not.

In addition, my findings indicate that doctors misunderstand some aspects of the law as it relates to mistakes and adverse outcomes. Having greater understanding about the law, the frequency of medico-legal matters and the type of matters (claims for compensation and

complaints to a complaints body being the commonest), who is most likely to experience a

medico-legal matter and the possible outcomes is important knowledge for doctors.

From this research we know that males, those in high intervention areas and working

143

longer hours, are most likely to experience a medico-legal matter. We also know that most

doctors find this an emotionally difficult time with anxiety and depressive symptoms

common. Having a greater understanding of both the law and the emotional response may help doctors cope better with this work stressor, and also may be a preventative strategy – to prevent distress, and possibly prevent medico-legal matters. Education may enable some doctors to see where they could improve areas of their practice. For example, communication is seen as a factor in most matters and improved skills in this area may prevent a proportion of claims, complaints and inquiries (Clinton and Obama 2006, Anderson et al 2001, Tayler et al 2004, Ramirez et al 1996, Hickson et al 2002, Cunningham et al 2006, Bark et al 1997).

#### **Recommendation 1**:

All doctors should have targeted education on medico-legal matters to improve their knowledge of legal aspects, the frequency and factors associated with and the emotional and behavioural sequelae of experiencing a medico-legal matter. An introductory workshop presented in the final years of medical school would be an ideal time considering that junior doctors are not immune to these experiences. More advanced education could be part of professional development through workplace training, College programmes, and medical insurance company education. Health Care Complaints bodies should be aware of these findings even though they may not provide education to the workforce.

Such a workshop would also aim to improve communication skills. Again this is appropriate for all stages of medical education from medical school to senior doctors. Whether a greater understanding of medico legal matters will have other benefits such as improved morale, more productivity, better relationships with patients are areas for further study.

#### 2. Psychiatric morbidity and alcohol use in Australian doctors

Medical registration requires a practitioner is fit to practice. I have presented key work factors that are associated with psychiatric morbidity in Australian doctors which include having a current medico-legal matter, not taking a holiday in the previous year and working long hours. Demographic and work factors associated with potentially hazardous alcohol use include being male, Australian-trained, a solo practitioner, aged between 40 and 59 years and failing to meet Continuing Medical Education requirements. The personality traits of neuroticism or introversion make a doctor more at risk of psychiatric morbidity, while neuroticism or extraversion make a doctor more at risk of potentially hazardous alcohol use.

The mental health of medical practitioners is important not only for the doctor and their family, but for the provision of quality patient care. Recent studies indicate a reciprocal relationship between the risk of psychiatric morbidity in doctors and the risk of real (Fahrenkopf et al 2008) or perceived error (West et al 2006, West et al 2009, Shanafelt et al 2010).

#### Recommendation 2:

This Australian data on psychiatric morbidity and hazardous alcohol use in doctors can be used in medical and workforce education to inform medical students and doctors of risks and encourage prevention and early intervention. My findings can inform such medical education and workforce planning. Unlike gender, age and personality traits, work and lifestyle factors associated with psychiatric morbidity and hazardous alcohol can be addressed. Doctors should reflect on their hours of work and need for holidays. Again such education can take place in medical schools and the workplace.

Involvement in a medico-legal matter is a stressful part of medical practice today and being better informed about this aspect of work is important as part of self care of doctors to enable provision of optimal care to patients (Wenokur et al 1991). Positive coping strategies (Wenokur et al 1991), such as knowledge of the psychological consequences, cognitive reframing and collegial and personal supports (Martin et al 1991) are to be encouraged and avoidance of negative coping strategies such as over-work or excess alcohol or self-

medication.

Simple advice for doctors who are the subject of a medico-legal matter includes:

- Appreciate that a medico legal incident will occur at some stage to the majority of doctors, even though it is a rare event in the life of any single doctor.
- Appreciate that many more patients could make a formal complaint or claim for compensation for negligence than ever do.
- Reflect on the experience and make appropriate changes to minimise the chance of this happening again.
- Seek advice from legal experts to be well informed and well prepared (Bell 2008, Bozic 2004).
- Be mindful of the impact on the doctor as either the subject of a matter or when a colleague is the subject.
- Understand that distress, depression and anxiety are common responses.
- Seek early advice from one's own doctor and avoid negative coping such as over work, drug and alcohol misuse.

# 3. The benefit of this empirical research and recommendations for further research

A significant benefit of this research is the greater understanding of the medico-legal experience for doctors in Australia. This removes the uncertainty associated with anecdotal evidence. The lack of empirical evidence of the Australian experience of medical negligence was noted by Ipp et al in 2002 in their Review of the law of negligence for the Commonwealth of Australia (2002). This has now partly been addressed by this research. We now have the empirical evidence on the doctors' experience of medico-legal matters in Australia if another such review was to occur. However, further research is recommended to develop these finding.

#### **Recommendation 3**:

I recommend further research of in depth interviews of a cohort of doctors as they go through a medico-legal matter from start to finish. I recommend this to be limited to complaints against the doctor to a formal complaints body, and claims for compensation for negligence. These were the two commonest matters in my studies, and the two matters with the most international literature for comparison. Qualitative interviews could be undertaken at six monthly intervals, and map both the particularly difficult times, and the interventions that were or were not helpful. Collated, these experiences would guide assistance that could be given to doctors in the future. This would inform further the education recommended in recommendations 1 and 2, and assistance provided from medical insurance companies.

Finally, I recommend that the evidence presented in this thesis inform future discussions about systems of health care complaint and compensation in Australia to better understand doctors' responses to medico-legal matters.

### References

Aalto M, Hyvonen S, Seppa K. Do primary care physicians' own AUDIT scores predict their use of brief alcohol intervention? A cross-sectional survey. Drug and Alcohol Dependence. 2006;83:169-173.

Aasland OG, Førde R. Impact of feeling responsible for adverse events on doctors' personal and professional lives: the importance of being open to criticism from colleagues. Quality and Safety in Health Care.2005;14:13-17.

Anderson K, Allan D, Finucane P. A 30-month study of patient complaints at a major Australian hospital. Journal of Quality in Clinical Practice.2001;21:109-111.

Australian Bureau of Statistics. National Survey of Mental Health and Wellbeing 2007. [accessed 2010 Nov 15]. http://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/Latestproducts/4326.0Main%20Features12007? opendocument&tabname=Summary&prodno=4326.0&issue=2007&num=&view=

Australian Competition and Consumer Commission Medical indemnity insurance sixth monitoring report April 2009. [accessed 2010 Sep 4].

http://www.accc.gov.au/content/item.phtml?itemId=870359&nodeId=855f649d21dc223c 6e324c47d4df58ad&fn=Medical+indemnity+insurance,+sixth+monitoring+report.pdf

Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Medical labour force 2005. Canberra: AIHW, 2008. (AIHW Cat. No. HWL 41; National Health Labour Force Series No. 40.) [accessed 2010 Jun 10]. <u>http://www.aihw.gov.au/publications/hwl/mlf05/mlf05.pdf</u>

Australian Medical Council. Good Medical Practice: A Code of Conduct for Doctors in Australia, 2009. [accessed 2010 Oct 25]. http://www.asa.org.au/static/\_/2/243a676b2ef63f68572075ac5139d517.pdf

Avant Annual report 2007-2008. Melbourne, Victoria. [accessed 2010 Sep 8]. www.avant.org.au

Avant Annual report 2008-2009. Melbourne, Victoria. [accessed 2010 Sep 8]. www.avant.org.au

Baer L, Jacobs DG, Mezler-Reizes J, Blais M, Fava M, Kessler R, et al. Development of a brief screening instrument: the HANDS. Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics. 2000;69:35-41.

148

Bark P, Vincent C, Olivieri L, Jones A. Impact of litigation on senior clinicians: implications for risk management. Quality and safety in Health care. 1997:6:7-13.
Berlin L. Errors of Omission. American Journal of Roentgenology. 2005;185:1416-21. Berstein J, MacCoourt D, Abramson B. Topics in Medical Economics: Medical Malpractice. Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery. 2008;90:1777-82.

Birbeck G, Gifford D, Song J, Belin T, Mittman B, Vickrey B. Do malpractice concerns, payment mechanisms, and attitudes influence test-ordering decisions? Neurology. 2004;62:119-21.

Bird S. An emotional time for all: medical professionals reaction to litigation and complaints. Bulletin of the United Medical Defence Organisation. 2000;2:10–12.

Bishop TF, Federman AD, Keyhani S. Physicians' views on defensive medicine: A national survey. Archives of Internal Medicine. 2010;170(12):1081-1083.

Bismark MM, Brennan TA, Davis PB, Studdert DM. Claiming behaviour in a no-fault system of medical injury: a descriptive analysis of claimant and non-claimants. Medical Journal of Australia. 2006; 185: 203

B-Lynch C, Coker A, Dua JA. A clinical analysis of 500 medico-legal claims evaluating the causes and assessing the potential benefit of alternative dispute resolution. British Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology. 1996;103:1236-42.

Bozic M. Comment. Australasian Psychiatry.2004;12:282.

Brennan T, Leape L, Laird N, Herbert L, Localio R, Lawthers A, et al. Incidence of adverse events and negligence in hospitalized patients. Results of the Harvard Medical Practice study I. The New England Journal of Medicine. 1991;324:370-6.

Brennan TA, Sox CM, Burstin HR. Relation between negligent adverse events and the outcomes of medical-malpractice litigation. New England Journal of Medicine. 1996;335:1963-7.

Bruce CT, Sanger MM, Thomas PS, Pektus JR, Yates DH. Factors affecting female or male consultant stress in an Australian teaching hospital [letter]. Medical Journal of Australia. 2003;179:174-5.

Burns L, Connolly T, DeGraaff R. Impact of Physicians' perceptions of malpractice and adaptive changes on intention to cease obstetrical practice. Journal of Rural Health. 1999;15:134-46.

Carrier ER, Reschovsky JD, Mello MM, Mayrell RC, Katz D. Physicians' fears of malpractice lawsuits are not assuaged by tort reforms. Health Affairs. 2010;29(9),1585-92.

Catino M. Blame culture and defensive medicine. Cognition, Technology & Work. 2009;11(4):245-53.

Charles S, Pyskoty M, Nelson A. Physicians on trial - self reported reactions to malpractice trials. Western Journal of Medicine. 1988a;148:358-60.

Charles SC, Warnecke RB, Nelson A, Pyskoty CE. Appraisal of the event as a factor in coping with malpractice litigation. Behavioural Medicine.1988b;14(4):148–55.

Charles SC, Wilbert JR, Franke KJ. Sued and nonsued physicians' self-reported reactions to malpractice litigation. American Journal of Psychiatry. 1985; 142:437–40.

Charles SC, Wilbert JR, Kennedy EC. Physician's self-reports to reactions to malpractice litigation. American Journal of Psychiatry. 1984;141:563-5.

Chervenak J. Overview of Professional Liability. Clinics in Perinatology. 2007;34(2):227-32.

Clinton HR, Obama B. Making patient safety the centerpiece of medical liability reform. Journal of the American Medical Association. 2006;354: 2205-8.

Commongood.org [homepage on the internet]. Common Good: Fear of litigation study. The impact on Medicine, Harris Interactive, 2002. [accessed 2010 Sep15]. http://commongood.org/assets/attachments/57.pdf

Conklin LS, Bernstein C, Bartholomew L, Oliva-Hemker M. Medical malpractice in gastroenterology. Clinical Gastroenterology and Hepatology. 2008;6:677-81.

Cook R, Neff C. Attitudes of physicians in northern Ontario to medical malpractice litigation. Canadian Family Physician. 1994;40:689-98.

Coomber S, Todd C, Park G, Baxter P, Firth-Cozens J, Shore S. Stress in UK intensive care unit doctors. British Journal of Anaesthesia. 2002;89:6873-81.

Cruz NI. The medical liability environment in San Juan: results of a survey. Puerto Rico Health Sciences Journal. 2010;29:66-9.

Cunningham W, Crump R, Tomlin A. The characteristics of doctors receiving medical complaints: a cross-sectional survey of doctors in New Zealand. New Zealand Medical Journal. 2003;116(1183).

Cunningham W, Dovey S. Defensive changes in medical practice and the complaints process: a qualitative study of New Zealand doctors. New Zealand Medical Journal. 2006;119(1244).

Cunningham W, Dovey S. The effect on medical practice of disciplinary complaints: potentially negative for patient care. New Zealand Medical Journal. 2000;113(1121):464-7.

Cunningham W. The immediate and long-term impact on New Zealand doctors who receive patient complaints. New Zealand Medical Journal. 2004;117(1198):972.

Dick JF, Gallagher TH, Brenner RJ, Yi JP, Reisch LM, Abraham L, et al. Predictors of radiologists' perceived risk of malpractice lawsuits in breast imaging. American Journal of Roentgenology. 2009;192:327-33.

Donaldson L. Chief Medical Officer Department of Health UK. Making Amends. A consultation paper setting out proposals for reforming the approach to clinical negligence in the NHS. 2003. [accessed 2010 Nov 15].

#### http://www.dh.gov.uk/prod\_consum\_dh/groups/dh\_digitalassets/@dh/@en/documents/di gitalasset/dh\_4060945.pdf

Elmore J, Taplin S, Barlow W, Cutter G, D'Orsi C, Hendrick R, et al. Does litigation influence medical practice? The influence of community radiologists' medical malpractice perceptions and experience on screening mammography. Radiology. 2005; 236:37-46.

Eysenck HJ, Eysenck SBG. Manual of the Eysenck Personality Scales (EPS Adult). London: Hodder and Stoughton, 1991.

Fahrenkopf A, Sectish T, Barger L, Sharek P, Lewin D, Chiang V, et al. Rates of medication errors among depressed and burnt out residents: prospective cohort study. British Medical Journal. 2008;336:488.

Fileni A, Magnavita N, Mirk P, Iavicoli I, Magnavita G, Bergamaschi A. Radiologic malpractice litigation risk in Italy: an observational study over a 14-year period. American Journal of Roentgenology. 2010:194:1040-6.

Firth-Cozens J, Cording H, Ginsburg R. Can we select health professionals who provide safer care? Quality and Safety in Health Care. 2003;12(1 Suppl):i16-i20.

Firth-Cozens J, Greenhalgh J: Doctors' perceptions of the link between stress and lowered clinical care. Social Science and Medicine.1997;44:1017-22.

Firth-Cozens J. Doctors with difficulties: why so few women? Postgraduate Medical Journal. 2008;84:318-20.

Firth-Cozens J. Improving the health of psychiatrists. Advances in Psychiatric Treatment. 2007;13:161-8.

Firth-Cozens J. Individual and organizational predictors of depression in general practitioners. British Journal of General Practice. 1998;48:1647-51.

Fiscella A, Franks P, Zwanziger J, Mooney C, Sorbero M, and Williams GC. Risk aversion and costs: a comparison of family physicians and general internists. Journal of Family Practice. 2000;49(1):12–7.

Flaherty JA, Richman JA. Substance use and addiction among medical students, residents, and physicians. Psychiatric Clinics of North America 1993 Mar;16(1):189-97.

Fowlie D. The misuse of alcohol and other drugs by doctors: A UK report and one region's response. Medical Council on Alcoholism. Alcohol and Alcoholism. 1999;34:666-71.

Gabbard G. The role of compulsiveness in the Normal Physician. Journal of the American Medical Association. 1985;254:2926-9.

Goldberg DP. Manual of the General Health Questionnaire. London: National Foundation for Educational Research, 1998.

Graham J, Ramirez A. Mental health of hospital consultants. Journal of Psychosomatics Research. 1997;43:227-31.

Guthrie E, Black D. Psychiatric disorder, stress and burn-out. Advances in Psychiatric Treatment.1997;3:275-81.

Hayasaka Y, Nakamura K, Yamamoto M, Sasaki S. Work environment and mental health status assessed by the general health questionnaire in female Japanese doctors. Industrial Health. 2007; 45:781-6.

Health Care Complaints Commission of New South Wales. Report on complaints about medical practitioners 2008-09, Based on Annual Report data 2008-09; <u>www.hccc.nsw.gov.au</u>. Report requested and sent direct to the author Sep 2010.

Helland E, Showalter M H. The impact of liability on the physician labor market. Journal of Law and Economics. 2009;52:635-63.

Hermer LD, Brody H. Defensive Medicine, Cost containment, and reform. Journal of General Internal Medicine. 2010;25(5):470–3.

Hiatt H et al. A study of medical injury and medical malpractice. An overview. New England Journal of Medicine. 1989; 321(7):480-4.

Hickson G, Federspiel C, Blackford J, Pichert J, Gaska W, Merrigan M, Miller C. Patient complains and malpractice risk in a regional healthcare center. Southern Medical Journal. 2007;100:791-6.

Hickson G, Federspiel C, Pichert J, Miller C, Gauld-Jaeger J, Bost P. Patient complaints and malpractice risk. Journal of the American Medical Association. 2002; 287:2951-6.

Hiyama T, Yoshihara M, Tanaka S, UrabeY, Ikegami Y, Fukuhara T, et al. Defensive medicine practices among gastroenterologists in Japan. World Journal of Gastroenterology. 2006;12:7671-5.

Holmes J. Mental health of doctors. Advances in Psychiatric Treatment. 1997;3:251-3.

Hughes P, Brandenburg N, Baldwin D, Storr C, Williams K, Anthony J et al. Prevalence of substance use among US physicians. Journal of the American Medical Association. 1992;267:2333-9.

Ipp D,Cane P, Sheldon D, Macintosh I. Review of the law of negligence Final report, September 2002© Commonwealth of Australia 2002, Canprint Communications Pty Ltd, Canberra 2002. [accessed 2010 Sep 6]. http://revofneg.treasury.gov.au/content/Report2/PDF/Law\_Neg\_Final.pdf

Jain A, Ogden J. General practitioners' experience of patients' complaints: a qualitative study. British Medical Journal. 1999;318:1596-9.

Johns MW. A new method for measuring daytime sleepiness: the Epworth Sleepiness Scale. Sleep.1991;14:540-545.

Johnson W. Predisposition to emotional distress and psychiatric illness amongst doctors: the role of unconscious and experiential factors. British Journal of Medical Psychology. 1991;64:317-29.

Jones J, Barge B, Steffy B, Fay L, Kunz L. Wuebker J. Stress and medical malpractice: organisational risk assessment and intervention. Journal of Applied Psychology. 1998;73:727-35.

Kachalia A, Choudhry NK, Studdert DM. Physician responses to the malpractice crisis: From defense to offense. Journal of Law Medicine and Ethics. 2005;33:416-28.

Kachalia AB, Mello MM, Brennan TA, Studdert DM. Beyond negligence: Avoidability and medical injury compensation. Social Science & Medicine. 2008;66:387-402.

Kalucy R. Overview: the experience of the Health Committee of the South Australian Medical Board. Medical Journal of Australia. 2002;177:S17-8.

Kendler K, Thornton L, Prescott C. Gender differences in the rates of exposure to stressful life events and sensitivity to their depressogenic effects. American Journal of Psychiatry. 2001;158:587–93.

Kessler D P, McClellan M B. Do doctors practice defensive medicine? The Quarterly Journal of Economics. 1996;111:353-90.

Kessler D, Summerton N, Graham J. Effects of the medical liability system in Australia, the UK, and the USA. The Lancet. 2006;368:240-6.

Kessler RC, Andrews G, Colpe LJ, Hiripi E, Mroczek DR, Normand SLT, et al. Short screening scales to monitor population prevalences and trends in nonspecific psychological distress. Psychological Medicine. 2002; 32:959–76.

Kessler RC, McGonagle KA, Swartz M, Blazer DG, Nelson CB. Sex and depression in the national comorbidity survey, I: lifetime prevalence, chronicity and recurrence. Journal of Affective Disorders. 1993;29:85–96.

King James Version. The Holy Bible; Luke 4:23. 1975, Thomas Nelson Inc; Nashville, Tennessee.

Kivimaki M, Sutinen R, Elovainio M, Vahtera J, Rasanen K, Toyry S, et al. Sickness absence in hospital physicians: 2 year follow up study on determinants Occupational and Environmental Medicine. 2001;58:361-6.

Klagholz J, Strunk A. Overview of the 2009 ACOG Survey on Professional Liability. [accessed 2010 Oct 10]. http://www.acog.org/departments/professionalLiability/2009PLSurveyNational.pdf

Kohn L, Corrigan J, Donaldson M. Committee on Quality of Health Care in America, Institute of Medicine. To Err Is Human: Building a Safer Health System (Free Executive Summary).2000 [accessed 2010 Oct 23]. <u>http://www.nap.edu/catalog/9728.html</u>

Kubler-Ross E. On death and dying. New York: Macmillan; 1969.

Lavery J. The Physician's reaction to a malpractice suit. Obstetrics and Gynaecology. 1988;71:138-41.

Lawthers AG, Localio AR, Laird NM, Lipsitz S, Hebert L, Brennan T. Physicians' perceptions of the risk of being sued. Journal of Health Politics, Policy and Law. 1992;17: 463-82.

Lawton R, Connolly T, DeGraaff R. Impact of physicians' perceptions of malpractice and adaptive changes on intention to cease obstetrical practice. Journal of Rural Health. 1999; 15: 134-146.

Leape LL. Error in medicine. Journal of the American Medical Association. 1994;272: 1851-7.

Leon AC, Olfsen M, Portera L, Farber L, Sheehan DV. Assessing psychiatric impairment in primary care with the Sheehan Disability Scale. International Journal of Psychiatry in Medicine. 1997; 27: 93–105.

Lin P. Criminal judgments to medical malpractice in Taiwan. Legal Medicine. 2009;11:S376-8.

Localio A, Lawthers A, Brennan T, Laird N, Hebert L, Person L, et al. Relation between malpractice claims and adverse events due to negligence. Results of the Harvard Medical Practice Study III. New England Journal of Medicine.1991; 325: 245-51.

Lynn R, Martin T. Gender Differences in Extraversion, Neuroticism, and Psychoticism in 37 Nations. The Journal of Social Psychology. 1997;137: 369-73.

Martin C, Wilson J. Physicians' psychological reactions to malpractice litigation. Southern Medical Journal. 1991;84:1300–4.

Maslach C, Jackson SE, Leiter MP. Maslach Burnout Inventory Manual. 3rd ed. Palo Alto, California: Consulting Psychologists Press; 1996.

May T, Aulisio M. Medical malpractice, mistake prevention and compensation. Kennedy Institute of Ethics Journal. 2001;11:135-146.

McLay J, Ross S. Medication errors caused by junior doctors. British Medical Journal. 2008;336:456.

McManus IC, Keeling A, Paice E. Stress, burnout and doctors' attitudes to work are determined by personality and learning style: A twelve year longitudinal study of UK medical graduates. BMC Medicine 2004; 2:29.

McNeill P, Walton M. Medical harm and the consequences of error for doctors. Medical Journal of Australia. 2002;176:222-5.

Medical Council of NSW. NSW Medial Board Annual Report 2009. [accessed 2010 Nov 10]

http://www.mcnsw.org.au/resources/893/NSWMedical%20Board%20%20Annual%20Report%202009.pdf

Mello M, Studdert D, DesRoches C, Peugh J, Zapert K, Brennan T et al. Caring for patients in a malpractice crisis: physician satisfaction and quality of care. Health Affairs (Millwood). 2004;23:42-53.

Mulcahy L, Selwood M. Consultants' response to clinical complaints. British Medical Journal. 1995;310:1200.

Mulcahy L. From fear to fraternity: doctors' construction of accounts of complaints. Journal of Society Welfare Family Law. 1996;18:397–412.

Mulcahy, L. Disputing Doctors The socio-legal dynamics of complaints about medical care. Philadelphia, Open University Press, 2003.

Nash L, Daly M, van Ekert E, Kelly P. How do medico-legal matters impact on the doctor: Research findings from an Australian study. In Figley C, Huggard P, Rees C, editors. First Do No Self-Harm: Understanding and Promoting Physician Stress Resilience. Oxford University Press, in press.

National Coroners Information system [homepage on the internet]. Melbourne, Victoria. [accessed 2010 Sep 16]. <u>www.ncis.org.au/index.htm</u>

New South Wales Government State Records [homepage on the internet]. [accessed 2010 Oct 17].<u>www.records.nsw.gov.au/state-archives/guides-and-finding-aids/archives-inbrief/archives-in-brief-4</u>

New South Wales Government NSW legislation, Health Care Complaints Act 1993 No 105. [accessed 2010 Sep 8]. http://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/viewtop/inforce/act+105+1993+FIRST+0+N/

New South Wales Government, Lawlink. [accessed 2010 Nov 12]. www.lawlink.nsw.gov.au/lawlink/coroners\_court/ll\_coroners.nsf/pages/coroners\_faqs,

New South Wales Health Care Complaints Commission Annual Report 2008-2009. Sydney: Health Care Complaints Commission, 2009.

New South Wales Health Care Complaints Commission. Annual Report 1998–1999. Sydney: Health Care Complaints Commission, 1999.

New South Wales Health Care Complaints Commission. Annual Report 2000–2001. Sydney: Health Care Complaints Commission, 2001.

New South Wales Health Care Complaints Commission. Annual Report 2002-2003. Sydney: Health Care Complaints Commission, 2003.

Newbury-Birch D, Kamli F. Psychological stress, anxiety, depression, job satisfaction, and personality characteristics in preregistration house officers. Postgraduate Medical Journal. 2001;77:109-111.

Newbury-Birch DR, Walshaw D, Farhad K. Drink and drugs: from medical students to doctors. Drug Alcohol Dependence. 2001; 64: 265-270.

Newman MC. Emotional impact of mistakes on family physicians. Archives of Family Medicine.1996; 5: 71–75.

NHMRC. Additional levels of evidence and grades for recommendation for developers of guidelines.2009. [accessed 2010 Sep14]. http://www.nhmrc.gov.au/\_files\_nhmrc/file/guidelines/Stage%202%20Consultation%20 Levels%20and%20Grades.pdf

NSW Therapeutic Advisory Group Inc.Guidelines. [accessed 2010 Oct 20]. http://www.ciap.health.nsw.gov.au/nswtag/guidelines.html

Peisah C, Latif E, Wilhelm K, Williams B. Secrets to psychological success: Why older doctors might have lower psychological distress and burnout than younger doctors. Aging and Mental Health. 2009;13:300-7.

Physician Insurers Association of America. Breast cancer study, 3rd ed. Rockville, MD: Physician Insurers Association of America, spring 2002; in Berlin L. Errors of Omission. American Journal of Roentgenology. 2005;185:1416-21.

Polsky D, Marcus SC, Werner RM. Malpractice Premiums and the Supply of Obstetricians. Inquiry-The Journal of Health Care Organization Provision and Financing. 2010;47:48-61.

Pukk-Härenstam K, Ask J, Brommels M, Thor J, Penaloza R, Gaffney F. Analysis of 23 364 patient-generated, physician-reviewed malpractice claims from a non-tort, blame-free, national patient insurance system: lessons learned from Sweden. Postgraduate Medical Journal. 2009;85:69-73.

Ramirez A, Graham J, Richards M, Cull A. Gregory W. Mental health of hospital consultants: the effects of stress and satisfaction at work. Lancet. 1996;347:724-8.

Rey J, Walter G, Giuffrida M. Australian psychiatrists today: proud of their profession but stressed and apprehensive about the future. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry. 2004;38:115-8.

Richardson A, Burke R. Occupational stress and work satisfaction among Canadian women physicians. Psychological Reports. 1993;72:811-21.

Rogers v Whitaker (1992) 175 CLR 479 at 483.

Rosenblatt R, Weitkamp G, Lloyd M, Schafer B, Winderschied L, Hart G. Why do physicians stop practicing obstetrics? The impact of malpractice claims. Obstetrics and Gynaecology. 1990;76:245-9.

Rosta J, Aasland O. Female surgeons' alcohol use: a study of a national sample of Norwegian doctors. Alcohol Alcohol 2005;40:436-40.

Rosta J. Hazardous alcohol use among hospital doctors in Germany. Alcohol Alcohol. 2008;43:198-203.

Rowe M. Doctors' responses to medical errors. Critical reviews in Oncology/Haematology. 2004;52:147-63.

Runciman W, Merry A, Tito F. Error, blame, and the law in health care – an antipodean perspective. Annals of Internal Medicine. 2003;138:974-9.

Runciman W, Merry A, Walton M. Safety and Ethics in Health Care: A Guide to Getting it right Ashgate Publishers. 2007.

Runciman W. Iatrogenic injury in Australia: A report prepared by the Australian Patient Safety Foundation. Adelaide: Australian Patient Safety Foundation, 2001.

Runciman W. The Safety and Quality Of Health Care: Where Are We Now? Shared meanings: preferred terms and definitions for safety and quality concepts. Medical Journal of Australia. 2006; 184 (10 Suppl): S41-S43.

Saberi S, Sheikhazadi A, Joghataei H, Mohammadi V, Fallahian M. A survey of sued physicians' self-reported reactions to malpractice litigation in Iran. Journal of Forensic and Legal Medicine. 2009;16:301-6.

Salem O, Forster C. Defensive medicine in general practice: recent trends and the impact of the Civil Liability Act 2002 (NSW). Journal of Law and Medicine. 2009;17:235-48.

Saunders J, Aasland OG, Babor TF, de la Fuente JR, Grant M. Development of the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT): WHO collaborative project on early detection of persons with harmful alcoholic consumption — II. Addiction 1993;88:791-804.

Schattner PL, Coman GJ. The stress of metropolitan general practice. Medical Journal of Australia. 1998;169:133-7.

Schernhammer E, Colditz G. Suicide rates among physicians: A quantitative and gender assessment (Meta-Analysis). American Journal of Psychiatry. 2004;161:2295–302.
Schiøler T, Lipczak H, Pedersen BL, Mogensen TS, Bech KB, Stockmarr A et al. Incidence of adverse events in hospitals. A retrospective study of medical records. Danish Adverse Event Study. Ugeskr Laeger. 2001;163:5370-8.

Scott I. Health care workforce crisis in Australia: too few or too disabled? Medical Journal of Australia. 2009;190:689-92.

Shanafelt T, Sloan J, Habermann T. The well-being of physicians. The American Journal of Medicine. 2003;114:513-9.

Shanafelt TD, Balch CM, Bechamps G, Russell T, Dyrbye L, Satele D. Burnout and Medical Errors Among American Surgeons. Annals of Surgery. 2010; 251:995-1000.

Sharma, Sharp D M, Walker LG, Monson JRT. Stress and burnout in colorectal and vascular surgical consultants working in the UK National Health Service. Psycho-Oncology. 2008;17:570-6.

Sobel DL, Loughlin KR, Coogan CL Medical malpractice liability in clinical urology: A survey of practicing urologists. Journal of Urology. 2006;175:1847-51.

Spitzer RL, Williams JB, Kroenke K, Linzer M, deGruy F, Hahn S et al. Utility of a new procedure for diagnosing mental disorders in primary care: the PRIME-MD 1000 Study. Journal of the American Medical Association. 1994;272:1749-56.

Steurer J, Held U, Schmidt M, Gigerenzer G, Tag B, Bachmann L. Legal concerns trigger prostate-specific antigen testing. Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice. 2009;15:390-2.

Studdert D, Mello M, Brennan T. Medical malpractice. The New England Journal of Medicine. 2004;350: 283-302.

Studdert D, Mello M, Sage W, Desroches C, Peugh J, Zapert K, Brennan T. Defensive Medicine Among High-Risk Specialist Physicians in a Volatile Malpractice Environment. Journal of the American Medical Association. 2005;293:2609-17.

Studdert D, Thomas E, Burstin H, Zbar B, Orav E, Brennan T. Negligent Care and Malpractice claiming behavior in Utah and Colorado. Medical Care. 2000;38:250-60.

Studdert DM, Mello MM, Brennan TA. Defensive Medicine and Tort Reform: A Wide View. Journal of General Internal Medicine. 2010;25(5):380–1.

Studdert DM, Mello MM, Gawande A, Gandhi T, Kachalia A, Yoon C. Claims, errors, and compensation payments in medical malpractice litigation. New England Journal of Medicine. 2006;354:2024-33.

Studdert DM, Mello MM, Sage W, Desroches CM, Peugh J, Zapert K, et al. Defensive medicine among high-risk specialist physicians in a volatile malpractice environment. Journal of the American Medical Association. 2005;293:2609-17.

Summerton N. Positive and negative factors in defensive medicine: a questionnaire study of general practitioners. British Medical Journal. 1995;310:27-29.

Taragin M, Martin K, Shapiro S, Trout R, Carson J. Physician malpractice does the past predict the future? Journal of General Internal Medicine. 1995;10:550-6.

Taragin M, Wilczekbc A, Karns E, Trout R, Carson J. Physician demographics and the risk of medical malpractice. American Journal of Medicine. 1992;93:537-42.

Taragin MI, Sonnenberg FA, Karns ME, Trout R, Shapiro S, Carson JL. Does physician performance explain interspecialty differences in malpractice claim rates? Medical care 1994;32:661-7.

Taskforce on Quality in Australian Health Care. The Final Report of the Taskforce on Quality in Australian Health Care. 1996, AGPS, Canberra.

Taylor C, Graham J, Potts H, Candy J. Impact of hospital consultants' poor mental health on patient care. British Journal of Psychiatry. 2007;190:268-9.

Taylor C, Graham J, Potts H, Richards M, Ramirez A. Changes in mental health of UK hospital consultants since the mid-1990s. The Lancet. 2005;366:742-4.

Taylor D, Wolfe R, Cameron P. Analysis of complaints lodged by patients attending Victorian hospitals, 1997–2001.Medical Journal of Australia. 2004;181:31-5.

Tennant C. Life events, stress and depression: a review of recent findings. Australasian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry. 2002;36:173-82.

Thomas E, Studdert, Burstin H, Orav E, Zeena T, Williams E. Incidence and types of adverse and negligent care in Utah and Colorado. Medical Care. 2000;38:261-71.

Traina F. Medical malpractice: the experience in Italy. Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research. 2009; 467:434-42.

Tyssen R, Vaglum P, Gronvold N, Ekeberg O. Factors in medical school that predict postgraduate mental health problems in need of treatment, A nationwide and longitudinal study. Medical Education. 2001;35:110-120.

Tyssen R, Vaglum P, Gronvold N, Ekeberg O. Factors in medical school that predict postgraduate mental health problems in need of treatment, A nationwide and longitudinal study. Medical Education. 2001;35:110-120.

Tyssen R, Vaglum P, Gronvold N, Ekeberg O. The impact of job stress and working conditions on mental health problems among junior house officers. The nationwide Norwegian prospective cohort study. Medical Education. 2000;34:374-84.

Tyssen R, Vaglum P. Mental health problems among young doctors: an updated review of prospective studies. Harvard Review of Psychiatry. 2002;10:154-65.

Vaillant GE, Sobowale NC, McArthor C. Some psychological vulnerabilities of physicians. The New England Journal of Medicine. 1972;287:372-5.

Vincent C, Neale G, Woloshynowych M. Adverse events in British hospital: Preliminary retrospective record review. British Medical Journal. 2001;322:517-9.

Vincent C, Young M, Phillips A. Why do people sue doctors? A study of patients and relatives taking legal action. Lancet. 1994;343:1609-13.

Vincent C. The human element of adverse events. Is a certain level of error inevitable in healthcare? Medical Journal of Australia. 1999;170:404-5.

Wall T, Bolden R, Borrill C, Carter A, Golya D, Hardy G, et al. Minor psychiatric disorder in NHS trust staff: occupational and gender differences. The British Journal of Psychiatry. 1997;171:519-23.

Walton M. A multifactorial study of medical mistakes involving interns and residents. PhD thesis. 2004;University of Sydney.

Walton M. Anatomy of a complaint – error of judgement or professional misconduct? Journal of the Health Care Complaints Commission. 1998;1:1-6.

Walton M. Patient safety-a view from down under. Quality and Safety in Health Care. 2009;18:422-3.

Watts R, Marley J, Beilby J, MacKinnon R, Doughty S. Training, skills and approach to high-risk obstetrics in rural GP obstericians. Australia and New Zealand Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology. 1997;37:424-6.

Webb D, Green CL, Brashear T. Development and validation of scales to measure attitudes influencing monetary donations to charitable organizations. Academy of Marketing Science Journal. 2000;28:299–310.

Weiner E, Swain G, Wolf B, Gottlieb M. A qualitative study of physicians' own wellness-promotion practices. Western Journal of Medicine. 2001;174:19–23.

Weingart S, Wilson R, Gibberd R, Harrison B. Epidemiology of medical error. British Medical Journal. 2000;320:774-7.

Weisman C, Morlock L, Teitelbaum M, Klassen A, Celentano D. Practice changes in response to the malpractice litigation climate. Results of a Maryland physician survey. Medical Care. 1989;27:16-24.

Wenes K, Walker M, Walker L. Cognitive performance and mood after a weekend on call in a surgical unit. British Journal Surgery. 1997;84:493-5.

Wenokur B, Campbell L. letter to the editor. Journal of the American Medical Association. 1991;226:2834.

West C, Huschka M, Novotny P, Sloan J, Kolars J, Habermann T, et al. Association of perceived medical errors with resident distress and empathy. A prospective longitudinal study. Journal of the American Medical Association. 2006;296:1071-8.

Weycker D, Jensen G. Medical malpractice among physicians: who will be sued and who will pay? Health Care Management Science; 2000;3:269-77.

Willcock SM, Daly MG, Tennant C, Allard BJ. Burnout and psychiatric morbidity in new medical graduates. Medical Journal of Australia. 2004;181:357-60.

Williams ES, Manwell LB, Konrad TR, Linzer M. The relationship of organizational culture, stress, satisfaction, and burnout with physician-reported error and suboptimal patient care: results from the MEMO study. Health Care Management Review. 2007;32:203-12.

Wilson R, Runciman W, Gibberd R, Harrison B, Newby L, Hamilton J. The Quality in Australian Health Care Study. Medical Journal of Australia. 1995;163:458-71.

Wilson R, Runciman W, Gibberd R, Harrison B, Newby L, Hamilton J. Medical Journal of Australia. 1995;163:458-71.

Working Group on the Misuse of Alcohol and Other Drugs by Doctors. The Misuse of Alcohol and other drugs by Doctors, British Medical Association, London 1998; pp1-15.

World Alliance for Patient Safety. WHO draft guidelines on adverse event reporting and learning systems. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2005. [accessed 2010 Dec 1]. http://www.who.int/patientsafety/events/05/Reporting\_Guidelines.pdf

Wu AW. Medical error: the second victim. The doctor who makes the mistake needs help too. British Medical Journal. 2000;320:726-7.

Yates J. Risk factors at medical school for subsequent professional misconduct: multicentre retrospective case-control study. British Medical Journal. 2010;340:2040.

# Appendices

Appendix 1: Article on psychological impact published prior to candidature

Nash L, Tennant C, Walton M. The psychological impact of complaints and

negligence suits on doctors. Australasian Psychiatry. 2004;12:278-281.

the set for the set of the set of



## DOCTORS' HEALTH

# The psychological impact of complaints and negligence suits on doctors

Louise Nash, Christopher Tennant and Merrilyn Walton

**Objective:** To describe the psychological impact of complaints and negligence litigation on doctors.

*Methods:* A review of the literature from 1966 to 2003 was conducted. Additional sources were obtained from targeted experts and organizations.

**Results:** Doctors who have been sued or who have had formal complaints made against them describe the process as an extremely stressful experience. Depression and adjustment disorder were relatively common, while drug and alcohol abuse, physical illness and suicidal ideation were reported less frequently. The majority of doctors who have been the subject of a complaint or law suit practice more 'defensively'.

**Conclusions:** A complaint or law suit is uncommon in the daily practice of doctors, yet in today's medicolegal environment they pose a constant potential threat. The threat of, or actual, legal process can cause psychological, physical and behavioural practice changes. The obsessional personality of many doctors may make them particularly vulnerable to seeing the process as a challenge to their professional and personal identity.

Key words: complaints, doctors, malpractice, medical negligence, psychological impact.

O ne of the parliamentary requirements underpinning selfregulation by the medical profession is the establishment of effective complaint mechanisms for holding the medical profession accountable. In addition, the tort system provides a mechanism for patients seeking compensation. Media coverage of large compensation payments, the provisional liquidation of Australia's largest medical insurance company and the Australian Broadcasting Corporation television drama *MDU* have made these processes and activities more public. Beyond the eventual medical and financial outcome, there remains ongoing psychological sequelae for patients and doctors. The stress on patients (as plaintiffs or complainants) is recognized and has been explored.<sup>1</sup> The aim of the present paper was to examine the psychological impact of negligence suits and the medical complaints process on doctors, irrespective of the final legal outcome.

This issue is highly relevant to psychiatrists in a number of ways: first, as the doctors complained about; second, through the treatment of doctors going through the complaint process or as defendants in medical negligence claims; third, as medical colleagues; and, finally, as teachers of medical students and trainees. Although information about the number of negligence actions against Australian and New Zealand psychiatrists is not available, we do know that the medical boards in Australia and New Zealand and Australian State Health Commissions receive complaints concerning psychiatrists and psychiatric care in hospitals. These complaints concern boundary violations, inappropriate drug prescribing and incorrect diagnosis. There were 16 complaints

## 8104 T.T.T.

#### Louise Nash

Psychiatrist and Lecturer, Department of Psychological Medicine, University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia.

### **Chris Tennant**

Professor of Psychiatry, University of Sydney, and Head of Department of Psychological Medicine, Royal North Shore Hospital, St Leonards, NSW, Australia.

#### **Merrilyn Walton**

Adjunct Associate Professor of Ethical Practice, Office of Teaching and Learning in Medicine, University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia.

Correspondence: Dr Louise Nash, Department of Psychological Medicine, University of Sydney, Royal North Shore Hospital, St Leonards, NSW 2065, Australia. Email: Inash@med.usyd.edu.au (3.2% of total public hospital complaints) received by the Health Care Complaints Commission in the year 2000–2001 about public hospital psychiatric care, and two complaints (3.0% of total private hospital complaints) about psychiatric care in private hospitals.<sup>2</sup>

#### **METHOD**

A MEDLINE search of the published literature from 1966 to 2003 was conducted. Key words were 'medical negligence and doctors', 'malpractice and doctors' and 'complaints and doctors'. Additional articles were found from these sources. Some articles were forwarded to the authors from people interested in the field. Two recent annual reports of the Health Care Complaints Commission were accessed.

Few empirical studies on the impact of negligence suits and the medical complaints process on doctors exist, but there are many commentaries. Furthermore, the majority of empirical studies had a poor response rate. These studies used two sampling methods: first, assessing doctors in general; and second, assessing the subset of doctors who have either been sued or have had a complaint made against them. In reviewing the studies, we examined: (i) the frequency of a lawsuit or complaint; (ii) the impact on the doctor's psychological and physical well-being, and their sense of professional identity; and (iii) changes occurring in their practice of medicine, which can affect both the standard and cost of health care.

#### RESULTS

#### Frequency

In New South Wales (NSW), one doctor in 20 is the subject of a written complaint to the Health Care Complaints Commission.<sup>1</sup> In 1998–1999, 2052 complaints were lodged with the Commission. Less than 10% of these complaints resulted in some form of 'disciplinary' action: counselling, limiting conditions of practice, supervision of practice or deregistration.<sup>3</sup> In 2000–2001, 2888 written complaints were received by the Commission.<sup>2</sup>

It is also known that nearly 2% of general practitioners insured with the medical insurance company United Medical Protection face a medical negligence claim each year. The figure varies considerably among the specialties. However, only 6% of the Australian litigated claims progress to trial, 28% are discontinued and 66% are settled out of court.<sup>4</sup> At the extreme, in the USA, 77% of Fellows of the American College of Obstetrician and Gynaelologists have been sued at least once.<sup>5</sup>

An Australian postal survey of 464 randomly selected metropolitan general practitioners (46% response rate), found that the 'threat of litigation' was perceived as the most severe work-related stressor even though it was considered an infrequent actual event.<sup>6</sup>

#### Impact on psychological and physical well-being

A qualitative study of the emotional response of 30 British general practitioners who had complaints made against them, found the following three stages of response: 'initial impact', 'conflict' and 'resolution'. The impact stage involved a sense of 'being out of control', a feeling of shock and panic, and indignation towards patients generally. The conflict stage included conflicts around professional identity, conflicts with family and colleagues, and conflicts arising from the management of the complaint. This was accompanied by feelings of anger, depression and suicidal ideation. The resolution stage involved defensive practice or, for some, plans to leave general practice. There was no resolution for a minority. Complaints were rarely perceived as learning experiences, and indeed one doctor stated that they were 'immune' to complaints, describing them as 'like parking tickets'.7

In Chicago, 5135 doctors were sued in the period 1978-1981. A postal survey of a random sample of 450 of these doctors (154, 34% surveys returned) showed that none had an adverse trial verdict. Nevertheless, two clusters of emotional symptoms were found in the respondents. Thirty-nine per cent of respondents had symptoms suggestive of 'major depression'. Although many of these failed to note the duration of symptoms, 27% of respondents noted that their symptoms lasted longer than 2 weeks. Twenty per cent of respondents had a symptom cluster thought to be suggestive of an 'adjustment disorder'. This included anger and four of eight other symptoms, including mood change, inner tension, frustration, irritability, insomnia, fatigue, gastrointestinal symptoms and headache. Only 4% reported no physical or emotional symptoms.8

In a related study, a random sample of 1000 Chicago doctors (including sued and non-sued doctors) was surveyed (37% response rate). Both the threat and actuality of litigation were found to cause emotional distress, with sued doctors reporting significantly more symptoms than non-sued physicians.<sup>9</sup>

In a second related study, a subset of 51 physicians who had been sued for medical malpractice was interviewed. Of these 51, five had gone to trial, with two having a trial verdict for the plaintiff and three for the defendant. The majority of suits filed against the doctors resulted in no payment to the plaintiff; thus, an adverse outcome itself is not the most significant issue. Nearly one-quarter (23%) identified litigation as their most stressful life experience. These doctors experienced more physical and emotional symptoms than their colleagues who identified some other event (such as death of spouse or divorce) as being their most stressful life experience. Indeed, 45% of the former compared with 15% of the latter reported symptoms suggestive of major depression.<sup>10</sup>

An unrelated US study of 620 sued and non-sued physicians in Southern USA (44% response rate), similarly found that malpractice litigation was a major life trauma. Stress symptoms in those who had been sued were highest during the first 2 years after the lawsuit, and later remained greater than non-sued physicians. Those who saw litigation as a job hazard and not an attack on their ability as physicians were better able to use adaptive coping mechanisms, such as improved office practices. This group also minimized negative coping, such as self-blame, and were more active participants in their defence.<sup>11</sup>

Physical symptom sequelae are also noteworthy. In the Chicago study of sued doctors (n = 154), 8% of respondents noted the onset of a physical illness during the legal process: three respondents (2%) had a myocardial infarct during the time of litigation, while 11 (7%) acknowledged an exacerbation of a previously diagnosed illness. This study also found that 7% of respondents felt their families had also suffered as a result of the litigation.<sup>8</sup> doctors in the UK (52% response rate).<sup>15</sup> Complaints caused feelings of fear, hurt, concern about reputation, distress at lack of understanding, and increased vulnerability. Thus, threat to identity occurs regardless of whether or not the allegation of error is considered to be justified. Some 90% of respondents discussed the complaint with another person, usually a colleague. The investigators concluded that complaints have a significant and lasting effect on doctors, initially causing a deconstruction of identity, followed by a reconstruction anchored in scientific rationality and support of peers. Complainants are commonly seen as psychologically ill or having problem personalities.<sup>15</sup>

### Changes in medical practice

Changing one's practice as a result of the threat or actuality of litigation is a common finding.<sup>7,8,10,14,16</sup> These changes can be seen as either positive or negative 'defensive' practice changes. Positive defensive practices include increased screening, development of audit or consumer satisfaction activities, more detailed record keeping and more extensive explanations to patients. Negative changes include prescription of unnecessary drugs and unnecessary increase in frequency of follow up, referral rates and diagnostic testing, as well as avoidance of certain treatments and even 'removal' of a patient from the practitioners' lists.<sup>16</sup>

### Impact on professional identity

In a qualitative study in Oregon, 11 doctors were interviewed regarding mistakes. Themes from this study include the ubiquity of mistakes; the infrequency of disclosure of mistakes to colleagues, family or friends; the lack of support from colleagues and the significant emotional distress on the physician. Their beliefs about 'perfection' may influence the severity of the distress, while their sense of competitiveness in medical training and practice influenced non-disclosure of mistakes.<sup>12</sup>

In a similar qualitative study, 30 doctors took part in an in-depth interview regarding the emotional impact of mistakes. The most common responses were self-doubt (96%), disappointment (93%), selfblame (86%), shame (54%), and fear (50%).<sup>13</sup>

The experience and attitude toward malpractice litigation were assessed in a postal survey of 287 Canadian medical practitioners. Sixty per cent responded. Of these, only 2% of the primary care doctors and 6% of specialists had been sued with damages paid, but more than 80% of respondents believed that a malpractice suit would cause serious short-term or longterm damage to reputation, regardless of outcome.<sup>14</sup>

In the Chicago study of 154 doctors who had been sued, 9% of respondents felt a loss of clinical nerve, and 15% felt a general loss of confidence as a physician. Nearly one in five (19%) believed that their medical practice had suffered, and one-third entertained thoughts of retiring early.<sup>8</sup> In 500 randomly selected general practitioners in the UK (60% response rate), more than 30% of respondents worried about being sued or having a complaint lodged against them. Ninety-eight per cent of doctors claimed to have made some 'defensive' practice change in reaction to even the possibility of a complaint. There was a high correlation between defensive medical practice and the worry about being sued. Unfortunately, the correlation was stronger for negative defensive practices than positive practices.<sup>16</sup>

Defensive practice was defined differently in a Canadian postal survey (n = 172) as those practices designed to reduce the risk of prosecution (rather than those to benefit the patient). One-third of respondents indicated that they occasionally practised defensively, while 12% did so frequently.<sup>14</sup>

More specifically, increased diagnostic testing (when clinical judgement assessed this as unnecessary) was reported by more than 50% of the UK general practitioners<sup>16</sup> and by 62% of sued doctors in Chicago.<sup>8</sup>

Australasian Psychiatry -

The issue of professional identity was more specifically addressed in a postal survey of 848 specialist Similarly, there was an increase in specialist referrals in 50% of UK general practitioners.<sup>16</sup> This was the most frequent practice change even in those sued Chicago doctors who did not regard litigation as their most stressful life event.<sup>10</sup> Avoidance of procedures was reported by 50% of primary physicians in Canada<sup>14</sup> and by 28% of sued Chicago doctors.

# - A presentation of the first of the extension of the physical presentation of the physical property of the physical property of the physical property of the physical property of the physical physical

Indeed, 42% of respondents in the latter study stopped seeing certain kinds of patients.8

Information given to patients also increased: 80% of Canadians offered more information to patients,<sup>14</sup> as did 50% of UK general practitioners,<sup>16</sup> while 69% of sued US doctors kept more meticulous records (however, some 25% also recorded less 'pertinent' information).<sup>8</sup>

## DISCUSSION

These studies are limited by their poor response rates and potential for bias. However, common themes that emerge include that the threat and actuality of a complaint or law suit can cause emotional and physical disequilibrium, and that there are both positive and negative changes in medical practice.

Individual and systemic factors influence how doctors cope emotionally and behaviourally with this process. The personality and professional identity of the doctor is significant. For example, obsessional traits may be useful in avoiding mistakes, but this may also then compromise the doctor's ability to cope when a complaint occurs.17 Many doctors are acutely sensitive to an accusation of failure to meet standards of care, with the implications of incompetence.18 Their sense of professional identity is at stake and the threat of damage to reputation can be devastating. Other factors influencing the doctors' response are the availability, or lack, of professional and personal support systems (and the doctors' willingness to use them), and the medical culture of infallibility, whereby errors in patient care may be viewed as manifestation of character flaws.19

openly discussed.<sup>21</sup> Further empirical studies in this field will enable appropriate education of medical students and postgraduates to assist them to deal with this process. The aim is not only better and more cost-effective patient care, but also better mental health for doctors who have complaints made against them.

### REFERENCES

- Daniel A, Burn R, Horarik S. Patients' complaints about medical practice. Medical Journal of Australia 1999; 170: 598–602.
- NSW Health Care Complaints Commission. Annual Report 2000–2001. Sydney: Health Care Complaints Commission, 2001.
- NSW Health Care Complaints Commission. Annual Report 1998–1999. Sydney: Health Care Complaints Commission, 1999.
- Bird S. An emotional time for all: medical professionals reaction to litigation and complaints. Bulletin of the United Medical Defence Organisation 2000; 2: 10–12.
- Committee on Professional Liability. Coping with the stress of malpractice litigation. International Journal of Gynaecology and Obstetrics, 2001; 74: 65–66.

# CONCLUSIONS

The aforementioned studies suggest that the threat or actuality of a complaint or law suit can cause emotional, physical and behavioural changes. This is becoming increasingly important, given that complaints and litigation are increasing.

The complaint or litigation process is usually a long process and can be a chronic stressor. However, the process is not the sole cause of distress. The affront of a negative outcome for one's patient is painful, regardless of the cause. The personality style of many doctors may make them more vulnerable to this stressor, the process being viewed as an insult to their professional identity, coupled with a medical culture of infallibility and a sense of failing their codes of

- Schattner PL, Coman GJ. The stress of metropolitan general practice. Medical Journal of Australia 1998; 169: 133–137.
- Jain A, Ogden J. General practitioners' experience of patients' complaints: a qualitative study. British Medical Journal 1999; 318: 1596–1599.
- Charles SC, Wilbert JR, Kennedy EC. Physician's self-reports to reactions to malpractice litigation. American Journal of Psychiatry 1984; 141: 563–565.
- Charles SC, Wilbert JR, Franke KJ. Sued and nonsued physicians' self-reported reactions to malpractice litigation. *American Journal of Psychiatry* 1985; 142: 437–440.
- Charles SC, Warnecke RB, Nelson A, Pyskoty CE. Appraisal of the event as a factor in coping with malpractice litigation. *Behavioural Medicine* 1988; 14: 148–155.
- Martin C, Wilson J. Physicians' psychological reactions to malpractice litigation. Southern Medical Journal 1991; 84: 1300–1304.
- Christensen JF, Levinson W, Dunn PM. The heart of darkness: the impact of perceived mistakes on physicians. *Journal of Internal Medicine* 1992; 7: 424–431.
- Newman MC. Emotional impact of mistakes on family physicians. Archives of Family Medicine 1996; 5: 71–75.
- Cook R, Neff C. Attitudes of physicians in northern Ontario to medical malpractice litigation. *Canadian Family Physician* 1994; 40: 689–698.
- Mulcahy L. From fear to fraternity: doctors' construction of accounts of complaints. Journal of Society Welfare Family Law 1996; 18: 397–412.
- Summerton N. Positive and negative factors in defensive medicine: a questionnaire study of general practitioners. British Medical Journal 1995; 310: 27–29.
- Gabbard G. The role of compulsiveness in the normal physician. Journal of the American Medical Association 1985; 254: 2926–2929.
- 18. Charles S. Coping with a medical malpractice suit. Western Journal of Medicine

ol 12, No 3 • September 2004

Effort needs to be made to address physicians' fear of litigation and remove the stigma of implied 'failure to care'. This will require a change in attitude that medical mistakes come from a lack of incentive to take appropriate care.<sup>20</sup> The medical culture of doctors being infallible mitigates against mistakes being

### 2001; 174: 55-58.

- Kapp MB. Legal anxieties and medical mistakes. Journal of General Internal Medicine 1997; 12: 787–788.
- May T. Aulisio MP. Medical malpractice, mistake prevention, and compensation. Kennedy Institute of Ethics Journal 2001; 11: 135–146.
- Runciman W. latrogenic Injury in Australia: A Report Prepared by the Australian Patient Safety Foundation. Adelaide: Australian Patient Safety Foundation, 2001.



#### Appendix 2: Bozic comment on the above psychological impact article

Bozic M. Comment. Australasian Psychiatry.2004;12:282.

# Approxity is introductory lefter to decimps to the birge study

### COMMENT

### SC Michael Bozic

The fight is won or lost far away from witnesses – behind the lines, in the gym, and out there on the road, long before I dance under those lights.

Muhammad Ali

The proposition that doctors find the process of litigation stressful is hardly counter-intuitive. After all, stress is an inherent part of the legal process for any litigant. Yet the articles reviewed by Nash, Tennant and Walton suggest, and experience confirms, that doctors frequently manifest a level of stress in excess of many 'ordinary' litigants. The authors have identified some of the causes for this excessive 'emotional and physical disequilibrium'. While factors such as the lack of professional and personal support systems, the personality and professional identity of the doctor and the medical culture of infallibility no doubt all play a part, there is a further factor. It concerns the way in which doctors deal, or are unable to deal, with the legal process. the preparation of the case and contribute to a less than satisfactory performance by the doctor in the witness box.

Lawyers understand that litigation is a stressful process. Lawyers do not go out of their way to make the process more stressful for their own client. Generally speaking, it is less stressful to run a case for a client with whom you are able to develop some empathy. Having said this, however, it must be recognized that the lawyer's primary function is not to provide emotional support and assistance for the doctor. The primary function is to provide legal services in the form of legal advice and legal representation. Ultimately, the lawyer's goal is to win the case, not to bring about the successful psychological rehabilitation of the doctor from the stress of litigation. For emotional support, the doctor must look elsewhere.

This does not mean, however, that the doctor must

A doctor's emotional response to the stress of litigation not infrequently manifests itself as anger, hostility and resentment. Although this may be both a natural and an understandable response to an allegation of negligence or professional misconduct, it is hardly conducive to the calm and orderly conduct of a defence case. From a lawyer's point of view, the problem is not that doctors react to allegations against them with anger, hostility and resentment, but that they are frequently unable to deal with the allegations against them except by reference to their own anger, hostility and resentment.

Thus, for example, at the initial conferences between a doctor facing a civil action for negligence and his or her lawyer, doctors frequently insist on describing their anger and resentment and go on to explain that the allegations against them are an insult to their professional integrity and to their reputation. Many doctors are incapable of viewing lawyers, including their own, as anything other than a sub-species of class enemy. They compulsively demand that their own lawyers understand that the increase in medical negligence litigation in general, and their case in particular, are wholly or in part due to a systemic failure on the part of lawyers, judges, courts and unidentified others.

From a lawyer's point of view, these matters are

become a passive and frustrated bystander in the litigation. At the risk of gross oversimplification, the preparation and running of a case requires considerable work, such as taking a detailed statement from the doctor about the facts of the case, analysing the allegations and assessing how best to respond to the allegations. It involves the gathering of evidence and an assessment of what evidence should be used and what should be discarded. It involves working out how to destroy, damage or undermine an opponent's case.

There is much that the doctor who is a defendant can contribute to the preparation and defence of the case (after all, he or she is the defendant in a civil action or the person about whom complaints of misconduct are made). It does, however, require hard work, time and a willingness to forgo income in order to attend court not just while giving evidence but while the plaintiff or complainant and his or her experts are giving evidence. It also requires an understanding of what is relevant and of assistance and what is not.

Part of the adverse psychological impact referred to in the Nash *et al.* article is due to the failure of doctors to understand and embrace the legal process. Stripped to its core, litigation is a fight. As such, it will always be stressful. Yet the stress of litigation is only compounded by the refusal or the inability to move out of the comfort zone of one's own preconceptions. It is not suggested that dealing with allegations of negligence or professional misconduct is easy. It is not. But a starting point must be to understand, as Muhammad Ali understood, that in any fight, there is a lot to be done before one can dance under the lights.

Australasian Psychiatry -

irrelevant. At best, they do not assist in the preparation and conduct of the case. At worst, they hinder



Appendix 3: Introductory letter to doctors in the large study



# THE UNIVERSITY OF SYDNEY

Dr Louise Nash, MBBS (Hons)BA DipObs FRANZCP Department of Psychological Medicine Royal North Shore Hospital ST LEONARDS NSW 2065

# An analysis of the impact of complaints and law suits on the psychological health and well being of doctors

# Dear Colleague,

Avant (formerly UNITED Medical Protection) recently wrote to you about a collaborative research project between University of Sydney and Avant addressing the impact of legal action, complaints and inquiries on the psychological health of doctors. I invite you to participate in this venture, which is supported by the Doctors' Health Advisory Service with ethics approval from Northern Sydney Central Coast Area Health Service Ethics Committee (protocol number 0602-008M). Please see over for more details on the research project.

Your individual identity will not be known to the research group. Your individual responses to these questionnaires will not be given to Avant.

All responses are identified by a research code (not Avant member code), and will be anonymous and confidential. Pooled data will be used for reporting results. Return of the questionnaire is taken as consent to the project. The more responses we receive, the more insight we will obtain from this research.

The questionnaire package will take less than 20 minutes to complete, and a self addressed envelope is enclosed for return of the completed package.

If you have any questions regarding this project please contact:

- Dr Louise Nash Ph: (02) 9926 7746; lnash@med.usyd.edu.au
- Prof Simon Willcock Doctors Health Advisory Service (NSW): (02) 9477 9136; simonw@med.usyd.edu.au
- Prof Chris Tennant —tennant@med.usyd.edu.au

By completing this survey you are consenting to this survey information going to Dr Nash and the team from the University of Sydney. The data will be used to inform universities and medical colleges about medico-legal matters. It is anticipated that results will also be reported at conferences and in journals. Should you wish to withdraw from this study at any time, please contact Dr Louise Nash.

If you feel distressed through a complaint/lawsuit/investigation you may wish to contact the Doctor's Health Advisory Service (02) 9902 8135, or your own General Practitioner. I hope you will take the time to fill in this questionnaire and return it in the pre-paid envelope.

Yours sincerely,

Dr Louise Nash

Any person with concerns or complaints about the conduct of a research study may contact the Manager for Ethics Administration, Royal North Shore Hospital (Phone (02) 99267111)

#### Further details on the background and design of the project:

Little research has been undertaken on the response of doctors to complaints, lawsuits and investigations into their practice. The aim of this research is to assess the psychological impact on the doctor, and investigate factors such as gender, medical specialty, personality style and understanding of legal risk. The results of the study will inform universities and medical colleges about medico-legal issues in Australia, and will lead to better support for the mental health of doctors. In addition, it will enable Avant to provide a more responsive service to members experiencing legal action and complaints.

The complete project is in three phases. You are invited to participate in phase 2:

- 1) an initial pilot project of 1,500 general practitioners has been undertaken
- 2) a large cross-sectional study of 8,500 members of Avant from a variety of specialties
- 3) doctors with a complaint/lawsuit/investigation commencing within 12 months of the crosssectional study will be invited to answer a brief (5 minutes) survey 6 monthly over two years.

The area of interest for this study is the impact of a complaint/claim/inquiry on the health and practice of the doctor which will be looked at comparing doctors who have and have not been through these processes, by measuring change of practice, psychological morbidity, alcohol use, personality style, perception of legal risk and satisfaction with work, social and home life.

If you return the questionnaire, Avant will give to the research group brief data of how many and what type of matters they have assisted you with (using research code only). Your name will never be with the data.

The university group will use the assistance of a mailing house to send the questionnaires and scan the data. A coding system will be used (not Avant member codes) to code and store data.

#### If you choose not to participate, this will in no way affect your relationship with Avant.

In case you overlook this request, we will send you a repeat questionnaire in a few weeks. Return of the completed questionnaires will be taken as consent to participate in this project.

Thank you for taking the time to read this. I hope you will now complete the questionnaire.

Yours sincerely,

Dr Louise Nash

#### Appendix 4: The large study questionnaire



# The Psychological Impact of Medico-Legal **Matters on Doctors**

How to complete this survey ...

Please mark like this NOT like this Use a blue/black biro
 Make no stray marks Erase mistakes fully  $\Theta \otimes \Theta \Theta$ OOO

# PLEASE ANSWER ALL THE QUESTIONS IN EACH SECTION

# **SECTION A** Demographic and history of lawsuit/complaint/inquiry

(This part of the questionnaire appears complex at first glance, but will be brief for most respondents. Those who have had more experience of the complaints/claims system, please persevere, as your experience is very important to the project.)

- Year of your birth?
- Year of your graduation? 2.



- Where did you complete your primary medical degree? 3. O UK/Ireland O Australia/NZ O Middle East O North America O Other (please specify) .....
- What year did you finish (or do you expect to finish) your postgraduate 4. vocational training (eg. fellowship)?
- 5. What is the postcode of your main practice location?
- What best describes your main practice? 6. O Group O Solo **O** Hospital

O Community Centre

- What is your gender? **O** Female O Male 7.
- O Separated What is your marital status? O Single O Married O Defacto O Divorced O Widowed 8.
- How many hours per week do you work in an average week? ...... hours 9.

O Africa O India/Sri Lanka O Rest of Asia

O Europe

	1	1	1	
-	-	-	1	_
	1	1	1	
_				

O Other (please name) .....

If you work part-time, what is the reason? 10.

O Personal health reasons O Family/carer commitments O Age O Personal preference O Ongoing education O Other .....

- How many weeks have you worked in the past 12 months? ...... weeks 11.
- Did you participate in a peer review process in the past 12 months? O Yes If No, please go to 14. O No 12. (Please include only formal meetings with peers to discuss patient care whereby collegial support and exploration of difficult issues would be anticipated)

- 13. If yes, how many times in the past 12 months? .....
- 15a. During the last year, did you meet your College's continuing medical education requirements? O Yes O No O NA
- 15b. Do you have a role in teaching medical students? O Yes O No
- 15c. When did you last take a holiday for pleasure? O Within the last 12 mths O Between 1-2 yrs ago O More than 2 yrs ago
- 16. Have you ever had a medico-legal matter (defined in box below)? O Yes O No

Medico-legal matters for this study include:

- Claim for compensation for damages
- Complaint to a Health Care Complaints body
- Medical Board Inquiry
- Disciplinary hearing
- Medicare Australia / HIC Inquiry
- Hospital dispute

- Hospital investigation
- Pharmaceutical Services inquiry
- Complaint before the Anti-discrimination Board
- Coronial Inquiry
- Criminal charge
- Patient complaint direct to Doctor

### If yes, please continue with question 17. If no, please go to Section B on page 4.

17. Please consider past and current medico-legal matters in completing the table below:

Medico-Legal Matters	Number of past matters (closed)			Number of past matters (closed) Number of current matters			Which category was the most RECENT?	Which category was the most DISTRESSING?	
Medico-legal categories for this study include:	1	2	3	≥4	1	2	≥3	Please answer once only in this column.	Please answer once only in this column,
Claim for compensation for damages	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Complaint before Health Care Complaints body	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Medical Board Inquiry (interview, counselling,									
performance)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Disciplinary hearing (Tribunal or professional									
standards committee)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Medicare Australia/HIC Inquiry	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Hospital dispute	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Hospital investigation	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Pharmaceutical Service Inquiry	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Complaint before the Anti-discrimination Board	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Coroners inquiry	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Criminal charge	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Patient complaint direct to doctor	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0



### Considering your most recent matter:

18a. Please indicate your perception of the seriousness of this matter?
O Trivial
O Moderate
O Serious
O Very serious

18b. Do you believe the legal action taken against you in this matter was justified?
O No justification
O A little justification
O Moderate justification
O Definite justification

18c. The following box relates to how this matter affected your health and whether you sought professional help for any of the following problems (please consider symptoms and medications or drug use for each item, and then refer to final column right hand side regarding whether or not you sought treatment)

	Sympto	ms / Use	Treatment
Did you (please answer each item)	No	Yes	Did you seek professional help
Become more anxious than usual	0	0	0
Become more depressed than usual	0	0	0
Require antidepressant medication more than usual	0	0	0
Drink alcohol more than usual	0	0	0
Use illicit drugs more than usual	0	0	0
Use benzodiazepines more than usual	0	0	0
Have other medical problems more than usual	0	0	0
Please ensure that you have reviewed the final right hand side column for each of the above items.			

18d. What year did legal action commence?

18e. Is it ongoing?

18f. If no, what year did legal action finish?

18g. Support during the medico-legal process: Did you (or do you) feel adequately supported throughout the process by your medical defence organisation? O Yes O No O Did not contact

O Yes

18h. Which of the following services would you find useful if you experienced another medico-legal matter?

	Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree
More information about the medico-legal process	0	0	0	0
More information about what services and support are available.	0	0	0	0
A Contact person within your medical defence organisation, apart from the claims manager or solicitor, with whom you can discuss your concerns	0	0	0	0
A support person from the medical defence organisation to accompany you when attending court or disciplinary proceedings.	0	0	0	0
A formal Peer support programme arranged by the medical defence organisation		0	0	0

O No

to provide impartial, empathic support doctor to doctor		0		0
Contact with the Doctors Health Advisory Service	0	0	0	0
Access to an independent and confidential counselling service, available free to				
the medical defence organisation members and their family	0	0	0	0

Thank you, you have now completed section A, please turn to section B on the next page.

# **SECTION B** General Health Questionnaire

4

We would like to know how your health has been during the last **2 weeks**. Simply fill in the circle that you think best applies to you – remember we want to know about present and recent health problems, NOT those you may have had in the past. Have you recently:

1.	Been feeling perfectly well a	and in good health?		
	O More so than usual	O Same as usual	O Slightly less than usual	O Much less than usual
2.	Been feeling in need of a go	bod tonic?		
	O Not at all	O No more than usual	O Slightly more than usual	O Much more than usual
3.	Been feeling run down and	out of sorts?		
	O Not at all	O No more than usual	O Slightly more than usual	O Much more than usual
4.	Felt that you are ill?			
	O Not at all	O No more than usual	O Slightly more than usual	O Much more than usual
5.	Been getting any pains in vo	our head?		
0.531	O Not at all	O No more than usual	O Slightly more than usual	O Much more than usual
6.	Been getting a feeling of tic	htness or pressure in your head		e machinere man useur
	O Not at all	O No more than usual	O Slightly more than usual	O Much more than usual
7	Been having hot or cold flus	ches?	o slightly more than usual	C Much more than usual
1.	O Not at all	O No more than usual	O Slightly more than usual	O Much more than usual
0	Lost much close over worsy		O slightly more than usual	O Much more than usual
0.	O Not at all		O distant	
0	O Not at all	O No more than usual	O slightly more than usual	O Much more than usual
9.	Had difficulty staying asleep	once you are off?		O
	O Not at all	O No more than usual	O Slightly more than usual	O Much more than usual
10.	Felt constantly under strain			
	O Not at all	O No more than usual	O Slightly more than usual	O Much more than usual
11.	Been getting edgy and bad-	-tempered?		
	O Not at all	O No more than usual	O Slightly more than usual	O Much more than usual
12.	Been getting scared or pani	cky for no good reason?		
	O Not at all	ONo more than usual	O Slightly more than usual	O Much more than usual
13.	Found everything getting of	n top of you?		
	O Not at all	ONo more than usual	O Slightly more than usual	O Much more than usual
14.	Been feeling nervous and st	rung-up all the time?		
	O Not at all	O No more than usual	O Slightly more than usual	O Much more than usual
15.	Been managing to keep but	sy and occupied?		
in tea	O More so than usual	O Same as usual	O Slightly less than usual	O Much less than usual
16	Been taking longer over the	things you do?	e singituit issuer	o machiness chair asaar
	O Quicker than usual	O Same as usual	O Longer than usual	O Much longer than usual
17	Felt on the whole that your	were doing things well?	C Longer than usual	C Much longer than usual
17.	O Rottor than usual	About the come		O Much loss then usual
10	O Better than usual	O About the same	O Less well than usual	O Much less than usual
10.	Deen satisfied with the way	you ve performed tasks?	O1	O
10	C Wore satisfied	O About the same as usual	C Less satisfied than usual	O Much less than usual
19.	Felt that you were playing a	useful part in things?	<u></u>	<b>O</b> • • • • • • • •
-	O More so than usual	O Same as usual	O Less so than usual	O Much less than usual
20.	Felt capable of making deci	sions about things?		
	O More so than usual	O Same as usual	O Less so than usual	O Much less than usual
21.	Been able to enjoy normal o	lay-to-day activities?		
	O More so than usual	O Same as usual	O Less so than usual	O Much less than usual
22.	Been thinking of yourself as	s a worthless person?		
	O Not at all	O No more than usual	O Slightly more than usual	O Much more than usual
23.	Felt that life is entirely hope	less?		
	O Not at all	O No more than usual	O Slightly more than usual	O Much more than usual
24	Falt that life isn't worth livin	Contraction of the second s		

24. reit that me isn't worth living? O Not at all O No more than usual O Slightly more than usual O Much more than usual 25. Thought of "doing away" with yourself? O Not at all O No more than usual O Much more than usual O Slightly more than usual 26. Found at times that you couldn't do anything because your nerves were so bad? O Not at all O No more than usual O Slightly more than usual O Much more than usual 27. Found yourself wishing you were dead and away from it all? O Not at all O No more than usual O Slightly more than usual O Much more than usual 28. Found that the idea of taking your own life kept coming into your mind? O Definitely not O I don't think so O Has crossed my mind O Definitely has



# SECTION C

On a scale of 1 to 4 please fill in the circle that BEST describes the amount of disability or impairment, currently, in each of the following areas – WORK, SOCIAL LIFE, LEISURE ACTIVITIES and FAMILY LIFE

1. At this time how much is your WORK impaired because of your problems

	O Not impaired	O Mildly impaired	O Moderately impaired O Severely impaired
2.	At this time how much are	your SOCIAL LIFE and LE	ISURE ACTIVITIES impaired because of your problems
	O Not impaired	O Mildly impaired	O Moderately impaired O Severely impaired
3.	At this time how much are	your FAMILY LIFE and HO	OME RESPONSIBILITIES impaired because of your problems
	O Not impaired	O Mildly impaired	O Moderately impaired O Severely impaired

# SECTION D Personality/Coping

INSTRUCTIONS: Please answer each question by filling in the circle 'YES' or 'NO'. There are no right or wrong answers, and no trick questions. Work quickly and do not think too long about the exact meaning of the questions.

	Yes	No		Yes	No
1 Does your mood often go up and down?	0	0	24. Have you ever broken or lost something		
<ol> <li>Do you take too much notice of what people</li> </ol>			belonging to someone else?	0	0
think?	0	0	25. Are you a worrier?	0	0
3. Are you a talkative person?	0	0	26. Do you enjoy cooperating with others?	0	0
4. If you say you will do something, do you always			27. Do you tend to keep in the background on		
keep your promise no matter how inconvenient			social issues?	0	0
it might be?	0	0	28. Does it worry you to know there are mistakes in		
5. Do you ever feel 'just miserable' for no reason?	0	0	your work?	0	0
6. Would being in debt worry you?	0	0	29. Have you ever said anything bad or nasty about		
7. Are you rather lively?	0	0	someone?	0	0
8. Were you ever greedy by helping yourself to	0.717	<b>1</b>	30. Would you call yourself tense or 'highly-strung'?	0	0
more than your fair share of anything?	0	0	31. Do you think people spend too much time		1
9. Are you an irritable person?	0	0	safeguarding their future with savings and		
10. Would you take drugs which may have			insurance?	0	0
strange or dangerous effects?	0	0	32. Do you like mixing with people?	0	0
11. Do you enjoy meeting new people?	0	0	33. As a child were you ever cheeky to your parents?	0	0
12. Have you ever blamed someone for doing			34. Do you worry too long after an embarrassing	~	
something that you knew was really your fault?	0	0	experience?	0	0
13. Are your feelings easily hurt?	0	0	35. Do you try not to be rude to people?	0	0
14. Do you prefer to go your own way rather			36. Do you like plenty of bustle and excitement	~	
than act by the rules?	0	0	around you?	0	0
15. Can you usually let yourself go and enjoy			37. Have you ever cheated at a game?	0	0
yourself at a lively party?	0	0	38. Do you suffer from 'nerves'?	0	0
16. Are all of your habits good and desirable ones?	0	0	39. Would you like other people to be afraid of you?	0	0
17. Do you often feel 'fed-up'?	0	0	40. Have you ever taken advantage of anyone?	0	0
18. Do good manners and cleanliness matter much			41. Are you mostly quiet when you go out with	0	
to you?	0	0	other people?	0	0
19. Do you usually take the initiative in making			42. Do you often feel lonely?	0	0
new friends?	0	0	45. Is it better to follow society's rules than go your	0	0
20. Have you ever taken anything (no matter how			44. Do other people think of you as being you lively?	0	0
seemingly insignificant) that belonged to			44. Do other people think of you as being very lively?	0	0
someone else?	0	0	45. Do you always practice what you preach?	0	0
21. Would you call yourself a nervous person?	0	0	40. Are you orien troubled about reelings of guilt?	0	0
22. Do you think that marriage is old-fashioned and	min		vou ought to do today?	0	0
should be done away with?	0	0	18 Can you get a party going?	0	0
23. Can you easily get some life into a rather dull			Ho. Carryou get a party going?	0	
party?	0	0			-

# **SECTION E** AUDIT Alcohol Usage Questionnaire

One unit of alcohol is: 1 schooner (425ml) of light beer/lager OR: 1 middy/pot of full strength beer (285ml) OR: 1 small glass of wine (100ml) OR: 1 single measure of spirits (30ml)

### Select from the answers below and fill in the circle that corresponds with your answer.



5.	O Never	O Less than monthly	O Monthly	O Weekly	O Daily or almost daily
6.	How often during the drinking session?	e last year have you needed	a first drink in the n	norning to get yourself g	oing after a heavy
	Ő Never	O Less than monthly	O Monthly	O Weekly	O Daily or almost daily
7.	How often during the	e last year have you had a fe	eeling of guilt or rem	norse after drinking?	
	O Never	O Less than monthly	O Monthly	O Weekly	O Daily or almost daily
8.	How often during the	e last year have you been ur	able to remember v	vhat happened the night	before because
	O Never	O Less than monthly	O Monthly	O Weekly	O Daily or almost daily
9.	Have you or someone	e else been injured as a resu	It of your drinking?		
	O No	O Yes but not in the las	st year	O Yes during the	last year
10.	Has a relative or frien	d or doctor of another heal	th worker been con	cerned about your drinki	ng or suggested you cut down?
	O No	O Yes but not in the las	st year	O Yes, during the	last year

# **Section F** Perceptions of mistakes, complaints and legal risk

Please respond to the following statements

		Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree
1.	Medical mistakes are rare	0	0	0	0
2.	All doctors make mistakes	0	0	0	0
З.	The law requires me to make perfect medical decisions	0	0	0	0
4.	Professional standards should be set solely by the medical profession	0	0	0	0

5.	I feel comfortable discussing my mistakes with my colleagues	0	0	0	0
6.	Inadequate communication is a factor in most complaints	0	0	0	0
7,	An apology to a patient implies an admission of liability	0	0	0	0
8.	Patients are likely to sue a doctor who tells them about a mistake	0	0	0	0
9.	Only unprofessional or incompetent doctors get sued	0	0	0	0
10.	Doctors are encouraged to report their medical errors	0	0	0	0
11.	My awareness of the risks of medical negligence has increased in recent years	0	0	0	0



12. Did	medico-legal	factors influence	your choice of	specialisation in medicine?	O Yes	O No
---------	--------------	-------------------	----------------	-----------------------------	-------	------

12a.	Have concerns about medico-legal issues caused you to consider:				
	Giving up medicine	O Yes	O No		
	Changing your specialty	O Yes	O No		
	Reducing your hours of work	O Yes	O No		
	Retiring early	O Yes	O No		

13.	Do concerns about medico-legal issues affect how you relate to patients in that you:				
	Are more selective regarding patients that you see	O Yes	O No		
	Are more attentive with patients	O Yes	O No		
	Are more distant from patients emotionally	O Yes	O No		
	Provide more information to patients	O Yes	O No		

	Do concerns about medical negligence / complaint cause you to:		Less than usual	No change from usual	More than usual	N/A
14.	Order tests		0	0	0	0
15.	Prescribe medications		0	0	0	0
16.	Refer patients to specialists		0	0	0	0
17.	Avoid a particular type of invasive procedure (for example a type of surgery, a regional anaesthetic, a diagnostic procedure)			0	0	0
18.	Avoid a particular type of obstetric procedure		0	0	0	0
19.	Put systems in place to track test results		0	0	0	0
20.	Put systems in place to audit your practice		0	0	0	0
21.	Put systems in place to identify non-attenders		0	0	0	0
22.	Provide communication of risk to patients		0	0	0	0
23.	Relate empathically to patients			0	0	0
24.	Disclose uncertainty to your patients		0	0	0	0
25.	Advise patients of a complaints policy		0	0	0	0
26.	Consider every patient a potential litigant		0	0	0	0
27.	Do you discuss your mistakes with others: O Yes O No If Yes, who do you feel comfortable discussing your mistakes with (tick as many as y O Peer O Senior colleague O Junior colleague O Family/friends O Other	O NA If N you like): O UMP/Mee	lo or N	A, pleas	se go to	0 30
28.	Do you find such discussion helpful? O Yes O No	O Unsure				
29.	I believe such discussion may prevent me or others making a similar mistake in the future:	O Yes O	No	0	Unsur	e
30.	Do you use examples of mistakes (yours and/or others) when teaching?	O Yes O	No	0	N/A	

The following have prevented me from discussing my mistakes with a colleague:	Yes	No	The following have prevented me from discussing my mistakes with a colleague:	Yes	No
1. Fear of litigation	0	0	4. Shame/embarrassment	0	0
2. Fear of damage to reputation	0	0	5. Fear of loss of referral	0	0
3. Fear of criticism	0	0	6. Other (specify)	0	0

# Please return the survey in the reply paid envelope supplied to Psychological Impact The University of Sydney PO Box K1342 Haymarket NSW 1239 no later than Friday 19th October, 2007

Thank you for taking the time to complete this questionnaire. If you feel distressed by the process of a complaint/investigation/lawsuit, you may contact **Avant** for advice. In addition, the Doctor's Health Advisory Service (02) 9902 8135 provides services appropriate to your situation, or you may choose to contact your own GP.

8

# RARE BOOKS LIB.





